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One. Report to Shareholders 

Ladies and gentlemen: 

We would like to express our gratitude for shareholders' long-term support and 

attention to Chun Zu Company, and hereby present a summary of the Company's operating 

results and future plans as follows: 2020 Business Results and Future Business Plans. 

I. 2021 operating results: 

 (I)2021 operation report of the Company: 

Looking back on 2021, COVID-19 continued to spread, but fortunately, as the 

vaccination rate and coverage continued to increase, various countries gradually 

relaxed their pandemic prevention measures and proposed economic revitalization 

policies, which led to a slow recovery of the global economy. In China, due to a 

number of incentives of automobile consumption subsidies in the second half of 

2020 and the continuing effect of infrastructure subsidies on high-speed rail and 

tram, the order receiving situation improved in 2021 and the profit for the whole 

year rebounded. 

The Taiwan Machinery Association (TMA) announced that the value of 

machinery and equipment exports in 2021 was US$33.138 billion (about 

NT$928.349 billion), an increase of 27% than the same period in 2020. Among them, 

the export value of tool machines was US$2.783 billion, an increase of 29.1% 

compared to 2020, they were the third largest export product, accounting for about 

8.4% of the machinery export. 

       The operating results of the Company in the recent two years are as follows: 

The consolidated revenue in 2021 was NT$1,461 million, an increase of 

19.65% over NT$1,221 million in 2020. The net profit after tax was NT$83,778 

thousand an increase of 47.16% over NT$56,931 thousand in 2020. The after tax 

earnings per share was NT$1.39, up 47.87% from NT$0.94 in the previous year. 

The Company will continue to improve its operating results by adhering to the 

following guidelines: 

1. Continue to invest in the development of new models and the improvements 

of existing models, optimize product lines, keep abreast of the latest customer 

needs and strengthen customization capabilities to meet more diversified 

customer needs.  

2. Integrate the Group's up-, mid- and down-stream resources, set the Group’s 

operating targets, and regularly analyze and review the various deficiencies 

in order to improve operating results. 

3. Strengthen supply chain management, maintain good relationships with 

thirdparty vendors and establish backup vendors to reduce operating risks. 

4. Establish a talent training mechanism to bring the full spectrum of skills 

and functions to the staff through education and training and avoid a talent 
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gap.  

5. Optimize production processes and quality management to enhance 

production efficiency and capacity utilization and reduce production costs. 

6. Establish a comprehensive after-sales service mechanism to help 

customers solve various problems and improve customer satisfaction. 

7. Strengthen marketing via exhibitions and advertisements to improve brand 

awareness 

8. Fulfill corporate social responsibility and participate in environmental 

protection, social care, social services and social welfare activities, protect 

the equity of stakeholders, and develop energy-saving and automated 

production equipment to reduce our footprint on the environment. 

(II)Budget Execution 

The company did not disclose its financial forecast for 2021, so it is not 

required to explain budget accomplishment. 

 

(III)Revenues and Expenses, and Profitability Analysis 

                                                   Unit: NTD thousands; % 

Year 

Item 2021 2020 

Increase or 

decrease 

(%) 

Profit and 

Loss 

Operating Revenue 1,460,987 1,221,097 19.65 

Gross Profit 346,748 259,609 33.57 

Profit After Tax 83,778 56,931 47.16 

Profitability 

analysis 

Return on Assets 4.28 3.11 37.62 

Return on Equity 8.30 5.63 47.42 

As a 

Percentage of 

Paid-Up 

Capital 

Profit from 

Operations 
13.42 7.43 80.62 

Profit 

Before Tax 
19.03 11.98 58.85 

Net Profit Margin (%) 5.73 4.66 22.96 

Earnings Per Share (NTD) 1.39 0.94 47.87 

 

 (IV) Research and development 

The Company incurred NT$61,322 thousand of research and development 

expenses in 2021. This sum was primarily spent researching mechanics and 

automation control for fastener-related machinery, implementing new 
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specifications, and designing multi-purpose, automated, and customized 

machinery. 

R&D accomplishments in 2021: 

      Mechanical and structural research and development schedule - 2021 

Name of R&D project 

Execution progress 

Design and 

development 

Manufacturing 

and procurement 

Trial run 

1. CBF-84LL - 4-die 4-blow 
screw/bolt former for long 
products 

○ ○ ○ 

2. CBP-136LS engineering 
samples 

○ ○ ○ 

3. CNH-6UL-1-die 2-blow 
round-cut header 

○ ○ △ 

4. CBP-206EL - 6-die 6-blow 
screw/bolt former for thin, 
long products 

○ × × 

5. Three-stage independent 
adjustment PKO 
mechanism 

○ ○ ○ 

○: Completed  △: Ongoing  ×: Not yet commenced 

Valid and applied patents of Chun Zu Machinery in 2021 

Patent No. Patent name Country Patents expiry 

I220113 
Forming machine with a safety detection 

device for forged products 

The 

Republic of 

China 

2023/07/17 

I381892 
A method of manufacturing that reduces 

wire waste 

The 

Republic of 

China 

2030/10/20 

10-1308323 
A method of manufacturing that reduces 

wire waste 

South 

Korea 
2031/10/14 

10-1308245 
Forming machine with waste reduction 

features for forged products 

South 

Korea 
2031/10/14 

I609728 
Gripper device for forged product forming 

machines 

The 

Republic of 

China 

2036/09/05 

M536105 
Gripper device for forged product forming 

machines 

The 

Republic of 

China 

2026/09/05 

I663005 
Driver for forged product processing 

machines 

The 

Republic of 

China 

2037/02/13 

Patent No. Patent name Country Patents expiry 
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M546275 
Driver for forged product processing 

machines 

The 

Republic of 

China 

2027/02/13 

ZL201710702496.0 
Gripper device for forged product forming 

machines 

Mainland 

China 
2037/08/15 

ZL201711472221.9 
Driver for forged product processing 

machines 

Mainland 

China 
2037/12/28 

 

 Research and development projects in 2022 are directed toward the following: 

1. New models of fastener former (new types and specifications). 

2. Multi-purpose usage of parts and machinery for interchangeability, which in 

turn reduces product cost. 

3. Establishment of material numbering for each model and update of the PDM 

system to connect the ERP system. 

4. Mechanics automation for multi-station formers and thread rollers, and 

progression towards 2nd generation smart features 

5. Participation in the research and development of machine related projects in 

the development direction of the Group.  

 

II. Summary of 2022 Business Plan: 

 (I) Business Policies 

The Company sells high-quality products worldwide and adopts customer 

satisfaction, cooperation, and innovation as the three main drivers for promoting 

productive relationships with business partners and creating corporate value. 

1. Customer satisfaction: The Company views customer satisfaction as its 

mission. 

2. Cooperation: The Company cooperates with supply chain partners with the 

utmost professionalism and strives for mutual benefit. 

3. Innovation: The Company devotes attention to research and development and 

continually explores creative ways to optimize, reform, and improve products 

and procedures. 

 (II) Sales Forecast and Basis 

  The Company’s main product is the fastener forming machine. This product is 

designed according to customer needs, and mostly customized. As the price varies 

due to different specifications and designs, statistics based on sales volume is not 

applicable. 
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 (III) Key Production/Sales Policies 

1. Sales strategy: Provide diversified services to customers, master customer 

needs and market trends, establish cooperation with dealers good cooperation, 

and commit to enhance brand awareness and global marketing to expand 

domestic and foreign markets. 

2. Production strategy: Refine the manufacturing process, improve production 

efficiency and reduce production costs; look for excellent raw material 

suppliers, and establish a good relationship with suppliers to ensure reasonable 

price and stable delivery time to quickly meet the market demand. 

3. Innovation strategy: Continue to invest in research and development of new 

products, and move towards smart, intelligent and diversified products, so as 

to improve the added value of products, expand new application fields and 

provide customers with more diversified choices. 

  

III. Development Strategy and Impact of External Competition Environment, Legal 

Environment and Overall Business Environment: 

In the post-pandemic era, the economy will face a new wave of challenges in the 

post pandemic period, such as the resurgence of mutant viruses, unstable supply chain 

and rising inflationary pressure, and the subsequent development will affect the global 

economic growth. However, with the improvement of virus testing methods and 

vaccine coverage, in order to boost the economy, various countries will no longer 

restart strict pandemic prevention measures easily, and the global economy is expected 

to maintain the pace toward recovery. 

Fastener forming machine is an industry which is intensive in professional 

manpower and technology, and the quality of products highly depends on professional 

and technical personnel. Technical personnel of the industry need years of training and 

cultivation to be conducive to the Company's focus on the niche of customized products 

to meet customer needs. 

The Company is committed to developing new products to meet the diverse needs 

of customers, providing customized services to enhance the added value of products 

and strengthen competitiveness, as well as strengthening customer service and 

improving product quality to increase customer loyalty. 

In terms of talent cultivation, the Company has formulated a complete training 

plan to strengthen the various capabilities of employees, encourage diversified 

employee learning and enhance their professional capabilities; in addition, the 

Company strengthens the human capital and cultivation of operating strength through 

the incentive system, the experience inheritance from senior personnel and the sound 

R&D process preservation mechanism. 

In addition to complying with relevant laws and regulations, the Company keeps 
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abreast of important domestic and foreign policies and legal changes and other related 

matters, and immediately develops necessary countermeasures to meet the operating 

needs. Therefore, major domestic and foreign policy and legal changes have not 

significant impact on the Company's finance status. 

Once again, we would like to thank our shareholders for their support. The 

Company will continue improving performance in the future to maximize values for 

shareholders, customers, and employees. 

 

 

 

 Lastly, we would like to give you our best regards for the future ahead  

Chairman: Chen,Chi Tai 
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Two. Company Profile: 

I、 Date of Establishment: March 11, 1974 

II、 Company History: 

1974: 

The Technology Development Department of Chun Yu Works was spun off 

and incorporated into Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. with an initial 

share capital of NT$20 million that primarily involved in the trading of 

screw/bolt formers, nutformers, and related dies. 

1975: 

Successfully developed a CNF-6 nutformer and gained entry into Central and 

South American markets. 

1977: 

    Named Outstanding Taxpayer and Excellent Safety and Health Organization 

by the Provincial Government. 

1978: 

    1. Rated Grade A Factory by the Bureau of Standards, Metrology and 

Inspection, Ministry of Economic Affairs, during its quality assurance 

tests. 

    2. Capitalized NT$4,000 thousand of retained earnings, which increased paid-

up capital to NT$24,000 thousand. 

1979: 

    The Bureau of Foreign Trade held a machinery instruction manual 

competition, in which the Company claimed first place nationwide. 

1981: 

    Capitalized NT$8,400 thousand of retained earnings, which increased paid-

up capital to NT$32,400 thousand. 

1982: 

    Capitalized NT$14,490 thousand of capital surplus and NT$2,730 thousand 

of retained earnings, and made NT$600 thousand of issue of shares, which 

increased paid-up capital to NT$50,220 thousand. 

1983: 

    1. Received certification as a qualified supplier and satellite factory for 

military supplies from Combined Logistics Command, Ministry of 

National Defense. 

    2. Made issue of shares of NT$8,700 thousand, which increased paid-up 

capital to NT$58,920 thousand. 
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1984: 

    The Company began selling its machinery products to domestic customers 

other than Chun Yu Works. 

1986: 

    The Company's machinery products won the First Machinery Supplier Award 

of the Republic of China. 

1987: 

    Capitalized NT$17,736.5 thousand of retained earnings and made 

NT$2,263.5 thousand of issue of shares, which increased paid-up capital to 

NT$78,920 thousand. 

1988: 

    1. Successfully developed cold-forged parts former CPF-85. 

    2. Participated in the first Asian International Automation Machinery 

Exhibition and won "Excellence in Design and Development." 

    3. Purchased land at Taishang Section and constructed the Company's first 

plant facility occupying 13,320 square meters of land. 

1990: 

    1. Successfully developed 5-blow nutformer CNF-145. 

    2. Capitalized NT$43,406 thousand of retained earnings and issue of shares 

of NT$68,000 thousand which increased the paid-up capital to 

NT$190,326 thousand. 

1992: 

    Introduced total quality control for conformity with ISO9000 - Quality 

Management. 

1993: 

    Won the Second Outstanding Industrial Technology Development Award of 

the Ministry of Economic Affairs. 

1994: 

    Capitalized NT$9,516 thousand of retained earnings, which increased paid-

up capital to NT$199,842 thousand. 

1995: 

    Certified for ISO9001. 

1996: 

    Capitalized NT$29,977 thousand of retained earnings, which increased paid-

up capital to NT$229,819 thousand. 
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1997: 

    1. Made NC adjustments to CBF204L, S screw/bolt former, and successfully 

developed QTC. 

    2. Capitalized NT$22,982 thousand of retained earnings, which increased 

paid-up capital to NT$252,801 thousand. 

1999: 

    1. Construction of the second plant was completed on land at Taishang 

Section. 

    2. Mainland subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. was 

incorporated with an initial capital of US$4 million; its main business 

activities were the manufacturing and trading of screw/bolt formers. 

    3. Capitalized NT$39,184 thousand of retained earnings, which increased 

paid-up capital to NT$291,985 thousand. 

2002: 

    Successfully developed CNP276S nut/parts former and CBP65S 

screw/bolt/parts former. 

2003: 

    Successfully developed CBP106L screw/bolt/parts former. 

2004: 

    Capitalized NT$29,195 thousand of retained earnings, which increased paid-

up capital to NT$321,180 thousand. 

2006: 

    Successfully developed CBP206L screw/bolt/parts former. 

2007: 

    1. Capitalized NT$64,236 thousand of retained earnings, which increased the 

paid-up capital to NT$385,416 thousand. 

    2. Mainland subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

capitalized US$4 million of earnings, which increased paid-up capital to 

US$8 million. 

2008: 

    1. Completed and commissioned a new office building in the Taiwan Plant 

and celebrated the Company's 35th anniversary. 

    2. Completed and commissioned a new office building in the Shanghai Plant 

and celebrated the subsidiary's 10th anniversary. 
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2009: 

    Capitalized NT$3,854 thousand of retained earnings, which increased paid-

up capital to NT$389,270 thousand. 

2010: 

    Capitalized NT$38,927 thousand of retained earnings, which increased paid-

up capital to NT$428,197 thousand. 

2011: 

    1. Annual consolidated net revenues exceeded NT$1.8 billion. 

    2. Won the 9th Top-10 Business Golden Torch Award of the Republic of 

China. 

    3. Capitalized NT$42,819 thousand of retained earnings, which increased 

paid-up capital to NT$471,016 thousand. 

2012: 

    1. Capitalized NT$131,884 thousand of retained earnings, which increased 

paid-up capital to NT$602,900 thousand. 

    2. Received approval from "Securities and Futures Bureau, Financial 

Supervisory Commission" for a public offering of shares. 

    3. Received approval from "Taipei Exchange" to register on Emerging Stock 

Board for share trading. 

2014: 

    1. Successfully developed CBF-164UL ultra-long machinery. 

    2. Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. capitalized US$500,000 

of earnings, which increased paid-up capital to US$8.5 million. 

2015: 

    Successfully developed CBP-255LLM ultra-long screw/bolt/parts former and 

quick-change dies for QTC stamping press. 

2016: 

    Successfully developed CSH-5L secondary processing machinery for 

assembled dies and Germany-licensed AF-10 high-speed thread roller. 

2017: 

    1. Commenced development of CSH-10LL secondary processing machinery 

for assembled dies. 

    2. Commenced development of forge materials feeding device. 

    3. Commenced development of HSF-50 horizontal straightening machine. 
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2018: 

    1. Commenced development of CBP-135UL 5-die 5-blow screw/bolt former 

for ultra-long products. 

    2. Commenced development of CBF-133LA 3-die 3-blow screw/bolt former 

for long products. 

    3. Commenced development of CSPR-20S fast thread roller. 

    4. Commenced development of CWH-20S fastener forging machine. 

2019: 

    1. Commenced development of CBF-84LL 4-die 4-blow screw/bolt former 

for long products. 

    2. Commenced development of CBF-163SC 3-die 3-blow screw/bolt former. 

    3. Commenced development of CBP-136L engineering sample (for Taiwan 

International Fastener Show and Düsseldorf Exhibition). 

    4. Certified by ISO9001:2015. 

2020: 

    1. Commenced development of CNH-6UL 1-die 2-blow header for long, 

round-cut products. 

    2. Development of CBP-206EL six-die six-stroke screw forming machine for 

slender products 

    3. Commenced development of feeder auto-adjusting mechanics for medium 

and large-size thread rollers. 

    4. Commenced development of a multi-station network of formers (including 

sensing digitization and centralized management platform). 

    5. Completed and commissioned new plant facilities at No. 28, Dabao Street. 

2021: 

    1. Commenced development of feeder auto-adjusting mechanics for medium 

and large-size thread rollers. 

    2. Commenced development of feeder auto-adjusting mechanics for medium 

and large-size thread rollers. 

    3. Participated in the R&D Consolidation Project of the Ministry of Economic 

Affairs and completed the project. 

    4. Start the development plan of automatic mold adjustment and inspection 

of fastener machine. 

2022: 

    1. Development of CBP-167LA Seven dies and punches multi-station screw 

part former 
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2. Establish the connection of shared material number for parts of various 

model, and implementation of updating PDM. 

3. Development of knock-out servo adjustment device for multi-station 

formers. 

4. Expanding the compound manipulator mechanism to multi-station former 

with five or more dies 

5. Executing the plan of automatic mold adjustment and inspection of 

fastener machine.
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Three. Corporate Governance Report 

I. Organizational structure 

 (I) Organizational structure 

 

Chairman 

Vice Chairman 

President 

Audit Committee 

 

Internal Audit 
Office 

Work Safety 
Office 

Corporate 
Planning Office 

LION CITY 

Shanghai  
Chun Zu 

ISO management 
representative 

Machinery 
Manufacturing Division 

Production 
Management 
Department 

Procurement 
Department 

R&D 
Department 

Business 
Development 
Department 

Sales 
Department 

Quality 
Assurance 

Department 

Administrative 
Department 

Finance 
Department 

Board of 
Director 

 
Remuneration 

Committee 
meeting 

 

Manufacturing 
Department 
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(II) Responsibilities of main departments 

1. Internal Audit Office: Conducts internal audits, plans internal control, and 

recommends improvements to existing systems. 

2. R&D Department: Responsible for research and development of new products, 

creation of a technological platform, and conducting procedural improvements 

and functional tests for customers' requirements and project changes. 

3. Business Development Department: Responsible for new product development, 

gathering market information, and devising the most suitable marketing 

strategies for a given product. Conducts online and offline market analysis, 

gathers information on competing products or peers to provide reference for 

product development, adjusts product specifications and packages, sets product 

price, and devises product marketing strategies. 

4. Sales Department: Oversees product sales planning, market research, customer 

exploration, product promotion (domestic and export sales), global 

distributorship management, collection of sales proceeds, sales target, and 

strategy review. Responsible for installation and after-sale service at customers' 

location, regular global touring, and servicing/overhaul of old machines at 

customers' request. 

5. Production Management Department: Responsible for production planning and 

scheduling, collection/distribution of schematics, distribution of raw materials, 

production procedure control, and warehouse management. 

6. Procurement Department: Purchases raw supplies and insources or outsources 

production of parts according to the schematics and raw material requirements 

of the R&D Department and explores supplier partners to secure availability and 

quality of supplies. 

7. Manufacturing Department: Assembles machinery and processes machine parts 

according to the delivery deadline, and performs trial runs and inspections before 

delivery upon customers' request. 

8. Quality Assurance Department: Responsible for inspection and acceptance of 

input supplies; quality assurance over output goods; total implementation of 

ISO-compliant quality management system, standards, and audits; ensuring 

consistent quantity and quality of goods delivered; and execution and tracking 

of standardization measures. 

9. Finance Department: Responsible for financial management, accounting 

management, cost accounting, shareholder services, tax planning, budget 

management, long-term investment management, and bookkeeping. 

10.Administrative Department: Human resource management, academic 

regulations, public relations, handling of external events, patent application, 

employee training, plant management, and custody and maintenance of the 

Company's properties. Oversees system development and maintenance, server 
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operations, and ensures that the information system functions properly. 

11. Work Safety Office: Helps the Company comply with government 

regulations and requirements in all operating activities; responsible for the 

creation, implementation, and enforcement of a safety and health 

management system. 

12. ISO management representative: Responsible for the adoption and 

maintenance of ISO quality management system and the issuance and control 

of quality-related documents, specifications, and standards. 

13. Corporate Planning Office: Responsible for the planning of business 

administration, marketing, businesses, products, and projects. 
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April 16, 2022 

II. Background information of directors, supervisors, the President, vice presidents, assistant vice presidents, and heads of various 

departments and branches 

(I) Directors' background 

Position 
Nationality 
or place of 
registration 

Name 
Gender/ 

age 

Date 
elected/ 

appointed 
Term 

Date first 
elected 

Shareholding when 
elected 

Current shareholding 
Shareholding of 

spouse and underage 
children 

Shares held by proxy 
Main career 
(academic) 

achievements 

Concurrent 
duties in 

the 
Company 
and other 

companies 

Spouse or relatives of the 
second degree or closer 

acting as manager, 
director, or supervisor Remarks 

(Note1) 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Position Name Relation 

Chairman 

The 
Republic 
of China 

Chun Yu Works 
& Co., Ltd. 

- 

2021.07.28 
3 

years 

1974.03.11 28,821,939 47.81 28,821,939 47.81 － － － － － － － － － － 

The 
Republic 
of China 

Representative: 
Chen, Chi Tai 

Male/ 
71~80 
years 
old 

2016.11.11 － － － － － － 1,000,000 1.66 

Department of 
Commerce, National 
Tainan Commercial 
Vocational Senior 
High School 
Vice Chairman of 
Chun Yu Works & 
Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of 
Baijiayuan 
Investment Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Lichao 
Investment Co., Ltd. 

Note 2 － － － － 

Vice 
Chairman 

The 
Republic 
of China 

Chun Yu Works 
& Co., Ltd. 

- 

2021.07.28 
3 

years 

1974.03.11 28,821,939 47.81 28,821,939 47.81 － － － － － － － － － － 

The 
Republic 
of China 

Representative:  
Wang, Jiong-Fen 

Male/ 
51-60 
years 
old 

2013.08.09 － － － － － － － － 

Department of Law, 
National Chung 
Hsing University 
Chairman of Gloria 
Material Technology 
Corp. 
Chairman of Taiwan 
Steel Group United 
Co., Ltd. 

Note 2 － － － － 

Directors 

The 
Republic 
of China 

Chun Yu Works 
& Co., Ltd. 

- 

2021.07.28 
3 

years 

1974.03.11 28,821,939 47.81 28,821,939 47.81 － － － － － － － － － － 

The 
Republic 
of China 

Representative: 
Lin, Huei-Jeng 

Male/ 
61-70 
years 
old 

2014.06.19 － － － － － － － － 

Ship Making, 
National Taiwan 
University 
Doctoral Degree 
Chairman of Chun 
Yu Works & Co., 
Ltd. 
Independent Director 
of CSBC 
Corporation, Taiwan 

Note 2 － － － － 
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Position 
Nationality 
or place of 
registration 

Name 
Gender/ 

age 

Date 
elected/ 

appointed 
Term 

Date first 
elected 

Shareholding when 
elected 

Current shareholding 
Shareholding of 

spouse and underage 
children 

Shares held by proxy 
Main career 
(academic) 

achievements 

Concurrent 
duties in 

the 
Company 
and other 

companies 

Spouse or relatives of the 
second degree or closer 

acting as manager, 
director, or supervisor Remarks 

(Note1) 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Position Name Relation 

Directors 

The 
Republic 
of China 

Chun Yu Works 
& Co., Ltd. 

- 2021.07.28 

3 
years 

1974.03.11 28,821,939 47.81 28,821,939 47.81 － － － － － － － － － － 

The 
Republic 
of China 

Representative:  
Li, Shih-Ho 

Male/ 
61-70 
years 
old 

2021.07.28 2008.06.20 163,092 0.27 163,092 0.27 67,248 0.11 － － 

Department of 
Business 
Administration,  
Feng Chia 
University 
Director of Chun Yu 
Works & Co., Ltd. 
Supervisor of Zenith 
Good Enterprise Co., 
Ltd. 

Note 2 － － － － 

Directors 

The 
Republic 
of China 

SPOT Inc. - 

2021.07.28 
3 

years 

2011.06.22 859,377 1.43 859,377 1.43 － － － － － － － － － － 

The 
Republic 
of China 

Representative:  
Sun, Ming-Shen 

Male/ 
51-60 
years 
old 

2011.06.22 － － － － 6,000 0.01 － － 

Ph.D. in Mechanical 
Engineering, 
University of Texas 
at Austin 
Chairman of Racing 
Point Industry CO., 
LTD. 
Supervisor of SPOT 
Inc. 

Note 2 － － － － 

Directors 
The 

Republic 
of China 

Lee, Chung-Hsien 

Male/ 
61-70 
years 
old 

2021.07.28 
3 

years 
2017.06.16 317,538 0.53 317,538 0.53 － － － － 

University of 
Illinois, USA 
Chicago Campus 
Master of Industrial 
Engineering 
Chairman of Hoghy-
Healthkare Co., Ltd. 
Director of 
Fiberpure Co., Ltd. 

Note 2 － － － － 

Independent 
director 

The 
Republic 
of China 

Tan, Shing-Chao 

Male/ 
61-70 
years 
old 

2021.07.28 
3 

years 
2021.07.28 － － － － － － － － 

MS in Accounting 
and MS in 
Information Science, 
Central Michigan 
University, USA 
Masters Degree 
Adjunct Associate 
Professor, Institute 
of Health Care 
Organization 
Management, School 
of Public Health, 
National Taiwan 
University 

Note 2 － － － － 
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Position 
Nationality 
or place of 
registration 

Name 
Gender/ 

age 

Date 
elected/ 

appointed 
Term 

Date first 
elected 

Shareholding when 
elected 

Current shareholding 
Shareholding of 

spouse and underage 
children 

Shares held by proxy 
Main career 
(academic) 

achievements 

Concurrent 
duties in 

the 
Company 
and other 

companies 

Spouse or relatives of the 
second degree or closer 

acting as manager, 
director, or supervisor Remarks 

(Note1) 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Position Name Relation 

Independent 
director 

The 
Republic 
of China 

Tan, Shing-Chao 

Male/ 
61-70 
years 
old 

2021.07.28 
3 

years 
2021.07.28 － － － － － － － － 

Adjunct Associate 
Professor, Institute 
of Medical 
Administration, 
School of Medicine, 
Yang Ming 
University 
Independent Director 
of Ta Liang 
Technology Co., 
Ltd. 

Note 2 － － － － 

Independent 
director 

The 
Republic 
of China 

Lin, Chao-Sung 

Male/ 
51-60 
years 
old 

2021.07.28 
3 

years 
2021.07.28 － － － － － － － － 

Ph.D., Department 
of Materials Science 
and Engineering, 
Northwestern 
University, USA 
Doctoral Degree 
Department of 
Materials Science 
and Engineering, 
National Taiwan 
University 
Member of the 
Board of Examiners 
and the Board of 
Proposers, 
Examination Yuan 
Member of Judge 
Panel, National 
Industry Innovation 
Award, Ministry of 
Economic Affairs 

Note 2 － － － － 

Independent 
director 

The 
Republic 
of China 

Wang,Ya-Hung 

Female/ 
41-50 
years 
old 

2021.07.28 
3 

years 
2021.07.28 － － － － － － － － 

Finance from 
Xiamen University 
Doctoral Degree 
Manager/Acting 
Spokesperson of 
Taiwan Land 
Development  
Corporation 
Special Assistant to 
the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors, 
Era Communications 
Inc. 
PHD. in Finance 
from Xiamen 
University 
Manager/Acting 

－ － － － － 
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Position 
Nationality 
or place of 
registration 

Name 
Gender/ 

age 

Date 
elected/ 

appointed 
Term 

Date first 
elected 

Shareholding when 
elected 

Current shareholding 
Shareholding of 

spouse and underage 
children 

Shares held by proxy 
Main career 
(academic) 

achievements 

Concurrent 
duties in 

the 
Company 
and other 

companies 

Spouse or relatives of the 
second degree or closer 

acting as manager, 
director, or supervisor Remarks 

(Note1) 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Position Name Relation 

Spokesperson of 
Taiwan Land 
Development  
Corporation 
Special Assistant to 
the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors, 
Era Communications 
Inc. 

Note1 : The Company had no President or manager of the highest equivalent grade that was the same person as, or a spouse or first-degree relative of, the Chairman.
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Note 2: The concurrent positions at other companies at the moment are as follows: 

Chen, Chi Tai: 
Vice Chairman of Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery 
Industry Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Baijiayuan Investment Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Lion City Management Ltd. 
Chairman of Chunbang Precision Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Chunyu Bio-Tech Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Chunyu Investment Co., Ltd. 
Director of U.S. Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 
Director of Chunyu (Dongguan) Hardware 
Products Co., Ltd. 
Director of Shanghai Uchee Hardware Products 
Co., Ltd. 
Director of Indonesia Lion Industry Co., Ltd. 
Director of Quintain Steel Co., Ltd. 
Director of OFCO Industrial Corp. 
Supervisor of Tong Horng Metal Industrial Co., 
Ltd. 
Chairman of Lichiao Investment Co., Ltd. 
Director of Taiwan Styrene Monomer Corporation 

Wang, Jiong-Fen:  
Chairman of Jinchifu Asset Management 
Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Taiwan Steel Group United Co., 
Ltd. 
Chairman of Gloria Material Technology 
Corp. 
Chairman of S-Tech Corp. 
Director of Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 
Director of Soft-World International 
Corporation 
Director of Taiwan Styrene Monomer 
Corporation 
Independent Director and Remuneration 
Committee Member of Golden Huang Long 
Construction Co., Ltd. 
Director of Chunbang Precision Co., Ltd. 
Director of Chunyu Bio-Tech Co., Ltd. 
Director of Chunyu Investment Co., Ltd. 
Supervisor of Chunyu (Dongguan) Hardware 
Products Co., Ltd. 
Supervisor of Shanghai Uchee Hardware 
Products Co., Ltd. 
Director of Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery 
Industry Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Guangzhou Jinyun Special 
Metal Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Tianjin Jinyun Special Metal 
Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Xi'an Jinyun Special Metal 
Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Jiaxing Jinyun Special Metal 
Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Jiaxing Xiangyang Metal 
Material Technology Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Heyang Investment Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Alloy Tool Steel Inc. 
Chairman of G-Yao Enterprise Ltd. 
Chairman of All Win Enterprise Ltd. 
Chairman of Faith Enterprise Ltd. 
Chairman of Taiwan Netcom Investment 
Holdings Co., Ltd. 
Director of D-Link Technology Co., Ltd. 
Director of Cameo Communications Inc. 
Supervisor of Game Port Co., Ltd. 

Lin, Huei-Jeng:  

Chairman of Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Scholar Holdings Ltd. 
Chairman of Sunny City International Limited 
Director of Chunyu (Dongguan) Hardware 
Products Co., Ltd. 
Director of U.S. Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 
Director of Shanghai Uchee Hardware Products 
Co., Ltd. 
Director of Chunbang Precision Co., Ltd. 
Director of Chunyu Bio-Tech Co., Ltd. 
Director of Chunyu Investment Co., Ltd. 
Director of Indonesia Lion Industry Co., Ltd. 
Director of Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry 
Co., Ltd. 
Independent Director of CSBC Corporation, 
Taiwan 
Director of Solar Applied Materials Technology 
Corp. 

Li, Shih-Ho:  

Director of Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 
Supervisor of Zenith Good Enterprise Co., Ltd. 
Director of Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry 
Co., Ltd. 

Sun, Ming-Shen: 
Chairman of Racing Point Industry CO., 
LTD. 
Supervisor of SPOT Inc. 
Supervisor of Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery 
Industry Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Jau Yeou Industry Co., Ltd. 
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Lee, Chung-Hsien:  

Director of Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry 
Co., Ltd. 
Chairman of Hoghy-Healthkare Co., Ltd. 
Director of Fiberpure Co., Ltd. 
Supervisor of Jau Yeou Industry Co., Ltd. 
Director of JYR Aviation Components Co., Ltd. 
Director of Herun Investment Co., Ltd. 
Director of Heyun Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. 

Tan, Shing-Chao: 
Independent Director of Ta Liang 
Technology Co., Ltd. 
Adjunct Associate Professor, Institute of 
Health Care Organization Management, 
School of Public Health, National Taiwan 
University 
Adjunct Associate Professor, Institute of 
Medical Administration, School of 
Medicine, Yang Ming Chiao Tung 
University 

Lin, Chao-Sung: 
Professor, Department of Materials Science and 
Engineering, National Taiwan University 
Member of the Professional Review Committee of 
the Industrial Upgrading and Innovation Platform 
Program, Industrial Development Bureau, Ministry 
of Economic Affairs 
Member of SBIR Review Committee, Small and 
Medium Enterprise Division, Ministry of 
Economic Affairs 
Executive Director of Anti-corrosion Engineering 
Society of the Republic of China 
Director of China Society of Materials Science 

Wang,Ya-Hung: 
Consultant of China Intangible Assets 
Appraisal Corporation 
Adjunct Lecturer, Department of 
Accounting, Tamkang University 
Adjunct Lecturer, Department of 
International Business, Ming Chuan 
University 
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1. Major Shareholders of Institutional Shareholder 

 

2. Institutional Shareholder Whose Major Institutional Shareholders, the Major 

Shareholders of Latter Institutional Shareholder 

Name of Institutional 
Shareholder 

Major Shareholders of Institutional Shareholder 

Bai Jia Yuan Investment Co., 
Ltd. 

PROMINENT SINO HOLDINGS LIMITED (100%) 

Jin Chi Fu Asset Management 
Co., Ltd 

Huang, Chun-Yi (45%); Wang, Jiong-Fen (36%); Bai Jia Yuan 
Investment Co., Ltd.(19%) 

Chun Yu Investment Co. Ltd. Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. (100%) 

Yi Tai Shen Co., Ltd. 
Huang, Li-Rong (18.7%); Chang, Jing-Qi (16.7%); Chen, 
Tsung-Sin (13.5%); Wang, Chang-Ping (1.8%)  

Sheng shang Investment Co., 
Ltd 

Huang, Li-Rong (28%); Ni, Lian-Ying (25%) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Name of Institutional 
Shareholder 

Major Shareholders of Institutional Shareholder 

Chun Yu Works & Co., 
Ltd. 

Bai Jia Yuan Investment Co., Ltd. (27.87%); Jin Chi Fu Asset 

Management Co., Ltd (9.28%); Chun Yu Investment Co. Ltd. (7.75%); 

Yi Tai Shen Co., Ltd. (4.89%); Chang, Jing-Qi (2.28%); Chang, Yu-Qi 

(2.01%); Chen, Tsung-Sin (1.36%); LI, Shih-ho (1.31%); Huang, Li-

Rong (1.30%); Sheng shang Investment Co., Ltd. (1.28%) 

SPOT Inc. Lu, Hui-Tzi (99.6%); Sun, Ming-Shen (0.4%) 
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3. Disclosure of professional qualifications of directors and supervisors and independence of independent directors: 

Criteria 

Name 
Professional qualifications and experience Independence status 

Number of 

positions as an 

independent 

director in 

other public 

companies 

Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 

Representative:  

Chen, Chi Tai(Note 1) 

More than five years of work experience required by the company's business. 

Vice Chairman of Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 

Chairman of Baijiayuan Investment Co., Ltd. 

Chairman of Lichao Investment Co., Ltd. 

(1) Not a director, supervisor, or employee of any corporate shareholder 

that: 1. holds 5% or more of the Company's outstanding shares; 2. is 

a top-5 shareholder; or 3. appoints director/supervisor representative 

in the Company according to Paragraph 1 or 2, Article 27 of The 

Company Act. 

(2) Not a director, supervisor, or employee of any other company that 

controls directorship in the Company or where more than half of 

total voting rights are controlled by a single party. 

(3) Not a spouse or relative of the second degree or closer to any other 

directors. 

－ 

Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 

Representative:  

Wang, Jiong-Fen(Note 1) 

More than five years of work experience required by the company's business. 

Chairman of Gloria Material Technology Corp. 

Chairman of Taiwan Steel Group United Co., Ltd.. 

(1) Does not hold more than 1% of the Company's outstanding shares in 

their own names or under the name of spouse, underage children, or 

proxy shareholder; nor is a top-10 natural-person shareholder of the 

Company. 

(2) Not a director, supervisor, or employee of any corporate shareholder 

that: 1. holds 5% or more of the Company's outstanding shares; 2. is 

a top-5 shareholder; or 3. appoints director/supervisor representative 

in the Company according to Paragraph 1 or 2, Article 27 of The 

Company Act. 

(3) Not a director, supervisor, or employee of any other company that 

controls directorship in the Company or where more than half of 

total voting rights are controlled by a single party. 

(4) Not a spouse or relative of the second degree or closer to any other 

directors. 

1 

Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 

Representative:  

Lin, Huei-Jeng(Note 1) 

More than five years of work experience required by the company's business. 

Chairman of Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 

Independent Director of CSBC Corporation, Taiwan 

(1) Does not hold more than 1% of the Company's outstanding shares in 

their own names or under the name of spouse, underage children, or 

proxy shareholder; nor is a top-10 natural-person shareholder of the 

Company. 

(2) Not a director, supervisor, or employee of any corporate shareholder 

that: 1. holds 5% or more of the Company's outstanding shares; 2. is 

a top-5 shareholder; or 3. appoints director/supervisor representative 

in the Company according to Paragraph 1 or 2, Article 27 of The 

1 
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Criteria 

Name 
Professional qualifications and experience Independence status 

Number of 

positions as an 

independent 

director in 

other public 

companies 

Company Act. 

(3) Not a director, supervisor, or employee of any other company that 

controls directorship in the Company or where more than half of 

total voting rights are controlled by a single party. 

(4) Not a spouse or relative of the second degree or closer to any other 

directors. 

Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 

Representative:  

Li, Shih-Ho(Note 1) 

More than five years of work experience required by the company's business. 

Director of Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 

Supervisor of Zenith Good Enterprise Co., Ltd. 

(1) Not employed by the Company or any of its affiliated companies. 

(2) Not a director or supervisor of the Company or any of its affiliated 

companies 

(3) Does not hold more than 1% of the Company's outstanding shares in 

their own names or under the name of spouse, underage children, or 

proxy shareholder; nor is a top-10 natural-person shareholder of the 

Company. 

(4) Not a director, supervisor, or employee of any corporate shareholder 

that: 1. holds 5% or more of the Company's outstanding shares; 2. is 

a top-5 shareholder; or 3. appoints director/supervisor representative 

in the Company according to Paragraph 1 or 2, Article 27 of The 

Company Act. 

(5) Not a director, supervisor, or employee of any other company that 

controls directorship in the Company or where more than half of 

total voting rights are controlled by a single party. 

(6) Not a spouse or relative of the second degree or closer to any other 

directors. 

－ 

SPOT Inc. 

Representative:  

Sun, Ming-Shen(Note 1) 

More than five years of work experience required by the company's business. 

Chairman of  Racing Point Industry CO., LTD. 

Supervisor of SPOT Inc. 

(1) Not employed by the Company or any of its affiliated companies. 

(2) Not a director or supervisor of the Company or any of its affiliated 

companies 

(3) Not a director, supervisor, or employee of any corporate shareholder 

that: 1. holds 5% or more of the Company's outstanding shares; 2. is 

a top-5 shareholder; or 3. appoints director/supervisor representative 

in the Company according to Paragraph 1 or 2, Article 27 of The 

Company Act. 

 

(4) Not a director, supervisor, or employee of any other company that 

controls directorship in the Company or where more than half of 

－ 
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Criteria 

Name 
Professional qualifications and experience Independence status 

Number of 

positions as an 

independent 

director in 

other public 

companies 

total voting rights are controlled by a single party. 

(5) Not a spouse or relative of the second degree or closer to any other 

directors. 

Lee, Chung-Hsien (Note 1) 
More than five years of work experience required by the company's business. 

Chairman of Hoghy-Healthkare Co., Ltd. 

Director of Fiberpure Co., Ltd. 

(1) Not employed by the Company or any of its affiliated companies. 

(2) Not a director or supervisor of the Company or any of its affiliated 

companies 

(3) Does not hold more than 1% of the Company's outstanding shares in 

their own names or under the name of spouse, underage children, or 

proxy shareholder; nor is a top-10 natural-person shareholder of the 

Company. 

(4) Not a director, supervisor, or employee of any corporate shareholder 

that: 1. holds 5% or more of the Company's outstanding shares; 2. is 

a top-5 shareholder; or 3. appoints director/supervisor representative 

in the Company according to Paragraph 1 or 2, Article 27 of The 

Company Act. 

(5) Not a director, supervisor, or employee of any other company that 

controls directorship in the Company or where more than half of 

total voting rights are controlled by a single party. 

(6) Not a spouse or relative of the second degree or closer to any other 

directors. 

－ 

Tan, Shing-Chao (Note 1) 

More than five years of work experience required by the company's business. 

Passed the special examination of the first-class accounting and auditing civil 

servants. 

Adjunct Associate Professor, Institute of Medical Institution Management, 

School of Public Health, National Taiwan University. 

Adjunct Associate Professor, Institute of Medical Administration, School of 

Medicine, Yang Ming University. 

Independent Director of Ta Liang Technology Co., Ltd. 

It does not have any of the conditions specified in Article 3, Paragraph 1, 

Subparagraphs 1 to 9 of the "Regulations on the Establishment of 

Independent Directors of Public Offering Companies and Matters to be 

Obeyed", and the situation of independence is met. 

1 

Lin, Chao-Sung (Note 1) 

More than five years of work experience required by the company's business. 

Department of Materials Science and Engineering, National Taiwan University 

Member of Judge Panel, National Industry Innovation Award, Ministry of 

Economic Affairs. 

Executive Director of Anti-corrosion Engineering Society of the Republic of 

China. 

Supervisor of Taiwan Association for Coating and Thin Film Technology 

It does not have any of the conditions specified in Article 3, Paragraph 1, 

Subparagraphs 1 to 9 of the "Regulations on the Establishment of 

Independent Directors of Public Offering Companies and Matters to be 

Obeyed", and the situation of independence is met. 

－ 
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Criteria 

Name 
Professional qualifications and experience Independence status 

Number of 

positions as an 

independent 

director in 

other public 

companies 

Director of China Society of Materials Science. 

Wang,Ya-Hung (Note 1) 

More than five years of work experience required by the company's business. 

Adjunct Lecturer, Department of Accounting, Tamkang University 

Adjunct Lecturer, Department of International Business, Ming Chuan 

University. 

Consultant of China Intangible Assets Appraisal Corporation. 

It does not have any of the conditions specified in Article 3, Paragraph 1, 

Subparagraphs 1 to 9 of the "Regulations on the Establishment of 

Independent Directors of Public Offering Companies and Matters to be 

Obeyed", and the situation of independence is met. 

－ 

Note 1: There is no circumstance under Article 30 of the Company Act. 

   

 

4.Diversity and independence of the board of directors: 

      (1) Diversity of the board of directors: 

Based on the diversification policy and strengthening corporate governance, the company promotes the development 

of the composition and structure of the board of directors. To measure professional background, integrity or relevant 

professional qualifications, etc., after the resolution of the board of directors is passed, it will be sent to the shareholders' 

meeting for election. The composition of the board of directors shall not exceed one-third of the number of directors, 

except that directors who also serve as managers of the company shall formulate appropriate diversification policies 

according to their own operation, operation type and development needs, including but not limited to the following:      

(a) Basic conditions and values: gender, age, nationality and culture. 

(b) Professional knowledge and skills: operational judgment, accounting and financial analysis, business management, crisis 

handling, industry knowledge, international market outlook, leadership and decision-making. 
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The current board of directors of the company consists of nine directors. Please refer to the following table for the industry experience and 

professional competence of board members: 

Director's name/ 

Diversity Core 

Item 

Name Gender 

Age Distribution Term of 

Independent 

Director 

(Under 3 

years) 

Operation 

and 

Management 

Leadership 

Decision 

Industry 

Knowledge 

Financial 

Accounting 

Information 

Technology 
Law 

41-50 51-60 61-70 71 以上 

Chairman Chen, Chi-Tai 男    V  V V V V   

Vice Chairman Wang, Jiong-Fen 男  V    V V V   V 

Directors Lin, Huei-Jeng 男   V   V V V    

Directors Li, Shih-Ho 男   V   V V V    

Directors Sun, Ming-Shen 男  V    V V V    

Directors Lee, Chung-

Hsien 

男   V   V V V    

Independent 

director 

Tan, Shing-Chao 男   V  V V V V V V  

Independent 

director 

Lin, Chao-Sung 男  V   V V V V    

Independent 

director 

Wang,Ya-Hung 女 V    V V V V V   

 
 

(2) Independence of the board of directors: 

The electron procedures for all the independent directors are open and just, complying with the provisions of the 

“Articles of Incorporation,” “Procedures for Election of Directors,” the “Corporate Governance Best Practice Principles,” 

the “Regulations Governing Appointment of Independent Directors and Compliance Matters for Public Companies,” and 

“Article 14-2 of the Securities and Exchange Act.” For the current composition of the board of directors, there are 3 
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independent directors (33%) and 6 non-independent directors (67%); no more than two directors are related as spouses or 

within within the second degree of kinship, nor any circumstance set forth in Paragraph 3 and 4 of Article 26-3 of the 

Securities and Exchange Act. The board of directors’ duties, as the first priority, is to supervise the Company’s legal 

compliance, transparent finance, real-time disclosure of material information, and the objective and independent judgment 

to the Company’s finance and business; therefore, during the election, the regulatory requirements are met. 
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(II) Background information of the President, vice presidents, assistant vice presidents and heads of various departments and branches 

                                                                                                                               April 16, 2022; Unit: shares 

Position Nationality Name Gender 
Date 

Elected/ 
Appointed 

Current shareholding 
Shareholding of 

spouse and underage 
children 

Shares held by proxy 

Main Career (Academic) Achievements 
Concurrent 

positions in other 
companies 

Spouse or Relatives of The 
Second Degree or Closer 

Acting as Managers Remarks 
(Note 1) 

Shares 
Shareholding 

percentage 
Shares 

Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 

percentage 
Position Name Relation 

President 
The Republic 

of China 
Sun, Cheng 

Yao 
Male 2008.07.01 68,323 0.11% － － － － 

Agricultural Machinery Department, National 
Cishan Agricultural & Industrial Vocational 
Senior High School 
Manager, Manufacturing Department, Chun Zu 
Machinery Industry 
Vice President, Chun Zu Machinery Industry 

Director of 
Shanghai Chun 
Zu Machinery 
Industry Co., Ltd. 

－ － － － 

Executive Vice 
President 

The Republic 
of China 

Ho, Yen-
Wen 

Male 2020.02.01 38,229 0.06% － － － － 

Industrial Safety and Health Department, Chia 
Nan Pharmacy & Science Vocational School 
Assistant to the President, Chun Zu Machinery 
Industry 
Vice President, Machinery Manufacturing 
Division, Chun Zu Machinery Industry 

None － － － － 

Vice President 
The Republic 

of China 
Chiu, Ying-

Mei 
Female 2020.02.01 － － － － － － 

Department of Industrial Engineering, Chung 
Yuan Christian University 
Special Assistant to the Chairman, Gloria Material 
Technology Corp. 
Senior Manager, Machinery Manufacturing 
Division, Chun Zu Machinery Industry 

None － － － － 

Manager of 
R&D 

Department 

The Republic 
of China 

Huang, 
Yao-Ching 

Male 2004.03.01 － － － － － － 

Master of Mechanical Engineering, National 
Cheng Kung University 
Acting Assistant Manager, R&D Department, 
Chun Zu Machinery Industry 
Assistant Manager, R&D Department, Chun Zu 
Machinery Industry 

None － － － － 

Finance 
Department 

Manager 

The Republic 
of China 

Ya-Chu 
Guo 

Female 2022.03.08 － － － － － － 

Accounting Department, National Chung Cheng 
University 
Audit Manager, PricewaterhouseCoopers Taiwan 
Assistant Manager, Finance Department, Chun 
Zu Machinery Industry 

None － － － － 

Finance 
Department 

Manager 

The Republic 
of China 

Yang, 
Chia-Fang 

Female 2018.07.02 － － － － － － 

Sun Yat-Sen University Master of Advanced 
Management 
Director of Finance and Accounting Department 
of Taijinbao Electronics (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. 
Accountant and Tax Manager of Taiwan Micron 
Memory Co., Ltd. 

None － － － Note 2 

Manager of the 
Procurement 
Department 

The Republic 
of China 

Lin, Yuan-
Cheng 

Male 2018.09.03 － － － － － － 

Master's Class, Department of Industrial 
Engineering and Management, National Taipei 
University of Technology 
Assistant Manager of Welding Manufacturing 
Department, Solar Applied Materials Technology 
Corporation 
Assistant Manager of Business Department, Solar 
Applied Materials Technology Corporation 

None － － － － 

Assistant 
Manager of 
Production 
Department 

The Republic 
of China 

Yang, 
Chien-He 

Male 2022.03.01 － － － － － － 

Business Management Department, Tung Hai 
University 
Section Chief, Warehouse Management Section, 
Chun Zu Machinery Industry 
Assistant Manager, Management Department, 

None － － － － 
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Note 1: The Chairman and the President or equivalent (top manager) are the same person, spouses or relatives of each other: None. 

Note 2: Yang, Chia-Fang, the manager of the finance department, left on 110.12.17. 

Position Nationality Name Gender 
Date 

Elected/ 
Appointed 

Current shareholding 
Shareholding of 

spouse and underage 
children 

Shares held by proxy 

Main Career (Academic) Achievements 
Concurrent 

positions in other 
companies 

Spouse or Relatives of The 
Second Degree or Closer 

Acting as Managers Remarks 
(Note 1) 

Shares 
Shareholding 

percentage 
Shares 

Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 

percentage 
Position Name Relation 

Chun Zu Machinery Industry 

Deputy 
Manager of 

Manufacturing 
Department 

The Republic 
of China 

Ching-Lin Male 2016.08.01 3,503 0.01% － － － － 

Industrial Engineering and Management 
Department, Dongfang High School of Industry 
and Commerce 
Team Leader, Assembly Team I, Chun Zu 
Machinery Industry 
Section Chief, Assembly Section, Chun Zu 
Machinery Industry 

None － － － － 

Deputy 
Manager of 

Quality 
Assurance 

Department 

The Republic 
of China 

Huang, 
Guan-Lin 

Male 2021.03.01 － － － － － － 

Five-Year Civil Engineering Department of Junior 
College, Cheng Shiu University 
Team Leader, Machinery Inspection Team, 
Quality Assurance Department, Chun Zu 
Machinery Industry 
Section Chief, Quality Assurance Department, 
Chun Zu Machinery Industry 

None － － － － 

Deputy 
Manager of 

Export Sales, 
Sales 

Department 

The Republic 
of China 

Chen, Liou-
Yin 

Female 2020.02.01 － － － － － － 

Japanese Language Department, Fu Jen Catholic 
University 
Business Representative, Export Section, Chun Zu 
Machinery Industry 
Section Chief, Export Section, Chun Zu 
Machinery Industry 

None － － － － 

 Assistant 
Manager of 

Management 
Department 

The Republic 
of China 

Lin, Chien-
Hung 

Male 2020.04.11 － － － － － － 

Two-year Information Management Department 
of, Fortune Institute of Technology 
Section Chief, Warehouse Management Section, 
Chun Zu Machinery Industry 
Assistant Manager, Import Section, Chun Zu 
Machinery Industry 

None － － － － 
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III. Compensation paid to directors, supervisors, the President, and vice presidents in the last year 
(I) Compensation to non-independent and independent directors Unit: NT$ thousand; % 

Note 1: The terms of Lin, Yi-Lang, Wu, Yi-Han and Feng, Chang-Hung will not be renewed after the re-election of the shareholders' meeting on July 28, 2021. 

       Note 2: Tam, Shing-Chao, Lin, Chao-Sung and Wang, Ya-Hung will assume office after the re-election of the shareholders' meeting on July 28, 2021. 

 

  

Position Name 

Directors' compensation 

Sum of A, B, C, and 
D as a percentage of 

net income 

Compensation received as an employee 
Sum of A, B, C, D, E, 

F, and G as a 
percentage of net 

income 

Compensation 
from the parent 

company or 
business 

investments 
other than 

subsidiaries 

Benefits (A) 
Severance payment 

and pension (B) 
Director 

remuneration (C) 
Fees for services 

rendered (D) 

Salaries, bonuses, 
special allowances etc. 

(E) 

Severance payment 
and pension (F) 

Employee remuneration (G) 

The 
Company 

All 
companies 
included in 

the 
financial 

statements 

The 
Company 

All 
companies 
included 

in the 
financial 

statements 

The 
Company 

All 
companies 
included 

in the 
financial 

statements 

The 
Company 

All 
companies 
included in 

the 
financial 

statements 

The 
Company 

All 
companies 
included 

in the 
financial 

statements 

The 
Company 

All 
companies 
included in 

the 
financial 

statements 

The 
Company 

All 
companies 
included in 

the financial 
statements 

The Company 

All companies 
included in the 

financial 
statements The 

Company 

All 
companies 
included 

in the 
financial 

statements 

 
Amount 
paid in 
cash 

Amount 
paid in 
shares 

Amount 
paid in 
cash 

Amount 
paid in 
shares 

Directors 

Chairman 
Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 
Representative:  
Chen, Chi Tai 

8,009 8,009 - - 1,441 1,441 810 810 10,260 
12.25% 

10,260 
12.25% 

- - - - - - - - 10,260 
12.25% 

10,260 
12.25% 

- 

Vice Chairman 
Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 
Representative:  
Wang, Jiong-Fen 

Directors 
Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 
Representative:  
Lin, Huei-Jeng 

Directors 
Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 
Representative:  
Li, Shih-Ho 

Directors 
SPOT Inc. 
Representative:  
Sun, Ming-Shen 

Directors Lee, Chung-Hsien 

Independent 
director 

Independent 
director 

Lin, Yi-Lang (Note 1) 

1,989 1,989 - - 618 618 535 535 3,142 
3.75% 

3,142 
3.75% 

- - - - - - - - 3,142 
3.75% 

3,142 
3.75% 

- 

Independent 
director 

Wu, Yi-Han (Note 1) 

Independent 
director 

Feng, Chang-Hung (Note 1) 

Independent 
director 

Tan, Shing-Chao (Note 2) 

Independent 
director 

Lin, Chao-Sung (Note 2) 

Independent 
director 

Wang,Ya-Hung (Note 2) 

1. Please explain the policy, system, standards, and structure by which independent director compensation is paid and the association between the amount paid and independent directors' responsibilities, risks and time committed: 
Independent directors' compensation is determined according to Article 20 of the Articles of Incorporation, which considers independent directors' participation and contribution to the Company's operations and the level of compensation paid by peers. The board of directors is authorized to determine the 
level of compensation. 

2. Compensation received by the director for providing service (e.g. as a non-employee adviser to the parent/any company included in the financial statements/investees) in the last year, except those disclosed in the above table: None. 
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Compensation Range Table 

Range of compensation paid to directors 

Name of director 

Sum of first 4 compensations (A+B+C+D) Sum of first 7 compensations (A+B+C+D+E+F+G) 

The Company 
All companies included in the 

financial statements (H) 
The Company 

All companies included in the 

financial statements 

(I)  

Below NT$ 1,000,000 

Non-independent directors: 

Representatives of Chun Yu 

Works & Co., Ltd.: Lin, Huei-

Jeng and Li, Shi-Ho; 

Representatives of SPOT Inc.: 

Sun, Ming-Shen and Lee, Chung-

Hsien 

Independent Directors: Lin, Yi-

Lang, Wu, Yi-Han and Feng, 

Chang-Hung, Tan, Shing-Chao, 

Lin, Chao-Sung and Wang,Ya-

Hung 

Non-independent directors: 

Representatives of Chun Yu 

Works & Co., Ltd.: Lin, Huei-

Jeng and Li, Shi-Ho; 

Representatives of SPOT Inc.: 

Sun, Ming-Shen and Lee, Chung-

Hsien 

Independent Directors: Lin, Yi-

Lang, Wu, Yi-Han and Feng, 

Chang-Hung, Tan, Shing-Chao, 

Lin, Chao-Sung and Wang,Ya-

Hung 

Non-independent directors: 

Representatives of Chun Yu 

Works & Co., Ltd.: Lin, Huei-

Jeng and Li, Shi-Ho; 

Representatives of SPOT Inc.: 

Sun, Ming-Shen and Lee, Chung-

Hsien 

Independent Directors: Lin, Yi-

Lang, Wu, Yi-Han and Feng, 

Chang-Hung, Tan, Shing-Chao, 

Lin, Chao-Sung and Wang,Ya-

Hung 

Non-independent directors: 

Representatives of Chun Yu 

Works & Co., Ltd.: Lin, Huei-

Jeng and Li, Shi-Ho; 

Representatives of SPOT Inc.: 

Sun, Ming-Shen and Lee, Chung-

Hsien 

Independent Directors: Lin, Yi-

Lang, Wu, Yi-Han and Feng, 

Chang-Hung, Tan, Shing-Chao, 

Lin, Chao-Sung and Wang,Ya-

Hung 

NT$ 1,000,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 2,000,000 (non-inclusive) - - - - 

NT$ 2,000,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 3,500,000 (non-inclusive) 

Non-independent directors: 

Representative of Chun Yu 

Works & Co., Ltd.: Wang, Jiong-

Fen 

Non-independent directors: 

Representative of Chun Yu 

Works & Co., Ltd.: Wang, Jiong-

Fen 

Non-independent directors: 

Representative of Chun Yu 

Works & Co., Ltd.: Wang, Jiong-

Fen 

Non-independent directors: 

Representative of Chun Yu 

Works & Co., Ltd.: Wang, Jiong-

Fen 

NT$ 3,500,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 5,000,000 (non-inclusive) 

Non-independent directors: 

Representative of Chun Yu Works 

& Co., Ltd.: Chen, Chi Tai 

Non-independent directors: 

Representative of Chun Yu Works 

& Co., Ltd.: Chen, Chi Tai 

Non-independent directors: 

Representative of Chun Yu 

Works & Co., Ltd.: Chen, Chi Tai 

Non-independent directors: 

Representative of Chun Yu 

Works & Co., Ltd.: Chen, Chi Tai 

NT$ 5,000,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 10,000,000 (non-inclusive) － － － － 

NT$ 10,000,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 15,000,000 (non-

inclusive) 
－ － － － 

NT$ 15,000,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 30,000,000 (non-

inclusive) 
－ － － － 

NT$ 30,000,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 50,000,000 (non-

inclusive) 
－ － － － 

NT$ 50,000,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 100,000,000 (non-

inclusive) 
－ － － － 

NT$ 100,000,000 and above － － － － 

Total 12 people 12 people 12 people 12 people 
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(II) Supervisors' compensation: The Company has assembled an Audit Committee in place of supervisors. Hence, no compensation is paid to 

supervisors.  

(III) Compensation to the President and vice presidents 
                        Unit: NTD thousands; % 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Position Name 

Salary (A) 
Severance payment and 

pension (B) 
Bonus and special  

fees (C) 
Employee remuneration (D) 

Sum of A, B, C, and D as 
a percentage of net 

income (%) Compensation from 
the parent company 

or business 
investments other 
than subsidiaries 

The 
Company 

All 
companies 
included in 

the financial 
statements 

The 
Company 

All 
companies 
included in 

the financial 
statements 

The 
Company 

All 
companies 
included in 

the financial 
statements 

The Company 
All companies 
included in the 

financial statements The 
Company 

All 
companies 
included in 

the financial 
statements 

Amount 
paid in 
cash 

Amount 
paid in 
shares 

Amount 
paid in 
cash 

Amount 
paid in 
shares 

President Sun, 
Cheng 
Yao 

5,330 5,330 0 0 843 843 390 0 390 0 7.83% 7.83% None 

Executive 
Vice 

President 

Ho, 
Yen-
Wen 

Vice 
President 

Chiu, 
Ying-
Mei 
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Compensation range 

Range of compensation to the President and vice presidents 

Names of President and vice presidents 

The Company 
All companies included in the financial 

statements 

Below NT$ 1,000,000 - - 

NT$ 1,000,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 2,000,000 (non-inclusive) Chiu, Ying-Mei Chiu, Ying-Mei 

NT$ 2,000,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 3,500,000 (non-inclusive) Sun, Cheng Yao, Ho, Yen-Wen Sun, Cheng Yao, Ho, Yen-Wen 

NT$ 3,500,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 5,000,000 (non-inclusive) - - 

NT$ 5,000,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 10,000,000 (non-inclusive) - - 

NT$ 10,000,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 15,000,000 (non-inclusive) - - 

NT$ 15,000,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 30,000,000 (non-inclusive) - - 

NT$ 30,000,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 50,000,000 (non-inclusive) - - 

NT$ 50,000,000 (inclusive) - NT$ 100,000,000 (non-inclusive) - - 

NT$ 100,000,000 and above - - 

Total 3 3 
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(IV) Names of managers entitled to employee remuneration and distribution status 
                                                               Unit: NTD thousand 

 

Position Name 

Amount 

paid in 

shares 

Amount 

paid in 

cash 

Total 
Total as a percentage 

of net income (%) 

Managers 

President 
Sun, Cheng 

Yao 

－ 640 640 0.76% 

Executive Vice 

President 

Ho, Yen-

Wen 

Vice President 
Chiu, Ying-

Mei 

Head of 

Finance/Accounting 

Ya-Chu 

Guo 

(V) Amount of compensation paid in the last 2 years by the Company and all companies 

included in the consolidated financial statements to the Company's directors, 

supervisors, President, and vice presidents, and their respective proportions to 

parent company only and consolidated net income, as well as the policies, standards, 

and packages by which they were paid, the procedures through which 

compensations were determined, and their association with business performance 

and future risks. 

1. Directors', supervisors', President's, and vice presidents' compensations paid in 

the last two years as a percentage of net income 
                                                  Unit: NTD thousands; % 

Position 

2021 2020 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

included in 

the 

consolidated 

statements 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

included in 

the 

consolidated 

statements 

Total director remuneration 13,402 13,402 12,212 12,212 

Totaldirector remuneration as a 

percentage of net income 
16% 16% 21.45% 21.45% 

Total compensation to the President 

and vice presidents 
6,747 6,747 6,413 6,413 

Total compensation to the President 

and vice presidents as a percentage of 

net income 

8.05% 8.05% 11.26% 11.26% 

2. Compensation policies, standards and packages, procedures of setting 

remuneration, and the relationship with business performance and future risks: 

 A. Directors 

Directors of the Company are paid compensations including salary, 

benefits, travel allowance, and remuneration. Director remuneration is 

allocated according to Articles of Incorporation; the amount allocated is 

reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and presented to the board of 

directors for discussion before payment. It has to be reported in a shareholder 

meeting afterwards. 
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The Company established its own "Board of Directors Performance 

Evaluation Policy" and "Director Compensation Allocation Policy" in 2020. 

According to the policies, directors' compensation is calculated and 

distributed based on the outcome of performance evaluation derived using 

appropriate assessment standards, after taking into consideration each 

director's participation and contribution to the Company's operations.  

B. President and vice presidents 

Compensation to the President and vice presidents includes salary, 

bonus, and employee remuneration. Salary and bonus are determined based 

on contributions to the Company, and are subject to Remuneration 

Committee's resolution followed by board of directors' approval. Allocation 

of employee remuneration is determined according to the terms of Articles 

of Incorporation; the amount of which is subject to Remuneration 

Committee's review followed by board of directors' discussion before 

payment, and has to be reported in a shareholder meeting afterwards. 
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IV. Corporate governance 

(I) Functionality of board of directors 

A total of 9 (A) board of directors meetings (Note) were held in the last year 

(2021); the attendance status is as follows: 

Position Name 

Attendance 

in Person 

(B) 

Number 

of proxy 

attendance 

In-person 

attendance rate (%) 

(B/A) 
Remarks 

Chairman 

Chun Yu Works & 

Co., Ltd. 

Representative: Chen, 

Chi Tai 

9 0 100% － 

Vice 

Chairman 

Chun Yu Works & 

Co., Ltd. 

Representative: 

Wang, Jiong-Fen 

9 0 100% － 

Directors 

Chun Yu Works & 

Co., Ltd. 

Representative: Lin, 

Huei-Jeng 

9 0 100% － 

Directors 

Chun Yu Works & 

Co., Ltd. 

Representative: Li, 

Shih-Ho 

9 0 100% － 

Directors 

SPOT Inc. 

Representative: Sun, 

Ming-Shen 

9 0 100% － 

Directors Lee, Chung-Hsien 9 0 100% － 

Independent 

director 
Lin, Yi-Lang 4 0 100% 

Departed 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

director 
Wu, Yi-Han 4 0 100% 

Departed 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

director 
Feng, Chang-Hung 3 1 75% 

Departed 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

director 
Tan, Shing-Chao 5 0 100% 

Elected 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

director 
Lin, Chao-Sung 5 0 100% 

Elected 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

director 
Wang,Ya-Hung 5 0 100% 

Elected 

2021.07.28 

Note: The board of directors convened a total of 9 meetings in 2021, 4 of which were held before the re-election at the 

shareholder meeting on July 28, 2021, and 5 of which took place after re-election. 

 

Other mandatory disclosures: 

1. For board meetings that meet any of the following descriptions, state the date, the session, 

the contents of the motions, all independent directors' opinions and how the Company 

responded to such opinions: 

(1) Matters listed in Article 14-3 of the Securities and Exchange Act: The Company has 

established an Audit Committee, and the provisions of Article 14-3 of the Securities 
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and Exchange Act do not apply. For relevant information, please refer to "Operation of 

the Audit Committee" in this annual report. 

 

(2)Any other board resolution(s) passed but with independent directors voicing objections 

or reservations on the record or in writing: None. 

 

2. Disclosure regarding avoidance of interest-conflicting motions, including the names of 

directors concerned, the motions, the nature of conflicting interests, and the voting process: 

 
Motion Name of director Reasons for avoiding conflict of 

interest 

Execution 

2021 year-end bonus 

for directors and 

managers of the 

Company 

(2021.01.26). 

Chairman Chen, Chi 

Tai and Vice Chairman 

Wang, Jiong-Fen 

The Chairman and Vice Chairman 

withdrew from the discussion due to 

their personal interests involved. 

Executed as 

proposed 

Appointment of 

Remuneration 

Committee members 

(2021.08.10). 

Directors Tan, Shing-

Chao, Lin, Chao-Sung 

and Wang, Ya-Hung 

These three directors have been 

appointed as members of the 

Remuneration Committee and were 

involved in the resolution of their 

travel allowance, for which they had 

recused due to conflict of interest. 

Executed as 

proposed 

Signed a contract on 

industry-academia 

cooperation and 

academic feedback 

mechanism with 

National Taiwan 

University 

(2021.08.10) 

Director Lin, Chao-

Sung 

Signed a contract on industry-

academia cooperation and academic 

feedback mechanism with National 

Taiwan University; Director Lin, 

Chao-Sung avoided due to personal 

interests involved. 

Executed as 

proposed 

 

 

3. TWSE/TPEX listed companies are required to disclose the cycle, duration, scope, method, 

and details of board performance self (or peer) evaluations performed, and complete 

Execution of Board Performance Evaluation: 

 

      To implement corporate governance and improve the functions of the Board of 

Directors, establish the performance goal for enhancing the Board’s operation efficiency,  

the Board of Directors established the “Evaluation Procedures for the Board of Directors 

Performance” in the Board meeting on April 28, 2020, which were approved after 

deliberation. 

 

  Evaluation cycle: at least one internal performance evaluation shall be conducted at the 

end of each year; the results shall be completed by the end of Q1 of the next year. 

  Evaluation period: from January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021 

  Evaluation scope: the scope covers the board's performance as a whole, the individual 

directors, and functional committees. 
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  Evaluation methods: Internal self-evaluation by the board, self-evaluation by board 

member, appointment of external specialized institutions and experts. 

  Evaluation contents 

  (1) Evaluation aspects of measurement indicators 

a. Five major aspects for the measurement indicators of the Board’ performance:the 

participation in the operation of the Company, improvement of the quality of the 

board of directors' decision making, composition and structure of the board of 

directors, election and continuing education of the directors and internal control. 

b. Six major aspects for the measurement indicators of board members’ performance: 

the alignment of the goals and missions of the Company, awareness of the duties 

of a director, participation in the operation of the Company, management of 

internal relationship and communication, the director's professionalism and 

continuing education and internal control. 

c. Five major aspects for the measurement indicators of the functional committees’ 

performance: the participation in the operation of the Company, awareness of the 

duties of the functional committee, improvement of quality of decisions made by 

the functional committee, makeup of the functional committee and election of its 

members and internal control. 

  (2) Evaluation criteria of the measurement indicators 

The evaluation criteria of the measurement indicators are divided  as 5 point 

(excellent); 4 points (good); 3 points (fair); 2 points (poor); and 1 point (worst). The 

evaluation results are classified as five levels based on the average scores of all 

measurement indicators (i.e. “qualitative measurement indicators” plus “quantitative 

measurement indicators”).  

Level Worst Poor Fair Good Excellent 

Average scores 1* 1~2* 2~3* 3~4* 4~5* 

  Note: 4~5* means 5 points (inclusive) and below; and so on. 

 

 Execution of the 2021 evaluation 

      The average score of the Board of Directors’ performance evaluation is 4.93 points, 

and thus the evaluation result is "Excellent"; the average score of the board members’ 

performance evaluation is 4.84 points, and the evaluation result is "Excellent"; the result 

of functional committees’ performance evaluation (including Audit and Remuneration 

Committee) is 4.90 points, an the evaluation result is "Excellent." 

      The above results have been reported during the board of directors meeting held on 

March 8, 2022. (Before the end of the first quarter the following year) 
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4. Enhancements to the functionality of board of directors in the current and the most recent 

year (e.g. assembly of Audit Committee, improvement of information transparency etc.), 

and progress of such enhancements: 

(1) The Company has a set of "Board of Directors Meeting Policy" in place to guide how 

board meetings should proceed. Directors' meeting attendance records are updated 

onto Market Observation Post System. 

 (2) The Company has implemented the "Board of Directors Performance Evaluation 

Policy" since 2020 and will conduct performance evaluation accordingly. The above 

policy has been published on Market Observation Post System. 

(3) There are 3 independent directors among the 9 directors of the board. The Company 

will aim to diversify its board to include members of different professional 

backgrounds, (e.g., legal, accounting and industry knowledge), genders, or work 

exposure to improve the structure of the board of directors. 

  (4) According to regulations, the Company publishes material financial and business 

information on a regular and ad-hoc basis. 

  (5) In order to establish a good governance system of the board of directors, improve the 

supervision function and strengthen the management function, the Company 

established an Audit Committee on June 19, 2014, and formulated the Organizational 

Procedures of the Audit Committee. 
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(II)Operation of the Audit Committee: 

A total of 7 Audit Committee meetings (A) (Note) were held in 2021; the status of 

independent directors' attendance is as follows: 

Position Name 
Attendance-

in-person (B) 

Number 

of proxy 

attendance 

Percentage 

of in-

person 

attendance 

(%) 

(B/A) 

Remarks 

Independent 

director 

Lin, Yi-

Lang 
3 0 100.00% 

Departed 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

director 

Wu, Yi-

Han 
3 0 100.00% 

Departed 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

director 

Feng, 

Chang-

Hung 

2 1 66.67% 
Departed 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

director 

Tan, 

Shing-

Chao 

4 0 100.00% 
Elected 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

director 

Lin, 

Chao-

Sung 

4 0 100.00% 
Elected 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

director 

Wang,Ya-

Hung 
4 0 100.00% 

Elected 

2021.07.28 

Note: The Audit Committee convened a total of 7 meetings in 2021; 3 were held before and 4 were 

held after the re-election at the shareholder meeting dated July 28, 2021. 

 

Other mandatory disclosures: 

I. For Audit Committee meetings that meet any of the following descriptions, state the date 

and session of the meeting, the contents of the motions, independent directors' objections 

reserved opinions or contents of their major suggestions, the Audit Committee's resolutions, 

and how the Company responded to the Audit Committee's opinions. 

 

(I) Conditions described in Article 14-5 of the Securities and Exchange Act: 
 

Audit 

Committee 

date/session 

Motion details and subsequent actions taken 

2021.01.26 
2021 1st Audit 

Committee 

Partial amendment to "Internal Control System - Sales and Collection 

Cycle." 

Audit Committee's resolution: Supported and passed by all committee 

members. 

Company's response to Audit Committees' opinions: Passed by all 

attending directors. 

2021.03.09 1. Presentation of 2020 financial reports approved by the Chairman, 
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Audit 

Committee 

date/session 

Motion details and subsequent actions taken 

2021 2nd Audit 

Committee 
President, and head of accounting, the 2020 business report and the 

2020 earnings appropriation proposal. 

2. Issuance of the Company's 2020 "Declaration of Internal Control 

System" based on internal self-inspection and internal audit. 

3. Evaluation of CPA’s independence and suitability 

4. Review of 2021 CPA professional service fees. 
5. Partial amendment to "Board of Directors Meeting Policy." 

Audit Committee's resolution: Supported and passed by all committee 

members. 

Company's response to Audit Committees' opinions: Passed by all 

attending directors. 

2021.05.11 
2021 3rd Audit 

Committee 

1. Approval of 2021 first quarter consolidated financial statements by 

Chairman, President, and head of accounting 

Audit Committee's resolution: Supported and passed by all committee 

members. 

Company's response to Audit Committees' opinions: Passed by all 

attending directors. 

2021.08.10 

2021 4th Audit 

Committee 

1. Approval of 2021 second-quarter consolidated financial statements 

by Chairman, President, and head of accounting 
2. Amendment to the provisions of "Internal Control System - 

Information System Processing Cycle" and "Internal Control 

System - Financing Cycle". 

Audit Committee's resolution: Supported and passed by all committee 

members. 

Company's response to Audit Committees' opinions: Passed by all 

attending directors. 

2021.09.07 

2021 5th Audit 

Committee 

1. "Effectiveness Assessment of Internal Control System" and 

"Statement of Internal Control System" from July 1, 2020 to June 

30, 2021. 

2. Issuance of the Company's simplified financial forecast from the 

third quarter of 2021 to the fourth quarter of 2021. 

3. Formulation of the "Improvement Plan for the Operation Process of 

the Company's Own Preparation of Financial Reports". 

4. The Company's "Corporate Governance Self-assessment Report". 

Audit Committee's resolution: Supported and passed by all committee 

members. 

Company's response to Audit Committees' opinions: Passed by all 

attending directors. 

2021.09.27 

2021 6th Audit 

Committee 

Issuance of the Company's simplified financial forecast from the third 

quarter of 2021 to the fourth quarter of 2021. 

Audit Committee's resolution: Supported and passed by all committee 

members. 

Company's response to Audit Committees' opinions: Passed by all 

attending directors. 

2021.11.08 

2021 7th Audit 

Committee 

1. Approval of 2021 third-quarter consolidated financial statements by 

Chairman, President, and head of accounting 

2. The Company’s 2022 audit plan. 

3. Amendment to some articles of "Internal Control System - Other 

Operations", "Internal Control System - Research and Development 
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Audit 

Committee 

date/session 

Motion details and subsequent actions taken 

Cycle" and "Internal Control System - Production Cycle". 

4. Issuance of the Company's simplified financial forecast from the 

fourth quarter of 2021 to the first quarter of 2022. 

Audit Committee's resolution: Supported and passed by all committee 

members. 

Company's response to Audit Committees' opinions: Passed by all 

attending directors. 
 

(II) Other than those described above, any resolutions not supported by the Audit 

Committee but approved by more than two-thirds of directors: None. 

 

II. The implementation of independent directors' avoidance of proposals with personal 

interests involved; state the name of the independent director, the content of the proposal, 

the reason for the avoidance of personal interests, and the voting participation status: None. 

III. Communication between independent directors and internal/external auditors (e.g. 

discussions concerning the Company's financial and business affairs, the method of 

communication used, and the outcome): 

1. Communication between independent directors and the chief internal auditor: 

        The Company's chief internal auditor is called into Audit Committee and board of 

directors meetings to report on the recent execution of audit tasks on a yearly basis. The 

internal audit unit not only produces audit reports and follow-up reports to independent 

directors but may also engage independent directors in direct communication through 

means such as e-mail, telephone, and face-to-face discussion. 

2. Communication between independent directors and external auditors: 

The Company's financial statement auditors participate in Audit Committee and 

board of directors meetings to discuss matters relating to financial reports on a semi-

annual basis. Financial statement auditors may also engage the Audit Committee or 

individual independent directors in separate discussions as needed based on 

professional judgment. 
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(III) Deviation and causes of deviation from Corporate Governance Best-Practice Principles for TWSE/TPEX Listed Companies: 

Assess criteria 

Actual governance Deviation and causes 

of deviation from 

Corporate Governance 

Best-Practice 

Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

I.  Has the Company established and disclosed 

its corporate governance principles based 

on "Corporate Governance Best-Practice 

Principles for TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies"? 

  

The Company has established the "Corporate Governance Code of 

Conduct" to enforce sound corporate governance practices. This 

code of conduct has been made available for download and viewing 

on Market Observation Post System. 

No material deviation 

is found 

II. Shareholding structure and shareholders' 

equity 

(I) Has the Company created a set of internal 

procedures to handle shareholders' 

suggestions, queries, disputes, and 

litigations and enforced them accordingly? 

(II) Is the Company constantly informed of the 

identities of its major shareholders and the 

ultimate controller 

(III) Has the Company established and 

implemented risk management practices 

and firewalls for its affiliated companies? 

 

 

 

 

 

(IV) Has the Company established internal 

policies that prevent insiders from trading 

securities against non-public information? 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

  

(I) The Company has a Shareholders Service Policy, 

spokesperson system, Shareholder Service Department, and 

e-mails in place. It engages a professional share transfer 

agency to address shareholders' suggestions, queries, and 

disputes. All suggestions, queries, and disputes are being 

handled according to procedures. 

(II) The Company has assigned relevant departments to gather 

information on major shareholders and the ultimate 

controller. 

(III) The Company has established "Transaction Procedures for 

Affiliated Enterprises, Specific Companies and Related 

Parties" and "Subsidiaries Supervision Policy"; both of which 

are being executed according to policy. The subsidiaries have 

internal audit personnel available to conduct regular or ad-hoc 

audits over business operations according to the internal 

control system and related policies. 

(IV) The Company has established and executed "Ethical Behavior 

Guidelines" and "Material Insider Information Handling and 

Insider Transaction Prevention Procedures." Insiders are 

 

No material deviation 

is found 

 

 

No material deviation 

is found 

 

 
No material deviation 

is found 

 

 

 

 

No material deviation 

is found 
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Assess criteria 

Actual governance Deviation and causes 

of deviation from 

Corporate Governance 

Best-Practice 

Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

constantly updated on the latest regulations to prevent them 

from trading securities against non-public information. 

 

 

III. Composition and responsibilities of the 

board of directors 

(I) Has the board of directors formulated 

diversification policies, specific 

management objectives and implemented 

them? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(II) Apart from the Remuneration Committee 

and Audit Committee, has the Company 

assembled other functional committees at 

its own discretion? 

(III)Has the Company established a set of 

policies and assessment tools for 

evaluating board performance and 

conducted performance evaluation on a 

yearly basis? Are performance evaluation 

results reported to the board of directors 

and used as a reference for compensation, 

remuneration, and nomination decisions? 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

(I) It has been mentioned in the Company's "Directors Election 

Policy" that board members are required to possess various 

skills. The Company's directors have diverse professional 

backgrounds, including business administration, finance, 

accounting, and laws; they have extensive experience working 

as professionals, college professors, and lawyers in relevant 

industries. They contribute professional opinions that are 

helpful to improving the Company's performance. Please see 

page 26~28 of the annual report for implementation of the 

board diversity policy. 

(II) The Company has assembled a Remuneration Committee and 

an Audit Committee. No other functional committee exists to 

date but will be created as needed to support corporate 

governance in the future. 

(III) The Company has implemented the Board of Directors 

Performance Evaluation Policy. Performance of the board, 

individual directors, and functional committees is evaluated on 

a yearly basis according to the procedures and indicators 

outlined in the policy. The evaluation outcome is reported to 

the board of directors and used as a reference for 

compensation, nomination, and renewal of individual 

directors. 

 

 

 

No material deviation 

is found 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Future establishment 

is depending on 

actual operation 

 
No material deviation 

is found 
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Assess criteria 

Actual governance Deviation and causes 

of deviation from 

Corporate Governance 

Best-Practice 

Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

 

(IV) Are external auditors' independence 

assessed regularly? 

 

 
 

 

(IV) The Company has an Audit Committee in place to evaluate 

independence and competence of financial statement auditors 

at least once a year. The outcome of the evaluation is reported 

to the board of directors. The Company's CPAs do not hold 

positions as director or supervisor, nor are they shareholders of 

the Company. The CPAs do not have a common interest with 

the Company's directors or managers, as affirmed in a 

statement of independence issued by the accounting firm (refer 

to Note 1). Furthermore, the CPAs have been evaluated by the 

Company to conform with independence and competence 

criteria (refer to Note 2 CPA Evaluation Table). Outcome of 

the evaluation was reviewed by the Audit Committee on 

March 8, 2022 and subsequently presented for approval by the 

board meeting. 

 
No material deviation 

is found 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IV. Has the TWSE/TPEX listed company 

allocated an adequate number of 

competent corporate governance staff and 

appointed a corporate governance officer 

to oversee corporate governance affairs 

(including but not limited to providing 

directors/supervisors with the information 

needed to perform their duties, assisting 

directors/supervisors with compliance 

issues, the convention of board meetings 

and shareholder meetings, and preparation 

of board/shareholder meeting minutes)? 

  

The Company has assigned dedicated department and personnel to 

oversee the following matters relating to corporate governance: 

1. Providing directors and independent directors with the 

information needed to perform duties. Directors have to be 

notified and provided with detailed materials at least 7 days 

before attending the board meeting, so that they may develop a 

proper understanding of the topics discussed. Directors will also 

be reminded to recuse from motions that present a conflict to their 

own interests. Board meeting minutes are produced after the 

meeting and distributed to each director. 

2. Announcing the dates of annual shareholder meetings over the 

websites designated by the authority; publication of meeting 

No material deviation 

is found 
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Assess criteria 

Actual governance Deviation and causes 

of deviation from 

Corporate Governance 

Best-Practice 

Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

advice, conference manual, annual report, and details concerning 

each shareholder meeting according to regulations; making 

arrangements in relation to shareholder meetings; update of 

newly elected directors and amendments to the Articles of 

Incorporation, if applicable; and preparation and announcement 

of shareholder meeting minutes over the websites designated by 

the authority. 

V. Has the Company provided proper 

communication channels and created 

dedicated sections on its website to address 

corporate social responsibility issues that 

are of significant concern to stakeholders 

(including but not limited to shareholders, 

employees, customers and suppliers)? 

  

The Company has assigned relevant departments to communicate 

with stakeholders. The Company also has a stakeholders section 

created on its website that customers, employees, shareholders, 

corporate entities, media, and suppliers may use to contact the 

Company. A spokesperson system has been implemented with 

dedicated personnel assigned to ensure an appropriate response to 

corporate social responsibility issues of concern to stakeholders. 

No material deviation 

is found 

VI. Does the Company engage a share transfer 

agency to handle shareholder meeting 

affairs? 

  

The Company commissions the Shareholder Service Department of 

IBF Securities Co Ltd. to handle matters relating to shareholder 

meetings and share transfer. 

No material deviation 

is found 

VII. Information disclosure 

(I) Has the Company established a website 

that discloses financial, business, and 

corporate governance-related 

information? 

 

 

(II) Has the Company adopted other means to 

disclose information (e.g. English 

website, assignment of dedicated 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

(I) The Company maintains its website in both Chinese and 

English and discloses financial, business, and corporate 

governance-related information under the Investors section. 

The Company also regularly updates its profile, financial, 

business, and corporate governance-related information over 

the Market Observation Post System. 

(II) The Company has one spokesperson and one acting 

spokesperson. It assigns dedicated personnel to gather and 

disclose information relating to the Company and to make 

 

No material deviation 

is found 

 

 

 
No material deviation 

is found 
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Assess criteria 

Actual governance Deviation and causes 

of deviation from 

Corporate Governance 

Best-Practice 

Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

personnel to collect and disclose 

corporate information, implementation of 

a spokesperson system, broadcasting of 

investor conferences via the company 

website)? 

(III) Does the Company publish and make the 

official filing of the annual financial 

report within two months after the end of 

an accounting period, and publish/file Q1, 

Q2 and, Q3 financial reports along with 

monthly business performance before the 

designated due dates? 

 

 

 
 

mandatory disclosures over Market Observation Post System 

regularly in a manner that complies with applicable 

regulations. The Company would upload presentation 

materials and video files onto its website for public access for 

any investor seminar convened. 

(III) Being registered on the Emerging Stock Board, the Company 

is only required to publish annual and second-quarter financial 

reports; nevertheless, the Company publishes its financial 

reports ahead of deadlines and makes monthly disclosures of 

operational performance. 

 

 

 

 

No material deviation 

is found 

VIII. Does the Company have other 

information that enables a better 

understanding of the Company's 

corporate governance practices 

(including but not limited to employee 

rights, employee care, investor relations, 

supplier relations, stakeholders' interests, 

continuing education of 

directors/supervisors, implementation of 

risk management policies and risk 

measurements, implementation of 

customer policy, and liability insurance 

for directors and supervisors)? 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

(I) The Company convenes labor-management meetings regularly. 

The management and employees have been able to engage 

each other in open communication and maintain harmonic 

relationship to date. The Company also has employee opinion 

boxes that employees may use to express opinions regarding 

the Company's policies and measures. Furthermore, training 

programs are organized frequently to help employees improve 

work skills. Overall, the Company protects the interests of both 

the management and employees in a manner that complies with 

laws and takes actions to promote mutual benefit and mutual 

growth. 

(II) The Company values environmental protection, fulfills its 

responsibilities to society, and maintains a good relationship 

with the local community. It engages schools of the local 

community in various collaborative programs to ensure 

No material deviation 

is found 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No material deviation 

is found 
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Assess criteria 

Actual governance Deviation and causes 

of deviation from 

Corporate Governance 

Best-Practice 

Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

students have the ideal environment and opportunities to learn. 

  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

(III) For more than 40 years, the Company has maintained a 

productive business relationship with suppliers and customers. 

(IV) The Company publishes information over the Market 

Observation Post System on a regular basis so that investors 

may have updated knowledge about the Company to protect 

their interests. A stakeholders section has been created on the 

Company's website with contact methods to serve as open 

communication channels with investors, banking partners, 

employees, customers, and suppliers. The Company adopts a 

spokesperson system and assigns dedicated personnel to handle 

shareholders' suggestions and concerns and to respond to 

investors' queries. 

(V) All of the Company's directors possess relevant industry 

backgrounds and practical experience. The Company provides 

directors with up-to-date information on training courses and 

regulations and invites them to sign up for training as needed. 

Directors' training progress is updated onto Market 

Observation Post System. (See Note 4) 

(VI) The Company has implemented internal control policies 

according to laws to evaluate and manage various risk types. 

Risk management measures are executed as planned, and any 

defects discovered are followed up for improvement. 

(VII) The Company adopts international systems and standards in 

production control and testing. These international standards 

are viewed as a means to protect consumers and serve 

customers. 

No material deviation 

is found 

No material deviation 

is found 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No material deviation 

is found 

 

 
 

 

No material deviation 

is found 

 

 

No material deviation 

is found 
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Assess criteria 

Actual governance Deviation and causes 

of deviation from 

Corporate Governance 

Best-Practice 

Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

 

 

(VIII) The Company has purchased liability insurance for all 

directors and managers to help reduce risks and protect 

shareholders' equity. 

No material deviation 

is found 

IX. Please explain the improvements made, based on the latest Corporate Governance Evaluation results published by TWSE Corporate Governance Center, 

and propose enhancement measures for any issues that are yet to be rectified. (Not required if the Company is not one of the evaluated subjects): The 

Company is not subject to evaluation. 
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Note 1: CPAs’ Independence Declaration 

Letter 

 

Recipient: Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

 

Date: January 18, 2022 

Document reference: Zi-Hui-Zong-Zhi 22000092 

 

Subject: At the request of your Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to 

as "your Group") and in accordance with the provisions of "Integrity, 

Impartiality, Objectivity and Independence" of the Accountants Professional 

Ethics Bulletin No. 10, the firm has assessed its independence from your 

Group; please check the results of the assessment and the statement issued 

as in the details below. 

Details: 

I. As stipulated under article 4 of the Certified Public Accountants’ Ethical      

Guideline Journal number 10 (hereinafter referred to as the “Number 10 

Journal”), a certified public accountant is not only to “maintained the tangible 

independence” when auditing or authenticating financial statements, and it is 

significantly more important to focus on its format. With that said, audit 

service team members, other peer practicing CPAs, the office and office-

related enterprises (hereinafter referred to as the Service Team Members and 

the Office’s Related Parties) need to maintain their independence from the 

client being audited.   Also article 7 of the number ten journal also explains 

that “the independence might be affected by self-interest, self-evaluation, 

defense, level of familiarity and threat”. Therefore, the office can only attest 

to your esteemed group on probable factors that might hinder the 

independence as described under article 7 one by one that our office’s 

independence has not been hindered by the foresaid factors. 

II. Our office’s independence has not been impaired by self-income 

Our office’s independence has not been hindered by self-interestThe office 

hereby attests that audit team members and the office’s related parties have 

not with your esteemed group or its directors and auditors had any (I) direct 

or significantly indirect financial gains relation; (II) close-knit commercial 

relation; (III) potential hiring relation; (IV) financing or guarantee conduct.  

III. Our office’s independence has not been impaired by self-evaluation 

The office hereby attests that audit service team members, at present or in 

the most recent two years, have not acted as your esteemed group’s directors 

or auditors or held any position bearing significant impact to the audit case; 

in addition, the office also has not supplied any non-audit service cases to 
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directly affect the audit case’s critical items.  

IV. Our office’s independence has not been impaired by defense 

The office hereby attests that audit service team members have not been 

appointed to defend your esteemed groups’ stance or opinion, or represent 

your esteemed group as an intermediary to coordinate conflict occurred with 

third parties. 

V. Our office’s independence has not been hindered by familiarity 

The office hereby attests that (I) audit service team members have not had 

any blood relation to your esteemed group’s directors/auditors, managers or 

personnel holding significantly influential positions to the audit case; (II) our 

former co-practicing CPAs resigned within one year have not acted as your 

esteemed group’s directors/auditors, managers or persons with significantly 

influential positions to the audit case; (III) audit service team members have 

not accepted  significantly valuable gratuity or gift from your esteemed 

groups’ directors/auditors, managers. 

VI. Our office’s independence has not been hindered by threat 

The office hereby attests that audit service team members have not accepted 

or being influenced by your esteemed group management’s improper request 

on the choice of accounting policy or financial statement disclosure; or 

reduce the mandated audit work to be executed on the ground of reducing 

the remuneration, to hinder its objectivity and professional skepticism.  

 

The office, in making the above statement, has not only adhered to the office’s 

relevant client independence check-related operating procedures, and has also 

exerted its due diligence on all professional cautions,  as duly reported herein. 

 

Appendages 

I. Manifest of the audit service team members as stipulated by the number 10 journal. 

II. Manifest of CPAs withdrew from joint practice in the most recent one year. 

III. Manifest of enterprises affiliated with PricewaterhouseCoopers Taiwan 

IV. Non-audit service items PricewaterhouseCoopers Taiwan and its affiliated 

enterprises rendered on behalf of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Taiwan 

 

Certified public accountant: LIN, TZU YU 



 

- 53 - 

 

 

Note 2: Evaluation Form of the CPAs 

 

  Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 
 

   Evaluation Form of the CPAs 

   (■Finance  ■Taxation) 

 

Date of Review: February 25, 2022 

Subjects: ■current □candidate of CPAs: LIN, TZU YU and LIU, TZU MENG  

One Review of Independence (When “No” is checked for any of following items, the specific fact shall 

be further understand) 

Item Description of Key Element 
Please check 

Remarks 
Yes No N/A 

01 

The accountant himself/herself or his/her spouse or 

underage children are not in an investment or sharing of 

financial interests relationship with the Company. 

V    

02 

The accountant himself/herself or his/her spouse or 

underage children do not borrow funds from or lend 

them to the Company.  If the client is a financial 

institution and normal correspondence is involved, 

however, this shall not apply. 

V    

03 

There is no assurance service report provided by the 

accounting firm for the effective operation of the 

financial information system it designs or helps 

implement. 

V    

04 

The accountants or the audit service group members are 

not a director, manager or someone holding a post that 

has significant impacts on audit cases in the Company 

now and have not been so for the past two years. 

V    

05 

There are no important items of the non-audit services 

provided to the Company that will have direct impacts 

on audit cases. 

V    

06 

The accountants or the audit service group members are 

not promoting or brokering shares or other securities 

issued by the Company. 

V    

07 

The accountants or the audit service group members are 

not defending the Company in its legal cases or other 

disputes involving a third party. 

V    

08 
The accountants or the audit service group members are 

not the spouse, lineal relative by blood, lineal relative 

V    
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by affinity or relative within the second degree of 

kinship of a director, manager or someone holding an 

important post that has significant impact on audit cases 

in the Company. 

09 

Co-accountants that have left work for less than a year 

are not a director, manager or someone holding an 

important post that has significant impacts on audit 

cases in the Company. 

V    

10 

The accountants or the audit service group members do 

not receive gifts or special offers of significant value 

from the Company or the director, manager or major 

shareholder. 

V    

11 

The accountants are not hired by the client or the party 

being inspected to carry out routine tasks on a fixed 

salary or as a director or supervisor. 

V    

12 

Listed companies: 

The accountants have not been providing the Company 

with audit service for 7 consecutive years. 

Non-listed companies: 

The accountants have not been providing the Company 

with audit service for 10 consecutive years. 

V    

Two. Review of operation of independence (when “No” is checked for any of following items, 

the specific fact shall be further explained) 

Item Description of Key Element 
Please check 

Remarks 
Yes No N/A 

01 

Has the accountant recused himself or herself from 

handling matters authorized to him/her that were in 

direct or indirect yet significant conflicts of interest with 

him/her to possibly affect his/her impartiality and 

independence? 

V    

02 

Does the accountant maintain formal independence 

besides substantial independence while inspecting, 

reviewing, performing follow-up review, or conducting 

project-based review of financial reports and rendering 

his/her opinions? 

V    

03 

Do the audit service group members, other co-

accountants or shareholders of legal accounting firms, 

accounting firms, their affiliated businesses, and allies 

maintain independence toward the Company? 

V    

04 
Does the accountant provide professional services with a 

righteous and rigid attitude? 

V    
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05 

Does the accountant maintain an impartial and 

objective position while providing professional services 

and avoid bias, conflicts of interest or conflicting 

relationships that affect his/her professional judgment? 

V    

06 

The accountant has not been affected with regard to 

his/her righteous, impartial and objective position 

because of the lack or loss of independence. 

V    

Three. Review of suitability (when “No” is checked for any of following items, the specific fact 

shall be further explained) 

Item Description of Key Element 
Please check 

Remarks 
Yes No N/A 

01 

The accountants have no record of disciplinary action 

taken by the CPA Discipline Committee in the past two 

years.  

V    

02 
Does the accounting firm have enough scale resources, 

and regional coverage for the company audit services. 

V    

03 

Does the accounting firm have specified quality control 

procedure? Do the covered aspects including the level 

and key elements of audit procedures, approaches to 

handle audit issue and judgement, review of quality 

control for independence, and the risk management? 

V    

04 

Does the accounting firm notify the Board of Directors 

(Audit Committee) any significant issue and 

development in the regards of risk management, 

corporate governance, finance and accounting, and 

related risk controls? 

V    

Four. Other Supplementary Matter 

Description: none: 

Five. Review Comment: 

■ Review is passed, and the appointment is recommended 

□ Review is not passed, and the appointment is not recommended 

  Reasons: 
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Note 3: Directors' and independent directors' ongoing education in 2021: 

Position Name Study date Organizer Course name 
Training 

hours 

Chairman Chen, Chi Tai 
2021/05/12 Taiwan Corporate 

Governance 

Association 

What are investors thinking? On the sustainable transformation of 

enterprises from the aspects o ESG investment and financing 
3.0 

2021/09/07 Corporate governance and securities regulations 3.0 

Vice 
Chairman 

Wang,Jiong-Fen 

2021/05/12 Taiwan Corporate 

Governance 

Association 

Accelerator for enterprise sustainability CSR, ESG and SDGs 3.0 

2021/09/07 Corporate governance and securities regulations 3.0 

Directors Lin,Huei-Jeng 
2021/08/11 Taiwan Corporate 

Governance 

Association 

How to take into account the risk of intelligent security in enterprise 

digital transformation and create a win-win situation 
3.0 

2021/09/07 Corporate governance and securities regulations 3.0 

Directors Li,Shih-Ho 
2021/05/12 Taiwan Corporate 

Governance 

Association 

What are investors thinking? On the sustainable transformation of 

enterprises from the aspects o ESG investment and financing 
3.0 

2021/09/07 Corporate governance and securities regulations 3.0 

Directors 
Lee, Chung-
Hsien 

2021/09/07 

Taiwan Corporate 

Governance 

Association 

Corporate governance and securities regulations 3.0 

2021/11/17 

Accounting Research 

and Development 

Foundation of the 

R.O.C. 

Discussion on corporate governance from actual cases of 

management right competition 
3.0 

Directors Sun,Ming-Shen 

2021/09/07 

Taiwan Corporate 

Governance 

Association 

Corporate governance and securities regulations 3.0 

2021/12/01 

Accounting Research 

and Development 

Foundation of the 

R.O.C. 

 

Enterprise inheritance and corporate governance 3.0 
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Position Name Study date Organizer Course name 
Training 

hours 

Independent 
director 

Tan, Shing-Chao 

2021/09/07 

Taiwan Corporate 

Governance 

Association 

Corporate governance and securities regulations 3.0 

2021/09/01 
Financial Supervisory 

Commission 

The 13th Taipei Corporate Governance Forum (morning session) 3.0 

The 13th Taipei Corporate Governance Forum (afternoon session) 3.0 

Independent 
director 

Lin, Chao-Sung 

2021/09/07 

Taiwan Corporate 

Governance 

Association 

Corporate governance and securities regulations 3.0 

2021/09/17 
Accounting Research 

and Development 

Foundation of the 

R.O.C. 

Practice on enterprises cooperation with CPAs’ audits: The 

responsibility of financial report audit for "fraud" 
3.0 

2021/12/14 
Using ESG to improve enterprise strategic ability and respond to the 

trend of sustainable finance 
6.0 

Independent 
director 

Wang,Ya-Hung 

2021/09/07 

Taiwan Corporate 

Governance 

Association 

Corporate governance and securities regulations 3.0 

2021/09/23 

Accounting Research 

and Development 

Foundation of the 

R.O.C. 

Self compiled topics and coping practices for the latest "Corporate 

Governance 3.0 - Blueprint for Sustainable Development" 
3.0 

2021/12/08 

On how to properly exercise the functions and powers of independent 

directors from the responsibility of Stock Exchange Law -- Also on 

the audit committee 

3.0 

2021/12/22 
Untruthful financial statements and the responsibilities of directors, 

supervisors and managers 
3.0 
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  (IV) Composition, and operation of the Remuneration Committee 

1. Information of Remuneration Committee members 

 March 31, 2022 

          

Criteria 

 

 

Designation  Name 

Professional qualifications and experience Independence status 

Number of positions 

as Remuneration 

Committee member 

in other public 

companies 

Independent 

director 

(convener) 

Tan, Shing-

Chao 

 Passed the special examination of the first-

class accounting and auditing civil servants. 

 Adjunct Associate Professor, Institute of 

Medical Institution Management, School of 

Public Health, National Taiwan University. 

( August 2021 to present) 

 Adjunct Associate Professor, Institute of 

Medical Administration, School of Medicine, 

Yang Ming University. ( August 2021 to 

present) 

 Independent Director of Ta Liang Technology 

Co., Ltd. ( June 2015 to present) 

It does not have any of the conditions specified in Article 3, Paragraph 1, 

Subparagraphs 1 to 9 of the "Regulations on the Establishment of 

Independent Directors of Public Offering Companies and Matters to be 

Obeyed", and the situation of independence is met. 

1 
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Criteria 

 

 

Designation  Name 

Professional qualifications and experience Independence status 

Number of positions 

as Remuneration 

Committee member 

in other public 

companies 

Independent 

director 

Lin, Chao-

Sung 

 Department of Materials Science and 

Engineering, National Taiwan 

University( August 2006 to present) 

 Member of Judge Panel, National Industry 

Innovation Award, Ministry of Economic 

Affairs. ( January 2021 to present) 

 Executive Director of Anti-corrosion 

Engineering Society of the Republic of China. 

( January 2021 to present) 

 Supervisor of Taiwan Association for Coating 

and Thin Film Technology.( January 2020 to 

present) 

 Director of China Society of Materials 

Science. ( January 2020 to present) 

It does not have any of the conditions specified in Article 3, Paragraph 1, 

Subparagraphs 1 to 9 of the "Regulations on the Establishment of 

Independent Directors of Public Offering Companies and Matters to be 

Obeyed", and the situation of independence is met. 

0 

Independent 

director 

Wang,Ya-

Hung 

Adjunct Lecturer, Department of Accounting, 

Tamkang University. ( July 2005 to present) 

Adjunct Lecturer, Department of International 

Business, Ming Chuan University. ( September 

202 to present) 

Consultant of China Intangible Assets Appraisal 

Corporation. (September 2020 to present) 

It does not have any of the conditions specified in Article 3, Paragraph 1, 

Subparagraphs 1 to 9 of the "Regulations on the Establishment of 

Independent Directors of Public Offering Companies and Matters to be 

Obeyed", and the situation of independence is met. 

0 
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2. Operation of the Remuneration Committee 

(1) The Company's Remuneration Committee consists of 3 members. 

(2) Term of office of the current members: from August 10, 2021 to July 27, 

2024. The Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings (A) (Note) in 2021; 

details of members’ eligibility and attendance are as follows: 

Position Name 

No. of 

Persons in 

Actual 

Attendance 

(B) 

Number of 

Proxy 

Attendance 

Percentage 

of in-

person 

Attendance 

(%) 

(B/A) 

Remarks 

Independent 

Director 

Lin, Yi-

Lang 
2 0 100% 

Departed 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

Director 

Wu, Yi-

Han 
2 0 100% 

Departed 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

Director 

Feng, 

Chang-

Hung 

2 0 100% 
Departed 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

Director 

Tan, 

Shing-

Chao 

1 0 100% 
Elected 

2021.08.10 

Independent 

Director 

Lin, Chao-

Sung 
1 0 100% 

Elected 

2021.08.10 

Independent 

Director 

Wang,Ya-

Hung 
1 0 100% 

Elected 

2021.08.10 

Note: The Remuneration Committee convened a total of 3 meetings in 2021; 2 were held before the July 28, 2021 

re-election and 1 after the re-election. 

Other mandatory disclosures: 

I. In the event where the Remuneration Committee's proposal is rejected or amended in the board 

meeting, an explanation shall be made regarding the date and session of the meeting, contents 

of the motion, the board's resolution, and how the Company handled the Remuneration 

Committee's proposals (including differences and reasons, if any, should the board meeting 

approve a solution that was more favorable than the one proposed by the Remuneration 

Committee): None. 

II. Should any committee member object or express reservations to the resolution made by the 

Remuneration Committee, if there are-records or statements in writing, describe the date and 

session of the meeting, contents of the motion, the entire members' opinions, and how their 

opinions were addressed: None. 
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(V) Fulfillment of sustainable development and deviation and causes of deviation from Sustainable Development Practice Principles for TWSE/TPEx 

Listed Companies 

Assess criteria 

Execution Variance from the Sustainable 

Development Practice Principles for  

TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies, 

and the reason for any such variance 
Yes No Summary 

I. Has the Company established a governance 

structure to promote sustainable development, 

and set up a full-time (part-time) unit to 

promote sustainable development, which is 

handled by the senior management authorized 

and supervised by the board meeting? 

 
 

 

 

 

The Company plans and manages its operations in 

accordance with sustainability and social responsibility 

principles. 

The Company's Sustainable Development Practice 

Principles was passed by the board of directors on March 

16, 2020. The Company will be assessing environmental, 

social, and corporate governance risks associated with its 

operations based on principles of materiality and 

implement risk management policies or strategies 

accordingly. 

No material deviation is found 

II. Has the Company conducted a risk assessment 

on environmental, social, and corporate 

governance issues that are relevant to its 

operations and implemented risk management 

policies or strategies based on principles of 

materiality?  

 
 

 

 

 

The Company's Sustainable Development Practice 

Principles was passed by the board meeting on March 16, 

2020 and is currently being enforced by the 

Administrative Department and Work Safety Office. 

These two units convene meetings on an unscheduled 

basis and report major issues to the board meeting. 

No material deviation is found 

III. Environmental issues 

(I) Has the Company developed an appropriate 

environmental management system, given 

its distinctive characteristics? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(I) The Company has been certified for ISO 9001 - 

Quality Management System. It devotes significant 

attention to environmental protection and supports 

the government's policies on waste sorting, 

recycling, reduction, reduce, energy conservation, 

and carbon reduction. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No material deviation is found 
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Assess criteria 

Execution Variance from the Sustainable 

Development Practice Principles for  

TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies, 

and the reason for any such variance 
Yes No Summary 

(II) Is the Company committed to achieving 

efficient use of resources and using 

renewable supplies that produce less impact 

on the environment? 

 

 

 

(III) Does the Company assess the potential risks 

and opportunities of climate change to it now 

and in the future, and take relevant 

countermeasures? 

 

(IV) Does the Company maintain statistics on 

greenhouse gas emissions, water usage, and 

total waste volume in the last two years and 

implement policies to reduce energy, carbon, 

greenhouse gas, water, and waste? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(II) The Company promotes a number of energy 

conservation measures such as encouragement for the 

use of energy-efficient products, waste reduction and 

recycling, paper-reduction, water conservation, and 

reduction of chemical products. In addition, the 

Company promotes employees' awareness of 

environmental protection laws from time to time to 

mitigate the impact of its operations on the 

environment. 

(III) The Company enforces waste sorting and recycling 

and advocates energy and water conservation to 

minimize wastage. All equipment is serviced 

regularly to achieve optimal energy efficiency and 

mitigate the impact on the environment. 

(IV)The Company currently does not maintain statistics 

on emission, water, and waste volume. Its business 

activities mainly involve the assembly of mechanical 

parts, which is less prone to waste and pollution. In 

addition to enforcing existing policies, the Company 

would also review its environment friendliness 

measures on a yearly basis.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No material deviation is found 

IV. Social issues 

(I) Has the Company developed its policies and 

procedures in accordance with laws and the 

International Bill of Human Rights? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(I) The Company has established its human resources 

policies, implemented an employee safety and 

health management system, and adopted labor, work 

safety, and health management standards in 

accordance with labor regulations. An employee 

benefits/welfare committee has been assembled in 

compliance with laws; the committee convenes 

 

 

 

No material deviation is found 
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Assess criteria 

Execution Variance from the Sustainable 

Development Practice Principles for  

TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies, 

and the reason for any such variance 
Yes No Summary 

 

 

(II) Has the Company developed and 

implemented reasonable employee welfare 

measures (including compensation, leave of 

absence, and other benefits), and 

appropriately reflected business 

performance or outcome in employees' 

salaries? 

 

(III) Does the Company provide employees with 

a safe and healthy work environment? Are 

employees trained regularly on safety and 

health issues? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(IV) Has the Company implemented an effective 

training program that helps employees 

develop skills over their career? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

regular labor-management meetings to look after 

employees' interests. 

(II) The Company has formulated and enforced 

employee welfare measures in accordance with the 

Labor Standards Act, and also holds the employee 

benefits/welfare committee meeting from time to 

time to discuss relevant benefits, such as employee 

travel. The Company also evaluates employees' 

performance regularly and shares profits with 

employees in the form of bonus remuneration. 

(III) The Company provides employees with a safe and 

healthy environment to work in. Not only is the 

workplace furnished with adequate fire safety 

equipment, but the Company also organizes regular 

fire safety drills, work safety inspections, and 

production equipment inspections to ensure safety. 

In addition, training and awareness programs are 

being executed to improve employees' abilities to 

respond to and manage crises. Regular health check-

ups are arranged to monitor employees' health 

conditions. 

(IV) The Company has an employee training program to 

help employees develop complete skill profiles by 

arranging training courses suitable for the job roles 

assigned. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No material deviation is found 
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Assess criteria 

Execution Variance from the Sustainable 

Development Practice Principles for  

TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies, 

and the reason for any such variance 
Yes No Summary 

(V) Has the Company complied with laws and 

international standards regarding customers' 

health, safety, privacy, marketing, and 

labeling in all products and services offered 

and implemented consumer protection 

policies and complaint procedures? 

 

 

 

(VI) Has the Company implemented a supplier 

management policy that regulates suppliers' 

conduct with respect to environmental 

protection, occupational safety and health, 

or work rights/human rights issues, and 

tracked suppliers' performance on a regular 

basis? 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

(V) The Company markets and labels its products and 

services strictly in compliance with laws and 

international standards. Satisfaction surveys or visits 

are conducted yearly to develop a thorough 

understanding of product supply and customers' 

satisfaction. A stakeholders section has been created 

on the website to gather suggestions useful for 

improving quality and service and protecting 

consumers' interests. 

(VI) The Company has implemented a "Supplier 

Evaluation Policy." All suppliers are subject to 

thorough assessment prior to commencing business 

dealing. The Company is entitled to terminate the 

relationship or cancel the agreement with suppliers 

that violate laws at any time. 

 

 

 

 

 

No material deviation is found 

V. Does the Company prepare a sustainability 

report or any report of non-financial 

information based on international 

reporting standards or guidelines? Are the 

abovementioned reports supported by the 

assurance or opinion of a third-party 

certifier? 

 

 

 The Company has not prepared a sustainability report. 

However, the board meeting did pass its Sustainable 

Development  Practice Principles on March 16, 2020, and 

the Company will perform risk assessments and develop 

risk management policies or strategies accordingly. 

No material deviation is found 

VI. If the Company has established its sustainable development practice principles in accordance with the "Sustainable Development Practice Principles for 

TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies". please describe its current practices and any deviations from the Practice Principles: The board meeting approved the 

sustainable development practice principles on March 16, 2020, and the Company will be planning, establishing, and executing future operations, 

systems, and standards according to the relevant provisions of Sustainable Development Practice Principles; hence no material deviation is found. 
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Assess criteria 

Execution Variance from the Sustainable 

Development Practice Principles for  

TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies, 

and the reason for any such variance 
Yes No Summary 

VII. Other information useful to the understanding of the implementation of sustainable development: 

    For more than 40 years since its inception, the Company has been actively involved in public initiatives such as preserving the environment, social care, 

social service, charity, stakeholders' interests, and human rights protection. 

    Mainland subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. specializes in the research, development, and manufacturing of energy-

efficient and automated machinery. It was approved the status of High-tech Enterprise by local government authority in September 2012. The 

subsidiary also received a “Certificate of Appreciation for Humanitarian Aid, Relief, Love, and Care” from the Red Cross Society of China Shanghai 

Branch. It was named "Trusted Labor and Social Assurance Manager" by Shanghai Qingpu Labor Assurance Association. 
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(VI) Enforcement of business integrity, and deviation and causes of deviation from Ethical Corporate Management Practice Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX-Listed Companies 

Assess criteria 

Actual governance Deviation and causes of 

deviation from Ethical 

Corporate Management Best 

Practice Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

I. Establishment of integrity policies and solutions 

(I) Has the Company established a set of 

board-approved business integrity policy, 

and stated in its Memorandum or external 

correspondence about the policies and 

practices it implements to maintain business 

integrity? Are the board of directors and the 

senior management committed to fulfilling 

this commitment? 

 

 

 

(II) Has the Company developed systematic 

practices for assessing integrity risks? Does 

the Company perform regular analyses and 

assessments on business activities prone to a 

higher risk of dishonesty and implement 

preventions against dishonest conduct that 

include at least the measures mentioned in 

Paragraph 2 of Article 7 of "Ethical 

Corporate Management Best Practice 

Principles for TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies"? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

(I) The Company upholds integrity in all business 

activities. It complies with The Company Act, 

Securities and Exchange Act, TWSE/TPEX (and the 

Emerging Stock Board) rules, and relevant laws as 

the foundation for business integrity. 

Following the approval of the Business Integrity 

Code of Conduct by the board of directors on March 

16, 2020, the Company has assigned a dedicated unit 

to supervise the execution of the Code of Conduct. 

Both the board of directors and the executive 

management are committed to enforcing this policy. 

(II) The Company has implemented numerous policies, 

including "Business Integrity Code of Conduct" 

(established during the board of directors meeting 

dated March 16, 2020), "Ethical Behavior 

Guidelines," "Material Insider Information Handling 

and Insider Transaction Prevention Procedures," 

"Employee Code of Conduct," and "Reward and 

Disciplinary Policy" to prevent dishonest acts, and 

therefore ensure that commercial activities are 

carried out in the utmost fairness and integrity. 

No material deviation is 

found 
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Assess criteria 

Actual governance Deviation and causes of 

deviation from Ethical 

Corporate Management Best 

Practice Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

 

 

 

 

(III) Has the Company defined and enforced 

operating procedures, behavioral guidelines, 

penalties, and grievance systems as part of 

its preventive measures against dishonest 

conduct? Are the above measures reviewed 

and revised on a regular basis? 

 

 

 

 

 

Employees may report dishonest conduct to their 

line managers or appropriate personnel via e-mail, 

and the Company will take disciplinary actions 

depending on the severity. 

(III) The Company’s board meeting established a set of 

Business Integrity Procedures and Behavioral 

Guidelines on March 16, 2020 that introduced 

defined procedures, behavioral guidelines, 

disciplinary actions, and grievance system for 

violations against business integrity. According to 

the board-approved audit plan, the Internal Audit 

Office conducts unscheduled audits and regularly 

promotes employees' awareness to prevent 

dishonest conduct. 
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Evaluated Item 

Actual governance Deviation and causes of 

deviation from Ethical 

Corporate Management Best 

Practice Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

II. Enforcement of business integrity 

(I) Does the Company evaluate the integrity of 

all counterparties it has business 

relationships with? Are there any integrity 

clauses in the agreements it signs with 

business partners? 

 

(II) Does the Company have a unit that 

enforces business integrity directly under 

the board of directors? Does this unit report 

its progress (regarding the implementation 

of business integrity policy and prevention 

against dishonest conduct) to the board of 

directors on a regular basis (at least once a 

year)? 

(III) Does the Company have any policy that 

prevents conflict of interest and channels 

that facilitate the report of conflicting 

interests? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

(I) The Company has a "Supplier Evaluation Policy" in 

place, which requires all suppliers to undergo 

integrity assessment before commencing a business 

relationship. The Company will cease procuring 

from suppliers that exhibit concerns regarding 

integrity. 

(II) The board of directors passed a Business Integrity 

Code of Conduct on March 16, 2020 that requires 

internal audit personnel to conduct unscheduled 

audits on integrity-related issues and report findings 

to the board of directors regularly. 

 

 

 

(III) The Company has "Transaction Procedures for 

Affiliated Enterprises, Specific Companies and 

Related Parties" and "Ethical Behavior Guidelines" 

in place that require employees to take the initiative 

in notifying the line manager or the audit unit 

whenever they are presented with a conflict of 

interest. Furthermore, directors are bound to recuse 

from motions that they hold a stake in for 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No material deviation is 

found 
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Evaluated Item 

Actual governance Deviation and causes of 

deviation from Ethical 

Corporate Management Best 

Practice Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

 

(IV) Has the Company implemented an effective 

accounting policy and internal control 

system to maintain business integrity? Has 

an internal or external audit unit been 

assigned to devise audit plans based on the 

outcome of integrity risk assessment and to 

audit employees' compliance with various 

preventions against dishonest conduct? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(V) Does the Company organize internal or 

external training on a regular basis to 

maintain business integrity? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

compliance with integrity principles. 

(IV) The Company has established its accounting system 

in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Act, 

The Company Act, Business Entity Accounting Act, 

Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial 

Reports by Public Companies, and Financial 

Supervisory Commission-approved International 

Financial Reporting Standards, International 

Accounting Standards and interpretations thereof, 

and developed and enforced its internal control 

system according to "Regulations Governing 

Establishment of Internal Control Systems by Public 

Companies." Financial statement auditors audit 

financial reports to ensure fair presentation, whereas 

internal auditors have been assigned to conduct 

regular audits in line with the internal control system 

and to report findings regularly to the Audit 

Committee and board of directors. 

(V) The Company promotes integrity awareness from 

time to time and disseminates training information to 

relevant employees to sign up for integrity training 

courses organized by external institutions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No material deviation is 

found 
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Evaluated Item 

Actual governance Deviation and causes of 

deviation from Ethical 

Corporate Management Best 

Practice Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

III. Whistleblowing system 

(I) Does the Company provide incentives and 

means for employees to report misconduct? 

Does the Company assign dedicated 

personnel to investigate the reported 

misconduct? 

 

 

 

 

(II) Has the Company implemented any standard 

procedures for handling reported 

misconduct, and subsequent actions and 

confidentiality measures to be undertaken 

upon completion of an investigation? 

(III) Has the Company adopted any measures to 

prevent whistleblowers from retaliation for 

filing reports? 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

(I) The Company has complied with the Business 

Integrity Code of Conduct and set up an employee 

opinion box, e-mail, and a stakeholders section on 

its website managed by dedicated personnel. Any 

discovery of dishonest conduct can be reported to 

the appropriate level of authority using the 

abovementioned channels; meanwhile, the 

employee at fault will be subjected to disciplinary 

action to enforce the integrity policy. 

(II) The Company has stated in the Business Integrity 

Procedures and Behavioral Guidelines its obligation 

to maintain confidentiality over the whistleblower's 

identity and details of the reported misconduct, and 

to protect the whistleblower from retaliation. 

(III) The whistleblower's identity will be kept strictly 

confidential throughout the entire process so that 

they are not mistreated in any way. The Company 

would also ensure that no act of retaliation is taken 

against whistleblowers for reporting misconduct. 

 

 

 

No material deviation is 

found 
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Evaluated Item 

Actual governance Deviation and causes of 

deviation from Ethical 

Corporate Management Best 

Practice Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

IV. Enhanced information disclosure 

Has the Company disclosed its integrity 

principles and progress onto its website and 

MOPS? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Company has disclosed its business philosophy, 

quality assurance policy, and corporate governance-

related information onto its website and disclosed 

information relating to business integrity on the Market 

Observation Post System. 

No material deviation is 

found 

V. If the Company has established business integrity policies in accordance with "Ethical Corporate Management Best Practice Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX-Listed Companies", please describe its current practices and any deviations from the Best Practice Principles: 

The Company has established its business integrity policies in accordance with "Ethical Corporate Management Best Practice Principles for 

TWSE/TPEX-Listed Companies", together with a complete internal control system and various management measures for effective implement. 

The control function is sound. 

VI. Other important information that helps to understand the Company's business integrity operation (such as the Company's review and amendment of 

its business integrity policies):  

The Company's "Business Integrity Code of Conduct" and "Business Integrity Procedures and Behavioral Guidelines" are available from viewing 

and download from Market Observation Post System. 
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(VII). If the company has established the corporate governance best practices principles 

and related regulations, the inquiry method shall be disclosed: the Company has 

complied with regulations by disclosing corporate governance-related policies on 

Market Observation Post System (http://mops.twse.com.tw/). 

 

(VIII) Other important information material to the understanding of corporate 

governance within the Company: 

1. The Company assigns employees to corporate governance courses from time to 

time, and provides directors and managers with information on the latest 

regulations. 

2. The Company has a set of "Material Insider Information Handling Procedures" 

to guide the handling and disclosure of material insider information. The 

procedures prevent improper leakage and ensure consistency in how 

information is disclosed to the public.  
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(IX) Disclosures relating to the execution of internal control system 

1. Declaration of Internal Control System 

Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

Declaration of Internal Control System 

                                          Date: March 8, 2022 
The following declaration has been made based on the 2021 self-assessment of the Company’s 

internal control system: 

1、 The Company acknowledges and understands that the establishment, implementation, and 

maintenance of the internal control system are the board of directors and managers' 

responsibility.  

Such a system has been implemented within the Company. The purpose of this system is to 

provide reasonable assurance in terms of business performance and efficiency (including 

profitability, performance, asset security etc), reliable, timely, and transparent financial 

reporting, and regulatory compliance. 

2、 The internal control system has its inherent limitations. No matter how perfect the design is, 

an effective internal control system can only  

provide a reasonable guarantee for the achievement of the above three objectives; Moreover, 

due to the change of environment and situation, the effectiveness of internal control system 

may change accordingly. However, the internal control system of the Company features a self-

monitoring mechanism that enables immediate rectification of deficiencies upon discovery. 

3、 The Company judges the effectiveness of the design and implementation of the internal control 

system  

in accordance with the “Regulations Governing Establishment of Internal Control Systems by 

Public Companies” (hereinafter referred to as the "Regulations"). The criteria introduced by 

"The Governing Principles" consisted of five major elements, each representing a different 

stage of internal control: 1. Control environment. 2. Risk evaluation and response. 3. 

Procedural control. 4. Information and communication. 5. Supervision. Each element further 

encompasses several sub-elements. Please refer to ”The Governing Principles” for details. 

4、 The Company has adopted the abovementioned criteria to validate the effectiveness of its 

internal control system design and execution. 

5、 Based on the assessments described above, the Company considers its internal control system's 

design and execution to be effective as of December 31, 2021. This system (including 

supervision and management of subsidiaries) has assured with regards to the Company's 

business results and target accomplishment, reliability, timeliness and transparency of reported 

financial information, and its compliance with relevant laws. 

6、 This declaration constitutes part of the Company's annual report and prospectus and shall be 

disclosed to the public. Any illegal misrepresentation or omission in the public statement above 

is subject to the legal consequences described in Articles 20, 32, 171, and 174 of the Securities 

and Exchange Act. 

7、 This declaration was passed during the board meeting held on March 8, 2022; out of the 9 

attending directors, none had objections, and the rest all agreed to this declaration's content. 

        Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

Chairman: Chen, Chi-Tai  

President: Sun, Cheng-Yao  
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2. If an external CPA reviewed the internal control system, the result of such review 

must be disclosed: 

Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

Internal Control System Review Report 

Zi-Hui-Zong-No. 21013027 

Attached is the declaration of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. on September 7, 

2021 that its internal control system related to external financial reporting and ensuring asset 

safety was effectively designed and implemented on June 30, 2021, which has been reviewed 

by us. It is the responsibility of the Company's management to maintain an effective internal 

control system and evaluate its effectiveness. The CPA's responsibility is to express opinions 

on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control system and the declaration of the 

Company's internal control system based on the review results. 

The accountants planned and carried out the audit in accordance with the "Regulations 

Governing Establishment of Internal Control Systems by Public Companies" and Generally 

Accepted Auditing Standards, so as to reasonably believe whether the above internal control 

systems of the Company are effective in all major aspects. This review includes 

understanding the Company's internal control system, evaluating the management's process 

of evaluating the effectiveness of the overall internal control system, testing and evaluating 

the effectiveness of the design and implementation of the internal control system, and other 

review procedures deemed necessary by us. We believes that this review can provide a 

reasonable basis for the opinions expressed. 

Any internal control system has its inherent limitations, so the above internal control 

system of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. may still fail to prevent or detect errors or 

frauds that have occurred. In addition, the future environment may change and the degree of 

compliance with the internal control system may be reduced. Therefore, the effective internal 

control system in this period does not mean that it will be effective in the future. 

In our opinion, according to the internal control effectiveness judgment item of the 

"Regulations Governing Establishment of Internal Control Systems by Public Companies", 

the internal control system related to external financial reporting and the protection of asset 

safety of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. was designed and implemented on June 30, 

2021, and can maintain its effectiveness in all major aspects; The declaration issued by Chun 

Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. on September 7, 2021 that the evaluation of the above 

internal control system related to external financial reporting and asset safety is effectively 

designed and implemented is considered reasonable in all major aspects. 

 

                                  PricewaterhouseCoopers Taiwan 

                                  Certified public accountant: Lin, Tzu Yu 

                                                       Liu, Tzu Meng 

                               Financial Supervisory Commission 

                               Approval reference: (82) Tai-Cai-Zheng (VI) No. 44927 

                                       (84)Tai-Tsai-Cheng (VI) No. 29174 

September 24, 2021 
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(X) For the most recent year and up to the date of printing of the annual report, if the Company 

and its internal personnel have been punished according to law, or the Company has 

punished its internal personnel for violating the provisions of the internal control system, 

and the punishment results may have a significant impact on shareholders' equity or 

securities prices, the punishment contents, main deficiencies and improvement status shall 

be listed: None. 

(XI) Major resolutions passed in shareholder meetings and board of directors meetings held 

in the last year up until the publication date of the annual report 

1. Major resolutions passed in shareholder meetings and the execution progress: 

Date of meeting Major resolutions Execution 

2021.07.28 

1. Acknowledgment of the Company's 

2020 business report and financial 

statements. 

Relevant information has 

been announced. 

2. Acknowledgment of the Company’s 

2020 earnings appropriation. (Cash 

dividends to be distributed at 

NT$0.75 per share) 

Appropriation executed as 

resolved. July 5, 2021 was 

set as the base date for 

distribution, whereas July 

27, 2021 as the 

distribution date. 

3. Passed the proposal to organize issue 

of shares for an initial public offering 

on TWSE (TPEX) and have all 

existing shareholders abstain from 

subscribing. 

Approved during a 

shareholder meeting and 

will be executed 

accordingly on a later 

date. 

4. Partial amendments to "Directors’ 

Election Measures." 

Content has been amended 

as approved. 

5. Passed partial amendments to "Rules 

of Procedure for Shareholders’ 

Meetings". 

Content has been amended 

as approved. 

6. Full re-election of directors. Election completed and 

results were updated 

according to laws. 

7. Removal of restrictions on non-

competition for new directors. 

Approved during a 

shareholder meeting and 

executed according to 

policy. 
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2. Major resolutions of board meetings: 

Date of meeting Major resolutions 

2021.01.26 

1. Proposal to distribute 2020 year-end bonus. 

2. 2020 year-end bonus for directors and managers of the Company. 

3. 2021 budget of the Company. 

4. Partial amendments to "Internal Control System - Sales and 

Collection Cycle." 

5. Partial amendments to "Inventory Devaluation and Obsolescence 

Loss Evaluation Policy." 

2021.03.09 

1. Allocation 2020 employee and director remuneration. 

2. Presentation of 2020 financial reports approved by the Chairman, 

President, head of accounting, and the 2020 business report. 

3. Proposal of the Company’s 2020 earnings appropriation. 

4. Issuance of the Company's 2020 "Declaration of Internal Control 

System" based on internal self-inspection and internal audit. 

5. Evaluation of CPA’s independence and suitability 

6. Review of 2020 CPA professional service fees. 

7. Proposal for total re-election of directors during the 2021 annual 

general meeting. 

8. Details concerning acceptance of shareholders' motion proposals 

and nominations. 

9. Eligibility review on independent director candidates nominated 

by the Company. 

10. Removal of restrictions on competing business involvement for 

new directors. 

11. Proposal to organize issue of shares for an initial public offering 

on TWSE (TPEX), and have all existing shareholders abstain from 

subscribing. 

12. Partial amendments to "Shareholder Meeting Conference Rules." 

13. Partial amendments to "Board of Directors Meeting Policy." 

14. Partial amendments to the “Evaluation Procedures for the Board of 

Directors Performance.” 

15. Partial amendments to the "Remuneration Committee Charter." 

16. Partial amendments to the “Rules Governing the Scope of Powers 

of Independent Directors” 

17. Details of 2021 annual general meeting, including date and agenda. 

18. Annual renewal of banking credit facilities for Chun Zu 

Machinery. 

2021.05.11 
Approval of 2021 first quarter consolidated financial statements by 

Chairman, President, and head of accounting 

2021.07.06 
The Company‘s proposed postponed date and place of the 2021 

ordinary general shareholders’ meeting. 

2021.07.28 
1. Election of Chairman. 

2. Election of Vice Chairman. 
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Date of meeting Major resolutions 

2021.08.10 

1. Approval of 2021 second quarter consolidated financial statements 

by Chairman, President, and head of accounting 

2. Amendment to the provisions of "Internal Control System - 

Information System Processing Cycle" and "Internal Control 

System - Financing Cycle". 

3. Reappointment of the Chairman, directors, and supervisors for the 

Company’s re-investment - Shanghai Chun Zu. 

4. Appointment of Remuneration Committee members. 

5. Signed a contract on industry-academia cooperation and academic 

feedback mechanism with National Taiwan University. 

2021.09.07 

1. "Effectiveness Assessment of Internal Control System" and 

"Declaration of Internal Control System" from July 1, 2020 to June 

30, 2021. 

2. Allocation of 2020 directors’ remuneration. 

3. Allocation of 2020 employees’ remuneration for managers. 

4. Issuance of the Company's simplified financial forecast from the 

third quarter of 2021 to the fourth quarter of 2021. 

5. Formulation of the "Improvement Plan for the Operation Process 

of the Company's Own Preparation of Financial Reports". 

6. The Company's "Corporate Governance Self-assessment Report". 

7. The Company entrusts the lead underwriter to handle the over 

allotment case during the underwriting period. 

2021.09.27 
Issuance of the Company's simplified financial forecast from the third 

quarter of 2021 to the fourth quarter of 2021. 

2021.11.08 

1. Approval of 2021 third quarter consolidated financial statements 

by Chairman, President, and head of accounting 

2. The Company’s 2022 audit plan. 

3. Amendment to some articles of "Internal Control System - Other 

Operations", "Internal Control System - Production Cycle" and 

"Internal Control System - Research and Development Cycle". 

4. Issuance of the Company's simplified financial forecast from the 

fourth quarter of 2021 to the first quarter of 2022. 

2022.01.18 

1. Proposal to distribute 2021 year-end bonus. 

2. 2021 year-end bonus for directors and managers of the Company. 

3. 2022 budget of the Company. 

4. Amendment to part of the articles of the “Corporate Governance 

Code of Conduct”. 

5. Amendment to the name and part of the articles of the “Corporate 

Social Responsibility Best Practice Principles”. 
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Date of meeting Major resolutions 

2022.03.08 

1. Allocation 2021 employees’ and directors’ remuneration. 

2. Change of the company's chief financial officer, accounting 

officer and acting spokesman. 

3. Proposed salary adjustment for managers (including 

Treasurer) or above of the Company. 

4. Presentation of 2021 financial reports approved by the 

Chairman, President, head of accounting, and the 2021 

business report. 

5. Proposal of the Company’s 2021 earnings appropriation. 

6. Issuance of the Company's 2021 "Declaration of Internal 

Control System" based on internal self-inspection and 

internal audit. 

7. Amendment to part of the articles of "Internal Control 

System - Sales and Collection Cycle" and "Internal Control 

System - Salary Cycle". 

8. Partial amendments to "Articles of Incorporation." 

9. Amendment to part of the articles of “Procedures of 

Acquisition or Disposal of Assets”. 

10. Amendment to some articles of the "Directors’ Election 

Measures". 

11. Evaluation of CPA’s independence and suitability 

12. Review of 2022 CPA professional service fees. 

13. Annual renewal and new contracts of banking credit 

facilities for Chun Zu Machinery. 

14. Matters concerning acceptance of shareholders' proposals. 

15. Matters of 2022 general shareholders’ meeting, including the 

date and agenda. 
 

 

(XII)Documented opinions or declarations made by directors or supervisors against board 

resolutions in the most recent year, up until the publication date of the annual report: 

None. 
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(XIII) Resignation and dismissal of the Chairman, President, head of accounting, head of 

finance, chief internal auditor, head of corporate governance and head of R&D in the 

most recent year up until the publication date of the annual report: 

 

        Summary of resignation and dismissal of relevant persons of the Company 

 April 16, 2022 

Position Name Date of 

Appointment 

Date of 

release 

Reason for 

resignation or 

dismissal 

Head of 

Finance 

/Accounting 

Yang, Chia 

Fang 
2018.07.02 2021.12.17 Resignation 

 

V. Disclosure of CPA Remuneration: 

(I) CPA remuneration 

 Unit: NTD thousand 

Name of accounting 

firm 

Name 

of 

CPA 

Period of 

audit service 

Audit 

fees 

Non-audit fees 

Total Remarks 

System 

design 

Business 

registration 

Human 

resources 

Others 

(Note) 
Subtotal 

PricewaterhouseCoop

ers Taiwan 

Lin, 

Tzu 

Shu 2021.01.01-

2021.12.31 
1,790 0 12 0 1,890 1,902 3,692 None 

Liu, 

Tzu 

Meng 

Note: NT$1,400 thousand for review specific for the internal control; NT$290 thousand taxation certification; NT$170 thousand 

for proxy attendance of meeting  for the Company, and NT$30 thousand for inspect the transfer pricing. 

 

(II) For any change of accounting firm that resulted in a reduction of the audit fee from the 

previous year, disclose the audit fees before and after the change and the cause of such 

change: None. 

(III) For any reduction in audit fee by more than 10% compared to the previous year, state the 

amount, percentage, and reason of such variation: None. 

 

VI. Change of CPA: None. 

 

VII. Any of the Company’s Chairman, President, or any manager involved in financial 

or accounting affairs being employed by the accounting firm or any of its 

affiliated company within the most recent year: None. 
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VIII. Details of shares transferred or pledged by directors, supervisors, managers, and 

shareholders with more than 10% ownership interest in the last year, up until 

the publication date of the annual report: 

(I) Changes in shareholdings of directors, supervisors, managers and major shareholders: 

Position Name 

2021 2022 up to April 16 

Remarks 

Increase 

(decrease) 

in shares 

held 

Increase 

(decrease) 

in shares 

pledged 

Increase 

(decrease) 

in shares 

held 

Increase 

(decrease) 

in shares 

pledged 

Corporate 

Director 

Chun Yu Works & 

Co., Ltd. 
－ － － － 

 

Director 

Representative 

representative 

Chen, Chi Tai － － － － 
 

Director 

Representative  
Wang,Jiong-Fen － － － － 

 

Director 

Representative 
Lin,Huei-Jeng － － － － 

 

Director 

Representative 
Li,Shih-Ho － － － －  

Corporate 

Director 
SPOT Inc. － － － －  

Director 

Representative 
Sun,Ming-Shen － － － －  

Directors Lee, Chung-Hsien － － － －  

Independent 

Director 
Lin, Yi-Lang － － － － 

Departed 

2021.07.28  

Independent 

Director 
Wu, Yi-Han － － － － 

Departed 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

Director 

Feng, Chang-

Hung 
－ － － － 

Departed 

2021.07.28 

Independent 

Director 
Tan, Shing-Chao － － － － 

Elected 

2021.07.28 

 Independent 

Director 
Lin, Chao-Sung － － － － 

Elected 

2021.07.28 

 Independent 

Director 
Wang,Ya-Hung － － － － 

Elected 

2021.07.28 

 

 
President Sun, Cheng Yao － － － －  

Executive Vice 

President 
Ho, Yen-Wen － － － －  

Vice President Chiu, Ying-Mei － － － －  

Head of Finance 

/Accounting 
Yang, Chia Fang － － N/A N/A Note 1 

Head of Finance 

/Accounting 

Department 

Manager 

Ya-Chu Guo － － － － 
 

Note 1: Yang, Jia-Fang, Manager of the Finance Department, resigned on December 17, 2021. 

(II)Disclosure of share transfer or collateralization where the counterparty is a related party: 

None. 
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IX. Relationships characterized as a spouse or second-degree relative or closer among top-ten shareholders: 

                                                                               April 16, 2022; Unit: share, % 

Name (Note 1) 

Shares held in own name 
Shareholding of spouse 

and underage children 

Shareholding 

under the title of a 

third party 

If there are top ten shareholders who are related persons, 

spouses or relatives within the second degree, provide their 

names and relationships. 

Remarks 

Shares 

Shareholdi

ng 

percentage 

Shares 

Shareholdi

ng 

percentage 

Shares 

Shareho

lding 

percenta

ge 

Name Relation 

Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 

Person-in-charge: lin,huei-jeng 

28,821,939 

－ 

47.81% 

－ 
－ － － － － － None 

Li Chiao Investment Co., Ltd. 

Person-in-charge: Chen, Chi Tai 

1,000,000 

－ 

1.66% 

－ 
－ － － － － － None 

Li, Hsi-Chang 864,686 1.43% 42,234 0.07% － － － － None 

SPOT Inc. 

Person-in-charge: Lu, Hui-Tzu 

859,377 

6,000 

1.43% 

0.01% 
－ － － － － － None 

Hsi Yi Investment Co., Ltd. 

Person-in-charge: Hsu, Chia-En 

839,760 

－ 

1.39% 

－ 
－ － － － Hsu Yi Investment Co., Ltd. Common person-in-charge None 

Chi Te Investment Co., Ltd. 

Person-in-charge: Tsai, Ping-Ru 

832,077 

－ 

1.38% 

－ 
－ － － － 

－ － 
None 

Hsu Yi Investment Co., Ltd. 

Person-in-charge: Hsu, Chia-En 

813,909 

－ 

1.35% 

－ 
－ － － － Hsi Yi Investment Co., Ltd. Common person-in-charge None 

Taiwan Steel & Mining Corp. 

Person-in-charge: Kan, Chien-Fu 
609,237 

－ 

1.01% 

－ 

－ 

18,000 

－ 

0.03% 
－ － － － None 

Sun, Te-Ren 553,167 0.92% － － － － － － None 

Sun, Ming-Tsung 537,684 0.89% － － － － － － None 

Note 1: Shareholders' names shall be listed separately (for corporate shareholders, the name of the corporate shareholder and its representative shall be listed separately) 

Note 2: Percentages of shares held under own name, spouse's name, minor children's names, or in the names of others shall be calculated separately.  
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X. Investments jointly held by the Company, the Company’s directors, supervisors, 

managers, and enterprises directly or indirectly controlled by the Company, and 

shareholding in aggregate of the above parties: 
April 16, 2022; Unit: thousand shares; % 

Business investments 
(Note) 

Held by the Company 

Held by Directors, 
Supervisors, Managers, and 

Directly or Indirectly 
Controlled Enterprises 

Aggregate ownership 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Shares 
Shareholding 
percentage 

Lion City 
Management Ltd. 

2,000 100% － － 2,000 100% 

Shanghai Chun Zu 
Machinery Industry 
Co., Ltd. 

(Note) 100% － － (Note) 100% 

Note: The entity is a limited liability company, thus no shares were issued. 
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Four. Capital Overview 
I. Capital and outstanding shares 

(I) Source of capital 

1. Formation of share capital 
April 16, 2022; Unit: thousand shares/NT$ thousand 

Year/ 

month 

Issued 

price 

(NTD) 

Authorized capital Paid-up capital Remarks 

Shares Amount Shares Amount 
Sources of share 

capital 

Paid in 

properties 

other than 

cash 

Others 

1974.03 10 2,000 20,000 2,000 20,000 Incorporation None Jing-(64)-Shang-03395 

1978.07 10 2,400 24,000 2,400 24,000 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$4,000,000 

None 
Jing-(67)-Shang-23862 

1981.04 10 3,240 32,400 3,240 32,400 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$8,400,000 

None Jing-(70)-Shang-19861 

1982.10 10 4,689 46,890 4,689 46,890 

Capitalization of 

capital surplus 

NT$14,490,000 

None Jing-(72)-Shang-03657 

1982.10 10 4,749 47,490 4,749 47,490 
Cash issue 

NT$600,000 
None Jing-(72)-Shang-03657 

1982.10 10 5,022 50,220 5,022 50,220 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$2,730,000 

None Jing-(72)-Shang-03657 

1983.06 10 5,892 58,920 5,892 58,920 
Cash issue 

NT$8,700,000 
None Jing-(76)-Shang-29540 

1987.08 10 6,118.35 61,183.5 6,118.35 61,183.5 
Cash issue 

NT$2,263,500 
None Jing-(76)-Shang-47955 

1987.08 10 7,892 78,920 7,892 78,920 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$17,736,500 

None Jing-(76)-Shang-47955 

1990.09 10 14,692 146,920 14,692 146,920 
Cash issue 

NT$68,000,000 
None Jing-(79)-Shang-126729 

1990.09 10 19,032.6 190,326 19,032.6 190,326 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$43,406,000 

None Jing-(79)-Shang-126729 

1994.10 10 19,984.23 199,842.3 19,984.23 199,842.3 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$9,516,300 

None Jing-(83)-Shang-112258 

1996.10 10 22,981.86 229,818.64 22,981.86 229,818.64 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$29,976,340 

None Jing-(85)-Shang-115013 

1997.08 10 25,280.05 252,800.5 25,280.05 252,800.5 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$22,981,860 

None Jing-(86)-Shang-115486 
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Year/ 

month 

Issued 

price 

(NTD) 

Authorized capital Paid-up capital Remarks 

Shares Amount Shares Amount 
Sources of share 

capital 

Paid in 

properties 

other than 

cash 

Others 

1999.05 10 27,808.05 278,080.55 27,808.05 278,080.55 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$25,280,050 

None Jing-(88)-Shang-115498 

1999.09 10 32,500 325,000 29,198.45 291,984.58 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$13,904,030 

None Jing-(88)-Shang-132468 

2004.07 10 32,500 325,000 32,118 321,180 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 
NT$29,195,420 

None 
Jin-Shou-Zhong-

09332486380 

2007.07 10 40,000 400,000 38,541.6 385,416 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$64,236,000 

None 
Jin-Shou-Zhong-

09632436440 

2009.09 10 40,000 400,000 38,927 389,270 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$3,854,000 

None 
Jin-Shou-Zhong-

09833049080 

2010.08 10 48,000 480,000 42,819.7 428,197 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$38,927,000 

None 
Jin-Shou-Zhong-

09932422860 

2011.07 10 48,000 480,000 47,101.6 471,016 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$42,819,000 

None 

Gao-Shi-Fu-Si-Wei 

Jing-Shang-Gong-

10001273140 

2012.08 10 100,000 1,000,000 60,290.048 602,900 

Capitalization of 

retained earnings 

NT$131,884,480 

None 
Jing-Shou-Shang-

10101177110 

 

 

2. Share Categories 

April 16, 2022; Unit: share 

Share Category 

Authorized capital 

Remarks Outstanding 

shares 
Unissued shares Total 

Registered Common 

Shares 
60,290,048 39,709,952 100,000,000 

The Company's shares are 

not listed on TWSE or TPEX 

but are traded on the 

Emerging Stock Board. 

 

 

3. Information relevant to the aggregate reporting policy: Not applicable. 
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(II) Shareholder structure  

April 16, 2022 

Shareholder 

structure 

Count 

Government 

agency 

Financial 

institution 

Other 

institutional 

entities 

Individual 

Foreign 

institution 

and foreigner  

Total 

Number 0 1 16 1,571 8 1,596 

No. of shares 

held 
0 34,126 34,985,900 24,631,288 638,734 60,290,048 

Shareholding 

percentage 
0.00% 0.06% 58.03% 40.85% 1.06% 100% 

 

(III) Diversification of equity 

April 16, 2022 

Shareholding range 
Shareholder 

count 

Shares held 

(shares) 

Shareholding 

percentage (%) 

1～999 1,078 13,098 0.02% 

1,000～5,000 153 387,642 0.63% 

5,001～10,000 88 672,566 1.12% 

10,001～15,000 33 405,112 0.67% 

15,001～20,000 43 753,376 1.25% 

20,001～30,000 32 770,553 1.28% 

30,001～40,000 34 1,218,014 2.02% 

40,001～50,000 11 499,027 0.83% 

50,001～100,000 41 2,879,860 4.78% 

100,001～200,000 33 4,732,224 7.85% 

200,001～400,000 35 10,006,704 16.60% 

400,001～600,000 7 3,310,887 5.49% 

600,001～800,000 1 609,237 1.01% 

800,001～1,000,000 6 5,209,809 8.64% 

1,000,001 and above 1 28,821,939 47.81% 

Total 1,596 60,290,048 100.00% 
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(IV) List of major shareholders  

April 16, 2022; Unit: share 

Shares 

Name of major shareholder 
No. of shares held 

Shareholding 

percentage 

Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 28,821,939 47.81% 

Li Chiao Investment Co., Ltd. 1,000,000 1.66% 

Li, Hsi-Chang 864,686 1.43% 

SPOT Inc. 859,377 1.43% 

Hsi Yi Investment Co., Ltd. 839,760 1.39% 

Chi Te Investment Co., Ltd. 832,077 1.38% 

Hsu Yi Investment Co., Ltd. 813,909 1.35% 

Taiwan Steel & Mining Corp. 609,237 1.01% 

Sun, Te-Ren 553,167 0.92% 

Sun, Ming-Tsung 537,684 0.89% 
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(V) Information relating to the market price, net worth, earnings and dividends per share for 

the last 2 years 

Unit: NTD 

Year 

Item 
2020 2021 

2022 Up to March 

31 (Note 4) 

Market Price Per 

Share 

High N/A N/A N/A 

Low N/A N/A N/A 

Average N/A N/A N/A 

Net Worth Per Share 

Before Dividend 16.45 17.02 N/A 

After Dividend 15.70 
15.92 

(Note 2) 
N/A 

Earnings Per Share 

Weighted Average Outstanding 

Shares 

60,290,000 

shares 

60,290,000 

shares 

60,290,000 

shares 

Earnings per 

share 

Before retrospective 

adjustment 
0.94 1.39 N/A 

After retrospective 

adjustment 
0.94 1.39 N/A 

Dividends Per Share 

Cash dividends 0.75 
1.1(Note 

2) 
N/A 

Stock 

dividends 

From earnings - - N/A 

From capital surplus - - N/A 

Cumulative undistributed dividends - - N/A 

Analysis of 

Investment Returns 

P/E ratio 
N/A 

(Note 3) 

N/A 

(Note 3) 
N/A Price-to-Dividends Ratio 

Cash Dividend Yield 

Note 1: The Company's shares were not listed on TWSE or TPEX, so no indicative market price 

was available. 

Note 2: The board meeting adopted the special resolution to distribute cash dividends to 

shareholders from earnings in 2021, and no stock dividend will be distributed. The earning 

distribution has not been reported to the shareholders’ meeting for ratification. 

Note 3: P/E ratio, price-to-dividends ratio, and cash dividend yield could not be calculated due to 

the absence of market price. 

Note 4: Companies registered on the Emerging Stock Board are not required to publish first-

quarter financial reports. 
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(VI) Dividend policy and execution 

1. Dividend policy stated in the Company's Articles of Incorporation 

According to applicable rules, annual surpluses concluded by the Company 

are first subject to taxes and reimbursement of previous losses, followed by a 

10% provision for legal reserve and provision or reversal of special reserve. The 

residual balance can then be added to unappropriated earnings accumulated in 

previous years and distributed as shareholder dividends or retained at the board 

of directors' proposal, subject to resolution in a shareholder meeting. 

Shareholders' dividends and profit sharing payouts and be paid in shares 

and in cash. Overall, the sum of dividends allocated cannot be less than 10% of 

cumulative available earnings for the current year, and at least 50% of which has 

to be paid in cash. 

The Company authorizes the board of directors to distribute the proposed 

dividends, bonuses, capital surplus, or legal reserve wholly or partially in cash, 

provided that such decision is resolved in a board meeting with at least two-thirds 

of directors present, supported by more than half of attending directors, and 

reported during a shareholder meeting afterwards. These decisions do not require 

shareholder meeting resolution mentioned in the preceding Paragraph. 

2. Dividend distribution proposed for the next shareholder meeting: 

(1) This motion has been proposed according to Article 38-1 of the Articles of 

Incorporation, which authorizes the board of directors to distribute dividends, 

profit sharing, capital surplus, or legal reserve wholly or partially in cash and 

report such decisions in a shareholder meeting. 

(2) Appropriation of the Company's 2021 earnings has been approved during the 

board meeting dated March 8, 2022; the cash dividend is NT$1.1 per share, 

and NT$66,319,053 in total. 

(3) The board of directors has approved this proposal and authorized the Chairman 

to set the baseline date and payment date for the dividend. 

3. Expected change in dividend policy: None. 

(VII) Impacts of proposed stock dividends on the Company’s business performance and 

earnings per share: Not applicable. 

(VIII) Employee/director/supervisor remuneration: 
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1. Percentage or range of employees’, directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration 

stated in the Articles of Incorporation: 

Annual profits concluded by the Company are subject to employee 

remuneration of up to 2% depending on current year's profitability, which the 

board of directors may resolve to pay in shares or in cash. This remuneration can 

be paid to employees of subsidiaries who meet certain criteria. The Company 

may also allocate director remuneration up to 2% from the above profit, which 

is to be paid in cash. 

Distribution of employee and director remuneration is subject to resolution 

in a board meeting where more than two-thirds of the board is present, and voted 

in favor by more than half of all attending directors. This decision must also be 

reported in shareholder meeting. 

Profits must first be reserved to offset against cumulative losses, if any, 

before the remainder can be distributed as employee and director remuneration 

at the percentages mentioned in Paragraph 1. 

2. Basis for estimating employee profit sharing, directors' remuneration, and stock 

dividends, and accounting treatments for any discrepancies between the 

amounts estimated and the amounts paid: 

Employees' profit sharing and directors' remuneration for the current period 

were estimated according to the Articles of Incorporation and based on past 

experience. The number of shares to be allocated as stock dividends is calculated 

based on a fair value derived from the valuation model. Share-based payment of 

profit sharing that amounts to less than one full share is paid in cash instead. 

There is no difference between the estimated amount and the actual distribution 

amount in the current period. 

3. Remuneration passed by the board meeting: 

(1) Employees’ and directors’ remuneration paid by cash or stock: 

Appropriation of 2021 earnings has been resolved in the board 

meeting held on March 8, 2022. Information relating to the proposed 

amounts of employees’ and directors’ remuneration is as follows: 

A. Employees’ remuneration: NT$2,058,699. 

B Directors’ remuneration: NT$2,058,699. 
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(2) Percentage of employees’ remuneration proposed to be paid in shares, 

relative to net income and total employee remuneration shown in current 

standalone financial statements: Not applicable as no employees’ 

remuneration will be paid in shares. 

4. Actual payment of employee/director remuneration in the previous year 

(including the number of shares allocated, the amount paid and the share price); 

if there are differences from the figures estimated, explain the amount, the 

cause, and treatment of such differences: 

Unit: NTD 

Item 
Actual  

allocation 

Board-Approved 

Allocation Proposal 
Difference 

Cause of 

difference 

Employee 

remuneration 
1,386,954 1,398,454 11,500 

Tail difference 

adjustment 

Director 

remuneration 
1,398,454 1,398,454 － None 

 

(IX) Buyback of company shares: None. 

 

II. Corporate bonds: None.  

III. Preferred shares: None.  

IV. Depository receipts: None.  

V. Employee warrants: None. 

VI. New issuance of employee restricted shares: 

VII. New shares issued for merger or acquisition: None 

VIII. Progress on the planned use of capital: None. 
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Five. Operational Overview 

I. Business Activities 

(I) Scope of business: 

1. Main business activities: 

(1) Manufacturing and trading of machine tools. 

(2) Manufacturing and trading of hand tools. 

(3) Manufacturing and trading of steel dies. 

(4) Manufacturing, installation, and trading of nuts, bolts and mechanical parts of 

various types. 

(5) Contracting and maintenance of mechanical engineering work. 

2. Proportion of business activities: 

Unit: NTD thousand 

Product name 

2021 

Net revenues 
Weight of business 

activities (%) 

Former 1,133,283  77.57 

Heading machine 98,608  6.75 

Thread rolling 

machine 

128,588  8.80 

Others (Note) 100,508  6.88 

Total 1,460,987 100.00 

3. Current products (services) offered and new products (services) planned by the 

Company: 

(1) Current products (services): 

The major business are development and design, production, sales, and 

maintenance services for fastener formers of screws, bolt, and nuts; the 

products are mainly sold to the professional fastener manufacturers in various 

industries, and the end professional fasteners are widely applied in vehicles, 

railroad industry, aerospace industry, buildings, bridges, and consumer 

electronics. The fastener formers produced by the Company and subsidiaries 

are the essential tool machines for producing fasteners; of which, other than 
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the main structure of the machine, there are auxiliary equipment such as 

electronic control and various parts and accessories. Special designs also 

generated due to different demands, such as product specs, precisions, sizes, 

functions, production speed, among other things; the models are roughly 

categorized as blot formers, nut formers, parts formers, headers, and thread 

rollers.  

(2) New products and services planned: 

A: CFAF08 (applied for the military armor bullet closing machine) 

B: Automation of thread rolling machine mechanism 

C: Development plan of automatic mold adjustment and inspection of fastener 

machine. 

D: Automation of multi-station former mechanism 

(II) Industry overview: 

1. Current and future industry prospects 

    Screws/bolts and nuts, collectively referred to as fasteners, are made from 

coils of wire. Screw refers to threaded fasteners of smaller diameter, such as: 

metal screw, wooden screw, self-tapping screw, TEK screw etc. Bolt refers to 

threaded fasteners of larger diameter, such as: hexagon bolt, square bolt, 

foundation bolt, T-bolt etc. Nuts mostly have female threads and are used in 

conjunction with screws/bolts as a fastener set. The rigidity of a nut has to match 

the type of screw/bolt used; in general, high tensile screw/bolts are matched with 

more rigid nuts. According to the Classification for Industrial Products published 

by the Ministry of Economic Affairs, bolts and nuts can be further distinguished 

into 5 categories: bolt/nut, washer, metal nail, rivet, and other screws. Machinery 

used for producing the above 5 categories of products is broadly referred to as 

fastener formers. 

Depending on the type of product and formation method, fastener formers 

can be distinguished into the following variants: 

(1) Header 

    This machine is mainly used to shape the head of a screw, and the 

market currently offers several types of header such as: 1-die 2-blow, 2-die 

2-blow, and die/round cut headers. The head of a self-tapping screw, for 

example, and be produced in different shapes such as flat head, countersunk 
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head, round head, Pan head etc., all of which can be formed in a single 

process. Using a 2-die 2-blow model would speed up the process, and using 

a closed cutter can even create right angles and produce rivets with a hallow 

end. Depending on the die design, some machines are capable not only of 

shaping heads of bolts, screws, and nails but entire bolts and heads with 

markings as well. The Company has developed a new 1-die 2-blow round-

cut header capable of producing a cleaner shear surface, making it suitable 

for products that require a higher level of precision. The Company has also 

developed a new die press that saves materials and shortens or even 

eliminates secondary processing for cost-saving benefits. 

(2) Boltformer 

    An improved hybrid machine incorporating a header, a head trimmer, 

and a chamfering machine is mainly used to produce bolts. The boltformer 

not only has the capability to trim heads, but also form the body, reduce drill, 

and chamfer from the neck down. It combines features of a header, trimmer, 

and chamfering machine all into one, and 3-die or even 4-die models are 

currently available on the market. 

(3) Nutformer 

    Machinery mainly for producing nuts. What sets it apart from 

boltformer is that nutformer has a shorter stroke and its grip rotates 180 

degrees so that the two surfaces can be formed in turns. In comparison, the 

grip of a boltformer opens and closes to allow the head to pass through but 

can not be rotated. 

(4) Parts former 

    An improved hybrid machine incorporating a boltformer and a 

nutformer. Generally designed to handle 5 dies and more, a parts former can 

be used to produce special and complex parts such as: spark plug, 

components, and special parts used in the aerospace industry. Key features 

of a parts former are that: the gripper mechanism can open/close and rotate, 

and some models even have the ability to close and rotate at the same time; 

simultaneous passthrough is available on both the front and rear strokes; the 

pre-die feed stopper and removal mechanism can assist in the production of 

special products; and automation of several mechanisms can be adjusted to 

deliver greater product variety and achieve greater production efficiency. 
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Depending on the complexity of the product involved, parts formers can be 

further distinguished into bolt parts former and nut parts former. 5-die to 7-

die bolt/nut parts former are being sold on the market, and the success of 

these two machines have strengthened the position and added value and 

expanded the application of fastener formers on the market. 

(5) Mini former 

    Used primarily to produce electronic and micro parts measuring 3mm 

and smaller. Due to the small size of the finished product, this type of 

machinery demands a high level of precision, and die formation alone is a 

challenging technique. Chun Zu Machinery offers mini former models 

CPF035 and CPF056. 

(6) Thread rollers 

    Mainly used to create threads on screws/bolts, and is available in two 

types: linear and planetary. Linear thread rollers move in a linear motion 

back and forth and threads one screw/bolt at a time; planetary thread rollers, 

on the other hand, use a planetary array that moves in a rotary motion to 

thread screws/bolts continuously at high speed, but at the higher cost of 

threading plates and rotors. Another variant of thread roller called tapping 

machine is used to thread the inside of a nut. 

 

A fastener former is made up of the main mechanical structure and other 

accessory devices such as dies and electrical control modules. Each model varies 

in specification, precision, size, functionality, and speed depending on the 

products made, and the price range varies significantly, especially for specially 

designed models. The United States, Europe, and Japan all have manufacturers 

that specialize in this field, and Taiwan has more than 40 years of experience. 

Demand for fastener formers is closely associated with the demand and 

application of fasteners, and below is an explanation of the underlying 

relationship: 
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(1) Association with demands for fasteners 

Fastener formers are mainly used for the production of fasteners. Taiwan 

was renowned as the "Land of Nuts and Bolts" in the early years of its growth 

and its success in the development and manufacturing of "fastener formers" 

played a key role in securing that title. The fact that Mainland China has 

surpassed Taiwan in the value of fasteners exported was the result of 

continuous investment by Taiwanese fastener manufacturers for nearly 10 

years. Advancements in fastener formers have enabled fasteners to be 

produced at larger volume and lower costs and, therefore, enhance a product's 

competitiveness. For this reason, the economic cycle of fastener formers is 

closely related to, and runs slightly ahead of, fasteners. Due to the outstanding 

quality and competitive pricing of fastener formers produced in Taiwan, most 

Taiwanese enterprises still prefer Taiwan-made equipment for overseas 

expansions or domestic renewals; several fastener equipment makers have 

even invested into the Mainland so that they could supply Taiwanese fastener 

producers that are investing westbound. This was the movement that 

motivated the Company to invest in the Mainland and incorporate Shanghai 

Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. in the suburban area of Qingpu, 

Shanghai, in as early as 1997. 

(2) Expansion through the broadened application of fasteners 

Fasteners in the early days mostly comprised standard items such as 

screws, bolts, and nuts; today, fasteners are being used extensively in 

electronics, aerospace, cars/motorcycles, ships, steel structures, bridge 

construction, tracks, and medical equipment. This ever-expanding 

application brings greater diversity to the market of fastener formers. 

2.Association between upstream, midstream, and downstream industry participants 

    Each former is assembled from more than a thousand parts. Association 

between upstream, midstream, and downstream is depicted in the following 

figure.
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 Product chain Industry 

Upstream Metal materials 

Steel mill: pig iron, iron materials, cast 

iron and forged pieces. 

Metal rectifier: tool steel, die steel, alloy 

steel. 

Precious metals suppliers: aluminum, 

copper, aluminum alloy. 

Midstream 

Metal parts 

processing and 

assembly 

Former machinery, mechanical hardware, 

powered motor, clutch, hydraulic 

accessory, electrical control system, parts 

processing, metal heat treatment, surface 

treatment 

Downstream 
Fastener 

manufacturing 

Screw/bolt/nut manufacturing, 

car/motorcycle parts, and fasteners for the 

electronics industry, aerospace industry, 

track industry, buildings, and bridges 

 

3. Product development trends 

    The fastener industry will produce more sophisticated fasteners at a higher 

level of precision while incorporating robotics and intelligent processes to reduce 

the amount of labor and improve safety. Driven by the market demands 

mentioned above, fastener formers will likely progress in the following trends: 

(1) Development of multi-station formers. 

(2) Development of automated control. 

(3) Development of large or ultra-long forming machines. 

(4) Development of convenience devices such as fast-changing dies and 

stamping tools. 

(5) Development of safety protection equipment. 

(6) Application of forming inspection on fasteners. 

(7) Development of customized machines to meet customers’ diverse requirements. 

(8) Ergonomic operating environment. 

(9) Development of high precision and high durability technologies. 



 

 

- 97 - 

 

(10) Development of IOT-related technologies. 

4. Competition 

In terms of domestic competition, the Company mainly competes with Jern 

Yao Enterprises, Stampo Enterprises, Lian Teng Machinery, Biing Feng 

Enterprise, Lian Shyang Industries, and Ching Chan Optical for bolt/nut/parts 

former, and Jern Yao Enterprises, Chien Tsai Machinery, Charng Guey 

Machinery and other smaller businesses for thread roller. From a global 

perspective, manufacturers of similar machinery include Sakamula (Japan), 

National (USA), Wafios (Germany), Sacma (Italy), Nedschroef (Belgium), 

Hatebur (Switzerland), and Hyodong Machine (Korea). The advantage of Chun 

Zu Machinery lies in its R&D and the ability to make customized designs 

specifically for customers' needs. To make Chun Zu's machines more 

competitive and more clearly distinguished from low-price offerings from 

Taiwan and the Mainland, the Company has shifted its focus towards producing 

machines with higher precision, intelligence, and added value while exploring 

sales from overseas customers. 

(III) Technology and R&D overview: 

1. R&D expenses made in the last year up until the publication date of the annual report 

Unit: NTD thousand 

Item 2021 As of March 31, 2022 

R&D expenses 61,322 13,884(self-settlement amount) 

 

2. Technologies or products successfully developed in the most recent year 

(1) Completed the CNH-6LL round-cut header: 

For certain small screws and fasteners that require high-quality cuts and 

finish at the ends, the Company has developed its own round-cut mechanism 

while at the same time enhanced the stability of the knock-out and feeder 

mechanisms to meet the requirements of high-quality fasteners mentioned 

above. 

(2) Developed the CBP-206EL six-die six-stroke screw forming machine for 

slender products: 

Developed a machine that can produce M20 fastener parts with a length 

of 360mm under the neck to meet the forging needs of customers for large-

diameter and slender fastener parts and replace the expensive and time-
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consuming process of cutting. 

(3) Completed the sensing digitization and machine networking of the multi-

station molding machine: 

The various sensors of the multi-station molding machine is modified 

from the original analog to digital. Through data collection and network 

connection, the production information and normal status of the machine can 

be learned from the control platform, so that the multi-station molding 

machine is equipped with the basic functions of smart manufacturing 

equipment. 

(IV) Long and short-term business development plans: 

1. Short-term business plans 

(1) Marketing strategies 

   a. Enhance quality control, deliver exceptional service, strengthen channel 

management, and expand distribution channels. 

   b. Direct resources toward brand marketing to increase product added value 

and shape brand image. 

(2) Production strategies 

   a. Make dynamic inventory adjustments according to economic cycles and 

market demands, reducing inventory obsolescence risks and price volatility. 

   b. Make ongoing optimizations to the production process; optimize the use of 

existing resources and maintain rational control over production costs for 

improved product competitiveness. 

(3) R&D strategies 

   a. Strive to achieve a higher level of technology and efficiency in product 

development while at the same time reduce the R&D timeline. 

   b. Engage companies from different fields of expertise in technological 

collaboration and improve development capabilities in smart machinery. 

(4) Operational management 

   a. Enforce policies of the Company for improved management efficiency. 

   b. Organize regular training courses that improve the quality of R&D, sales, 

and administrative staff. 
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   c. Take initiative in raising the Company's brand awareness for more 

consistent performance. 

(5) Financial management 

   Maintain a close relationship with financial institutions; monitor changes in 

the financial market and raise the performance of treasury transactions. 

2. Long-term business plans 

(1) Marketing strategies 

a. Develop global presence, increase brand awareness, and grow international 

markets. 

b. Actively cooperate with foreign distributors to grow overseas markets. 

(2) Production strategies 

a. Explore quality suppliers and optimize sources of processed goods and raw 

material supply for improved product competitiveness. 

b. Form strategic alliances with suppliers primarily to secure the supply of 

processed goods and raw supplies, and secondarily to gain assurance on 

pricing and delivery so that products can be manufactured and shipped in 

line with customers' expectations. 

(3) R&D strategies 

a. Build up R&D capacity and the ability to provide customized products and 

services. 

b. Engage academic and technological research institutions in various 

discussions and collaborations. 

c. Become the leading brand in the development of energy-efficient, fast, and 

automated machinery. 

(4) Operation management 

a. Adopt a comprehensive goal management system and a rational employee 

performance evaluation system. 

b. Integrate resources throughout the organization to deliver fast and efficient 

services at a reasonable price. 
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(5) Financial management 

Establish medium and long-term capital requirements and grow the 

Company's operations safely and consistently. 

II. Market, production, and sales overview: 

(I) Market analysis 

1. Locations where products are mainly sold: 

Unit: NTD thousands; % 

Location 2021 Percentage % 2020 Percentage % 

Mainland 

China 
785,692 53.78% 612,536 50.16% 

Taiwan 324,637 22.22% 288,661 23.64% 

Brazil 101,868 6.97% 28,284 2.32% 

India 40,780 2.79% 41,815 3.42% 

Japan 26,910 1.84% 3,434 0.28% 

Thailand 17,910 1.23% 36,527 2.99% 

Indonesia 13,283 0.91% 86,530 7.09% 

Other 

countries 
149,907 10.26% 123,310 10.10% 

Total 1,460,987 100.00% 1,221,097 100.00% 

2.Market share 

Fastener former is the Company's primary product. There are more than 20 

fastener former manufacturers in Taiwan, the most well-known of which are Jern 

Yao Enterprises, Ching Chan Optical, Lian Shyang Industries, Fwu Kuang 

Enterprises, Biing Feng Enterprise, and Chien Tsai Machinery, and Jern Yao 

Enterprises is the competitor that offers products similar to those of Company. 

Amongst domestic fastener former manufacturers, Fwu Kuang Enterprises is a 

public company. At the same time, Ching Chan Optical is listed on TPEX, and 

the rest were all private companies, which makes peer information difficult to 

obtain. 

The world's major fastener former manufacturers are all located in highly 

industrialized nations; the most known of which include: Sakamula (Japan), 

National (USA), Wafios (Germany), Sacma (Italy), Nedschroef (Belgium), 

Hatebur (Switzerland), and Hyodong Machine (Korea). However, they charge 

higher prices for similar models made by Taiwanese manufacturers. The quality 

of Taiwan's industrial productions has improved in recent years to rival the 

world's best. This is why fastener formers made in Taiwan are highly competitive 
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in terms of quality and price, giving them an excellent advantage when 

competing in the world. 

3. Future market supply, demand and growth 

Despite their plain appearance, nuts and bolts are essential supplies to the 

industry. Nuts and bolts are a part of the fastener industry, and Taiwan has earned 

its name as the "Land of Nuts and Bolts" primarily due to its ability to design 

fastener formers that produce in mass quantity at a fast speed, which in turn 

allows fastener producers to lower production costs and improve the 

competitiveness of their products. For this reason, the economic cycle of fastener 

formers is closely related to and runs slightly ahead of fasteners. 

Fasteners are essential and fundamental components for assembly works; 

not only are they needed in very large quantities, but their quality, precision, 

safety, durability, and shipment all also play a vital role in the success of an 

assembly project. 

The Company's newly designed parts formers came at just the right time to 

satisfy the automobile industry's demand for high-quality fasteners. As a result, 

the Company has been able to participate in automobile production and gain 

access to sales orders from auto parts manufacturers located in Japan, Germany, 

Korea, Mainland China, India, and Brazil. 

4. Competitive advantage 

(1) One-stop shopping for customers’ turnkey solutions. 

Backed by more than 40 years of R&D experience, particularly in 

fastener formers, Chun Zu Machinery offers an extensive range of products 

from boltformers, nutformers, parts formers, 2-die 2-blow headers, die 

headers, thread rollers to all sorts of dies, including flat die and trimming die. 

Furthermore, the completion of multi-stage multi-station bolt/nut/parts former 

allows users to produce fasteners and parts of high complexity for wide 

applications in automobile, railway, aerospace, construction, bridges and 3C 

electronics, and the ability to modify designs according to customers' 

requirements for one-stop shopping of turnkey solutions. 

(2) Globally marketed products supported by complete after-sale service 

Chun Zu Machinery received ISO-9001 certification for quality 

assurance system including R&D from the Bureau of Standards, Metrology 
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and Inspection back in 1995; today, the Company exports more than one 

hundred types of product to more than 40 advanced nations such as Japan, 

Germany, the USA, and Russia. Meanwhile, Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery 

also has success exploring sales opportunities in Mainland China and India. 

The Company has distribution and service branches established at locations 

throughout the world where fasteners are massively produced; this worldwide 

presence allows the Company to market products and provides comprehensive 

after-sale service to its customers. 

5. Favorable and unfavorable factors for future development and countermeasures 

(1) Opportunities 

a. There is enormous demand for fasteners in Europe and America, from OEM 

markets including aerospace and automobile to mid- and low- end fasteners 

for construction and repair. 

b. The uprising of the 10 emerging markets after BRIC, the government's 

southbound expansion policy, and economic recovery in Europe and 

America are expected to stimulate the next wave of demand for fasteners. 

c. The Company has distributors in all five continents in the world. They 

gather intelligence on the market and customers, thereby enabling the 

Company to come up with new designs and models to meet the market's 

needs and bring value to the products offered. 

(2) Threats and response strategies 

a. Small machines such as headers and thread rollers have low barriers of entry; 

they attract competitors from local and abroad, reducing market share and 

profit margin of existing players. 

  Response strategies: The Company will strive to build up technological 

know-how through intensive research and development and combine 

production experience with R&D capacity to shift focus towards large, 

multi-station, high-quality, and high value-adding products for greater 

global competitiveness. 

b. Fastener former is a technology-intensive industry. The quality of a product 

is highly dependent upon technological talents, which take many years to 

train before they can contribute to exploring customized and optimal 

solutions for fastener production and deliver the level of quality and 
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deadline expected by customers. However, rising labor awareness in recent 

years has caused talents to switch careers to electronics and high-tech 

industries, making talent retention all the more difficult for the fastener 

former industry. 

  Response strategies: The Company recognizes the difficulties involved 

with nurturing talents and has therefore implemented a long-term talent 

training program supported by attractive incentives. The Company also has 

a system in place to preserve R&D data and adopts the practice of 

transferring knowledge and experience through senior employees to 

minimize the impact of personnel changes. 
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(II) Main product applications and production processes: 

1. Main product applications: 

The Company provides fastener formers, dies, and equipment servicing as 

its main business activities. The equipment it supplies is primarily used for 

producing: standard screws/bolts/nuts, automobile fasteners, aerospace fasteners, 

construction hardware fasteners, electronic hardware fasteners, track fasteners, 

mechanical fasteners, and parts for hand-operated tools. 

2. Production process: 
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(III) Supply of main materials 

Main raw supplies Main source of 

supply 
Supply status 

Castings Taiwan Good 

Steel materials Taiwan Good 

Control box Taiwan Good 

Die Taiwan Good 

The Company purchases its main raw supplies from local suppliers in 

Taiwan. Importing is limited to few items that the Company considers necessary 

to maintain secondary sources of supply. Nevertheless, the Company maintains 

a sound working relationship with multiple suppliers of similar nature to avoid 

concentration in few large suppliers. This diversity helps secure competitive 

prices, ensure an adequate supply of raw materials, and minimizes the risk of 

purchasing from a single supplier. 

Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery sources raw materials primarily from local 

partners, and the state of supply is considered adequate. 

(IV) Names of customers representing more than 10% of total purchases (sales) in any 

of the previous two years, the amounts and percentages of purchase (sales), and 

describe the causes of any variation. 

1. The Company did not have any supplier that represented more than 10% of the 

total annual purchase in the last two years: 

Unit: NTD thousand 

Cause of variation: 

Key raw supplies and supplies purchased by the Company include: castings, 

steel, iron, electrical controls, and speed reduction mechanisms. The Company 

sources supply from a well-diversified group of reliable partners, and none of 

which represented more than 10% of the total annual purchase in the last two 

years. 

 

Item 

2020 2021 

Name Amount 

As a 

percentage 

of annual net 

purchase (%) 

Relationship 

with the 

issuer 

Name Amount 

As a 

percentage 

of Annual 

Net Purchase 

(%) 

Relationship 

with the 

issuer 

1 - - -  - - -  

2 Others 692,426 100.00  Others 1,126,225 100.00  

Total 
Net 

purchase 
692,426 100.00  

Net 

purchase 
1,126,225 100.00  



 

 

- 106 - 

 

2. Customers that represented more than 10% of total annual sales in any of the 

last two years: 

Unit: NTD thousands 

Item 

2020 2021 

Name Amount 

As a 

percentage 

of annual net 

sales (%) 

Relationshi

p with the 

issuer 

Name Amount 

As a 

percentage 

of annual 

net sales 

(%) 

Relations

hip with 

the issuer 

1 - - -  - - -  

2 Others 1,221,097 100.00  Others 1,460,987 100.00  

Total 
Net 

sales 
1,221,097 100.00  

Net 

sales 
1,460,987 100.00  

Cause of variation: 

The Company mainly sells machinery for producing fasteners and parts. 

The Company does not limit or concentrate product sales to any specific location 

and may change following a shift in customers' capital expenditures and the 

Company's business development efforts. None of the Company's customers 

represented more than 10% of total annual sales in the last two years. 

 

(V) Production volume and value in the last two years: 

Unit: pieces, sets, NTD thousands 

 Year 2020 2021 

Production 

volume/value 
Production 

capacity 

Production 

volume 

Production 

value 

Production 

capacity 

Production 

volume 

Production 

value 
Main product 

Former (Note 1) 160 692,919  (Note 1) 194  808,968  

Heading machine (Note 1) 156 87,051  (Note 1) 114  82,845  

Thread rolling 

machine 

(Note 1) 167 95,552  (Note 1) 151  91,618  

Others (Note4) (Note 1) (Note 2) 78,950  (Note 1) (Note 2)  94,098  

Total (Note 1) (Note 3) 954,472  (Note 1) (Note 3)  1,077,529  

Note 1: The Company's products are custom-designed and produced and vary significantly in 

specifications; therefore, production capacity is not calculated. 

Note 2: Repairs and maintenance revenue represents income from after-sale service; therefore, 

production capacity is not calculated. 

Note 3: Unit measures were different, so could not be added. 

Note 4: Including other process and repairs and maintenance revenue. 
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(VI) Sales volume and value in the last two years: 

Unit: pieces, sets, NTD thousands 

 Year 2020 2021 

Sales 

volume/value Domestic sales Export sales Domestic sales Export sales 

Main product Volume Value Volume Value Volume Value Volume Value 

Former    38   201,016      119  675,382   56  241,333   167   891,950  

Heading machine  32  23,173  111     71,768   31   21,757   97   76,851  
Thread rolling machine   19  13,943  132  91,628   42   24,546   102   104,042  

Others (Note 2)  -    50,529   -     93,658   -     36,965   2   63,543  

Total (Note 1) 288,661  (Note 1)  932,436  (Note 1) 324,601  (Note 1) 1,136,386  

Note: Unit measures were different, so could not be added. 

 

III. Employee size, average years of service, average age and distribution of academic 

backgrounds in the last 2 years up to the publication date of the annual report: 

Year End of 2020 End of 2021 
2021 Up to 

March 31 

E
m

p
lo

y
ee

 c
o
u
n
t R&D head count (persons) 30 29 27 

Operational and technical head 

count (persons) 
278 277 277 

Administrative and sales head 

count (persons) 
63 68 64 

Total (persons) 371 374 368 

Average age 40.4 40.77 40.8 

Average years of service 10.98 11.15 10.86 

A
ca

d
em

ic
 

b
ac

k
g
ro

u
n
d
 

Doctoral Degree 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Masters Degree 2.95% 3.53% 3.59% 

Bachelors Degree 44.05% 45.68% 44.93% 

Senior high school 35.26% 34.26% 34.89% 

Below senior high school 17.74% 16.53% 16.59% 

 

IV. Environmental Protection Expenses 

        Losses suffered due to environmental pollution (including compensation and 

violations of environmental protection laws and regulations according to the results 

of environmental protection inspection) in the most recent year and up to the printing 

date of the annual report. Disclose the estimated amount that may occur at present and 

in the future and countermeasures; if it cannot be reasonably estimated, explain the 

reason why it cannot be reasonably estimated: None. 
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V. Labor-Management Relations 

(I) The Company's employee welfare measures, further education, training, retirement 

system and their implementation, as well as the agreement between labor and 

management and various employee right and interest protection measures. 

1. Employee welfare, education, and training: 

    Employees of the Company are entitled to Labor Insurance coverage, 

National Health Insurance coverage, and pension benefits that are stipulated by 

law, in addition to various benefits offered by the Company, including: 

(1) Employee canteen and meal subsidies. 

(2) Employee uniform, and mobile phone and safety boots depending on the work 

requirement. 

(3) Employee remuneration, depending on the Company's profitability. 

(4) Group accident insurance 

(5) Domestic and foreign travel subsidies. 

(6) Training seminars and courses: 3 internal training sessions and 18 external 

training sessions in 2021, with 158 hours of training and 118 person times 

participating. The trainings include: forklift (re-training included), stationery 

lifts (re-training included), occupational safety, first-aid (re-training included), 

measuring skills, protection of both genders, inventories, organic solvent re-

training included), lathes, milling machines, fire-fighting management, 

auditor training, accounting officer training, finance and management related. 

(7) Complimentary parking lots for motorcycles and cars. 

(8) Employee benefits/welfare committee: Composed of representatives from 

various departments, the committee convenes meetings and re-elects members 

on a regular basis. The committee also makes annual plans for employee 

benefits, including: birthday cash, festive cash, tuition subsidy for employees 

and their children, and group trips. 

2. Retirement system and implementation: 

    The Company has implemented its own Employee Retirement Policy in 

accordance with the Labor Standards Act. It makes regular contributions to 

employees' pension funds in a manner that complies with laws. Following the 

enactment of the "Labor Pension Act" (i.e. the new scheme) on July 1, 2005, all 
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existing employees hired on and before June 30, 2005 that remained employed 

on July 1 were given a choice to continue opting for the "old scheme" under the 

"Labor Standards Act" (and may switch to the new scheme before July 2010) or 

convert with years of service carried forward into the new pension scheme. New 

employees hired on and after July 1, 2005 may only opt for the new pension 

scheme. 

3. Agreements between labor and management and various measures to safeguard 

the rights and interests of employees: 

The Company regularly holds labor and capital meetings. The 

communication channels between labor and management are smooth and the 

relationship is harmonious. There is also an employee suggestion box, through 

which employees can put forward suggestions on the Company's systems and 

measures. Frequent training is provided to strengthen employees' work skills. In 

addition, the Company abides by laws and regulations and has an employee 

welfare committee according to law to safeguard the rights and interests of 

employees, promote the coexistence and common prosperity of labor and 

management ,and seek common career development. 

(II) Losses suffered due to labor-management disputes (including violation of the Labor 

Standard Act due to the labor inspection results) in the most recent year and up to 

the printing date of the annual report. Disclose the estimated amount that may occur 

at present and in the future and countermeasures; if it cannot be reasonably estimated, 

explain the reason why it cannot be reasonably estimated: None. 

VI. Infocomm Security Management 

(I) Describe the infocomm security risk management structure, infocomm security 

policy, specific management scheme and resources invested in infocomm security 

management. 

A. The Company has established an infocomm security team to hold 

information security reviews and file reports from time to time. 

B. Audit and investigate the internal information security of the Company 

every year. According to the survey results, an annual plan will be prepared 

for the missing parts for improvement and strengthening. 

C. The specific management aspects of information security are divided into 

the following aspects: 

a. Personnel training: Personnel information training and sending 

information security announcements by e-mail from time to time. 
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b. Computer security management: Authorized software installation and 

operating system security update. 

c. Network security management: Internet access management and firewall 

(IPS) defense. 

d. System access management: Company system and file server permission 

management. 

e. Asset and equipment management: Company computer asset 

management. 

(II) Losses arising from major infocomm security incidents in the last year up to the 

publication date of the annual report, possible impact and countermeasures. State 

the reasons if the losses can not be reasonably estimated. 

 

VII. Major Contracts: 

Note: Please refer to “Significant contingent liabilities and unrecognized commitments” disclosed in the Company’s 

annual report- consolidated financial statements (pages 170). 

  

Nature of 

contract 
Counterparty 

Starting and end date of 

contract 
Key content 

Restrictive 

clauses 

Current 

borrowings 

First Commercial 

Bank 
2021.09.15~2022.09.15 

Comprehensive 

credit; guarntee 

None 

Current 

borrowings 

Chang Hwa 

Commercial Bank 
2021.04.29~2022.04.30 

Comprehensive 

credit 

None 

Current 

borrowings 
Bank Sinopac 2021.12.23~2022.12.31 

Comprehensive 

credit 

None 

Current 

borrowings 

Mega International 

Commercial Bank  
2021.05.28~2022.05.27 

Comprehensive 

credit 

None 

Current 

borrowings 

The Export-Import 

Bank of the 

Republic of China 

2021.08.04~2022.08.04 Short-term loans 

None 

Short-term 

bills 
Mega Bill 2021.07.08~2022.07.07 Commercial paper 

None 

Current 

borrowings 

China Construction 

Bank 
2017.01.01~2025.12.31 Mortgage loans 

Note 

Current 

borrowings 

Bank of 

Communications 
2021.11.04~2022.11.04 Mortgage loans 

None 
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Six. Financial Overview 

I. Summary balance sheet and statement of comprehensive income for the last 5 years 

(I) Summary balance sheet 

(1) IFRS-compliant (Consolidated) 

Unit: NTD thousands 

Year 

 

Item 

Financial information for the last 5 years 

2017 2017 2019 2020 2021 

Current asset 1,349,891 1,432,281 1,240,900 1,321,183 1,401,368 

Property, plant and 

equipment 
564,255 548,896 539,183 514,894 485,126 

Intangible asset 3,860 5,272 7,084 6,518 4,647 

Other assets 106,881 77,403 134,509 128,854 157,435 

Total assets 2,024,887 2,063,852 1,921,676 1,971,449 2,048,576 

Current 

liabilities 

Before 

dividend 
822,714 849,118 712,708 804,891 840,724 

After 

dividend 
931,236 969,698 815,201 850,109 907,043 

non-current liabilities 172,420 175,407 179,697 174,613 181,840 

Total 

liabilities 

Before 

dividend 
995,134 1,024,525 892,405 979,504 1,022,564 

After 

dividend 
1,103,656 1,145,105 994,898 1,024,722 1,088,883 

Equity attributable to 

owners of parent 
1,029,753 1,039,327 1,029,271 991,945 1,026,012 

Share capital 602,900 602,900 602,900 602,900 602,900 

Additional paid-in capital 259 259 259 259 259 

Retained 

earnings 

Before 

dividend 
459,624 476,953 486,143 442,575 479,096 

After 

dividend 
351,102 356,373 383,650 397,357 412,777 

Other equities （33,030） （40,785） （60,031） （53,789） （56,243） 

Treasury shares - - - - - 

Non-controlling interests - - - - - 

Total equity 

Before 

dividend 
1,029,753 1,039,327 1,029,271 991,945 1,026,012 

After 

dividend 
921,231 918,747 926,778 946,727 959,693 

Note 1: All financial information from 2017 to 2021 has been audited. 

Note 2: The Board of Directors adopted to the special resolution to distribute the cash dividends to 

shareholders as the 2021 earnings distribution, but no share dividend will be distributed. The 

earning distribution has not been reported to the shareholders’ meeting for ratification. 
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(2) IFRS-compliant (Parent company only) 

  Unit: NTD thousands 

Year 

 

Item 

Financial information for the last 5 years 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Current asset 561,212 685,779 634,787 627,495 645,316 

Equity-accounted 

investments 
636,807 642,215 592,288 596,238 627,761 

Property, plant and 

equipment 
328,610 328,678 341,815 328,103 316,154 

Intangible asset 1,094 1,012 1,529 890 314 

Other assets 72,562 52,375 107,342 107,991 396,551 

Total assets 1,600,285 1,710,059  1,677,761 1,660,717 1,640,780 

Current 

liabilities 

Before 

dividend 
398,112 495,325 468,793 494,159 432,928 

After 

dividend 
506,634 615,905 571,286 539,377 499,247 

non-current liabilities 172,420 175,407 179,697 174,613 181,840 

Total liabilities 

Before 

dividend 
570,532 670,732 648,490 668,772 614,768 

After 

dividend 
679,054 791,312 750,983 713,990 681,087 

Share capital 602,900 602,900 602,900 602,900 602,900 

Additional paid-in capital 259 259 259 259 259 

Retained 

earnings 

Before 

dividend 
459,624 476,953 486,143 442,575 479,096 

After 

dividend 
351,102 356,373 383,650 397,357 412,777 

Other equities （33,030） （40,785） （60,031） （53,789） （56,243） 

Treasury shares - - - - - 

Non-controlling interests - - - - - 

Total equity 

Before 

dividend 
1,029,753 1,039,327 1,029,271 991,945 1,026,012 

After 

dividend 
921,231 918,747 926,778 946,727 959,693 

Note 1: All financial information from 2017 to 2021 has been audited. 

Note 2: The Board of Directors adopted to the special resolution to distribute the cash dividends to 

shareholders as the 2021 earnings distribution, but no share dividend will be distributed.The earning 

distribution has not been reported to the shareholders’ meeting for ratification. 
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(II) Summary statement of comprehensive income 

(1) IFRS-compliant (Consolidated) 

Unit: NTD thousand 

                       

                  Year 

  Item 

Financial information for the last 5 years 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Operating revenue 1,488,029 1,675,406 1,579,288 1,221,097 1,460,987 

Gross profit 418,558 468,939 405,625 259,609 346,748 

Operating profit and loss 136,582 163,746 146,809 44,841 80,919 

Non-operating income and 

expense 
8,744 12,633 3,842 27,437 33,861 

Profit before tax 145,326 176,379 150,651 72,278 114,780 

Current net income from 

continuing operations 
116,522 126,940 129,531 56,931 83,778 

Loss from discontinued 

operations 
- - - - - 

Current net income (loss) 116,522 126,940 129,531 56,931 83,778 

Other comprehensive income 

for the current period (net, after-

tax) 

（4,784） （8,844） （19,007） 8,236 （4,493） 

Total comprehensive income in 

the current period 
111,738 118,096 110,524 65,167 79,285 

Net income attributable to 

parent company shareholders 
116,522 126,940 129,531 56,931 83,778 

Net income attributable to non-

controlling interests 
- - - - - 

Comprehensive income 

attributable to parent company 

shareholders 

111,738 118,096 110,524 65,167 79,285 

Comprehensive income 

attributable to non-controlling 

interests 

- - - - - 

Earnings per share 1.93 2.11 2.15 0.94 1.39 

Note 1: All financial information from 2017 to 2021 has been audited. 
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(2) IFRS-compliant (Parent company only) 

Unit: NTD thousand 

                   Year 

Item 

Financial information for the last 5 years 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Operating revenue 774,858 746,219 912,956 569,326 658,184 

Gross profit 216,673 199,505 228,656 94,037 119,180 

Operating profit and loss 61,748 49,716 81,479 
（29,194

） 
（31,075） 

Non-operating income and 

expense 
77,402 112,311  81,684 96,328 129,893 

Profit before tax 139,150 162,027  163,163 67,134 98,818 

Current net income from 

continuing operations 
116,522 126,940  129,531 56,931 83,778 

Loss from discontinued operations - - - -  

Current net income (loss) 116,522 126,940  129,531 56,931 83,778 

Other comprehensive income for 

the current period (net, after-tax) 
（4,784） （8,844） （19,007） 8,236   （4,493） 

Total comprehensive income in 

the current period 
111,738 118,096 110,524 65,167 79,285 

Net income attributable to parent 

company shareholders 
116,522 126,940 129,531 56,931 83,778 

Net income attributable to non-

controlling interests 
- - - - - 

Comprehensive income 

attributable to parent company 

shareholders 

111,738 118,096 110,524 65,167 79,285 

Comprehensive income 

attributable to non-controlling 

interests 

- - - - - 

Earnings per share 1.93 2.11 2.15 0.94 1.39 

Note 1: All financial information from 2017 to 2021 has been audited. 
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(III) Names of financial statement auditors in the last 5 years and audit opinions 

 

  

Year Name of accounting firm Certifying accountant Audit opinion 

2017 PwC Taiwan 
James Liu 

Lin, Tzu Shu 
Unqualified opinion 

2018 PricewaterhouseCoopers Taiwan 
James Liu 

Lin, Tzu Shu 
Unqualified opinion 

2019 PricewaterhouseCoopers Taiwan 
James Liu 

Lin, Tzu Shu 
Unqualified opinion 

2020 PricewaterhouseCoopers Taiwan 
James Liu 

Lin, Tzu Shu 
Unqualified opinion 

2021 PricewaterhouseCoopers Taiwan 
Lin, Tzu Yu 

Liu, Tzu Meng 
Unqualified opinion 
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II. Financial analysis for the last 5 years 

(I) Financial analysis - IFRS-compliant (consolidated) 

                         Year 

 

Analysis 

Financial analysis for the last 5 years 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Financial 

structure (%) 

Debt to assets ratio 49.14 49.64  46.43   49.68  49.91 

Long-term capital to property, 

plant and equipment 
213.05 189.34  190.89   192.65  211.49 

Solvency 

Current ratio (%) 164.07 168.67  174.11   164.14   166.68  

Quick ratio (%) 94.80 90.48  81.13   86.38   82.14  

Interest coverage ratio 28.24 52.33  36.18   16.96   41.51  

Operating 

efficiency 

Accounts receivable turnover 

(times) 
2.44 2.86  3.06   2.22   2.90  

Average cash collection days 149.59 127.62  119.28   164.41   125.86  

Inventory turnover (times) 1.81 1.84  1.68   1.38   1.52  

Accounts payable turnover 

(times) 
3.94 4.08  4.44   4.78   5.65  

Average inventory turnover 

days 
201.65 198.36  217.26   264.49   240.13  

Property, plant and equipment 

turnover (times) 
2.62 3.01  2.90   2.31   2.92  

Total asset turnover (times) 0.73 0.81  0.79   0.62   0.72  

Profitability 

Return on assets (%) 5.94 6.34  6.67   3.11   4.28  

Return on equity (%) 11.46 12.27  12.52   5.63   8.30  

Pre-tax income as a 

percentage of paid-up capital 

(%) 

24.10 29.25  24.98   11.98   19.03  

Net profit margin (%) 7.83 7.57  8.20   4.66   5.73  

Earnings per share (NTD) 1.93 2.11  2.15   0.94   1.39  

Cash flow 

Cash flow ratio (%) 14.23 22.69  1.70   6.43   56.64  

Cash flow adequacy ratio (%) 129.39 118.50  96.98   67.52   102.53  

Cash reinvestment ratio (%) 1.96 4.84 (Note 1) (Note 1)  25.65  

Degree of 

leverage 

Operating leverage 3.19 3.24  3.39   8.10   5.16  

Financial leverage 1.04 1.02  1.03   1.11   1.03  
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Analysis of financial ratio variations exceeding 20% between 2021 and 2020: 

1. Interest cover ratio: Increased in 2021 compared with the previous year, mainly due to the increase of net 

profit before tax and the decrease of interest expenses caused by the decrease of borrowings in 2021. 

2. Accounts receivable turnover rate and average cash collection days: The turnover rate increased and the 

cash collection days shortened, mainly due to the increase in net sales in 2021 and the Company's 

strengthening of collection policies, which the decreased in receivables amount at the end of the year. 

3. Property, plant and equipment turnover rate and total asset turnover rate: Increased in 2021 compared to 

the previous year, mainly because the increase of net sales in 2021. 

4. Return on assets, return on equity, net profit rate and earnings per share: In 2021, the vaccination rate in 

major countries was gradually popularized, the impact of the pandemic slowed down, and the recovery 

of international economic and trade exchanges made the Company's domestic and foreign sales grow. 

The after-tax net profit increased, and the related ratios of profitability increased compared with the 

previous year. 

5. Ratio of net income before tax to paid-in capital: Increased in 2021 mainly because of the reduced 

impact from the pandemic, resulting in an increase of the net profit before tax. 

6. Cash flow ratio and cash reinvestment ratio: Increased in 2021 compared with the previous year, mainly 

due to the decrease of notes receivable and the increase of advance sales receipts, resulting in the 

increase of net cash inflow from operating activities. 

7. Cash flow adequacy ratio: Increased in 2021 compared to the previous year mainly due to the increase of 

net cash flow from operating activities in the last 5 years. 

8. Operating leverage: Decreased in 2021 compared to the previous year, mainly due to higher operating 

profits. 

Note 1: After deducting the cash dividends, the net cash flow from operating activities became 

negative, and is thus meaningless to compare; therefore the related ratios are not listed.  

Note 2: All financial information from 2017 to 2021 has been audited and certified by CPAs. 

Note 3: Formulas for calculation of various analyses: 

1. Financial position 

 (1) Debt to assets ratio = total liabilities / total assets. 

 (2) Long-term capital to property, plant and equipment = (total equity + non-current 

liabilities) / property, plant and equipment. 

2. Solvency 

 (1) Current ratio = current assets / current liabilities. 

 (2) Quick ratio = (current assets - inventory - prepayments) / current liabilities. 

 (3) Interest coverage ratio = earnings before interest and tax / interest expenses for the 

current period. 

3. Operating efficiency 

 (1) Accounts receivable turnover (including accounts receivable and notes receivable from 

business activities) = net sales / average receivables balance (including accounts 

receivable and notes receivable from business activities). 

 (2) Average cash collection days = 365 / receivables turnover. 

 (3) Inventory turnover = cost of sales / average inventory balance. 

 (4) Accounts payable turnover (including accounts payable and notes payable for business 

activities) = cost of sales / average payables balance (including accounts payable and 

notes payable for business activities). 

 (5) Average inventory turnover days = 365 / inventory turnover. 

 (6) Property, plant and equipment turnover = net sales / average net property, plant and 

equipment balance. 

 (7) Total asset turnover = net sales / average total assets. 

4. Profitability 

 (1) Return on assets = (net income + interest expenses x (1- tax rate)) / average asset balance. 

 (2) Return on equity = net income / average total equity. 

 (3) Net profit margin = net income / net sales. 

 (4) Earnings per share = (equity attributable to owners of parent - preferred share dividends) 

/ weighted average of issued shares. (Note 4) 

5. Cash flow 
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 (1) Cash flow ratio = net cash flow from operating activities / current liabilities. 

 (2) Cash flow adequacy ratio = net cash flow from operating activities for the previous 5 

years / (capital expenditure + increase in inventory + cash dividends) for the previous 5 

years. 

 (3) Cash reinvestment ratio = (net cash flow from operating activities - cash dividends) / 

(gross property, plant, and equipment + long-term investments + other non-current 

assets + working capital). (Note 4) 

6. Degree of leverage: 

 (1) Operating leverage = (net operating revenues - variable operating costs and expenses) / 

operating profit. (Note 5) 

 (2) Financial leverage = operating profit / (operating profit - interest expense). 

Note 4: In the calculation of earnings per share, the following factors shall be taken into account: 

1.Weighted average number of ordinary shares are used instead of outstanding year-end 

shares. 

2. Effects of issue of shares or treasury stock, weighed by the number of outstanding shares 

and calculated for the length of time they were circulating. 

3. If any additional shares were issued against capitalized earnings or capital surplus, full-

year or half-year earnings per share are adjusted retrospectively, regardless of when the 

additional shares were issued. 

4. For preferred shares that are cumulative and non-convertible, all current year dividends 

(whether distributed or not) are deducted from net income or added to net loss. For 

preferred shares that are non-cumulative, preferred share dividends are deducted from net 

income, but no adjustment is required for a net loss. 

Note 5: In performing cash flow analysis, the following matters shall be taken into account: 

1. Net cash flow from operating activities is taken from the amount presented in the cash flow 

statement. 

2. Capital expenditure refers to the amount of annual cash outflow spent on capital 

investments. 

3. Increase in inventory is used only if the closing balance exceeds the opening balance. The 

value will be substituted with zero if the closing inventory balance is less than the opening 

balance. 

4. Cash dividends include both common and preferred share cash dividends. 

5. Gross property, plant and equipment refers to the amount before deducting accumulated 

depreciation. 

Note 6: The Company, as a securities issuer is required to classify operating costs and expenses into 

fixed and variable operating costs; any estimate or subjective judgment used in the 

classification has to be reasonable and consistent. 

Note 7: For companies that issue shares without a face value or at any face value other than NT$10 

per share, all above percentages that involve paid-up capital in the denominator shall be 

substituted with equity attributable to owners of parent company shareholders in the balance 

sheet instead. 
  



 

 

- 119 - 

 

(II) Financial analysis - IFRS-compliant (Parent company only) 

                          Year 

Analysis 

Financial analysis for the last 5 years 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Financial 

structure (%) 

Debt to assets ratio 35.65 39.22  38.65   40.27   37.46  

Long-term capital to property, 

plant and equipment 
365.83 316.21  301.11   302.32   324.52  

Solvency 

Current ratio (%) 140.96 138.45  135.40  126.98   149.05  

Quick ratio (%) 81.57 69.07  58.78   52.21   69.16  

Interest coverage ratio 75.49 129.29  78.99   22.27   43.69  

Operating 

efficiency 

Accounts receivable turnover 

(times) 
2.42 2.54  3.12   1.94   2.47  

Average cash collection days 150.83 143.70  116.98   188.14   147.77  

Inventory turnover (times) 1.99 1.70  1.79   1.18   1.35  

Accounts payable turnover 

(times) 
3.86 3.37  4.12   3.70   4.85  

Average inventory turnover 

days 
183.41 214.70  203.91   309.32   270.37  

Property, plant and equipment 

turnover (times) 
2.34 2.27  2.72   1.69   2.04  

Total asset turnover (times) 0.47 0.45  0.53   0.34   0.39  

Profitability 

Return on assets (%) 7.25 7.73  7.74   3.56   5.18  

Return on equity (%) 11.46 12.27  12.52   5.63   8.30  

Pre-tax income as a 

percentage of paid-up capital 

(%) 

23.08 26.87  27.06   11.13   16.39  

Net profit margin (%) 15.03 17.01  14.18   9.99   12.72  

Earnings per share (NTD) 1.93 2.11  2.15   0.94   1.39  

Cash flow 

Cash flow ratio (%) 44.27 17.60  16.68  (Note 1)  59.23  

Cash flow adequacy ratio (%) 134.07 97.42  71.68   46.61   87.67  

Cash reinvestment ratio (%) 6.71 (Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2) 15.23  

Degree of 

leverage 

Operating leverage 4.36 5.07  3.77  （5.52） (4.68) 

Financial leverage 1.03 1.03  1.02   0.90   0.93  
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Analysis of financial ratio variations exceeding 20% between 2021 and 2020: 

1. Quick ratio: increased in 2021 from the previous year, mainly because the 2021 operating revenue      

increased, resulting in more bank deposits, and the short-term borrowings decreased. 

2. Interest cover ratio: Increased in 2021 compared with the previous year, mainly due to the increase of net 

profit before tax and the decrease of interest expenses caused by the decrease of borrowings in 2021. 

3. Accounts receivable turnover rate and average cash collection days: The turnover rate increased and the 

cash collection days shortened, mainly due to the increase in net sales in 2021 and the Company's 

strengthening of collection policies, which the decreased in receivables amount at the end of the year. 

4. Turnover rate of accounts payable: The increase of turnover rate is mainly due to the increase of annual 

net sales and the inherent increase of sales cost. 

5. property, plant and equipment turnover: increased in 2021 compared to the previous year mainly due to 

higher net sales. 

6. Return on assets, return on equity, net profit rate and earnings per share: In 2021, the vaccination rate in 

major countries was gradually popularized, the impact of the pandemic slowed down, and the recovery of 

international economic and trade exchanges made the Company's domestic and foreign sales grow. The 

after-tax net profit increased, and the related ratios of profitability increased compared with the previous 

year. 

7. Ratio of net income before tax to paid-in capital: Increased in 2021 mainly because of the reduced impact 

from the pandemic, resulting in an increase of the net profit before tax. 

8. Cash flow ratio and cash reinvestment ratio: Increased in 2021 compared with the previous year, mainly 

due to the increase of accounts payable and advance sales receipts, resulting in the increase of net cash 

inflow from operating activities. 

9. Cash flow adequacy ratio: Increased in 2021 compared to the previous year mainly due to the increase of 

net cash flow from operating activities in the last 5 years. 

Note 1: After deducting the cash dividends, the net cash flow from operating activities became 

negative, and is thus meaningless to compare; therefore the related ratios are not listed. 

Note 2: After deducting the cash dividends, the net cash flow from operating activities became 

negative, and is thus meaningless to compare; therefore the related ratios are not listed. 

Note 3: All financial information from 2017 to 2021 has been audited and certified by CPAs. 

Note 4: Refer to Note 3 of the table above for formulas of financial analysis. 
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III. Audit Committee’s review report on the latest financial report: 

 

Audit Committee's Audit Report 

 

We have reviewed the Company's 2021 business report, financial statements 

(including consolidated and standalone financial statements), and earnings 

appropriation proposal prepared by the board of directors. The financial statements 

have been audited by CPAs Lin, Tzu Yu and Liu, Tzu Meng of 

PriceWaterhouseCoopers Taiwan, and an independent auditor's report was issued. The 

Audit Committee found no misstatement in the above business report, financial 

statements, or earnings appropriation proposal and hereby issues its report as presented 

above in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Act and The Company Act. 

 

 

Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

 

Audit Committee convener: Tan, Shing-Chao 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

March 8, 2022 
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IV. Latest audited consolidated financial statements: Please refer to pages 122 to 

184. 

 

 

Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

Declaration concerning consolidated financial statements of affiliated enterprises 

 

  

     Affiliated enterprises subject to the preparation of consolidated financial statements of affiliated 

enterprises under the “Criteria Governing Preparation of Affiliation Reports, Consolidated Business 

Reports and Consolidated Financial Statements of Affiliated Enterprises," were identical to the 

affiliated companies subject to the preparation of consolidated financial statements under the 

International Financial Reporting Standards No. 10 (IFRS 10). All mandatory disclosures of affiliated 

enterprises' consolidated financial statements have been disclosed in the consolidated financial 

statements. Therefore no separate consolidated financial statements of affiliated enterprises were 

prepared. 

 

This declaration is solemnly made by 

 

 

 

Company: Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

 

Person-in-charge: Chen, Chi Tai 

 

March 8, 2022 
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Independent Auditors' Report 

(111) Cai-Shen-Bao No. 21003924 

To stakeholders of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd.: 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Chun Zu Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. and subsidiaries (the "Group") as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income, changes in equity, cash flows, and notes to 

consolidated financial statements (including a summary of significant accounting policies) for 

the periods from January 1 to December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

In our opinion, all material disclosures of the consolidated financial statements mentioned 

above were prepared in accordance with "Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial 

Reports by Securities Issuers" and the version of International Financial Reporting Standards, 

International Accounting Standards and interpretations thereof approved by the Financial 

Supervisory Commission, and presented a fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 

Group as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and consolidated business performance and cash flow 

for the periods January 1 to December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Basis for Opinion 

We have conducted our audits in accordance with "Regulations Governing Auditing and 

Attestation of Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants" and the generally accepted 

auditing standards of the Republic of China. Our responsibilities as an auditor under the 

abovementioned standards are explained in the Responsibilities paragraph. All relevant personnel 

of the accounting firm have followed CPA code of ethics of the Republic of China and maintained 

independence from the Group, and fulfilled other responsibilities under the code of ethics. We 

believe that the evidence obtained provides an adequate and appropriate basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are matters that we considered to be the most important, based on 

professional judgment when auditing the 2021 consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

These matters have already been addressed when we audited and formed our opinions on the 

consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we do not provide opinions separately for 

individual matters. 

Key audit matters concerning the 2021 consolidated financial statements of the Group are 

as follows: 

Cut-Off Time of Revenue 

Description 

Please refer to Note 4(24) of the consolidated financial statements for a detailed description 

of the accounting policy on revenue recognition. 
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The Group generates revenues primarily from the manufacturing and sale of machine tools, 

chemical machines, compressors, and screw/bolt/nut formers. The timing at which sales revenues 

are recognized depends mainly on the terms of individual contracts, and revenue is recognized 

when the goods are accepted by the customer and the control of the goods is transferred to the 

customer. Since revenue recognition requires confirmation on the completion and fulfillment of 

trade terms, a process that involves manual works and subjective judgments and varies in 

duration for different batches of goods, the assessment of whether the time point of recognized 

income has been reached on the balance sheet date will affect the financial statement period to 

which the income belongs. Given the substantial sum of each transaction, the timing of revenue 

requires high level of attention from auditors, which is why we have highlighted it as a key audit 

matter for this audit. 

Audit Procedures 

The following audit procedures were taken in relation to the audit matter described above: 

1. Understanding and evaluating the accounting policy on revenue recognition. 

2. Understanding and evaluating internal control practices on revenue recognition, and 

conducting tests to ensure that internal control practices are effective in determining the timing 

of shipment and revenue recognition. 

3. Performing cut-off tests on sales transactions that were completed just before and after the 

balances sheet date to confirm that control of goods was indeed transferred to customers for 

all recognized revenues, and that revenues were recorded for the appropriate period. 

Impairment of Inventory 

Description 

For accounting policies on inventory valuation, please refer to Note 4(11) - Inventory of the 

consolidated financial statements; for critical accounting estimates, assumptions, and 

uncertainties on inventory valuation, please refer to Note 5(2) - Significant accounting estimates 

and assumptions - Inventory valuation of the consolidated financial statements; for detailed 

inventory accounts, please refer to Note 6(3) - Inventory of the consolidated financial statements. 

as at December 31, 2021, the total inventory balance and provisions for inventory devaluation 

loss were NT$770,247 thousand and NT$68,960 thousand respectively. 

The Group operates mainly as a manufacturer of machine tools, chemical machines, 

compressors, and screw/bolt/nut formers. Due to changes in market demand and technology, 

materials held on hand for the production of machinery may be susceptible to higher risk of 

devaluation or obsolescence. The Group values inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable 

value. For inventory that exceeds certain aging bracket or has been individually identified as 

obsolete, net realizable value is estimated regularly by the management based on movement and 

utilization of individual inventory items. 

Given that the industries the Group produces equipment/products for are susceptible to 

changes in technology, and that evaluation of net realizable value on obsolete inventory often 



- 125 - 

involves subjective judgments, we consider it necessary to verify the judgments used and have 

highlighted it as a key audit matter for this audit. 

Audit procedures in response 

The following audit procedures were taken in relation to the audit matter described above: 

1. In accordance with the provisions of accounting principles and the understanding of the nature 

of the operation and industry, the provision policy of inventory devaluation loss during the 

period of comparative financial statements is adopted consistently, and the rationality of the 

provision policy and procedure adopted for inventory devaluation loss is evaluated, including 

the source of inventory information on which the net realizable value is determined and the 

rationality of obsolete inventory items. 

2. Understanding the warehousing procedures, examining the annual stock-taking plan, and 

participating in annual stock takes to evaluate the effectiveness of the management's judgment 

and control over obsolete inventory. 

3. Validating the logic adopted for determining net realizable value and preparing aging 

inventory reports, and spot checking the inventory with individual item number to recalculate 

its net realizable value, in order to verify the appropriateness of provisions made on inventory 

devaluation. 

Other Matters - Parent Company Only Financial Statements 

Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. has prepared its parent company only financial 

statements for 2021 and 2020, to which we have issued an independent auditor's report with an 

unqualified opinion.  

Responsibilities of the Management and Governance for The Consolidated 

Financial Statements 

Responsibilities of the management were to prepare and ensure fair presentation of 

consolidated financial statements in accordance with "Regulations Governing the Preparation of 

Financial Reports by Securities Issuers" and the version of International Financial Reporting 

Standards, International Accounting Standards and interpretations thereof approved by the 

Financial Supervisory Commission, and to exercise proper internal control practices that are 

relevant to the preparation of consolidated financial statements so that the consolidated financial 

statements are free of material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error. 

The management's responsibilities when preparing consolidated financial statements also 

involved: assessing the ability of the Group to operate, disclose information, and account for 

transactions as a going concern unless the management intends to liquidate or cease business 

operations, or is compelled to do so with no alternative solution. 

The governing body of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. (including the Audit 

Committee) is responsible for supervising the financial reporting process. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Consolidated Financial 

Statements 

The purposes of our audit were to obtain reasonable assurance of whether the consolidated 

financial statements were prone to material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error, and 

to issue a report of our audit opinions. We considered assurance to be reasonable only if it is 

highly credible. However, audit tasks conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 

principles of the Republic of China do not necessarily guarantee detection of all material 

misstatements within the consolidated financial statements. Misstatements can arise from fraud 

or error. Misstatements are considered material if the individual amount or aggregate total is 

reasonably expected to affect economic decisions of the consolidated financial statement user. 

When conducting audits in accordance with generally accepted audit principles of the 

Republic of China, we exercised judgments and raised doubts as deemed professionally 

appropriate. We also performed the following tasks as an auditor: 

1. Identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement within the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error; designing and executing appropriate response 

measures for the identified risks; and obtaining adequate and appropriate audit evidence to 

support audit opinions. Fraud may involve conspiracy, forgery, intentional omission, 

untruthful declaration, or breach of internal control, and our audit did not find any material 

misstatement where the risk of fraud is greater than the risk of error. 

2. Developing the required level of understanding on relevant internal controls and designing 

audit procedures that are appropriate under the prevailing circumstances, but without providing 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control system of the Group. 

3. Assessed the appropriateness of accounting policies adopted by the management, and the 

rationality of accounting estimates and related disclosures made. 

4. Forming conclusions regarding the appropriateness of management's decision to account for 

the business as a going concern, and whether there are doubts or uncertainties about the ability 

of the Group to operate as a going concern, based on the audit evidence obtained. We are 

bound to remind consolidated financial statement users and make related disclosures if 

material uncertainties exist in regards to the above mentioned events or circumstances, and 

amend audit opinions when the disclosures are no longer appropriate. Our conclusions are 

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of audit report. However, future events or 

circumstances may still render the Group no longer capable of operating as a going concern. 

5. Assessing the overall presentation, structure, and contents of the consolidated financial 

statements (including related footnotes), and whether certain transactions and events are 

presented appropriately in the consolidated financial statements. 

6. Obtaining sufficient and appropriate audit evidence on financial information of individual 

entities within the group, and expressing opinions on consolidated financial statements. Our 

responsibilities as auditor are to instruct, supervise and execute audits and form audit opinions 
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on the group.      

We have communicated with the governing body about the scope, timing and significant 

findings (including significant defects identified in the internal control) of our audit. 

We have also provided the governing body with a declaration of independence stating that 

all relevant personnel of the accounting firm have complied with auditors' professional ethics of 

the Republic of China, and communicated with the governing body on all matters that may affect 

the auditor's independence (including protection measures). 

We have identified the key audit matters after communicating with the governing body 

regarding the 2021 consolidated financial statements of The Group. These issues have been 

addressed in our audit report except for: Certain topics that are prohibited by law from disclosing 

to the public; or Under extreme circumstances, topics that we decided not to communicate in the 

audit report because of higher negative impacts they may cause than the benefits they bring to 

public interest. 

 

 

 

 

Lin, Tzu Shu         Liu, Tzu Meng   

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Taiwan 

March 8, 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

The accompanying parent company only financial statements are not intended to present the 

financial position and results of operations and cash flows in accordance with accounting 

principles generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions other than the Republic of China. The 

standards, procedures and practices in the Republic of China governing the audit of such financial 

statements may differ from those generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions other than the 

Republic of China. Accordingly, the accompanying parent company only financial statements 

and independent auditors’ report are not intended for use by those who are not informed about 

the accounting principles or auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China, and 

their applications in practice.  
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     December 31, 2021   December 31, 2020  
 Assets  Note  Amount   %   Amount   %  

 Current Assets                 

1100 Cash and cash equivalents  6(1)  $ 297,485   14   $ 164,700   8  

1150 Notes receivable, net  6(2) and 12   235,908   12    333,978   17  

1160 Notes receivable - related parties  6(2), 7, and 12   23,020   1    4,794   -  

1170 Accounts receivable, net  6(2) and 12   99,756   5    125,328   7  

1180 Accounts receivable - related parties, 

net 

 6(2), 7, and 12 

  33,780   2    60,106   3  

1200 Other receivables     305   -    2,567   -  

1210 Other receivables - related parties  7   400   -    3,661   -  

1220 Current tax assets  6(24)   -   -    145   -  

130X Inventories  5(2) and 6(3)   701,287   34    615,761   31  

1410 Prepayments     9,427   -    9,173   1  

1476 Other financial assets - current  6(1) and 8   -   -    970   -  

11XX Total Current Assets     1,401,368   68    1,321,183   67  

 Non-Current Assets                 

1535 Financial assets measured at 

amortized costs - non-current 

 6(1)(4) 

  86,915   4    -   -  

1600 Property, plant and equipment  6(5), 7 and 8   485,126   24    514,894   26  

1755 Right-of-use assets  6(6) and 8   28,883   2    31,313   2  

1780 Intangible assets  6(7)   4,647   -    6,518   -  

1840 Deferred tax assets  6(24)   18,988   1    21,889   1  

1915 Prepayments for equipment  6(5)(7)   4,823   -    2,500   -  

1920 Refundable deposits     2,150   -    6,226   -  

1930 Long-term notes and accounts 

receivable 

 6(2)(8) and 12 

  15,222   1    51,060   3  

1940 Long-term notes and accounts 

receivable - related parties 

 6(2), 7, and 12 

  -   -    15,314   1  

1990 Other non-current assets - others     454   -    552   -  

15XX Total Non-Current Assets     647,208   32    650,266   33  

1XXX Total Assets    $ 2,048,576   100   $ 1,971,449   100  
(Continued next page)
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     December 31, 2021   December 31, 2020  

 Liabilities and Equity  Note  Amount   %   Amount   %  

 Current Liabilities                 
2100 Short-term borrowings  6(9) and 8  $ 120,000   6   $ 281,830   14  
2110 Short-term bills payable  6(10)   -   -    39,957   2  
2130 Contract liabilities - current  6(17) and 7   391,189   19    221,352   11  
2150 Notes payable     486   -    273   -  
2160 Notes payable - related parties  7   1,575   -    135   -  
2170 Accounts payable  7   220,516   11    171,177   9  
2200 Other payables  6(11)   85,572   4    73,633   4  
2230 Current tax liabilities  6(24)   11,540   1    8,258   1  
2250 Provisions - Current  6(12)   8,275   -    6,722   -  
2280 Lease liabilities - Current     1,571   -    1,554   -  
21XX Total Current Liabilities     840,724   41    804,891   41  

 Non-Current Liabilities                 
2570 Deferred tax liabilities  6(24)   139,965   7    132,857   7  
2580 Lease liabilities - non-current     13,318   1    14,889   1  
2640 Net defined benefit liabilities - non-

current 
 6(13) 

  28,557   1    26,867   1  

25XX Total Non-Current Liabilities     181,840   9    174,613   9  
2XXX Total Liabilities     1,022,564   50    979,504   50  

 Equity                 

 Share capital                 
3110 Ordinary share capital  6(14)   602,900   29    602,900   30  
3200 Capital surplus  6(15)   259   -    259   -  

 Retained earnings  6(16)               
3310 Statutory reserves     257,463   13    251,571   13  
3320 Special reserve     116,771   6    116,771   6  
3350 Undistributed earnings     104,862   5    74,233   4  
3400 Other equity   (  56,243 ) ( 3 ) (  53,789 ) ( 3 ) 
3XXX Total Equity     1,026,012   50    991,945   50  

 Significant contingent liabilities and 

unrecognized commitments 
 9 

              
3X2X Total Liabilities And Equity    $ 2,048,576   100   $ 1,971,449   100  
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     2021   2020  

Item  Note  Amount   %   Amount   %  

4000 Operating Revenue  6(17) and 7  $ 1,460,987   100   $ 1,221,097   100  

5000 Operating Cost  6(3)(7)(13)(22) 

(23) and 7 (  1,114,239 ) ( 76 ) (  961,488 ) ( 79 ) 

5900 Gross Profit     346,748   24    259,609   21  

 Operating Expenses  6(7)(13)(22)(23), 

7 and 12               

6100 Selling and marketing expenses   (  110,937 ) ( 7 ) (  82,007 ) ( 7 ) 

6200 General and administrative 

expenses 

  

(  96,842 ) ( 7 ) (  88,234 ) ( 7 ) 

6300 Research and development 

expenses 

  

(  61,322 ) ( 4 ) (  44,106 ) ( 3 ) 

6450 Expected credit (loss) reversal     3,272   -  (  421 )  -  

6000 Total operating expenses   (  265,829 ) ( 18 ) (  214,768 ) ( 17 ) 

6900 Operating Profit     80,919   6    44,841   4  

 Non-Operating Income and 

Expense 

  

              

7100 Interest income  6(2)(4)(8)(18)   12,876   1    9,214   1  

7010 Other income  6(19) and 7   30,719   2    30,806   2  

7020 Other gains or losses  6(20), 7 and 12 (  6,901 ) ( 1 ) (  8,055 ) ( 1 ) 

7050 Finance costs  6(5)(6)(21) (  2,833 )  -  (  4,528 )  -  

7000 Total non-operating income 

and expenses 

  

  33,861   2    27,437   2  

7900 Profit before Income Tax     114,780   8    72,278   6  

7950 Income Tax Expense  6(24) (  31,002 ) ( 2 ) (  15,347 ) ( 2 ) 

8200 Net Profit for the Year    $ 83,778   6   $ 56,931   4  

 Other Comprehensive Income 

(Net) 

  

              

 Items that Will Not Be 

Reclassified Subsequently to 

Profit or Loss 

  

              

8311 Remeasurement of defined 

benefit plan 

 6(13) 

( $ 2,548 )  -   $ 2,492   -  

8349 Income tax on items not 

reclassified into profit and loss 

 6(24) 

  509   -  (  498 )  -  

 Items that May Be Reclassified 

Subsequently to Profit or Loss: 

  

              

8361 Exchange Differences in 

Translating the Financial 

Statements of Foreign 

Operations 

  

(  3,047 ) ( 1 )   7,784   1  

8399 Income tax on items that are 

likely to be reclassified into 

profit and loss 

 6(24) 

  593   -  (  1,542 )  -  

8300 Other Comprehensive Income 

(Net) 

  

( $ 4,493 ) ( 1 )  $ 8,236   1  

8500 Total Comprehensive Income for 

the Year 

  

 $ 79,285   5   $ 65,167   5  

            

 Earnings Per Share  6(25)         

9750 Basic    $ 1.39   $ 0.94  

9850 Dilution    $ 1.39   $ 0.94   
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     Capital surplus  Retained earnings  Other equities   

 

Note 

 

Ordinary Share 
Capital 

 

Donated Assets 
Received 

 

Statutory 
Reserves 

 

Special Reserve 

 

Undistributed 
Earnings 

 Exchange 
Differences in 
Translating the 

Financial 
Statements of 

Foreign 
Operations 

 

Total Equity 
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2020                              

  Balance at January 1, 2020    $ 602,900    $ 259    $ 238,594    $ 116,771    $ 130,778   ( $ 60,031 )   $ 1,029,271  

  2020 net income    -    -    -    -    56,931    -    56,931  

  2020 other comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    1,994    6,242    8,236  

  2020 total comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    58,925    6,242    65,167  

  Appropriation and distribution of 2019 earnings:                              

    Statutory reserves    -    -    12,977    -   ( 12,977 )   -    -  

    Cash dividends 6(16)   -    -    -    -   ( 102,493 )   -   ( 102,493 ) 

  Balance as at December 31, 2020    $ 602,900    $ 259    $ 251,571    $ 116,771    $ 74,233   ( $ 53,789 )   $ 991,945  

2021                              

  Balance at January 1, 2021    $ 602,900    $ 259    $ 251,571    $ 116,771    $ 74,233   ( $ 53,789 )   $ 991,945  

  2021 net income    -    -    -    -    83,778    -    83,778  

  2021 other comprehensive income    -    -    -    -   ( 2,039 )  ( 2,454 )  ( 4,493 ) 

  2021 total comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    81,739   ( 2,454 )   79,285  

  Appropriation and distribution of 2020 earnings:                              

    Statutory reserves    -    -    5,892    -   ( 5,892 )   -    -  

    Cash dividends 6(16)   -    -    -    -   ( 45,218 )   -   ( 45,218 ) 

  Balance as at December 31, 2021    $ 602,900    $ 259    $ 257,463    $ 116,771    $ 104,862   ( $ 56,243 )   $ 1,026,012  
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Note 
  

2021 
    

2020  

             

(Continued next page) 
 

- 132 - 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities            

Income before income tax    $ 114,780    $ 72,278  

Adjustments            

Adjustments for reconcile profit or loss:            

Expected credit (loss) reversal  12 (  3,272 )    421  

Inventory devaluation (reversal) loss  6(3) (  2,853 )    14,854  

Depreciation expense  6(5)(6)(22)   44,122     46,716  

(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant 

and equipment 

 6(20) 

  548   (  2,269 ) 

Amortization expense  6(7)(22)   2,851     2,620  

Interest income  6(18) (  12,876 )  (  9,214 ) 

Interest expense  6(21)   2,833     4,528  

Change in assets/liabilities related to 

operating activities 

  

         

Net change in assets related to operating 

activities 

  

         

Notes receivable     101,325   (  87,327 ) 

Notes receivable - related parties   (  22,232 )    1,170  

Accounts receivable     25,756     4,863  

Accounts receivable - related parties     26,339   (  15,273 ) 

Other receivables     2,262     1,089  

Other receivables - related parties     1,276   (  1,676 ) 

Inventories   (  82,572 )    8,675  

Prepayments   (  254 )    13,870  

Long-term notes and accounts 

receivable 

  

  35,838     9,560  

Long-term notes and accounts 

receivable - related parties 

  

  15,314   (  5,597 ) 

Net change in liabilities related to 

operating activities 

  

         

Contract liabilities - current     169,837     88,337  

Notes payable     213   (  4,985 ) 

Notes payable - related parties     1,440     135  

Accounts payable     49,339   (  54,141 ) 

Other payables     12,030   (  19,256 ) 

Provisions - Current     1,553   (  1,622 ) 

Net defined benefit liabilities - non-

current 

  

(  858 )  (  1,026 ) 

Cash inflow from operating activities     482,739     66,730  

Interest received     12,876     9,214  

Interest paid   (  2,883 )  (  4,515 ) 

Interests received     145     5,325  



Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

For periods from January 1 to December 31, 2021 and 2020 
Unit: NTD thousand 

 
  

Note 
  

2021 
    

2020  

             

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the parent company only financial statements. 
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Income tax paid   (  16,644 )  (  24,970 ) 

Net cash inflow from operating activities     476,233     51,784  

Cash Flows from Investing Activities            

Other financial assets - decrease (increase) in 

current assets 
  

 $ 970   ( $ 970 ) 

Financial assets measured at amortized costs - 

increase in non-current assets 
 6(4) 

(  86,915 )    -  

Cash paid for purchase of property, plant, and 

equipment 
 6(26) 

(  4,628 )  (  24,339 ) 

Interests paid on purchase of property, plant, and 

equipment 
 6(5)(21)(26) 

  -   (  28 ) 

Proceeds collected from disposal of property, 

plant, and equipment 
 6(26) 

  6,439     4,494  

Acquisition of intangible assets 
 6(7) (  744 )  (  1,805 ) 

Increase in prepayments for equipment 
  (  11,848 )  (  6,079 ) 

(Increase) decrease in refundable deposits paid 
    4,076   (  4,042 ) 

Decrease in other non-current assets - others 
    98     694  

Net cash used in investing activities 
  (  92,552 )  (  32,075 ) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
           

Borrowing of short-term loan 
 6(27)   540,000     931,830  

Repayment of short-term loan 
 6(27) (  701,830 )  (  862,961 ) 

Increase (decrease) in short-term notes and bills 

payable 
 6(27) 

(  40,000 )    30,000  

Repayment of lease principal 
 6(27) (  1,554 )  (  1,538 ) 

Cash dividends paid 
 6(16) (  45,218 )  (  102,493 ) 

Net cash outflow from financing 

activities 
  

(  248,602 )  (  5,162 ) 

Effects of Exchange Rate Changes on the Balance of 

Cash Held in Foreign Currencies 
  

(  2,294 )    4,714  

Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents for the 

Current Period 
  

  132,785     19,261  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the 

Year 
 6(1) 

  164,700     145,439  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year 
 6(1)  $ 297,485    $ 164,700  
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

Unit: NTD thousand 

(unless specified otherwise) 

 

I. Company History 

(i) Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. (the "Company") was incorporated in March 1974 in 

accordance with The Company Act and relevant laws of the Republic of China. Its main 

business activities include manufacturing, assembly, and trading of machine tools, chemical 

machines, compressors, screw/bolt/nut formers, and parts. The main business items of the 

company's subsidiaries' are explained in detail in Note 4(3) - Basis of consolidation. 

(ii) Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. holds 47.81% equity ownership in the Company, and is the 

ultimate parent. 

II. Financial Statement Approval Date and Procedures 

This consolidated financial report was passed during the board of directors meeting dated March 8, 

2022. 

III. Application of New and Amended Standards and Interpretations 

(i)  Impacts of adopting new and amended IFRSs approved by the Financial  

Supervisory Commission (FSC)  

The following is a list of new/amended/modified IFRSs and interpretations approved by FSC 

that are applicable for the 2021 financial year: 

New/amended/modified standards and interpretations 

 Effective date of IASB 

announcement 

Amendments to IFRS 4 “Extension of the Temporary Exemption 

from Applying IFRS 9” 

 January 1, 2021 

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4, and IFRS 16, 

"Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2" 

 January 1, 2021 

Amendment to IFRS 16 "COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions 

Beyond June 30, 2021". 

 April 1, 2021 (note) 

Note: FSC has given its permission to bring forward the adoption to January 1, 2021. 

After a thorough assessment, the Group expects no material financial or performance impact 

from the above standards and interpretations. 

(ii)  Impacts of adopting new and amended IFRSs not yet approved by FSC 

The following is a list of new/amended/modified IFRSs and interpretations approved by FSC 

that are applicable for the 2022 financial year: 

 

New/amended/modified standards and interpretations 

 Effective date of IASB 

announcement 

Amendments to IFRS 3, "Reference to the Conceptual Framework"  January 1, 2022 

Amendments to IAS 16, "Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds  January 1, 2022 
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before Intended Use" 

Amendments to IAS 37, "Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a 

Contract" 

 

January 1, 2022 

Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020  January 1, 2022 

After a thorough assessment, the Group expects no material financial or performance impact 

from the above standards and interpretations. 

(iii)  Impacts of IFRS changes announced by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) but 

not yet approved by FSC 

The following is a list of new/amended/modified IFRSs announced by IASB but not approved 

by FSC: 

New/amended/modified standards and interpretations 

 Effective date of IASB 

announcement 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 "Sale or contribution of assets 

between an investor and its associate or joint venture”  

 To be determined by 

IASB 

IFRS 17, “Insurance Contracts”  January 1, 2023 

Amendments to IFRS 17, "Insurance Contracts"  January 1, 2023 

Amendment to IFRS 17, "Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 

- Comparative Information" 

 January 1, 2023 

Amendments to IAS 1, "Classification of Liabilities as Current or 

Non-current" 

 

January 1, 2023 

Amendments to IAS 1, "Disclosure of Accounting Policies"  January 1, 2023 

Amendments to IAS 8, "Definition of Accounting Estimates"  January 1, 2023 

Amendment to IAS 12, "Deferred Tax Related to Assets and 

Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction". 

 January 1, 2023 

After a thorough assessment, the Group expects no material financial or performance impact 

from the above standards and interpretations. 

IV. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Below is a summary of significant accounting policies used for the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements. Unless otherwise stated, the following policies were applied consistently in all 

reporting periods. 

(i)  Statement of compliance 

This consolidated financial report has been prepared in accordance with Regulations Governing 

the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and FSC-approved IFRS, IAS and 

interpretations thereof (collectively referred to as IFRSs below). 

(ii)  Basis of preparation 

1. Other than defined benefit liabilities, which are recognized by deducting the present value of 

defined benefit obligations from pension plan assets, the consolidated financial report is 

prepared based on historical costs. 

2. Preparation of FSC-approved IFRSs-compliant consolidated financial report involves some 

use of critical accounting estimates. The management is required to exercise some judgment 

when applying the Group's accounting policies. Please refer to Note 5 critical accounting 

judgments, estimates and key sources of uncertainty assumption for more detailed 

explanations to highly complex and significant assumptions and estimates made in relation 
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to the consolidated financial report. 

(iii)  Basis of consolidation 

1. Basis of preparation for consolidated financial report 

(1) The Group includes all subsidiaries for the preparation of consolidated financial reports. 

A subsidiary refers to an entity (including a structured entity) in which the Group 

exercises control. The Group is considered to exercise control if it is exposed or entitled 

to variable returns generated by the entity and has the power to influence such return. 

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial report from the day the Group 

gains control and removed from the day control is lost. 

(2) Any transactions, balances and unrealized gains/losses between companies of the same 

group have been eliminated. The subsidiaries have made the necessary adjustments to 

align their accounting policies with that of the Group. 

(3) All compositions of profit and loss and other comprehensive income are attributable to 

parent company shareholders and non-controlling shareholders. At the same time, the 

total comprehensive income is also attributable to parent company shareholders and non-

controlling shareholders, even if doing so would cause non-controlling shareholders to 

suffer losses. 

(4) Transfers of equity ownership in a subsidiary with non-controlling shareholders that do 

not result in a loss of control are accounted as equity transactions and treated as 

transactions between business owners. The difference between the adjusted amount in 

non-controlling equity and the fair value of the consideration paid/received is directly 

recognized as equity. 

(5) When the Group loses control in a subsidiary, remaining investments in the former 

subsidiary are remeasured at fair value and presented as the initial fair value of the 

reclassified financial asset or the reclassified associated company's cost or joint venture. 

Differences between the fair value and the book value are recognized in the current period 

of profit and loss. All amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in 

relation to the subsidiary are accounted for on the same basis as if the Group had directly 

disposed of the relevant assets or liabilities. In other words, if gains or losses previously 

recognized in other comprehensive income are to be reclassified from equity into profit 

and loss upon disposal of relevant assets or liabilities, such gains or losses shall be 

reclassified into profit and loss when the Group loses control in the subsidiary. 

2. Subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial report 

      Shareholding percentage   

Name of Investor  Name of Subsidiary  Business Activities  

December 31, 

 2021  

December 31, 

 2020  Explanation 

Chun Zu Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. 

 Lion City 

Management Ltd. 

 Professional 

investment 

institution 

 100.00  100.00  － 

Lion City 

Management Ltd. 

 Shanghai Chun Zu 

Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. 

 Manufacturing and 

trading of 

machinery 

 100.00  100.00  － 

3. Subsidiaries not included in the consolidated financial statements: None. 

4. Methods for aligning subsidiaries' accounting periods: None. 

5. Significant limitations: None. 
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6. Subsidiaries with non-controlling owners that are significant to the Group: None. 

(iv)  Foreign currency conversion 

All items listed in the financial report of every entity within the Group are measured using the 

currency of the main economic environment where the respective entity operates (i.e. the 

functional currency). This consolidated financial report is presented using the Company's 

functional currency - "NTD." 

1. Foreign currency transaction and balance 

(1) Foreign currency transactions are converted into the functional currency using the spot 

exchange rate as at the transaction date or measurement date. Differences arising from 

the conversion of such transactions are recognized in current profit and loss. 

(2) Balances of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

converted using the spot exchange rate as at the balance sheet date. Differences arising 

from exchange rate fluctuation are recognized as current period gain or loss. 

(3) For non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, those that are 

carried at fair value through profit and loss will have balances converted using the spot 

exchange rate as at the balance sheet date, and any exchange differences arising from 

the adjustment will be recognized in current profit and loss; those that are carried at fair 

value through other comprehensive income will have balances converted using the spot 

exchange rate as at the balance sheet date, and any exchange differences arising from 

the adjustment will be recognized in other comprehensive income; those that are not 

carried at fair value will have balances converted using the historical exchange rate 

applicable at the time when the transaction was initiated. 

(4) All gains and losses on exchange are presented as "Other gains and losses" in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

2. Currency conversion for foreign operations 

(1) For associated companies that have functional currency different from the presentation 

currency, performance results and financial position are converted into the presentation 

currency using the following methods: 

A. Every asset and liability in the balance sheet is converted using the exchange rate as 

at the balance sheet date; 

B. Every income, expense and loss in the statement of comprehensive income is 

converted using the average exchange rate for the given period; and 

C. All exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

(2) In a partial disposal or sale of a foreign subsidiary, cumulative exchange differences 

previously recognized under Other comprehensive income are reclassified 

proportionally and made attributable to non-controlling shareholders of a foreign 

operation. However, if the Group still retains partial equity ownership but loses control 

over the former subsidiary, the exchange differences are accounted as if the Company 

has disposed of all equity of the foreign operation. 

(v)  Classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities 

1. Assets that satisfy any of the following criteria are classified as current assets: 

(1) Assets that are expected to be realized, or intended to be sold or consumed, over the 

normal operating cycle. 

(2) Held mainly for the purpose of trading. 
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(3) Assets that are expected to be realized within 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

(4) Cash or cash equivalents, except those that will be swapped or used to repay liabilities at 

least 12 months from the balance sheet date, and those with restricted uses. 

The Group classifies all assets that do not satisfy the above criteria as non-current assets. 

2. Liabilities that satisfy any of the following criteria are classified as current liabilities: 

(1) Liabilities that are expected to be settled over the normal operating cycle. 

(2) Held mainly for the purpose of trading. 

(3) Liabilities that are due to be settled within 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

(4) Liabilities with repayment terms that can not be extended unconditionally for more than 

12 months after the balance sheet date. Classification of liability is unaffected even if 

there are terms that give counterparties the option to be repaid in equity instruments. 

The Group classifies all liabilities that do not satisfy the above criteria as non-current 

liabilities. 

(vi)  Cash equivalents 

1. Cash equivalent refers to short-term and highly liquid investments that are readily 

convertible into known amounts of cash and are prone to an insignificant risk of value 

changes. 

2. Time deposits that meet the abovementioned definitions and are held for the purpose of 

meeting short-term cash commitments are stated as cash equivalents. 

(vii)  Financial assets measured at amortized costs 

1. refers to those which meet the following conditions at the same time: 

(1) The financial asset is held under the business model for the purpose of collecting 

contractual cash flow. 

(2) The contractual terms of the financial asset generate cash flow on a specific date, which 

is entirely the payment of principal and interest on the outstanding principal amount. 

2. The Group holds time deposits that do not conform to cash equivalents; due to the short 

holding period, the impact of discount is insignificant, and they are measured by the amount 

of investment. 

(viii)  Accounts and notes receivable 

1. Refers to accounts and notes that the Company may collect unconditionally as consideration 

for the transfer of merchandise or rendering of service, according to the terms of the 

respective contracts. 

2. The Group recognizes initial balance at fair value; subsequent interest income is recognized 

using the effective interest method and amortized over the duration of the outstanding 

balance. Impairment losses are recognized when incurred. All gains and losses associated 

with the account are recognized through profit and loss. However, short-term accounts and 

notes receivable that bear no interest are subsequently measured at the original invoice 

amount as the effect of discounting is insignificant. 

(ix)  Impairment of financial assets 

Accounts receivable or contract assets with significant financing components are evaluated on 
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every balance sheet date by taking into account all reasonable and verifiable information 

(including prospective information). Assets that exhibit no significant increase in credit risk 

after initial recognition have loss reserves measured based on 12-month expected credit loss; 

those that exhibit a significant increase in credit risk after initial recognition have loss reserves 

measured based on expected credit loss over the remaining duration. Accounts receivable or 

contract assets that do not contain significant financing components have loss reserves 

measured based on expected credit loss over the remaining duration. 

(x)  Removal of financial assets 

Financial assets that satisfy any of the following criteria are removed: 

1. When entitlement to contractual cash inflow has ended. 

2. When the contractual right to collect cash flow on the financial asset has been transferred 

along with virtually all risks and returns associated with ownership of the financial asset. 

3. When the contractual right to collect cash flow on the financial asset has been transferred, 

the Company does not retain control over the financial asset. 

(xi)  Inventories 

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The amount in cost is 

determined using the weighted average method. The cost of finished goods and work-in-

progress includes raw material, direct labor, other direct costs and production-related 

overheads (allocated based on normal production capacity) but excludes borrowing costs. 

The lower of cost or net realizable value is compared on an item-by-item basis. Net realizable 

value refers to the remainder of the estimated selling price after deducting variable selling 

expenses over the normal operating cycle and estimated costs to completion. 

(xii)  Property, plant and equipment 

1. All property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost; all interests incurred during 

construction are capitalized. 

2. Subsequent costs incurred are added to book value or recognized as separate assets only 

when future economic benefits associated with the costs are likely to be realized by the 

Group. Such costs can be reliably measured. Book values of replaced components are 

removed from the balance sheet. All other maintenance expenses are recognized in current 

profit and loss when incurred. 

3. Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured using the cost method, with 

depreciation recognized over the estimated useful life using the straight-line method 

except for land, which is not depreciated. Significant compositions of property, plant, and 

equipment are depreciated separately. 

4. The Group reviews the residual value, useful life and depreciation method of all assets at 

the end of each financial year. If the residual value or useful life differs from the previous 

estimate, or if there is any material change to how an asset's future economic benefit is 

realized, the difference would be treated as a change in accounting estimate according to 

IAS 8 - "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors" from the day 

the change occurs. The useful lives of various asset categories are as follows:  
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Name of Asset  Useful Life 

Buildings   
- Main plant buildings  16〜51 years 

- Others  5〜36 years 

Machinery  4〜11 years 

Utility equipment  5〜16 years 

Transport equipment  4〜7 years 

Office equipment  3〜10 years 

Other equipment  3〜11 years 

 

(xiii)  Lease transaction as a lessee - right-of-use assets/lease liabilities 

1. The Group recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the day lease asset 

becomes available for use. For short-term lease and lease of low-value asset, lease 

payments are expensed using the straight-line method over the lease tenor. 

2. Lease liability is recognized on the lease start date as the present value of outstanding lease 

payments discounted at the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments include: 

(1) Regular payments, less any lease incentives receivable; 

(2) Penalties that have to be paid upon termination of the lease, if the lease tenor reflects 

the lessee's intent to exercise the termination option. 

Leases are subsequently measured at cost after amortization using the interest approach 

with interest expenses provided over the lease tenor. Lease liabilities will be re-evaluated 

for any change in lease tenor or lease payment that is not caused by modification of 

contract terms. In which case, the amount in remeasurement will be adjusted to right-of-

use assets. 

3. Right-of-use assets are recognized at cost on the lease start date. The cost includes: 

(1) Initial measured amount in lease liability; 

(2) Any lease payment made on or before the lease start date; 

(3) Any direct cost incurred at initiation; and 

(4) Estimated cost to dismantle, remove, and restore the underlying asset at its original 

location or to restore the underlying asset to the state specified in terms and conditions 

of the lease agreement.  

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured using the cost approach with depreciation 

expenses provided over the useful life or lease tenor, whichever expires the earlier. When 

lease liability is re-assessed, the right-of-use asset is adjusted for any remeasurement made 

to lease liability.  

(xiv)  Intangible asset 

Computer software is carried at acquisition cost and amortized using the straight-line method 

over an estimated useful life of 3-6 years. 

(xv)  Impairment of non-financial assets 

For assets that show signs of impairment on the balance sheet date, the Group first estimates 

the recoverable amount in such assets. It recognizes impairment losses if the recoverable 

amount is lower than the book value. The recoverable amount refers to the higher of an asset's 
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fair value net of disposal cost or its utilization value. Impairment losses previously 

recognized can be reversed if asset impairment no longer exists or has been reduced. 

However, the reversal of impairment loss shall not increase the asset's book value above the 

amount in book value after depreciation/amortization if the impairment loss had not occurred 

in the first place. 

(xvi)  Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognized at fair value less transaction costs at initiation. Any subsequent 

differences between proceeds net of transaction cost and the redemption value are recognized 

as interest expenses in profit and loss using the effective interest rate method over the 

duration of the borrowing. 

(xvii)  Accounts and notes payable 

Refers to liabilities arising from purchases of raw material, merchandise, or service on credit 

and notes payable on operating and non-operating activities. However, short-term accounts 

and notes payable that bear no interest are subsequently measured at the original invoice 

amount as the effect of discounting is insignificant. 

(xviii)  Removal of financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are removed when the Group's contractual obligations have been fulfilled, 

canceled or are expired. 

(xix) Provisions 

Provisions are obligations that the Company is legally liable or deemed liable to fulfill due 

to a past event. The Company is very likely to incur an outflow of economic benefit or 

resource to settle such an obligation. Provisions are recognized when the amount in 

obligation can be estimated reliably. Provisions represent the Company's best estimate of the 

present value of all future obligations that the Company is liable to settle as at the balance 

sheet date. The discount rate used is a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the market's current 

perception of the time value of currency and risks associated with the specific liability. The 

amount in discount is amortized and recognized as an interest expense. No provision is made 

on future operating losses. 

(xx) Employee benefits 

1. Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are measured as non-discounted amounts expected to be 

paid in the future and are recognized as expenses when relevant service is rendered. 

2. Pension 

(1)  Defined contribution plan 

For defined contribution plans, the contributions payable to pension funds are 

recognized as pension costs in the year that occurred on an accrual basis. Prepaid 

contributions that are refundable in cash or can be offset against future payments are 

recognized as assets. 

(2)  Defined benefit plan 

A. Net obligations under a defined benefit plan are calculated by discounting 

employees' future benefits earned from current or previous services rendered. By 
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deducting the fair value of plan assets from the present value of defined benefit 

obligations at the balance sheet. Net defined benefit obligations are calculated 

by actuaries on a yearly basis using the projected unit credit method. The 

discount rate is determined in reference to the market yield of government bonds 

of the same currency and equivalent tenor as the defined benefit plan (as at the 

balance sheet date). 

B. Remeasurement of defined benefit plan is recognized in other comprehensive 

income in the period occurred, and presented under retained earnings. 

3. Employee and director remuneration 

Employees' and directors' remuneration are recognized as expense and liability when the 

Company becomes legally obligated or is deemed obligated to pay, and that the amount 

can be reasonably estimated. Any differences between the amount estimated and the 

amount resolved/paid are treated as a change of accounting estimate. Where employee 

remuneration is paid in shares, the number of shares payable is calculated according to 

IFRS 2 - "Share-based Payment," which requires the use of valuation techniques to 

determine the fair value of such payment. 

(xxi) Income tax 

1. Income tax expenses include current and deferred income tax. Income taxes are 

recognized in profit and loss, except for certain items that must be recognized in other 

comprehensive income or presented directly as equity items. 

2. The Group calculates current income tax using statutory tax rate applicable at countries 

of operation and generates taxable income as at the balance sheet date. The 

management regularly assesses income tax filing based on applicable income tax laws 

and estimates income tax liabilities for the estimated amount in tax payable to the 

authority. Unappropriated earnings are subject to additional income tax according to 

the Income Tax Act. This additional tax is recognized in the year after earning is 

generated, when the earnings appropriation proposal is passed in a shareholder meeting. 

The amount in earnings retained can be ascertained. 

3. Deferred income tax is accounted using the balance sheet method and recognized on 

taxable temporary differences that arise between the taxable basis and book value of 

assets and liabilities shown in the consolidated balance sheet. Deferred income tax 

liabilities are not recognized upon initial recognition of goodwill. No deferred income 

tax liability is recognized upon initial recognition of an asset or liability (except in the 

case of business combination) if, at the time of the transaction, it affects neither 

accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). Temporary differences arising from 

investment in subsidiaries are not recognized as income tax asset/liability if the Group 

is able to control the timing at which temporary difference is reversed and that the 

temporary difference is unlikely to be reversed in the foreseeable future. Deferred 

income taxes are calculated using the tax rate (and tax law) applicable on the day 

deferred income tax assets/liabilities are expected to be realized/settled, based on 

prevailing laws as at the balance sheet date. 

4. Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that temporary differences are 

likely to offset future taxable income. Unrecognized and recognized deferred income 

tax assets are re-assessed on each balance sheet date. 

5. The Company will offset current income tax assets against current income tax liability 
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and settle on a netted basis or realize both at the same time only if it intends and is 

legally entitled to do so. The Company will offset deferred income tax assets against 

deferred income tax liabilities and settle on a netted basis or realize both at the same 

time only if it has the intent and is legally entitled to do so, and that the deferred income 

tax assets/liabilities are attributable to the same tax authority and the same taxpayer, or 

different taxpayers with a mutual intent to settle on a netted basis. 

(xxii) Share capital 

Common share capital is classified as equity. Costs directly associated with the issuance 

of new shares or warrants are presented net of income tax under equity as a contra item to 

the proceeds received. 

(xxiii) Dividend distribution 

When allocating dividends to shareholders, the Company recognizes cash dividends as a 

liability on its financial report when the board of directors passes the resolution. It 

recognizes stock dividends pending distribution when the resolution is passed in a 

shareholder meeting and recognizes additional common share capital on the baseline date 

of new shares. 

(xxiv) Revenue recognition 

Sale of product 

1. Sales revenues are recognized when control of the product is transferred to the customer; 

or in other words, when product is delivered to the customer and the Group has no 

outstanding obligation that would otherwise prevent the customer from accepting or 

exercising rights over the product. 

2. Sales revenues are recognized at contract price net of estimated sales tax, sales return, 

and discount. Revenues are recognized to the extent that significant reversal is highly 

unlikely to occur in the future; the likelihood of reversal is re-evaluated and updated 

on each balance sheet date. Sales proceeds are collected according to the terms of 

individual sales contract for machinery and equipment, including 1~2 years for 

installment sales (1~3 years in 2020), or 3~4 months for parts and accessories. 

3. Accounts receivable are recognized when products are delivered to the customer 

because this is the point of time when the Group gains unconditional rights to 

contractual proceeds and is entitled to collect consideration from customers simply 

through the passage of time. 

(xxv) Government subsidies 

Government subsidies are recognized at fair value when the Company has reasonable 

assurance towards fulfilling the government's subsidy criteria and receiving the subsidy. 

For government subsidies aimed to reimburse expenses incurred, the Group will recognize 

government subsidies through current profit and loss in a systematic manner when 

relevant expenses are incurred. 

(xxvi) Operating segments 

The Group's segment information is prepared according to what the decision makers rely 

on for internal management. The decision maker is responsible for allocating resources to 

various operating segments and evaluating performance. 
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V. Critical Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Key Sources of Uncertainty Assumption 

The management had exercised judgment to determine which accounting policies to adopt when 

preparing the consolidated financial report. It made accounting estimates and assumptions based on 

prevailing circumstances and reasonable expectations toward future events as at the balance sheet 

date. The critical accounting estimates and assumptions made can differ from the actual result, which 

the management will continually evaluate and adjust based on historical experience and other factors. 

These estimates and assumptions may result in significant adjustments to the book value of assets and 

liabilities in the next financial year. Uncertainties associated with critical accounting judgments, 

estimates, and assumptions are explained below: 

(i)  Critical judgments adopted for accounting policies 

None. 

(ii)  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

Valuation of inventory 

Since inventory is presented at the lower of cost or net realizable value, the Group is required 

to exercise judgment and make estimates in order to determine the net realizable value of 

inventory as at the balance sheet date. Due to changes in market demand and technology, the 

Group would assess inventory at each balance sheet date for any decrease in sales value due to 

normal wear, obsolescence, or absence of market demand, and reduce inventory cost to net 

realizable value accordingly. This inventory valuation is done by estimating product demand 

within a specific period of time in the future, which may give rise to significant changes. 

Book value of the Group's inventory as at December 31, 2021 totaled $701,287. 

VI. Notes to Major Accounts 

(i)  Cash and cash equivalents 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Cash:      
Petty cash $ 309  $ 468 

Check deposit  626   628 

Demand deposit  290,811   157,708 

  291,746   158,804 

Cash equivalents:      
Time deposit  5,739   5,896 

 $ 297,485  $ 164,700 

1. All financial institutions that the Group deals with are of strong credit background. The Group 

also diversifies credit risk by dealing with multiple financial institutions at the same time and 

therefore is unlikely to suffer from the default of a financial institution. 

2. The Group transferred the fixed deposit of $86,915 with a maturity of more than one year to 

"financial assets measured at amortized cost - non current" on December 31, 2021. There 

was no such transaction on December 31, 2020. 

3. The Company participated in the Foundational R&D Program of the Ministry of Economic 

Affairs on December 31, 2020, and was required to present a banker's guarantee to serve as 

a performance bond. Restrictions were placed on $970 of cash and cash equivalents for this 

purpose, and the restricted cash was presented as "Other financial assets - current." As at 

December 31, 2021, the Company had not placed any cash or cash equivalent as collateral. 
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(ii)  Notes and accounts receivable, net 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Notes receivable $ 166,903  $ 258,309 
Installment notes receivable  74,361   84,983 

  241,264   343,292 
Less: Unrealized interest income ( 5,104)  ( 5,807) 

Loss provisions ( 252)  ( 3,507) 

 $ 235,908  $ 333,978 

Accounts receivable $ 71,401  $ 92,945 
Installment accounts receivable  31,755   35,890 

  103,156   128,835 
Less: Unrealized interest income ( 1,047)  ( 970) 

Loss provisions ( 2,353)  ( 2,537) 

 $ 99,756  $ 125,328 

 

1. Notes and accounts receivable (including related parties) aging analysis: 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

 Notes 

receivable 
 Accounts 

receivable 
 Notes 

receivable 
 Accounts 

receivable 

Current $ 264,896  $ 130,475  $ 348,087  $ 178,924 
Overdue within 30 

days  -   1,430   -   9,709 
Overdue between 

31~90 days  -   4,130   -   3,343 
Overdue between 

91~180 days  -   534   -   629 
Overdue for 181 days 

and above  -   1,567   -   29 

 $ 264,896  $ 138,136  $ 348,087  $ 192,634 

 

The above aging analysis has been prepared based on the number of days overdue. 

2. Balances of notes and accounts receivable (including related parties) as at December 31, 2021 

and 2020 arose entirely from contractual arrangements with customers. Balance of 

contractual proceeds receivable from customers (including related parties) as at January 1, 

2020 was $436,425. 

3. The Group assesses that some notes receivable (bank acceptance notes) transferred to other 

parties by endorsement meet the requirements for the exclusion from financial assets. If the 

acceptor (acceptance bank) refuses to pay when due, the Group has the obligation of the 

endorser to pay off. However, the credit rating of the acceptor above (acceptance bank) is 

high, and the Group does not expect the acceptor (acceptance bank) to refuse to pay under 

general circumstances. The Group's excluded notes receivable (bank acceptance notes) that 

have been endorsed and transferred to other parties but not yet due on December 31, 2021 

and 2020 were $19,941 and $8,893 respectively. 

4. The Group had not placed accounts receivable as collateral as at December 31, 2021 and 

2020. 
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5. In the absence of collaterals and other credit enhancements, maximum credit risk exposure is 

represented by the book value of notes and accounts receivable as at December 31, 2021 and 

2020. 

6. In 2021 and 2020, the total amount of the interest income (from installment notes receivable, 

installment accounts receivable, and long-term notes and accounts receivable) recognized 

through profit and loss was $12,222 and $8,795 respectively. 

7. For credit risk information on notes and accounts receivable, please refer to Note 12(2) 

Financial instruments. 

(iii)  Inventories 

 December 31, 2021 

 Cost  Allowance for Devaluation  Book Value 

Raw materials $ 154,397  ($ 25,753)  $ 128,644 

Supplies  66,315  ( 10,371)   55,944 

Work-in-progress  516,082  ( 23,556)   492,526 

Finished goods  33,453  ( 9,280)   24,173 

 $ 770,247  ($ 68,960)  $ 701,287 

 

  

 December 31, 2020 

 Cost  Allowance for 

Devaluation 
 Book amount 

Raw materials $ 121,194  ($ 22,742)  $ 98,452 

Supplies  61,415  ( 10,399)   51,016 

Work-in-progress  445,061  ( 29,600)   415,461 

Finished goods  60,005  ( 9,173)   50,832 

 $ 687,675  ($ 71,914)  $ 615,761 

 

Cost of inventory recognized as expenses or losses in the current period: 

 2021  2020 

Cost of inventory sold $ 1,108,081  $ 946,800 

Warranty cost  10,890  ( 252) 

Processing cost   -   224 

Inventory devaluation (reversal) loss (note) ( 2,853)   14,854 

Loss on stock-take   -   36 

Income from the sale of scraps and waste ( 1,928)  ( 524) 

Other operating costs  49   350 

 $ 1,114,239  $ 961,488 

(Note) In 2021, the Group sold and used the inventories that had been provided for devaluation 

losses in previous years, resulting in a gain from inventory devaluation reversal, which 

was recognized as a deduction of cost of goods sold. 

(iv)  Financial assets measured at amortized costs 

Item    December 31, 2021 

Non-current items     
Time deposits maturing in more than one 

year 
  

$ 86,915 
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There was no such transaction on December 31, 2020. 

1. The Group's interest income recognized in the current profit and loss from financial assets 

measured at amortized cost in 2021 was $152. 

2. In the absence of collaterals and other credit enhancements, maximum credit risk exposure is 

represented by the book value of notes and accounts receivable as at December 31, 2021. 

3. For credit risk information on notes and accounts receivable, please refer to Note 12(2) 

Financial instruments. 
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(v)  Property, plant and equipment 

 
Land  Buildings  Machinery  

Utility 

Equipment  
Transport 

Equipment  
Office 

Equipment  
Other 

Equipment  Total 
January 1, 2021                        
Cost $ 193,599  $ 448,392  $ 399,984  $ 22,306  $ 25,844  $ 15,175  $ 22,304  $ 1,127,604 
Accumulated 

depreciation  -  ( 247,156)  ( 302,348)  ( 13,190)  ( 19,005)  ( 11,452)  ( 19,559)  ( 612,710) 

 $ 193,599  $ 201,236  $ 97,636  $ 9,116  $ 6,839  $ 3,723  $ 2,745  $ 514,894 

2021                        
January 1 $ 193,599  $ 201,236  $ 97,636  $ 9,116  $ 6,839  $ 3,723  $ 2,745  $ 514,894 
Addition  -   1,152   367   -   2,065   227   819   4,630 
Reclassification from 

prepayment for 

equipment purchase  -   -   9,110   -   151   -   -   9,261 
Depreciation expense  -  ( 14,901)  ( 21,165)  ( 1,074)  ( 2,220)  ( 1,493)  ( 912)  ( 41,765) 
Disposal - Cost  -  ( 6,724)  ( 6,604)  ( 1,373)  ( 3,081)  ( 1,110)  ( 717)  ( 19,609) 

Accumulated 

depreciation  -   6,724   6,303   1,373   2,419   1,071   717   18,607 
Net exchange difference  -  ( 467)  ( 385)   -  ( 17)  ( 13)  ( 10)  ( 892) 
December 31 $ 193,599  $ 187,020  $ 85,262  $ 8,042  $ 6,156  $ 2,405  $ 2,642  $ 485,126 

December 31, 2021                        
Cost $ 193,599  $ 441,691  $ 401,489  $ 20,934  $ 24,920  $ 14,230  $ 22,368  $ 1,119,231 
Accumulated 

depreciation  -  ( 254,671)  ( 316,227)  ( 12,892)  ( 18,764)  ( 11,825)  ( 19,726)  ( 634,105) 

 $ 193,599  $ 187,020  $ 85,262  $ 8,042  $ 6,156  $ 2,405  $ 2,642  $ 485,126 
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Land  Buildings  Machinery  
Utility 

Equipment  
Transport 

Equipment  
Office 

Equipment  
Other 

Equipment  

Equipment 

Pending 

Inspection 

and 

Construction 

in Progress  Total 
January 1, 2020                           
Cost $ 193,599  $ 416,761  $ 420,181  $ 14,619  $ 26,612  $ 13,893  $ 22,918  $ 29,827  $ 1,138,410 
Accumulated depreciation  -  ( 230,111)  ( 306,528)  ( 12,349)  ( 19,238)  ( 10,489)  ( 20,512)   -  ( 599,227) 

 $ 193,599  $ 186,650  $ 113,653  $ 2,270  $ 7,374  $ 3,404  $ 2,406  $ 29,827  $ 539,183 

2020                           
January 1 $ 193,599  $ 186,650  $ 113,653  $ 2,270  $ 7,374  $ 3,404  $ 2,406  $ 29,827  $ 539,183 
Addition  -   781   10,573   -   1,632   861   904   5,254   20,005 
Reclassification from 

inspection  -   27,369   -   7,712   -   -   -  ( 35,081)   - 
Reclassification from 

prepayment for 

equipment purchase  -   -   4,860   -   -   470   255   -   5,585 
Depreciation expense  -  ( 15,112)  ( 24,827)  ( 866)  ( 1,786)  ( 1,023)  ( 752)   -  ( 44,366) 
Disposal - Cost  -  ( 412)  ( 40,259)  ( 25)  ( 2,610)  ( 250)  ( 1,893)   -  ( 45,449) 

Accumulated 

depreciation  -   405   32,567   25   2,199   235   1,808   -   37,239 
Net exchange difference  -   1,555   1,069   -   30   26   17   -   2,697 
December 31 $ 193,599  $ 201,236  $ 97,636  $ 9,116  $ 6,839  $ 3,723  $ 2,745  $ -  $ 514,894 

December 31, 2020                           
Cost $ 193,599  $ 448,392  $ 399,984  $ 22,306  $ 25,844  $ 15,175  $ 22,304  $ -  $ 1,127,604 
Accumulated depreciation  -  ( 247,156)  ( 302,348)  ( 13,190)  ( 19,005)  ( 11,452)  ( 19,559)   -  ( 612,710) 

 $ 193,599  $ 201,236  $ 97,636  $ 9,116  $ 6,839  $ 3,723  $ 2,745  $ -  $ 514,894 
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1. All property, plant, and equipment as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 were utilized by the 

Group. 

2. Amount and rate of capitalized interest for property, plant and equipment: 

 2020 

Amount capitalized $ 28 

Capitalization rate range  1.12% 

There was no such transaction in 2021. 

3. Please refer to Note 8 “Pledged asset”s for information on property, plant and equipment 

placed as collateral as at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

(vi)  Leases - as a lessee 

1. Land (including land at Dayong Section, Gangshan District, Kaohsiung City, and right-of-

use of land in Baihe Town, Shanghai, The People's Republic of China) was the asset leased 

by the Group. Tenor of the lease contracts ranged from 12 to 50 years. Lease contracts were 

individually negotiated and drafted with different terms and conditions with no additional 

restriction. 

2. Book value of right-of-use assets and recognized amounts of depreciation expense are 

presented below: 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

 Book Value  Book Value 

Land $ 28,883  $ 31,313 

 
2021 

 
2020 

 Depreciation Expense  Depreciation Expense 

Land $ 2,357  $ 2,350 

3. Additional amounts of right-of-use assets in 2021 and 2020 were both $-. 

4. Income and expenses relating to lease agreements are presented below: 

 
2021 

 
2020 

Current income/expense accounts 

affected 
     

Interest expense from lease liabilities 
$ 166  $ 182 

5. Amounts of cash outflow incurred from leases in 2021 and 2020 were both $1,720. 

6. Refer to Note 8 “Pledged assets” for details on right-of-use assets the Group placed as 

collaterals as at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
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(vii)  Intangible asset 

 2021  2020 

January 1      
Original cost $ 20,316  $ 18,180 
Accumulated amortization ( 13,798)  ( 11,096) 

 $ 6,518  $ 7,084 

January 1 $ 6,518  $ 7,084 
Addition  744   1,805 
Reclassification from prepayment for 

equipment purchase  264   192 
Amortization ( 2,851)  ( 2,620) 
Reduction - Cost ( 7,428)   - 

- Accumulated amortization  7,428   - 
Net exchange difference ( 28)   57 
December 31 $ 4,647  $ 6,518 

December 31      
Original cost $ 13,848  $ 20,316 
Accumulated amortization ( 9,201)  ( 13,798) 

 $ 4,647  $ 6,518 

 

1. There was no capitalization of interest in 2021 or 2020. 

2. Detailed breakdown on amortization of intangible assets: 

 2021  2020 

Operating cost $ 438  $ 217 
Selling and marketing expenses  191   189 
Management expenses  802   852 

Research and development expenses  1,420   1,362 

 $ 2,851  $ 2,620 

 

3. The Group had not placed intangible assets as collateral as at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

(viii)  Long-term notes and accounts receivable 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Long-term notes receivable $ 15,094  $ 49,179 
Long-term installment accounts 

receivable  2,733   8,171 

  17,827   57,350 
Less: Unrealized interest income ( 2,605)  ( 6,290) 

 $ 15,222  $ 51,060 

 

1. All of the Group's long-term notes and accounts receivable have been granted according to a 
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set of credit standards developed based on counterparties' industry characteristics, business 

size, and profitability. 

2. The Group did not have any long-term notes receivable or long-term installment accounts 

receivable (including related parties) that were overdue as at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

3. Balances of long-term notes receivable and long-term installment accounts receivable 

(including related parties) as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 arose entirely from contractual 

arrangements with customers. Balance of long-term notes and accounts receivable (including 

related parties) from customers as at January 1, 2020 was $77,317. 

4. For details on interest income recognized in profit and loss in 2021 and 2020, please refer to 

Note 6(2) - Notes and accounts receivable. 

5. The Group had not placed long-term accounts receivable as collateral as at December 31, 

2021 and 2020. 

6. In the absence of collaterals and other credit enhancements, maximum credit risk exposure is 

represented by the book value of long-term notes receivable and long-term installment 

accounts receivable as at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

7. For credit risk information on long-term notes and accounts receivable, please refer to Note 

12(2) - Financial instruments. 

(ix)  Short-term borrowings 

Nature of Loan  December 31, 2021  
Interest Rate 

Range  Collateral 
Bank loans        

Unsecured loans  $ 120,000  0.52%〜0.98%  None 

Nature of Loan  December 31, 2020  
Interest Rate 

Range  Collateral 
Bank loans        

Unsecured loans  $ 260,000  0.77%〜1.07%  None 

Secured loans  $ 21,830  4.05%  Note 

  $ 281,830     

 

(Note) Please refer to Note 8 - Pledged assets for more details on collaterals placed for the above 

short-term borrowings. 

1. For details on interest expense recognized in profit and loss in 2021 and 2020, please refer to 

Note 6(21) - Finance costs. 

2. Subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. had signed a secured loan 

agreement that imposes key performance criteria on the subsidiary's financial statements. 

Please see Note 9(2) for more details. 
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(x)  Short-term bills payable 

 
December 31, 2020  

Range of Issuing 

Interest Rate  Collateral or Security 
Commercial paper 

payable $ 40,000  
1.04%  None 

Less: Unamortized 

discount ( 43)  
   

 $ 39,957     

There was no such transaction on December 31, 2021. 

1. The commercial paper payable shown above was guaranteed by Mega Bills Finance Co., Ltd., 

and issued for short-term financing. 

2. For details on interest expense recognized in profit and loss in 2021 and 2020, please refer to 

Note 6(21) - Finance costs. 

(xi)Other payables 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Salary and bonus payable $ 34,598  $ 30,250 
Commission payable  18,513   11,360 
Provision for employee benefits payable  6,486   4,814 
Directors' remuneration payable  2,059   1,394 
Employees’ remuneration payable  2,059   1,394 
Others  21,857   24,421 

 $ 85,572  $ 73,633 

 

(xii)Provisions - Current 

Warranty Reserves  2021  2020 

Balance on January 1  $ 6,722  $ 8,344 
New provisions   11,876   5,179 
Provisions used  ( 9,337)  ( 1,370) 
Reversal of unused 

provisions 
 

( 986)  ( 5,431) 
Balance on December 31  $ 8,275  $ 6,722 

 

Warranty reserves are related to the sale of machinery; the amount in which is estimated 

based on historical warranty information of the product concerned. 

(xiii)Pension 

1. The Company has implemented a defined benefit pension plan in accordance with the 

"Labor Standards Act" of the Republic of China. The plan takes into account years of 

service of all permanent employees accumulated prior to the "Labor Pension Act" 

implemented on July 1, 2005, as well as years of service of employees who continue to 
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opt for the legacy pension scheme mentioned under the "Labor Standards Act" after the 

new "Labor Pension Act" came into effect. The Company pays pension benefits based on 

employees' years of service and their 6-month average salary prior to retirement for 

employees who meet the retirement criteria. Employees are awarded 2 basis points for 

every year of service up to (including) 15 years and 1 basis point for every year of service 

above 15 years, subject to a maximum of 45 basis points. The Company makes monthly 

pension contributions equivalent to 15% of employees' monthly gross salaries. These 

contributions are deposited into the dedicated account held with the Bank of Taiwan in 

the name of the Labor Pension Supervisory Committee. The Company also evaluates the 

balance of the labor pension fund account before the end of each year. In the event that 

the account is estimated to be short of balance to pay the amount in estimated pension 

benefits to workers who are expected to meet their retirement criteria in the following 

year, the Company is required to reimburse the shortfall in one contribution before March 

the following year. Below are disclosures relating to the above defined benefit plan: 

(1) Amounts recognized in the balance sheet are as follows: 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Present value of defined benefit 

obligations $ 60,079  $ 68,926 
Fair value of plan assets ( 31,522)  ( 42,059) 
Net defined benefit obligations $ 28,557  $ 26,867 

 

(2) Changes in net defined benefit liability: 

 
Present Value of 

Defined Benefit 

Obligations  
Fair Value of Plan 

Assets  
Net Defined Benefit 

Liabilities 
2021         

Balance on January 1 $ 68,926  ($ 42,059)  $ 26,867 
Current period 

service costs  260       260 
Interest expense 

(income)  340  (_ 209)   131 

  69,526  ( 42,268)   27,258 
Remeasurement:         

Return on plan 

assets  -  ( 622)  ( 622) 
Effect of changes 

in financial 

assumption 

 1,654   -   1,654 

        
Adjustment based 

on past experience  1,516   -   1,516 

  3,170  ( 622)   2,548 
Contribution to 

pension fund  -  ( 1,249)  ( 1,249) 
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Pension paid ( 12,617)   12,617   - 
Balance on December 

31 $ 60,079  ($ 31,522)  $ 28,557 

 

 Present Value of 

Defined Benefit 

Obligations 

 
Fair Value of Plan 

Assets 

 
Net Defined Benefit 

Liabilities 

2020         

Balance on January 1 $ 92,902  ($ 62,517)  $ 30,385 
Current period 

service costs  345   -   345 
Interest expense 

(income)  697  ( 476)   221 

  93,944  ( 62,993)   30,951 

Remeasurement:         
Return on plan 

assets  -  ( 2,013)  ( 2,013) 
Effect of changes 

in financial 

assumption 

 1,668   -   1,668 

        
Adjustment based 

on past experience ( 2,147)   -  ( 2,147) 

 ( 479)  ( 2,013)  ( 2,492) 
Contribution to 

pension fund  -  ( 1,592)  ( 1,592) 

Pension paid ( 24,539)   24,539   - 
Balance on December 

31 $ 68,926  ($ 42,059)  $ 26,867 

 

(3) Assets of the Company's defined benefit plan have been placed under mandated 

management of the Bank of Taiwan according to Article 6 of Regulations for 

Revenues, Expenditures, Safeguard and Utilization of the Labor Retirement Fund 

(concerning investments in local/foreign listed securities, privately placed equity 

securities, and real estate-backed securities placed with a local or foreign financial 

institution), and are being allocated for the uses and within the percentages and 

amounts outlined in the fund's annual investment plan. The utilization of the fund is 

being supervised by the Labor Pension Fund Supervisory Committee. Plan assets can 

only be allocated to investments that offer annual yields higher than the 2-year time 

deposit rate quoted by local banks. Shortfalls may be reimbursed by the public 

treasury subject to the approval of the authority. Since the Company is not involved 

in the fund's operation and management, it is unable to disclose the fair value of plan 

assets according to IAS 19 Section 142. For a fair value breakdown of plan assets as 

at December 31, 2021 and 2020, please refer to government-published labor pension 

fund utilization reports for the respective years. 
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(4) Actuarial assumptions relating to the pension plan are explained below: 

 2021  2020 

Discount rate 0.50%  0.50% 

Future salary increase rate 1.75%  1.75% 

 

Assumptions regarding the future mortality rate for 2021 and 2020 were made based 

on the 6th and 5th Mortality Table for Life Insurance Industry in Taiwan. 

 

Impact of changes in actuarial assumption on the present value of defined benefit 

obligations is explained below: 

  Discount Rate  Future Salary Increase 

  
Increase by 

0.25%  
Decrease by 

0.25%  
Increase by 

0.25%  
Decrease by 

0.25% 

December 31, 2021             
Effect on the present 

value of defined 

benefit obligations  ($ 1,428)  $ 1,482  $ 1,438  ($ 1,392) 

December 31, 2020             
Effect on the present 

value of defined 

benefit obligations  ($ 1,669)  $ 1,732  $ 1,680  ($ 1,627) 

 

The above sensitivity analysis assumes changes to one variable at a time while 

keeping all other variables constant. In reality, however, multiple assumptions may 

change at the same time and are related to each other. The sensitivity analysis was 

conducted using the same method as to how net pension liabilities are presented in 

the balance sheet. 

Methodology and assumption for the current period's sensitivity analysis are 

consistent with those of the previous period. 

(5) The Company expects to make contributions totaling $1,151 to the pension plan in the 

next year. 

(6) As at December 31, 2021, the pension plan had an average duration of 9.6 years. 

Analysis of pension payments due: 

Next 1 year $ 1,615 
Next 2-5 years  20,921 
Next 6-10 years  10,947 
Next 10 years and above  26,883 

 $ 60,366 
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2. Since July 1, 2005, the Company has implemented a set of defined contribution plan 

policies in accordance with the "Labor Pension Act" of the Republic of China that applies 

to employees of local nationality. For employees who are subject to the pension scheme 

introduced under the "Labor Pension Act," the Company contributes an amount equal to 

6% of employees' monthly salary to their individual accounts held with the Bureau of 

Labor Insurance on a monthly basis. Upon retirement, employees are paid the balance of 

their pension account plus cumulative gains either in monthly installments or in one lump 

sum. The Group's subsidiary is required under the People's Republic of China's retirement 

insurance system to pay monthly retirement premiums at 0% (Note) to 16% of gross salary 

for local employees. The pension fund of each employee is collectively managed by the 

government. Subsidiaries have no further obligations other than making monthly 

contributions. According to the policies above, total pension costs amounted to $17,795 

and $7,468 in 2021 and 2020 respectively. 

(Note) Due to the effect of COVID-19, the subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. was granted an exemption by the local government and was not 

required to pay retirement insurance premiums between February and December 

2020. 

(xiv)Ordinary share capital 

1. Reconciliation between opening and closing number of outstanding common shares is 

explained below: (unit: thousand shares) 

 2021  2020 

Opening and closing share numbers 60,290  60,290 

 

2. As at December 31, 2021, the Company had a rated capital of $1,000,000 and paid-up 

capital of $602,900 issued in 60,290 thousand shares at NT$10 each, issued in installments. 

Proceeds from issued shares have been fully collected. 

(xv)Capital surplus 

Pursuant to The Company Act of the Republic of China, the amount in premiums received 

on shares issued above the face value plus any capital reserves arising from gifts received 

may be used to reimburse previous losses. If the Company has not accumulated losses, this 

amount may be distributed to shareholders in the form of cash or new shares based on 

shareholders' exiting ownership percentage. Furthermore, according to the Securities and 

Exchange Act of the Republic of China, the amount in capital reserves capitalized into share 

capital is capped at 10% of paid-up capital per year. The Company may not utilize capital 
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reserves to offset losses when there is still a positive balance in the earning reserves. 

(xvi)Retained earnings 

1. According to The Company Act of the Republic of China, the Company is required to 

make provisions for statutory reserves at 10% of after-tax earnings until it accumulates to 

the same amount as paid-up capital. The statutory reserve may not be used for purposes 

other than reimbursing previous losses or distributing proportionally back to existing 

shareholders in the form of cash or new shares. Only the amount in reserve that exceeds 

paid-up capital by 25% may be distributed in cash or new shares. 

2. According to the Company's Articles of Incorporation, annual surpluses concluded by the 

Company will first be subject to taxation and reimbursement of previous losses, followed 

by a 10% provision for statutory reserve and provision or reversal of special reserve 

according to applicable rules. The residual balance can then be added to unappropriated 

earnings accumulated in previous years and distributed as shareholder dividends or 

retained at board of directors' proposal, subject to resolution in a shareholder meeting. 

Shareholders' dividends and profit sharing payouts and be paid in shares and cash. Overall, 

the sum of dividends allocated can not be less than 10% of cumulative available earnings 

for the current year, and at least 50% of which has to be paid in cash. The Company 

authorizes the board of directors to distribute the proposed dividends, bonuses, capital 

surplus, or statutory reserves wholly or partially in cash, provided that such decision is 

resolved in a board meeting with at least two-thirds of directors present, supported by 

more than half of attending directors, and reported during a shareholder meeting afterward. 

These decisions do not require shareholder meeting resolution mentioned in the preceding 

Paragraph. 

3. Special reserve 

(1) When distributing earnings, the Company is bound by laws to make provision for 

special reserves equal to the debit balance of other equity items as at the current 

balance sheet date before proceeding. If the debit balance of other equity items is 

reversed on a later date, the amount reversed can be added to available earnings for 

distribution. 

(2) During the first-time adoption of IFRSs, a special reserve of $116,771 was provided 

in accordance with FSC Letter No. Jin-Guan-Zheng-Fa-1010012865 dated April 6, 

2012. This special reserve can be reversed proportionally when the underlying assets 

are used, disposed of, or reclassified on a later date. 

4. The amount in cash dividends to owners recognized in 2021 and 2020 was $45,218 

(NT$0.75 per share) and $102,493 (NT$1.7 per share), respectively. During the board of 
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directors meeting held on March 8, 2022, a resolution was passed on distributing cash 

dividends at NT$1.1 per share or $66,319 in total from 2021 earnings. 

(xvii)Operating revenue 

 2021  2020 

Revenue from contracts with customers $ 1,460,987  $ 1,221,097 

 

1. Breakdown of income from customers' contracts 

The revenue of the Group is derived from the provision of goods and services transferred 

at a certain point in time. Please see Note 14 Segment information for more details on 

revenues generated from the Group’s reporting segments. The revenue can be subdivided 

into the following product categories: 

 2021  2020 

Revenue from sale of machinery $ 1,362,577  $ 1,077,212 

Others  98,410   143,885 

 $ 1,460,987  $ 1,221,097 

 

2. Contract liabilities 

(1) As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, contract liabilities associated with revenue from 

contracts with customers amounted to $391,189 and $221,352 respectively. 

(2) The Group had contract liabilities of $221,352 and $133,015 as at January 1, 2021 and 

2020, from which $185,696 and $90,378 were recognized as revenues for 2021 and 

2020, respectively. 

(xviii)Interest income 

 2021  2020 

Bank deposit interest $ 502  $ 419 
Interest income from financial assets 

measured at amortized cost  152   - 
Interest income on installment notes and 

accounts receivable  12,222   8,795 

 $ 12,876  $ 9,214 

 

(xix)Other income 

 2021  2020 

Government subsidies income $ 23,639 
 

$ 24,949 

Rental income  3,600   1,800 

Other income  3,480   4,057 

 
$ 30,719 

 
$ 30,806 
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1. The Group was an eligible subject of "Regulations on COVID-19 Business Relief" 

introduced by the Industrial Development Bureau, Ministry of Economic Affairs of the 

Republic of China. It recognized $7,103 and $21,472 of subsidy income from government 

subsidies on salary and working capital in 2021 and 2020 respectively. The above 

government subsidies were granted with conditions, and the Ministry of Economic 

Affairs may revoke, cease, and recover subsidies if the applicant exhibits any of the 

following: 

(1)  Incorrect details in the application document. 

(2)  Failure to cooperate in audits conducted by the acceptance unit or execution unit. 

(3)  Repeated collection of salary subsidy or operating capital subsidy. 

(4)  Circumstances that the Ministry of Economic Affairs considers harmful to 

employees' interest. 

(5)  The applicant is an owner of idle land in one of the industrial zones listed in Article 

46-1 of the Statute for Industrial Innovation. 

(6)  Major violation of environmental protection, labor, or food safety and health laws in 

the last 3 years. 

(7)  Failure to register factory according to the Factory Management Act. 

(8)  Major violation of other relevant laws. 

(9)  Other issues of non-compliance. 

2. The Group recognized a 2021 government subsidy of $9,142 for its participation in the 

R&D Consolidation Project of the Ministry of Economic Affairs of the Republic of China. 

(xx)Other gains or losses 

 2021  2020 

Net loss on foreign currency exchange ($ 2,838)  ($ 8,997) 

Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 
( 548)   2,269 

Miscellaneous expenses ( 3,515)  ( 1,327) 

 ($ 6,901)  ($ 8,055) 

 

(xxi)Finance costs 

 2021  2020 

Interest expenses:      

Bank loans $ 2,667  $ 4,374 
Lease liabilities  166   182 
Less: Capitalization of qualifying assets   -  ( 28) 

 $ 2,833  $ 4,528 
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(xxii)Additional information on expenses 

 2021 

 
Presented as 

Operating Cost  
Presented as 

Operating Expense  Total 
Employee benefit 

expenses $ 163,497  $ 126,969  $ 290,466 
Depreciation  26,964   17,158   44,122 
Amortization  438   2,413   2,851 

 $ 190,899  $ 146,540  $ 337,439 

 2020 

 
Presented as 

Operating Cost  
Presented as 

Operating Expense  Total 
Employee benefit 

expenses $ 150,588  $ 117,533  $ 268,121 
Depreciation  30,637   16,079   46,716 
Amortization  217   2,403   2,620 

 $ 181,442  $ 136,015  $ 317,457 
 

(xxiii)Employee benefit expenses 

 2021 

 
Presented as 

Operating Cost  
Presented as 

Operating Expense  Total 

Salary expenses $ 139,679  $ 110,787  $ 250,466 
Labor/health insurance 

premium  8,723   5,803   14,526 
Pension expense  10,674   7,512   18,186 
Other personnel 

expenses  4,421   2,867   7,288 

 $ 163,497  $ 126,969  $ 290,466 

 2020 

 
Presented as 

Operating Cost  
Presented as 

Operating Expense  Total 

Salary expenses $ 131,968  $ 105,252  $ 237,220 
Labor/health insurance 

premium  9,439   5,674   15,113 
Pension expense  4,633   3,401   8,034 
Other personnel 

expenses  4,548   3,206   7,754 

 $ 150,588  $ 117,533  $ 268,121 
 

1. Pursuant to the former version of Articles of Incorporation, profits concluded from a 

financial year are subject to employee remuneration of no less than 1% and director 

remuneration of no more than 2%. However, profits must first be taken to offset 

cumulative losses, if any. The Company's Articles of Incorporation were last amended 

following resolutions sought during the shareholder meeting held on June 16, 2020. 

According to the amended Articles of Incorporation, profits concluded from a financial 
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year are subject to employee remuneration of 2% and director remuneration of no more 

than 2%, depending on the current year's profitability. However, profits must first be 

taken to offset cumulative losses, if any. 

2.In 2021 and 2020, the Company estimated employees’ remuneration at $2,059 and 

$1,394 respectively, and directors’ remuneration at $2,059 and $1,394 respectively. 

The amounts above were presented as salary expenses and determined based on the 

profitability of the respective years in accordance with the percentages stated in the 

Articles of Incorporation. The board meeting resolved to pay the 2020 employees’ 

remuneration and directors’ remuneration at $2,796 each. The difference from the 

employees’ remuneration and directors’ remuneration of $2,788 recognized in the 

financial report of 2020 is $8, mainly due to the difference in estimation and 

calculation. The board meeting on March 8, 2022 resolved to pay the 2021 employees’ 

remuneration and directors’ remuneration at $2,059 each; the employees’ 

remuneration will be paid in cash. Details of employees'/directors' remuneration passed 

by the Company's board of directors can be found on the Market Observation Post 

System. 

(xxiv)Income tax 

1. Income tax expenses 

(1) Composition of income tax expense: 

  2021  2020 
Current income tax:       

Income tax on current profit  $ 19,712  $ 19,494 
Additional tax on unappropriated 

earnings 
 

 243   38 
Overestimation of income tax 

expenses in previous years 
 

( 64)  ( 5,373) 
Total current income tax   19,891   14,159 
Deferred income tax:       

Occurrence and reversal of 

temporary difference 
 

 7,529  ( 8,530) 
Effect of tax losses on income tax   3,582   5,967 
Effect of tax rate changes   -   3,751 

Total deferred income tax   11,111   1,188 
Income tax expense  $ 31,002  $ 15,347 

(2) Income tax on other comprehensive income: 

 2021  2020 
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans ($ 509)  $ 498 
Exchange Differences in Translating 

the Financial Statements of 

Foreign Operations ( 593)   1,542 

 ($ 1,102)  $ 2,040 
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2. Relationship between income tax expense and accounting profit 

  2021  2020 
Income tax derived by applying the 

statutory tax rate to pre-tax profit 
 

$ 35,145  $ 22,460 
Effect of statutory adjustments  ( 7,904)  ( 11,496) 
Additional tax on unappropriated 

earnings 
 

 243   38 
Overestimation of income tax expenses 

in previous years 
 

( 64)  ( 5,373) 
Effect of tax losses on income tax   3,582   5,967 
Effect of tax rate changes    -   3,751 
Income tax expense  $ 31,002  $ 15,347 

 

3. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities arising from temporary differences and tax 

losses are presented below: 

  2021 

  

January 1  

Recognized 

in Profit or 

Loss  

Recognized in 

Other 

Comprehensive 

Income  December 31 
Deferred tax assets             

Temporary difference:             
Pension expense  $ 5,374  ($ 172)  $ 509  $ 5,711 
Unrealized losses on 

inventory devaluation 
 

 9,619   337   -   9,956 
Bad debt losses   1,179   452   -   1,631 
Others   2,135  ( 445)   -   1,690 

Tax losses   3,582  ( 3,582)   -   - 

  $ 21,889  ($ 3,410)  $ 509  $ 18,988 

Deferred tax liabilities             
Temporary difference:             

Unrealized gain on 

investment 
 

($ 90,580)  ($ 7,701)  $ 593  ($ 97,688) 
Provision for land 

increment value tax 
 

( 42,277)   -   -  ( 42,277) 

  ($ 132,857)  ($ 7,701)  $ 593  ($ 139,965) 

  ($ 110,968)  ($ 11,111)  $ 1,102  ($ 120,977) 
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 2020 

 

January 1  

Recognized 

in Profit or 

Loss  

Recognized in 

Other 

Comprehensive 

Income  December 31 
Deferred tax assets            

Temporary difference:            
Pension expense $ 6,077  ($ 205)  ($ 498)  $ 5,374 
Unrealized losses on 

inventory devaluation  7,191   2,428   -   9,619 
Bad debt losses  -   1,179   -   1,179 
Others  2,312  ( 177)   -   2,135 

Tax losses  9,549  ( 5,967)   -   3,582 

 $ 25,129  ($ 2,742)  ($ 498)  $ 21,889 

Deferred tax liabilities            
Temporary difference:            

Unrealized gain on 

investment ($ 90,592)  $ 1,554  ($ 1,542)  ($ 90,580) 
Provision for land 

increment value tax ( 42,277)   -   -  ( 42,277) 

 ($ 132,869)  $ 1,554  ($ 1,542)  ($ 132,857) 

 ($ 107,740)  ($ 1,188)  ($ 2,040)  ($ 110,968) 

 

4. Expiry of unused tax losses and amounts not recognized as deferred income tax asset 

is presented below: 

December 31, 2020 

Year 

Occurred  

Amount 

Approved/ 

Reported  
Unused Tax 

Credit  

Amount Not 

Recognized as 

deferred Income 

Tax Assets  
Final Year 

Deductible 

2019  Reported  $ 21,196  $ -  2024 

There was no such transaction on December 31, 2021. 

5. Deductible temporary difference not recognized as deferred income tax asset: 

 2021  2020 

Excess provision of doubtful debt $ 453  $ 2,220 
Unrealized losses on inventory 

devaluation  19,180   21,195 

 $ 19,633  $ 23,415 

6. The Company's profit-seeking enterprise business income tax returns have been 

certified by the tax authority up to 2019. No administrative remedy has been raised in 

relation to tax matters as if March 8, 2022. 

7. Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd., one of the Group's subsidiaries, 

became eligible to high-tech business privileged tax rate under the Enterprise Income 

Tax Law of the People's Republic of China in 2020 and has had enterprise income tax 
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rate reduced from 25% to 15%. The Group has evaluated how the change in the tax 

rate would affect its income tax expenses. 

(xxv)Earnings per share 

 2021 

 
Amount after 

Tax  

Weighted Average 

Outstanding Shares 

(thousand shares)  
Earnings Per 

Share (NTD) 
Basic earnings per share        
Current net income attributable to 

ordinary shareholders of parent 

company 

       

$ 83,778  60,290  $ 1.39 

Diluted earnings per share        
Current net income attributable to 

ordinary shareholders of parent 

company 

       

$ 83,778      
Dilutive effect of potential ordinary 

shares – employee remuneration 
       

  -  105    
Current net income attributable to 

ordinary shareholders of parent 

company plus the effect of 

potential ordinary shares 

       

$ 83,778   60,395  $ 1.39 

 2020 

 
Amount after 

Tax  

Weighted Average 

Outstanding Shares 

(thousand shares)  
Earnings Per 

Share (NTD) 
Basic earnings per share        
Current net income attributable to 

ordinary shareholders of parent 

company 

       

$ 56,931  60,290  $ 0.94 

Diluted earnings per share        
Current net income attributable to 

ordinary shareholders of parent 

company 

       

$ 56,931      
Dilutive effect of potential ordinary 

shares – employees’ remuneration 
       

  -  78    
Current net income attributable to 

ordinary shareholders of parent 

company plus the effect of 

potential ordinary shares 

       

$ 56,931   60,368  $ 0.94 

 

(xxvi)Supplementary cash flow information 

1. Investing activities involving partial cash outlay: 

  2021  2020 

(1) Purchase of property, plant, and equipment  $ 4,630  $ 20,005 
Add: Equipment proceeds payable at 

the beginning of the period 

(recognized as "other payables")   356   4,718 
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Less: Equipment proceeds payable at 

the end of the period (recognized 

as "other payables")  ( 358)  ( 356) 

Interest capitalized   -  ( 28) 
Cash payment for purchase of property, 

plant and equipment  $ 4,628  $ 24,339 

 

 2021  2020 
(2) Disposal of property, plant and equipment $ 454  $ 10,479 

Add: Other installment notes 

receivable - related parties  4,000    - 
Beginning other receivables - 

related parties  1,985    - 
Less: Other installment notes 

receivable - related parties   -  ( 4,000) 
Closing other receivables - 

related parties   -  ( 1,985) 
Disposal of property, plant and 

equipment $ 6,439  $ 4,494 

 

2. Operating and investing activities without cash flow effects: 

 2021  2020 

(1) Charge-off of unrecoverable proceeds $ 162  $ 293 

(2) Reclassification from prepayments 

for equipment to property, plant 

and equipment $ 9,261  $ 5,585 

(3) Reclassification from prepayments for 

equipment to intangible assets $ 264  $ 192 

 

(xxvii)Change of liabilities relating to financing activities 

 
Short-Term 

Borrowings  
Short-Term Bills 

Payable  
Lease 

Liabilities  

Total Liabilities 

from Financing 

Activities 
Balance on January 1, 

2021 $ 281,830  $ 39,957  $ 16,443  $ 338,230 
Change in financing 

cash flow ( 161,830)  ( 40,000)  ( 1,554)  ( 203,384) 

Change in other non-

cash flow 

           

 -   43   -   43 
Balance on December 

31, 2021 $ 120,000  $ -  $ 14,889  $ 134,889 
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Short-Term 

Borrowings  
Short-Term Bills 

Payable  
Lease 

Liabilities  

Total Liabilities 

from Financing 

Activities 
Balance on January 1, 

2020 $ 212,961  $ 9,997  $ 17,981  $ 240,939 
Change in financing 

cash flow  68,869   30,000  ( 1,538)   97,331 
Change in other non-

cash flow  -  ( 40)   -  ( 40) 
Balance on December 

31, 2020 $ 281,830  $ 39,957  $ 16,443  $ 338,230 

 

VII. Related party transactions 

(i)  Name and relationship of related parties 

Name of related party  Relationship with the Group 

Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. (Chun Yu)  Parent company 

Chun Bang Precision Co., Ltd. (Chun Bang)  Associated company 
PT Moon Lion Industries Indonesia (PT Moon 

Lion) 
 Associated company 

Chunyu (Dongguan) Metal Products Co., Ltd. 

(Chun Yu Dongguan) 
 Associated company 

Shanghai Uchee Hardware Products Co., Ltd. 

(Shanghai Uchee) 
 Associated company 

OFCO Industrial Corp. (OFCO)  Other related party 

Homkom Precision Industry Corp. (Homkom)  Other related party 
Shanghai Wangzhan Trading Co., Ltd. (Shanghai 

Wangzhan) 
 Other related party 

Gloria Material Technology Corp. (Gloria Material)  Other related party 

TSG Transport Corp. (TSG)  Other related party 

   

(ii)  Significant transactions with related parties 

1. Operating revenues 

 2021  2020 

Sale of merchandise:      
- Associated companies and other related 

parties $ 113,796  $ 114,132 
- Parent Company  21,624   23,207 

 $ 135,420  $ 137,339 

 

All sales transactions with Group related parties are conducted on normal trade terms. Sales 

proceeds are collected according to the terms of individual sales contract for machinery and 

equipment, or 1~2 years for installment sales (1~3 years for 2020), or 3~4 months for parts 

and accessories. 
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2. Purchases 

 2021  2020 

Sale of merchandise:      
- Associated companies and other related 

parties $ 16,237  $ 16,910 

- Parent Company  270   754 

 $ 16,507  $ 17,664 

 

The Group purchases goods from related parties at prices and terms that are comparable to 

general suppliers. Purchases of machinery and equipment are executed according to the terms 

of the respective contracts; payments terms for parts and accessories are between 3 to 4 

months. 

 

3. Other income 

 2021  2020 

Chun Bang $ 3,600  $ 2,917 
Associated company  80   - 

 $ 3,680  $ 2,917 

 

4. Property transaction 

Disposal of property, plant, and equipment: 

   2020 

 Name of Equipment  Disposal Proceeds  Gain (Loss) on Disposal 

Chun Bang 
Machinery and 

equipment  $ 10,065  $ 2,436 

There was no such transaction in 2021. 

 

5. Related party receivables 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 
(1) Notes receivable and other notes receivable 

(including installment notes receivable) 

- Associated companies and other related parties $ 23,632  $ 4,795 
Less: Unrealized interest income ( 605)   - 

Loss provisions ( 7)  ( 1) 

 $ 23,020  $ 4,794 

(2) Accounts receivable (including installment 

accounts receivable)      

- Chun Yu Dongguan $ 19,233  $ 12,821 

- Associated companies and other related parties  12,795   6,746 

- Parent Company  2,952   2,369 

- PT Moon Lion  -   41,863 

  34,980   63,799 
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Less: Unrealized interest income ( 1,189)  ( 3,669) 

Loss provisions ( 11)  ( 24) 

 $ 33,780  $ 60,106 

(3) Other receivables      

- Chun Bang $ 400  $ 3,661 

 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 
(4) Long-term notes and accounts receivable 

(including installment notes and accounts 

receivable)      

- PT Moon Lion $ -  $ 14,100 

- Chun Yu Dongguan  -   3,062 

  -   17,162 
Less: Unrealized interest income  -  ( 1,848) 

 $ -  $ 15,314 

6. Contract liabilities - current 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Parent company $ 4,928  $ 2,969 

OFCO  1,800   - 

Gloria Material  -   6,690 

 $ 6,728  $ 9,659 

 

7. Accounts payable - related parties 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

(1) Notes payable      

- OFCO $ 1,575  $ - 

- Chun Bang  -   135 

 $ 1,575  $ 135 

(2) Accounts payable      
- Associated companies and other related 

parties $ 6,187  $ 5,251 
- Parent Company  10   109 

 $ 6,197  $ 5,360 

 

(iii)  Compensation of key management staff 

 2021  2020 

Salary and other short-term employee benefits $ 26,440  $ 13,986 

 

VIII. Pledged Assets 

The Group had placed the following assets as collaterals: 
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Name of Asset  December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020  
Purpose of 

Security 

Pledged demand deposit (Note 1)  $ -  $ 970  
Performance 

guarantee 

Buildings - net (Note 2)   11,844   13,143  
Short-term 

borrowings 

Right-of-use asset   14,905   15,551  
Short-term 

borrowings 

  $ 26,749  $ 29,664   

 

(Note 1) Presented as "other financial assets - current." 

(Note 2) Presented under "property, plant, and equipment." 

IX. Significant Contingent Liabilities and Unrecognized Commitments 

(i) As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Group had $- and $48 of capital spending for property, 

plant and equipment that were contracted but unpaid. 

(ii) Subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. signed a 9-year secured syndicated 

loan agreement with China Construction Bank on January 1, 2017 for a total credit limit of RMB 

23,000 thousand. This credit limit is being drawn for short-term financing over the loan tenor. 

The subsidiary has made the following commitments to the lending bank over the loan tenor: 

1. Subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. is required to maintain the 

following financial covenants over the loan tenor, which will be reviewed once per quarter 

based on the most recent financial statements: 

(1) Current ratio: the ratio of current assets to current liabilities shall not fall below 150%. 

(2) Debt ratio: the ratio of total liabilities to equity shall not exceed 58%. 

(3) Contingent liabilities ratio: the ratio of total contingent liabilities to equity shall not 

exceed 50%. 

(4) Contingent liabilities: the amount in contingent liabilities shall not exceed RMB 60,000 

thousand. 

2. If subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. is unable to meet the financial 

covenants mentioned above, the managing bank shall be entitled to recover loan capital prior 

to maturity from the day of notice until the day the subsidiary produces financial reports that 

prove compliance with the financial covenants. 

Subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. had not breached the covenants 

mentioned above as at December 31, 2020. There was no such transaction on December 31, 

2021. 
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X. Losses from Significant Disasters 

None. 

XI. Significant Events after The Balance Sheet Date  

None. 

XII. Others 

(i)Capital  management  

The objectives of the Group's capital management efforts are to ensure continuity of business 

activities and maintain the optimal capital structure that minimizes funding costs while 

maximizing shareholders' returns. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 

revise the amount in dividends paid to shareholders, refund capital back to shareholders, or 

reduce debts by issuing new shares or disposing of assets. 

 

(ii)Financial instruments 

1. Types of financial instruments 

Please refer to Notes 6 and 12(3) - Fair value information for more details on the types of 

financial instruments held by the Group. 

2. Risk management policy 

(1) The Group's day-to-day operations are susceptible to multiple forms of financial risk, 

including market risks (exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, and price risk), credit 

risks, and liquidity risks. The Group adopts a risk management policy that emphasizes 

responses to unpredictable occurrences in the financial market and is constantly 

exploring solutions to mitigate adverse impacts on the Group's financial position and 

performance. 

(2) Risk management is performed by the Group's Finance Department according to 

board-approved policies. The Finance Department is responsible for identifying, 

assessing, and mitigating financial risks, and it achieves this by working closely with 

other departments within the Group. The board of directors has implemented written 

principles on risk management practices and outlined policies for specific matters 

such as exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative/non-

derivative instruments, and residual liquid capital investment. 

3. Characteristics and level of significant financial risks 

(1) Market risk 
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A. Exchange rate risk 

(A) The Group is a multinational organization and is therefore exposed to 

exchange rate risks of several different currencies. USD accounts for the 

highest exposure. Exchange rate risks arise from future commercial 

transactions, recognized assets and liabilities, and net investments in foreign 

operations. 

(B) The management has implemented policies to guide group affiliates in the 

management of exchange rate risks associated with their functional currencies. 

All Group affiliates are required to hedge exchange rate risks through the 

Group's Finance Department. Exchange rate risks arise when future 

commercial transactions or recognized assets/liabilities are denominated in 

foreign currencies other than the functional currency. 

(C) Some of the Group's business activities involve non-functional currencies (the 

Company's functional currency is NTD, while some subsidiaries use USD and 

RMB as functional currencies) and are therefore susceptible to exchange rate 

fluctuations. Information on foreign currency-denominated assets and 

liabilities susceptible to significant exchange rate fluctuation is presented 

below: 

 December 31, 2021 

(Foreign Currency: 

Functional Currency) 

Foreign 

Currency 

(thousand 

dollars)  
Exchange 

Rate  Book Value 

Financial assets        

Monetary items        

USD:NTD $ 2,478  27.68  $ 68,591 

USD:RMB  2,924  6.38   80,936 

EUR:NTD  135  31.32   4,228 

EUR:RMB  1,095  7.22   34,295 

Financial liabilities        

Monetary items        

USD:NTD  430  27.68   11,902 

 December 31, 2020 

(Foreign Currency: 

Functional Currency) 

Foreign 

Currency 

(thousand 

dollars)  
Exchange 

Rate  Book Value 

Financial assets        

Monetary items        

USD:NTD $ 4,076  28.48  $ 116,084 
USD:RMB  1,711  6.50   48,729 
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RMB:NTD  3,169  4.38   13,880 

EUR:NTD  55  35.02   1,926 

EUR:RMB  116  8.00   4,062 

Financial liabilities        

Monetary items        

USD:NTD  163  28.48   4,642 

 

Exchange rate sensitivity analyses are performed primarily on foreign 

currency monetary items as of the closing date of the financial reporting 

period. If NTD strengthened/weakened against foreign currencies by 1%, the 

Group's 2021 and 2020 net income would have decreased/increased by $1,468 

and $1,467, respectively. 

Total net loss on exchange (realized and unrealized) recognized by the Group 

for significant monetary items susceptible of exchange rate fluctuation in 

2021 and 2020 were $2,838 and $8,997, respectively. 

B. Price risk 

The Group does not trade any financial instrument that is susceptible to a price 

change, and therefore is not exposed to market risk from price changes. 

C. Cash flow and fair value risks of interest rate 

(A) The Group bears interest rate risk from some of the short-term borrowings 

borrowed at floating rates. These loans give rise to interest rate risks in the 

form of variable cash flow. The Group's floating rate borrowings in 2021 and 

2020 were denominated in NTD and RMB. 

(B) Loans of the Group are measured at cost after amortization. Interest rates on 

loans are subject to repricing on a yearly basis according to the terms of the 

respective contract. As a result, the Group is exposed to the risk of changes in 

the market interest rate. 

(C) With all other factors remaining unchanged, a 1% rise/fall in the borrowing 

interest rate in 2021 and 2020 would reduce/increase the net income by $960 

and $2,255 respectively. These changes are mainly attributed to increases or 

decreases in interest expense on loans borrowed at floating rates. 

(2) Credit risk 

A. Credit risk refers to the possibility of losses suffered by the Group due to its 

customers or financial instrument counterparties becoming unable to fulfill 

contractual obligations. These risk events mostly involve the counterparties being 

unable to settle the amount collectible or the contractual cash flow according to 
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the payment terms agreed. 

B. The Group has developed credit risk management practices from a group 

perspective. Only banks and financial institutions that are awarded independent 

credit ratings above a certain level can be accepted as transaction counterparties. 

According to the Group's internal credit policy, all operating entities are required 

to perform credit risk management and analysis on every new customer before 

establishing payment and delivery terms. The Company adopts an internal risk 

management system that assesses credit quality by taking into account customers' 

financial position, previous conducts, and other relevant factors. Individual 

counterparty risk limits are set by the board of directors based on internal or 

external assessments. Uses of credit limit are monitored on a regular basis. 

C. The Group has adopted the following assumptions mentioned in IFRS 9 to provide 

the basis for identifying any significant increase in the credit risk of a financial 

instrument held on hand after initial recognition: 

A financial asset is considered to have exhibited a significant increase in credit 

risk after initial recognition when contractual payment (according to the terms of 

the underlying contract) becomes past due for more than 30 days. 

D. The Group adopts the assumptions stated in IFRS 9 and treats a contract to be in 

default if payment is overdue for more than 90 days. 

E. The Group classifies notes and accounts receivable from customers (including 

long-term receivables and related parties) by location and credit risk 

characteristics. The Group adopts a simplified approach and uses the preparation 

matrix to estimate expected credit loss. The loss rate for estimating allowances on 

notes and accounts receivable (including long-term receivables and related parties) 

is determined after taking into consideration the future prospect, historical 

experience, and current information. Below is the preparation matrix as at 

December 31, 2021 and 2020: 

December 31, 2021  
Expected Loss 

Rate  Total Book Value  Loss Provisions 

Taiwan         

Current  0.03%  $ 247,211  $ 81 
Overdue within 90 

days  0.03%〜5.90%   5,083   1 
Overdue 91 days and 

above  100%   2,089   2,089 

     254,383   2,171 
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Mainland China         

Current  0.03%〜0.16%  $ 165,987  $ 270 

Overdue within 90 

days  0.03%〜84.66% %  477   170 
Overdue 91 days and 

above  100.00%   12   12 

     166,476   452 

    $ 420,859  $ 2,623 

December 31, 2020  
Expected Loss 

Rate  Total Book Value   Loss Provisions 

Taiwan         

Current  0.03%〜100%  $ 294,142  $ 2,399 
Overdue within 90 

days  0.03%〜47.06% %  11,564   1,132 
Overdue 91 days and 

above  63.45%〜100%   502   319 

     306,208   3,850 

Mainland China         

Current  0.03%〜0.5%  $ 307,381  $ 1,512 
Overdue within 90 

days  33.49%〜78.95%   1,488   551 
Overdue 91 days and 

above  100%   156   156 

     309,025   2,219 

    $ 615,233  $ 6,069 

 

F. Below are changes in loss provision on notes and accounts receivable, determined 

using the simplified approach: 

 2021 

 Notes Receivable  
Accounts 

Receivable  Total 

Balance on January 1 $ 3,508  $ 2,561  $ 6,069 
Expected credit (loss) reversal ( 3,243)  ( 29)  ( 3,272) 
Charge-off of unrecoverable 

proceeds   -  ( 162)  ( 162) 

Effect of exchange rate ( 6)  ( 6)  ( 12) 

Balance on December 31 $ 259  $ 2,364  $ 2,623 

 

 

2020 
Notes 

receivable  
Accounts 

receivable  Total 

Balance on January 1 $ 95  $ 5,819  $ 5,914 
Expected credit (loss) reversal  3,413  ( 2,992)   421 
Charge-off of unrecoverable 

proceeds  -  ( 293)  ( 293) 
Effect of exchange rate  -   27   27 

Balance on December 31 $ 3,508  $ 2,561  $ 6,069 
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(3) Liquidity risk 

A. Cash flow projections are made by individual operating entities within the Group, 

and consolidated by the Group Finance Department. The Group's Finance 

Department monitors cash flow requirements to ensure that adequate funding is 

obtained to finance various operations. The Finance Department also maintains an 

adequate level of committed borrowing limits available at all times to prevent the 

Group from violating terms of the loan. 

B. The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities by maturity date. It 

analyzes them based on their remaining timespan from the balance sheet date until 

contract maturity, as shown in the following chart. Amounts of contractual cash 

flow shown in the table below are not discounted. 

December 31, 2021  
Less than 1 

Year  1 to 2 Years  2 to 5 Years  
5 Years and 

above 
Non-derivative 

financial liabilities:             
Short-term 

borrowings  $ 120,392  $ -  $ -  $ - 
Notes payable   486   -   -   - 

Notes payable - 

related parties 

            

  1,575   -   -   - 
Accounts payable   220,516   -   -   - 
Other payables   85,572   -   -   - 
Lease liabilities   1,720   1,778   6,193   5,849 

December 31, 2020  
Less than 1 

Year  1 to 2 Years  2 to 5 Years  
5 Years and 

above 
Non-derivative 

financial liabilities:             
Short-term 

borrowings  $ 282,985  $ -  $ -  $ - 
Short-term bills 

payable   40,000   -   -   - 
Notes payable   273   -   -   - 

Notes payable - 

related parties 

            

  135   -   -   - 
Accounts payable   171,177   -   -   - 
Other payables   73,633   -   -   - 
Lease liabilities   1,720   1,720   5,907   7,913 

 

C. The Group does not expect cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities in the 

maturity analysis to occur at an earlier time or in amounts that differ significantly. 

(iii)Fair value information 

1. The Group did not hold any financial instrument carried at fair value as at December 31, 

2021 and 2020. 
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2. The Group holds financial instruments that are not carried at fair value (including cash 

and cash equivalents, notes receivable, accounts receivable (including related parties), 

other receivables (including related parties), financial assets measured at amortized cost - 

non current, refundable deposits paid, long-term notes and accounts receivable (including 

related parties), short-term borrowings, short-term notes payable, notes payable 

(including related parties), accounts payable and other payables); for these instruments, 

the book values are close to their fair values. 

(iv)Other Matters 

1. The Group is a multinational enterprise. Due to the repeated impact of COVID-19, various 

countries still implement various pandemic prevention measures to varying degrees, 

which has affected the export to a certain extent. The Group maintains close contact with 

customers and manufacturers for the continuation of orders, but the actual degree of 

possible impact still depends on the follow-up development of the pandemic in various 

countries. 

2. Affected by COVID-19 and the government's promotion of a number of pandemic 

prevention measures, the Group, in compliance with the "Guidelines for Continuous 

Operation of Enterprises in Response to the Pandemic of Severe and Special Infectious 

Pneumonia", has adopted countermeasures related to workplace health management and 

continues to manage relevant matters. The Company's plants operate normally without 

significant impact in any aspects. 

XIII. Other disclosures 

Only information for the year 2021 was disclosed according to the regulations. 

(i)Information related to significant transactions 

1. Loans to external parties: None. 

2. Endorsements/guarantees to external parties: None. 

3. End-of-period marketable securities holding position (excluding investment in 

subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures): None. 

4. Cumulative purchase or sale of the same marketable securities amounting to NT$300 

million or more than 20% of the paid-up capital: None. 

5. Acquisition of real estate amounting to NT$300 million or more than 20% of paid-up 

capital: None. 

6. Disposal of real estate amounting to NT$300 million or more than 20% of paid up capital: 

None. 
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7. Sales and purchases with related parties amounting to NT$100 million or more than 20% 

of paid up capital: None. 

8. Related party accounts receivable amounting to NT$100 million or more than 20% of 

paid-up capital: None. 

9. Derivative transactions: None. 

10. Major business dealings between the parent company and subsidiaries and transactions 

between subsidiaries: Please see Table 1. 

(ii)Information on business investments 

Names, locations and information on investees (excluding Mainland investees): Please see 

Table 2. 

(iii)Information relating to investments in the Mainland 

1. Basic information: Please see Table 3. 

2. Significant transactions with Mainland investees, whether directly invested or indirectly 

invested through a third location: Please see Table 4. 

XIV. Segment information 

(i)General information 

The management has identified the Group's reporting segments based on the types of 

information used by decision makers to make decisions. The Group's reporting segments are 

as follows: 

1. Taiwan: Mainly involved in the manufacturing, assembly, and trading of machine tools 

and chemical machines. 

2. Mainland: Mainly involved in the manufacturing, assembly, and trading of machine tools 

and chemical machines. 

3. Other locations: Mainly involved in general investments. 

There was no major change to the Group's business composition, departments, or basis of 

segment information in the current period. 

(ii)Assessment of segment information 

The Group's operational decision maker evaluates segment performance primarily based on 

pre-tax segment profit. Accounting policies adopted by various operating segments are 

consistent with those described in Note 4 - Summary of significant accounting policies of 

the consolidated financial statements. 
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(iii)Segment profit, loss, asset and liability 

The following is a list of segment information to be reported to the main decision makers: 

 2021 

 Taiwan  
Mainland 

China  
Other 

Locations  Total 

Segment revenues $ 658,184  $ 821,711  $ -  $ 1,479,895 
Revenues from internal 

segments  276   18,632   -   18,908 
Net revenues from external 

sources  657,908   803,079   -   1,460,987 
Segmental profit before tax  98,818   102,541   86,590   287,949 
Segment assets  993,574   1,044,911   10,091   2,048,576 
Segment liabilities  614,768   407,796   -   1,022,564 

 2020 

 Taiwan  
Mainland 

China  
Other 

Locations  Total 

Segment revenues $ 569,326  $ 660,522  $ -  $ 1,229,848 
Revenues from internal 

segments  475   8,276   -   8,751 
Net revenues from external 

sources  568,851   652,246   -   1,221,097 
Segmental profit before tax  67,134   60,265   55,120   182,519 
Segment assets  1,047,860   913,216   10,373   1,971,449 
Segment liabilities  668,772   310,732   -   979,504 

 

(iv)Reconciliation of segment profit/loss 

1. Sales between segments are conducted based on the fair trade principle. Revenues from 

external sources reported to main decision makers are measured in a manner consistent 

with revenues of the statement of comprehensive income. Reconciliation of segment pre-

tax profit/loss and pre-tax profit/loss: 

 2021  2020 

Pre-tax profits/losses of reporting segments $ 201,359  $ 127,399 
Pre-tax profits/losses of other operating 

segments  86,590   55,120 
Elimination of inter-segment profits/losses ( 173,169)  ( 110,241) 

Profit before tax $ 114,780  $ 72,278 

 

2. Total assets and total liabilities presented to the main decision maker have been measured 

using the same method as the assets and liabilities presented in the Group's consolidated 

financial report. Hence no reconciliation was needed. 
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(v)Product and service category 

The Group is mainly involved in the manufacturing and trading of machine tools and 

chemical machines. No further disclosure is made by product type as the Group does not 

have exposure to other industries. 

(vi)Regional disclosure 

The following are the Group's information by region for 2021 and 2020: 

 2021  2020 

 
Revenues 

(Note)  
Non-Current 

Assets  
Revenues 

(Note)  
Non-Current 

Assets 

Mainland China $ 785,692  $ 190,988  $ 612,536  $ 208,522 

Taiwan  324,637   332,945   288,661   347,255 

Brazil  101,868   -   28,284    

India  40,780   -   41,815   - 

Japan  26,910   -   3,434   - 

Thailand  17,910   -   36,527   - 

Indonesia  13,283   -   86,530   - 
Others (representing less 

than 3%)  149,907   -   123,310   - 

 $ 1,460,987  $ 523,933  $ 1,221,097  $ 555,777 

(Note) Revenues are classified based on customers' country of domicile. 

(vii)Information on key customers 

None of the Group's customers individually accounted for more than 10% of the revenues 

shown in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in 2021 and 2010. 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 

Intercompany Relationships and Significant Intercompany Transactions 
January 1 to December 31, 2021 

Table 1     Unit: NTD thousand 

       

        

No. 

(Note 2) Company Name Counterparty 

Nature of Relationship  

(Note 3) 

Transaction Summary 

Item Amount Transaction Terms 

Percentage 

of 
Consolidate

d Revenues 

or Total 

Assets 

0 Chun Zu Machinery Industry 

Co., Ltd. 

Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. 

1  Purchase  $      18,632 Payments terms for parts and accessories are 

between 3 and 4 months; purchases of 
machinery and equipment are executed 

according to the terms of the respective 

contracts 

1% 

   1  Income from business management 

service 

        13,010 Pay once a year, remittance before the end of 

May of the following year 

1% 

   1  Other receivables         13,032 - 1% 

   1  Prepayments          6,413 - - 

        
(Note 1) No duplicate disclosure is made on major business dealings between the parent company and subsidiaries and transactions between subsidiaries of the opposite direction. Only transactions 

amounting to NT$1 million and above are disclosed. 
(Note 2) Business dealings between the parent company and subsidiaries are indicated in the serial number column. The numbering rule is explained below: 

       1. Fill out 0 for the parent company. 

       2. Each subsidiary is numbered in sequential order starting from 1. 
(Note 3) Related party transactions are distinguished into one of three categories, as shown below: 

       1. Parent to subsidiary. 

       2. Subsidiary to parent. 
       3. Subsidiary to subsidiary. 

(Note 4) Calculation for business dealings as a percentage of total consolidated revenues or total assets is explained as follows: for balance sheet items, percentage of equity at end of period is 

calculated relative to consolidated total assets or liabilities; for profit and loss items, percentage of end-of-period cumulative amount is calculated relative to consolidated total revenues. 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 

Names, Locations and Related Information of Investee Companies (excluding investees in Mainland China) 

January 1 to December 31, 2021 

Table 2        Unit: NTD thousand 

          

            

Investor Investee Location 

Main 

Businesses  

Original Investment Amount Period-End Holding Position 

Current Period Profit 

(Loss) of the Investee 

Investment Gains 
(Losses) Recognized in 

the Current Period Remarks 

End of Current 

Period 

End of 

Previous Year 

Shares 
(thousand 

shares) Ratio Book Value 

Chun Zu Machinery 
Industry Co., Ltd. 

Lion City Management 
Ltd 

British 
Virgin 

Islands 

Professional 
investment 

institution 

 $    55,360   $    55,360        2,000  100.00  $   627,761   $           86,590   $           86,590  Subsidiary 

            

            

            

            

            

            

            
(Note) For foreign currency items shown on this chart, the closing book value were converted into NTD using the exchange rate as at the date of financial statement (USD 1:NTD 27.68); meanwhile, amounts 

including investees' current profit/loss and gain/loss on investment recognized in the current period were converted into NTD using the 2021 average exchange rate (USD 1:NTD 28.01). 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 

Information on Investments in Mainland China - Profile and Investment Limits 

January 1 to December 31, 2021 

Table 3          Unit: NTD thousand  

Name of Mainland 

Investee 

Main Businesses 

and Products Paid-in Capital 

Method of 

Investments 

Opening 

Cumulative 

Balance of 

Investment 

Capital 

Invested from 

Taiwan 

Contributed or 

Recovered during 

the Current Period 

Amount Invested 

Closing 

Cumulative 

Balance of 

Investment 

Capital 

Invested 

from Taiwan 

Investee 

Current 

Profit and 

Loss 

% Ownership 

of Direct or 

Indirect 

Investment 

Investment 

Gains/Losses 

Recognized 

in the 

Current 

Period 

Investment 

Profit 

(Note 3) 

End-of-

Period 

Investment 

Book Value 

Investment 

Gains 

Recovered 

to Date Remarks Outward Inward 

Shanghai Chun Zu 

Machinery 

Industry 

  Co., Ltd. 

Manufacturing 

and trading of 

machinery 

 $   235,280 

     (Note 1)   

(Note 2)  $    55,360   $   -     $   -     $  55,360   $   86,581  100.00%  $ 86,581   $ 617,670  $  712,760             

  (Note 4)  

- 

              

Company Name 

Closing 

Cumulative 

Balance of 

Investment 

Capital 

Transferred from 

Taiwan into 

Mainland China 

Investment 

Commission, 

Ministry of 

Economic 

Affairs 

Amount of 

Investment 

Approved 

Limits 

Authorized by 

the Investment 

Commission, 

Ministry of 

Economic 

Affairs, for 

Investing in 

Mainland 

China (Note 5) 

         

 
Chun Zu 

Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. 

 $      55,360   $    179,920   $   615,607           

 

              
(Note 1) Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. has paid-up capital of US$8,500 thousand; US$4,000 thousand of which were contributed by Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

through a subsidiary - Lion City Management Ltd., whereas the other US$4,500 thousand was capitalized from earnings; both sources of share capital were pre-approved by the 

Investment Commission. Lion City Management Ltd. undertook a capital reduction in 2008 and returned US$2,000 thousand to the investor in cash; this transaction was 

acknowledged by the Investment Commission. 
(Note 2) Investment into the Mainland was made through an intermediary (Lion City Management Ltd.) established in a third location. 
(Note 3) The amount of investment profit recognized in the current year was evaluated based on audited financial statements. 
(Note 4) It represents US$25,750 thousand of cash dividend that Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. had received from Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. through Lion City 

Management Ltd. 
(Note 5) Calculated at 60% of net worth or consolidated net worth (whichever is higher). 
(Note 6) For foreign currency items shown on this chart, amounts including paid-up capital, investment capital from Taiwan, and closing book value were converted into NTD using the 

exchange rate as at the date of financial statement (USD 1:NTD 27.68); meanwhile, amounts including investees' current profit/loss and gain/loss on investment recognized in the 

current period were converted into NTD using the 2021 average exchange rate (USD 1:NTD 28.01). 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
 

Information Relating to Investments in the Mainland - Significant Transactions with Mainland Investees, whether Directly Invested or Indirectly Invested through a Third Location  

January 1 to December 31, 2020 
 

Table 4          Unit: NTD thousand  

             

               

Name of Mainland Investee 

Sale (Purchase) Property Transaction 

Accounts Receivable 

(Payable) 

Endorsed Notes, 

Guarantees, or Pledged 

Collaterals Financing  

 

Amount % Amount % Balance % 

Closing 

Balance Purpose 

Highest 

Balance 

Closing 

Balance 

Interest 

Rate Range 

Interest for  

Current Period Others 
 

Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. 

($ 18,632) (1%)  $      -        -   $    -        -   $    -   -   $     -   $      -        -   $       -   $ 13,010  (Note 1) 

       -       -          -        -        -        -        -        -         -          -        -           -     13,032  (Note 2) 

       -       -          -        -        -        -        -        -         -          -        -           -      6,413  (Note 3) 

               

               

               

               

               

(Note 1) Represents income from business management service.            

(Note 2) Represents other receivables.              

(Note 3) Represents prepayments.              

               

 
 



 

 

 

V. Latest audited parent company-only financial statements: please refer to Page 

185 to 245.  
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Independent Auditor's Report 

(111) Cai-Shen-Bao No. 21003923 

To stakeholders of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd.: 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying parent company only balance sheet of Chun Zu 

Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the parent company only  

statement of comprehensive income, changes in equity, cash flows, and notes to parent 

company only financial statements (including a summary of significant accounting policies) for 

the periods from January 1 to December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

In our opinion, all material disclosures of the parent company only financial statements 

mentioned above were prepared in accordance with "Regulations Governing the Preparation of 

Financial Reports by Securities Issuers" and presented a fair view of the parent company only 

financial position of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, 

and parent company only business performance and cash flow for the periods January 1 to 

December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Basis for Opinion 

We have conducted our audits in accordance with "Regulations Governing Auditing and 

Attestation of Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants" and the generally 

accepted auditing standards of the Republic of China. Our responsibilities as an auditor under 

the abovementioned standards are explained in the Responsibilities paragraph. All relevant 

personnel of the accounting firm have followed CPA code of ethics of the Republic of China 

and maintained independence from Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd., and fulfilled other 

responsibilities under the code of ethics. We believe that the evidence obtained provide an 

adequate and appropriate basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are matters that we considered to be the most important, based on 

professional judgment when auditing the 2021 parent company only financial statements of 

Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. These matters have already been addressed when we 

audited and formed our opinions on the parent company only financial statements. Therefore 

we do not provide opinions separately for individual matters. 

Key audit matters concerning the 2021 parent company only financial statements of Chun 

Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. are as follows: 

Cut-Off Time of Revenue 

Description 

Please refer to Note 4(23) of the parent company only financial statements for a detailed 

description of the accounting policy on revenue recognition.
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. generates revenues primarily from the 

manufacturing and sale of machine tools, chemical machines, compressors, and screw/bolt/nut 

formers. The timing at which sales revenues are recognized depends mainly on the terms of 

individual contracts. The Company recognizes revenues when control of goods is transferred 

to the customer at the point of acceptance. Due to the fact that revenue recognition requires 

confirmation on the completion and fulfillment of trade terms, a process that involves manual 

works and subjective judgments and varies in duration for different batches of goods, risk of 

material misstatement due to incorrect judgment on the timing of revenues can arise at times 

that are close to the balance sheet date. Given the substantial sum of each transaction, the timing 

of revenue requires high level of attention from auditors, which is why we have highlighted it 

as a key audit matter for this audit.  

Audit Procedures 

The following audit procedures were taken in relation to the audit matter described above: 

1. Understanding and evaluating the accounting policy on revenue recognition. 

2. Understanding and evaluating internal control practices on revenue recognition, and 

conducting tests to ensure that internal control practices are effective in determining the 

timing of shipment and revenue recognition. 

3. Performing cut-off tests on sales transactions that were completed just before and after the 

balance sheet date to confirm that control of goods was indeed transferred to customers for 

all recognized revenues, and that revenues were recorded for the appropriate period. 

Impairment of Inventory 

Description 

For accounting policies on inventory valuation, please refer to Note 4(8) - Inventory of the 

parent company only financial statements; for major accounting estimates, assumptions, and 

uncertainties on inventory valuation, please refer to Note 5(2) - Critical accounting estimates 

and assumptions - Inventory valuation of the parent company only financial statements; for 

detailed inventory accounts, please refer to Note 6(3) - Inventory of the parent company only 

financial statements. On December 31, 2021, the total inventory and provisions for inventory 

devaluation loss were NT$383,975 thousand and NT$49,781 thousand respectively. 

Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. Due to changes in market demand and technology, 

materials held on hand for the production of machinery may be susceptible to higher risk of 

devaluation or obsolescence. Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. values inventory at the 

lower of cost and net realizable value. For inventory that exceeds certain aging bracket or has 

been individually identified as obsolete, net realizable value is estimated regularly by the 

management based on movement and utilization of individual inventory items. 

Given that the industries Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. produces 
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equipment/products for are susceptible to changes in technology, and that evaluation of net 

realizable value on obsolete inventory often involves subjective judgments, we consider it 

necessary to verify the judgments used and have highlighted it as a key audit matter for this 

audit. 

Audit Procedures 

The following audit procedures were taken in relation to the audit matter described above: 

1. In accordance with the provisions of accounting principles and the understanding of the 

nature of the operation and industry, the provision policy of inventory devaluation loss during 

the period of comparative financial statements is adopted consistently, and the rationality of 

the provision policy and procedure adopted for inventory devaluation loss is evaluated, 

including the source of inventory information on which the net realizable value is determined 

and the rationality of obsolete inventory items. 

2. Understanding the warehousing procedures, examining the annual stock-taking plan, and 

participating in annual stock takes to evaluate the effectiveness of the management's 

judgment and control over obsolete inventory. 

3. Validating the logics adopted for determining net realizable value and preparing inventory 

aging reports, and spot checking the inventory with individual item number to recalculate its 

net realizable value, in order to verify the appropriateness of provisions made on inventory 

devaluation. 

Responsibilities of the Management and Governance for the Parent 

Company Only Financial Statements 

Responsibilities of the management were to prepare and ensure the fair presentation of 

parent company only financial statements in accordance with "Regulations Governing the 

Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers" and to exercise proper internal control 

practices that are relevant to the preparation of parent company only financial statements so 

that the parent company only financial statements are free of material misstatements, whether 

caused by fraud or error. 

The management's responsibilities when preparing parent company only financial 

statements also involved: assessing the ability of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. to 

operate, disclose information, and account for transactions as a going concern unless the 

management intends to liquidate or cease business operations, or is compelled to do so with no 

alternative solution. 

The governing body of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. (including the Audit 

Committee) is responsible for supervising the financial reporting process. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the Audit of Parent Company Only Financial 

Statements  

The purposes of our audit were to obtain reasonable assurance of whether the parent 
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company only financial statements were prone to material misstatements, whether caused by 

fraud or error, and to issue a report of our audit opinions. We considered assurance to be 

reasonable only if it is highly credible. However, audit tasks conducted in accordance with 

generally accepted auditing principles of the Republic of China do not necessarily guarantee 

detection of all material misstatements within the parent company only financial statements. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if the 

individual amount or aggregate total is reasonably expected to affect the parent company only 

financial statement user's economic decisions.. 

When conducting audits in accordance with generally accepted audit principles of the 

Republic of China, we exercised judgments and raised doubts as deemed professionally 

appropriate. We also performed the following tasks as an auditor: 

1. Identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement within the parent company only 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error; designing and executing appropriate 

response measures for the identified risks; and obtaining adequate and appropriate audit 

evidence to support audit opinions. Fraud may involve conspiracy, forgery, intentional 

omission, untruthful declaration, or breach of internal control, and our audit did not find any 

material misstatement where the risk of fraud is greater than the risk of error. 

2. Developing the required level of understanding on relevant internal controls and designing 

audit procedures that are appropriate under the prevailing circumstances, but without 

providing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control system of Chun Zu 

Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

3. Assessed the appropriateness of accounting policies adopted by the management, and the 

rationality of accounting estimates and related disclosures made. 

4. Forming conclusions regarding the appropriateness of management's decision to account for 

the business as a going concern, and whether there are doubts or uncertainties about the 

ability of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. to operate as a going concern, based on the 

audit evidence obtained. We are bound to remind parent company only financial statement 

users and make related disclosures if material uncertainties exist in regards to the 

abovemenetioned events or circumstances and amend audit opinions when the disclosures 

are no longer appropriate. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of audit report. However, future events or circumstances may still render Chun Zu 

Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. no longer capable of operating as a going concern. 

5. Assessing the overall presentation, structure, and contents of the parent company only 

financial statements (including related footnotes), and whether certain transactions and 

events are presented appropriately in the parent company only financial statements. 

6. Obtaining sufficient and appropriate audit evidence on financial information of Chun Zu 

Machinery Industry Co., Ltd., and expressing opinions on parent company only financial 

statements. Our responsibilities as auditor are to instruct, supervise and execute audits and 

form audit opinions on the Company. 
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We have communicated with the governing body about the scope, timing and significant 

findings (including significant defects identified in the internal control) of our audit. 

We have also provided the governing body with a declaration of independence stating that 

all relevant personnel of the accounting firm have complied with auditors' professional ethics 

of the Republic of China, and communicated with the governing body on all matters that may 

affect the auditor's independence (including protection measures). 

After communicating with the governing body regarding the 2021 parent company only 

financial statements of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd, we have identified the key audit 

matters. These matters have been addressed in our audit report except for: Certain topics that 

are prohibited by law from disclosing to the public; or Under extreme circumstances, topics 

that we decided not to communicate in the audit report because of higher negative impacts they 

may cause than the benefits they bring to public interest.  

 

 

 

   

Lin, Tzu Shu         Liu, Tzu Meng   

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Taiwan 

March 8, 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

The accompanying parent company only financial statements are not intended to present the 

financial position and results of operations and cash flows in accordance with accounting 

principles generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions other than the Republic of China. 

The standards, procedures and practices in the Republic of China governing the audit of such 

financial statements may differ from those generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions 

other than the Republic of China. Accordingly, the accompanying parent company only 

financial statements and independent auditors’ report are not intended for use by those who are 

not informed about the accounting principles or auditing standards generally accepted in the 

Republic of China, and their applications in practice.  
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     December 31, 2021   December 31, 2020  
 Assets  Note  Amount   %   Amount   %  

 Current Asset                 

1100 Cash and cash equivalents  6(1)  $ 59,319   4   $ 21,542   1  

1150 Notes receivable, net  6(2) and 12   103,190   6    81,994   5  

1160 Notes receivable - related parties, net  6(2), 7, and 12   23,020   1    4,794   -  

1170 Accounts receivable, net  6(2) and 12   66,692   4    70,778   4  

1180 Accounts receivable - related parties, 

net 

 6(2), 7, and 12 

  33,538   2    59,834   4  

1200 Other receivables     232   -    2,298   -  

1210 Other receivables - related parties  7   13,432   1    16,792   1  

130X Inventories  5(2) and 6(3)   334,194   20    361,047   22  

1410 Prepayments  7   11,699   1    7,446   1  

1476 Other financial assets - current  6(1) and 8   -   -    970   -  

11XX Total Current Assets     645,316   39    627,495   38  

 Non-Current Assets                 

1550 Investment accounted for using 

equity method 

 6(4) 

  627,761   38    596,238   36  

1600 Property, plant and equipment  6(5) and 7   316,154   20    328,103   20  

1755 Right-of-use asset  6(6)   13,978   1    15,762   1  

1780 Intangible asset  6(7)   314   -    890   -  

1840 Deferred tax assets  6(24)   17,845   1    17,575   1  

1915 Prepayments for equipment  6(5)   2,500   -    2,500   -  

1920 Refundable deposits     1,690   -    5,780   -  

1930 Long-term notes and accounts 

receivable 

 6(2)(8) and 12 

  15,222   1    51,060   3  

1940 Long-term notes and accounts 

receivable - related parties 

 6(2), 7, and 12 

  -   -    15,314   1  

15XX Total Non-Current Assets     995,464   61    1,033,222   62  

1XXX Total Assets    $ 1,640,780   100   $ 1,660,717   100  
(Continued next page)
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     December 31, 2021   December 31, 2020  
 Liabilities and equity  Note  Amount   %   Amount   %  

 Current Liabilities                 

2100 Short-term borrowings  6(9)  $ 120,000   7   $ 260,000   16  

2110 Short-term bills payable  6(10)   -   -    39,957   2  

2130 Contract liabilities - current  6(17) and 7   122,882   8    48,363   3  

2150 Notes payable     486   -    273   -  

2160 Notes payable - related parties  7   1,575   -    135   -  

2170 Accounts payable  7   128,575   8    90,796   5  

2200 Other payables  6(11)   53,998   3    42,958   3  

2230 Current tax liabilities  6(24)   1,816   -    8,258   1  

2250 Provisions - Current  6(12)   2,025   -    1,865   -  

2280 Lease liabilities - Current     1,571   -    1,554   -  

21XX Total Current Liabilities     432,928   26    494,159   30  

 Non-Current Liabilities                 

2570 Deferred tax liabilities  6(24)   139,965   8    132,857   8  

2580 Lease liabilities - Non-current     13,318   1    14,889   1  

2640 
Net defined benefit liabilities - non-

current  6(13)   28,557   2    26,867   1  

25XX Total Non-Current Liabilities     181,840   11    174,613   10  

2XXX Total Liabilities     614,768   37    668,772   40  

 Equity                 

 Share capital                 

3110 Ordinary share capital  6(14)   602,900   37    602,900   36  

3200 Capital surplus  6(15)   259   -    259   -  

 Retained earnings  6(16)               

3310 Statutory reserves     257,463   16    251,571   15  

3320 Special reserve     116,771   7    116,771   7  

3350 Undistributed earnings     104,862   6    74,233   5  

3400 Other equities  6(4) (  56,243 ) ( 3 ) (  53,789 ) ( 3 ) 

3XXX 
Total equity 

    1,026,012   63    991,945   60  

 
Significant contingent liabilities and 

unrecognized commitments  9               

3X2X Total liabilities and equity    $ 1,640,780   100   $ 1,660,717   100  
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     2021   2020  
Item  Note  Amount   %   Amount   %  

4000 Operating Revenue  6(17) and 7  $ 658,184   100   $ 569,326   100  
5000 Operating Cost  6(3)(7) 

(13)(22) 
(23) and 7 (  539,004 ) ( 82 ) (  475,289 ) ( 83 ) 

5900 Gross Profit     119,180   18    94,037   17  
 Operating Expenses  6(7)(13) 

(22) 
(23), 7 and  
12               

6100 Selling and marketing expenses   (  59,187 ) ( 9 ) (  45,154 ) ( 8 ) 
6200 General and administrative 

expenses 
  

(  58,426 ) ( 9 ) (  54,756 ) ( 10 ) 
6300 Research and development 

expenses 
  

(  34,321 ) ( 5 ) (  19,701 ) ( 3 ) 
6450 Expected credit (loss) reversal     1,679   -  (  3,620 ) ( 1 ) 
6000 Total operating expenses   (  150,255 ) ( 23 ) (  123,231 ) ( 22 ) 
6900 Operating Loss   (  31,075 ) ( 5 ) (  29,194 ) ( 5 ) 
 Non-Operating Income and 

Expense 
  

              
7100 Interest income  6(2)(8) 

(18)   12,243   2    8,827   2  
7010 Other income  6(19) and 7   36,145   5    39,644   7  
7020 Other gains and losses  6(20), 7 and  

12 (  2,770 )  -  (  4,106 ) ( 1 ) 
7050 Finance costs  6(5)(6) 

(21) (  2,315 )  -  (  3,157 ) ( 1 ) 
7070 Share of profits/losses on equity-

accounted subsidiaries, 
associated companies, and joint 
ventures 

 6(4) 

  86,590   13    55,120   10  
7000 Total non-operating income 

and expenses 
  

  129,893   20    96,328   17  
7900 Profit Before Tax     98,818   15    67,134   12  
7950 Income Tax Expense  6(24) (  15,040 ) ( 2 ) (  10,203 ) ( 2 ) 
8200 Net Profit for the Year    $ 83,778   13   $ 56,931   10  
 Other Comprehensive Income 

(Net) 
  

              
 Items that Will Not Be 

Reclassified Subsequently to 
Profit or Loss 

  

              
8311 Remeasurement of defined 

benefit plan 
 6(13) 

( $ 2,548 )  -   $ 2,492   -  
8349 Income tax on items not 

reclassified into profit and loss 
 6(24) 

  509   -  (  498 )  -  
 Items that May Be Reclassified 

Subsequently to Profit or Loss: 
  

              
8361 Exchange Differences in 

Translating the Financial 
Statements of Foreign 
Operations 

 6(4) 

(  3,047 ) ( 1 )   7,784   1  
8399 Income tax on items that are 

likely to be reclassified into 
profit and loss 

 6(24) 

  593   -  (  1,542 )  -  
8300 Other comprehensive income 

(net) 
  

( $ 4,493 ) ( 1 )  $ 8,236   1  
8500 Total comprehensive income in 

the current period 
  

 $ 79,285   12   $ 65,167   11  
            
 Earnings per share  6(25)         
9750 Basic    $ 1.39   $ 0.94  
9850 Dilution    $ 1.39   $ 0.94   
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     Capital Surplus  Retained Earnings  Other Equities   

 

Note 

 

Ordinary Share 
Capital 

 

Donated Assets 
Received 

 

Statutory 
Reserves 

 

Special Reserve 

 

Undistributed 
Earnings 

 Exchange 
Differences in 
Translating the 

Financial 
Statements of 

Foreign 
Operations 

 

Total Equity 
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2020                              

  Balance at January 1, 2020    $ 602,900    $ 259    $ 238,594    $ 116,771    $ 130,778   ( $ 60,031 )   $ 1,029,271  

  2020 net income    -    -    -    -    56,931    -    56,931  

  2020 other comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    1,994    6,242    8,236  

  2020 total comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    58,925    6,242    65,167  

  Distribution of 2019 net income:                              

    Statutory reserves    -    -    12,977    -   ( 12,977 )   -    -  

    Cash dividends 6(16)   -    -    -    -   ( 102,493 )   -   ( 102,493 ) 

  Balance at December 31, 2020    $ 602,900    $ 259    $ 251,571    $ 116,771    $ 74,233   ( $ 53,789 )   $ 991,945  

2021                              

  Balance at January 1, 2021    $ 602,900    $ 259    $ 251,571    $ 116,771    $ 74,233   ( $ 53,789 )   $ 991,945  

  2021 net income    -    -    -    -    83,778    -    83,778  

  2021 other comprehensive income    -    -    -    -   ( 2,039 )  ( 2,454 )  ( 4,493 ) 

  2021 total comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    81,739   ( 2,454 )   79,285  

  Distribution of 2020 net income:                              

    Statutory reserves    -    -    5,892    -   ( 5,892 )   -    -  

    Cash dividends 6(16)   -    -    -    -   ( 45,218 )   -   ( 45,218 ) 

  Balance at December 31, 2021    $ 602,900    $ 259    $ 257,463    $ 116,771    $ 104,862   ( $ 56,243 )   $ 1,026,012  
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Note 
  

2021 
    

2020  
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities            

Income before income tax    $ 98,818    $ 67,134  

Adjustments            

Adjustments for reconcile profit or loss:            

Expected credit (reversal) loss  12 (  1,679 )    3,620  

Inventory devaluation (reversal) loss  6(3) (  937 )    14,762  

Share of profits/losses on equity-accounted 

subsidiaries, associated companies, and joint 

ventures 

 6(4) 

(  86,590 )  (  55,120 ) 

Depreciation expense  6(5)(6) 

(22)   16,074     19,237  

Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 

 6(20) 

  450   (  2,429 ) 

Amortizations  6(7)(22)   743     855  

Interest income  6(18) (  12,243 )  (  8,827 ) 

Interest expense  6(21)   2,315     3,157  

Changes in assets/liabilities related to operating 

activities 

  

         

Net changes in assets related to operating 

activities 

  

         

Notes receivable   (  18,963 )    2,897  

Notes receivable - related parties   (  22,232 )    1,170  

Accounts receivable     3,525     21,306  

Accounts receivable - related parties     26,309   (  15,298 ) 

Other receivables     2,066     814  

Other receivables - related parties     1,375   (  1,892 ) 

Inventories     27,790   (  19,769 ) 

Prepayments   (  4,253 )  (  4,287 ) 

Long-term notes and accounts receivable     35,838     9,560  

Long-term notes and accounts receivable - 

related parties 

  

  15,314   (  5,597 ) 

Net changes in liabilities related to operating 

activities 

  

         

Contract liabilities - current     74,519     20,680  

Notes payable     213   (  4,281 ) 

Notes payable - related parties     1,440     135  

Accounts payable     37,779   (  69,684 ) 

Other payables     11,133   (  24,065 ) 

Provisions - Current     160   (  1,910 ) 

Net defined benefit liabilities - non-current   (  858 )  (  1,026 ) 

Cash inflow (outflow) from operating 

activities 

  

  208,106   (  48,858 ) 

Dividends received  6(4)   52,020     58,954  

Interest received     12,243     8,827  

Interest paid   (  2,365 )  (  3,143 ) 

Income tax paid   (  13,542 )  (  24,925 ) 

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating 

activities 

  

  256,462   (  9,145 ) 

 

(Continued next page)
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Note 
  

2021 
    

2020  
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Cash Flows from Investing Activities            

Increase in other financial assets - current    $ 970   ( $ 970 ) 

Cash paid for purchase of property, plant, and 

equipment 

 6(26) 

(  295 )  (  10,482 ) 

Interests paid on purchase of property, plant, and 

equipment 

 6(5)(21) 

(26)   -   (  28 ) 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant, and 

equipment 

 6(26) 

  5,990     4,080  

Acquisition of intangible assets  6(7) (  167 )  (  216 ) 

Increase in prepayments for equipment   (  2,501 )  (  6,076 ) 

Decrease (increase) in refundable deposits     4,090   (  4,056 ) 

Net cash inflow (outflow) from investment 

activities 

  

  8,087   (  17,748 ) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities            

Proceeds from short-term loan borrowings  6(27)   540,000     910,000  

Repayment of short-term loan borrowings  6(27) (  680,000 )  (  820,000 ) 

Increase (decrease) in short-term bills payable  6(27) (  40,000 )    30,000  

Repayment of lease principal  6(27) (  1,554 )  (  1,538 ) 

Cash dividends paid  6(16) (  45,218 )  (  102,493 ) 

Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing 

activities 

  

(  226,772 )    15,969  

Increase (decrease) in cash and Cash Equivalents for 

the Current Period 

  

  37,777   (  10,924 ) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the 

Year 

 6(1) 

  21,542     32,466  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year  6(1)  $ 59,319    $ 21,542  
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

Notes to Parent Company Only Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

Unit: NTD thousand 

(unless specified otherwise) 

 

I. Company History 

(i) Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. (the "Company") was incorporated in March 1974 in 

accordance with The Company Act and relevant laws. Its main business activities include 

manufacturing, assembly, and trading of machine tools, chemical machines, compressors, 

screw/bolt/nut formers, and parts. 

(ii) Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. holds 47.81% equity ownership in the Company, and is the ultimate 

parent. 

II. Financial Statements Approval Date and Procedures 

This parent company only financial report was passed during the board of directors meeting dated 

March 8, 2022. 

III. Application of New and Amended Standards and Interpretations  

(i) Impacts of adopting new and amended IFRSs approved by the Financial Supervisory 

Commission (FSC) 

The following is a list of new/amended/modified IFRSs and interpretations approved by FSC 

that are applicable for the 2021 financial year: 

New/amended/modified standards and interpretations  

Effective date of IASB 

announcement 

Amendments to IFRS 4 “Extension of the Temporary Exemption 

from Applying IFRS 9” 

 January 1, 2021 

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4, and IFRS 16, 

"Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2" 

 January 1, 2021 

Amendment to IFRS 16 "COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions 

Beyond June 30, 2021". 

 April 1, 2021 (note) 

Note: FSC has given its permission to bring forward the adoption to January 1, 2021. 

After thorough assessment, the Company expects no material financial or performance impact 

from the above standards and interpretations. 

(ii) Impacts of adopting new and amended IFRSs not yet approved by FSC 

The following is a list of new/amended/modified IFRSs and interpretations approved by FSC 

that are applicable for the 2022 financial year:  
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New/amended/modified standards and interpretations  

Effective date of IASB 

announcement 

Amendments to IFRS 3, "Reference to the Conceptual Framework"  January 1, 2022 

Amendments to IAS 16, "Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds 

before Intended Use" 

 January 1, 2022 

Amendments to IAS 37, "Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a 

Contract" 

 January 1, 2022 

Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020  January 1, 2022 

After thorough assessment, the Company expects no material financial or performance impact 

from the above standards and interpretations. 

(iii) Impacts of IFRS changes announced by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) but 

not yet approved by FSC 

The following is a list of new/amended/modified IFRSs announced by IASB but not approved 

by FSC: 

New/amended/modified standards and interpretations  

Effective date of IASB 

announcement 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 "Sale or contribution of assets 

between an investor and its associate or joint venture”  

 To be determined by 

IASB 

IFRS 17, “Insurance Contracts”  January 1, 2023 

Amendments to IFRS 17, "Insurance Contracts"  January 1, 2023 

Amendment to IFRS 17, "Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 

9 - Comparative Information" 

 January 1, 2023 

Amendments to IAS 1, "Classification of Liabilities as Current or 

Non-current" 

 January 1, 2023 

Amendments to IAS 1, "Disclosure of Accounting Policies"  January 1, 2023 

Amendments to IAS 8, "Definition of Accounting Estimates"  January 1, 2023 

Amendment to IAS 12, "Deferred Tax Related to Assets and 

Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction". 

 January 1, 2023 

After thorough assessment, the Company expects no material financial or performance impact 

from the above standards and interpretations. 

IV. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Below is a summary of significant accounting policies used for the preparation of parent company 

only financial statements. Unless otherwise stated, the following policies were applied consistently 

in all reporting periods. 

(i)  Statement of compliance 

The parent company only financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 

"Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers." 
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(ii)  Basis of preparation 

1. Other than defined benefit liabilities, which are recognized by deducting the present value of 

defined benefit obligations from pension plan assets, the parent company only financial 

report is prepared based on historical costs. 

2. Preparation of financial report that complies with the version of International Financial 

Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards and interpretations approved by 

FSC (collectively referred to as "IFRSs" below) involves some use of critical accounting 

estimates and the management is required to exercise some judgment when applying the 

Company's accounting policies. Please refer to Note 5 Critical accounting judgments, 

estimates and key sources of uncertainty assumption for highly complex and critical 

assumptions and estimates made in relation to the parent company only financial report. 

(iii)  Foreign currency conversion 

All items listed in the parent company only financial report are measured using the currency of 

the main economic environment where the Company operates (i.e. the functional currency). 

This parent company only financial report is presented using the Company's functional currency 

- "NTD." 

Foreign currency transaction and balance 

1. Foreign currency transactions are converted into the functional currency using the spot 

exchange rate as at the transaction date or measurement date. Differences arising from the 

conversion of such transactions are recognized in current profit and loss. 

2. Balances of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are converted 

using the spot exchange rate as at the balance sheet date. Differences arising from exchange 

rate fluctuation are recognized as current period gain or loss. 

3. For non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, those that are 

carried at fair value through profit and loss will have balances converted using the spot 

exchange rate as at the balance sheet date, and any exchange differences arising from the 

adjustment will be recognized in current profit and loss; those that are carried at fair value 

through other comprehensive income will have balances converted using the spot exchange 

rate as at the balance sheet date, and any exchange differences arising from the adjustment 

will be recognized in other comprehensive income; those that are not carried at fair value 

will have balances converted using the historical exchange rate applicable at the time when 

the transaction was initiated. 

4. All gains and losses on the exchange are presented as "Other gains and losses" in the parent 

company only statement of comprehensive income. 
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(iv)  Classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities 

1. Assets that satisfy any of the following criteria are classified as current assets: 

(1) Assets that are expected to be realized, or intended to be sold or consumed, over the 

normal operating cycle. 

(2) Held mainly for the purpose of trading. 

(3) Assets that are expected to be realized within 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

(4) Cash or cash equivalents, except those that will be swapped or used to repay liabilities at 

least 12 months from the balance sheet date, and those with restricted uses. 

The Company classifies all assets that do not satisfy the above criteria as non-current assets. 

2. Liabilities that satisfy any of the following criteria are classified as current liabilities: 

(1) Liabilities that are expected to be settled over the normal operating cycle. 

(2) Held mainly for the purpose of trading. 

(3) Liabilities that are due to be settled within 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

(4) Liabilities with repayment terms that can not be extended unconditionally for more than 

12 months after the balance sheet date. Classification of liability is unaffected even if 

there are terms that give counterparties the option to be repaid in equity instruments. 

The Company classifies all liabilities that do not satisfy the above criteria as non-current 

liabilities. 

(v)  Accounts and notes receivable 

1. Refers to accounts and notes that the Company may collect unconditionally as consideration 

for the transfer of merchandise or rendering of service, according to the terms of the 

respective contracts. 

2. The Company recognizes the initial balance at fair value; subsequent interest income is 

recognized using the effective interest method and amortized throughout the outstanding 

balance. Impairment losses are recognized when incurred. All gains and losses associated 

with the account are recognized through profit and loss. However, short-term accounts and 

notes receivable that bear no interest are subsequently measured at the original invoice 

amount as the effect of discounting is insignificant. 
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(vi)  Impairment of financial assets 

Accounts receivable or contract assets with significant financing components are evaluated on 

every balance sheet date by considering all reasonable and verifiable information (including 

prospective information). Assets that exhibit no significant increase in credit risk after initial 

recognition have loss reserves measured based on 12-month expected credit loss; those that 

exhibit a significant increase in credit risk after initial recognition have loss reserves measured 

based on expected credit loss over the remaining duration. Accounts receivable or contract 

assets that do not contain significant financing components have loss reserves measured based 

on expected credit loss over the remaining duration. 

(vii)  Removal of financial assets 

Financial assets that satisfy any of the following criteria are removed: 

1. When entitlement to contractual cash inflow has ended. 

2. When the contractual right to collect cash flow on the financial asset has been transferred 

along with virtually all risks and returns associated with ownership of the financial asset. 

3. When the contractual right to collect cash flow on the financial asset has been transferred, 

the Company does not retain control over the financial asset. 

(viii)  Inventories 

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The amount in cost is determined 

using the weighted average method. The cost of finished goods and work-in-progress includes 

raw material, direct labor, other direct costs and production-related overheads (allocated based 

on normal production capacity) but excludes borrowing costs. The lower of cost or net realizable 

value is compared on an item-by-item basis. Net realizable value refers to the remainder of the 

estimated selling price after deducting variable selling expenses over the normal operating cycle 

and estimated costs to completion. 

(ix)  Investment accounted for using equity method/subsidiaries 

1. A subsidiary refers to an entity (including a structured entity) in which the Company exercises 

control. The Company is considered to exercise control if it is exposed or entitled to variable 

returns generated by the entity and has the power to influence such return. 

2. Any transactions and unrealized gains/losses between the Company and subsidiaries have 

been eliminated. The subsidiaries have made the necessary adjustments to align their 

accounting policies with that of the Company. 

3. Share of profits/losses from subsidiary after the acquisition is recognized in current profit and 

loss; share of other comprehensive income after the acquisition is recognized in other 
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comprehensive income. If the share of losses on a subsidiary equals or exceeds the 

Company's equity ownership, the Company will continue recognizing additional losses at 

the current shareholding percentage. 

4. Transfers of equity ownership in a subsidiary with non-controlling shareholders that do not 

result in a loss of control are accounted as equity transactions and treated as transactions 

between business owners. The difference between the adjusted amount in non-controlling 

equity and the fair value of the consideration paid/received is directly recognized as equity. 

5. When the Company loses control in a subsidiary, remaining investments in the former 

subsidiary are remeasured at fair value and presented as the initial fair value of the 

reclassified financial asset or the cost of the reclassified associated company or joint venture. 

Differences between the fair value and the book value are recognized in the current period 

profit and loss. All amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in relation 

to the subsidiary are accounted for on the same basis as if the Company had directly disposed 

of the relevant assets or liabilities. In other words, if gains or losses previously recognized in 

other comprehensive income are to be reclassified from equity into profit and loss upon 

disposal of relevant assets or liabilities, such gains or losses shall be reclassified into profit 

and loss when the Company loses control in the subsidiary. 

6. According to Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities 

Issuers, the amount in current profit/loss and other comprehensive income attributable to 

parent company shareholders should be consistent between parent company only and 

consolidated financial reports; the amount in equity attributable to parent company 

shareholders should also be consistent between parent company only and consolidated 

financial reports. 

(x)  Property, plant and equipment 

1. All property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost; all interests incurred during 

construction are capitalized. 

2. Subsequent costs incurred are added to book value or recognized as separate assets only 

when future economic benefits associated with the costs are likely to be realized by the 

Company. Such costs can be reliably measured. Book values of replaced components are 

removed from the balance sheet. All other maintenance expenses are recognized in current 

profit and loss when incurred. 

3. Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured using the cost method, with 

depreciation recognized over the estimated useful life using the straight-line method 

except for land, which is not depreciated. Significant compositions of property, plant, and 

equipment are depreciated separately. 
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4. The Company reviews the residual value, useful life and depreciation method of all assets 

at the end of each financial year. If the residual value or useful life differs from the 

previous estimate, or if there is any material change to how an asset's future economic 

benefit is realized, the difference would be treated as a change in accounting estimate 

according to IAS 8 - "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors" 

from the day the change occurs. The useful lives of various asset categories are as follows: 

Name of asset  Useful life 

Buildings   

- Main plant buildings  16-51 years 

- Others  5-36 years 

Machinery  4-11 years 

Utility equipment  5-16 years 

Transport equipment    5  years 

Office equipment  3-5 years 

Other equipment  6-11 years 

   

(xi)  Lease transaction as a lessee - right-of-use assets/lease liabilities 

1. The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and lease liability on the day lease asset 

becomes available for use. For short-term lease and lease of low-value asset, lease 

payments are expensed using the straight-line method over the lease tenor. 

2. Lease liability is recognized on the lease start date as the present value of outstanding lease 

payments discounted at the Company's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments 

include: 

(1) Regular payments, less any lease incentives receivable;  

(2) Penalties that have to be paid upon termination of the lease, if the lease tenor reflects 

the lessee's intent to exercise the termination option. 

Leases are subsequently measured at cost after amortization using the interest approach 

with interest expenses provided over the lease tenor. Lease liabilities will be re-evaluated 

for any change in lease tenor or lease payment that is not caused by modification of 

contract terms. In which case, the amount in remeasurement will be adjusted to right-of-

use assets. 

3. Right-of-use assets are recognized at cost on the lease start date. The cost includes: 

(1) Initial measured amount in lease liability; 

(2) Any lease payment made on or before the lease start date; 

(3) Any direct cost incurred at initiation; and 

(4) Estimated cost to dismantle, remove, and restore the underlying asset at its original 

location or to restore the underlying asset to the state specified in terms and conditions 

of the lease agreement. 
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Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured using the cost approach with depreciation 

expenses provided over the useful life or lease tenor, whichever expires the earlier. When 

lease liability is re-assessed, the right-of-use asset is adjusted for any remeasurement made 

to lease liability. 

(xii)  Intangible asset 

Computer software is carried at acquisition cost and amortized using the straight-line method 

over an estimated useful life of 3 years. 

(xiii)  Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Company first estimates the recoverable amount in such assets for assets that show signs 

of impairment on the balance sheet date. It recognizes impairment losses if the recoverable 

amount is lower than the book value. The recoverable amount refers to the higher of an asset's 

fair value net of disposal cost or its utilization value. Impairment losses previously 

recognized can be reversed if asset impairment no longer exists or has been reduced. 

However, the reversal of impairment loss shall not increase the asset's book value above the 

amount in book value after depreciation/amortization if the impairment loss had not occurred 

in the first place. 

(xiv)  Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognized at fair value less transaction costs at initiation. Any subsequent 

differences between proceeds net of transaction cost and the redemption value are recognized 

as interest expenses in profit and loss using the effective interest rate method over the 

duration of the borrowing. 

(xv)  Accounts and notes payable 

Refers to liabilities arising from purchases of raw material, merchandise, or service on credit 

and notes payable on operating and non-operating activities. However, short-term accounts 

and notes payable that bear no interest are subsequently measured at the original invoice 

amount as the effect of discounting is insignificant. 

(xvi)  Derecognition of financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the Company's contractual obligations have been 

fulfilled, canceled or are expired. 
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(xvii)  Provisions 

Provisions are obligations that the Company is legally liable or deemed liable to fulfill due 

to a past event. The Company is very likely to incur an outflow of economic benefit or 

resource to settle such an obligation. Provisions are recognized when the amount in 

obligation can be estimated reliably. Provisions represent the Company's best estimate of the 

present value of all future obligations that the Company is liable to settle as at the balance 

sheet date. The discount rate used is a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the market's current 

perception of the time value of currency and risks associated with the specific liability. The 

amount in discount is amortized and recognized as an interest expense. No provision is made 

on future operating losses. 

(xviii)  Employee benefits 

1. Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are measured as non-discounted amounts expected to be 

paid in the future and are recognized as expenses when relevant service is rendered. 

2. Pension 

(1) Defined contribution plan 

For defined contribution plans, the contributions payable to pension funds are 

recognized as pension costs in the year that occurred on an accrual basis. Prepaid 

contributions that are refundable in cash or can be offset against future payments are 

recognized as assets. 

(2) Defined benefit plan 

A. Net obligations under a defined benefit plan are calculated by discounting 

employees' future benefits earned from current or previous services rendered. By 

deducting the fair value of plan assets from the present value of defined benefit 

obligations at the balance sheet date. Net defined benefit obligations are calculated 

by actuaries on a yearly basis using the projected unit credit method. The discount 

rate is determined in reference to the market yield of government bonds of the 

same currency and equivalent tenor as the defined benefit plan (as at the balance 

sheet date). 

B. Remeasurement of defined benefit plan is recognized in other comprehensive 

income in the period occurred, and presented under retained earnings. 

3. Employees' and directors' remuneration 

Employees' and directors' remuneration are recognized as expense and liability when the 

Company becomes legally obligated or is deemed obligated to pay, and that the amount 

can be reasonably estimated. Any differences between the amount estimated and the 
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amount resolved/paid are treated as a change of accounting estimate. Where employee 

remuneration is paid in shares, the number of shares payable is calculated according to 

IFRS 2 - "Share-based Payment," which requires the use of valuation techniques to 

determine the fair value of such payment. 

(xix) Income tax 

1. Income tax expenses include current and deferred income tax. Income taxes are 

recognized in profit and loss, except for certain items that must be recognized in other 

comprehensive income or presented directly as equity items. 

2. The Company calculates current income tax using statutory tax rate applicable as at the 

balance sheet date. The management regularly assesses income tax filing based on 

applicable income tax laws and estimates income tax liabilities for the estimated amount 

in tax payable to the authority. Unappropriated earnings are subject to additional income 

tax according to the Income Tax Act. This additional tax is recognized in the year after 

earning is generated, when the earnings appropriation proposal is passed in a 

shareholder meeting. The amount in earnings retained can be ascertained. 

3. Deferred income tax is accounted for using the balance sheet method, and recognized on 

taxable temporary differences that arise between the taxable basis and book value of assets 

and liabilities shown in the parent company only balance sheet. Deferred income tax 

liabilities are not recognized upon initial recognition of goodwill. No deferred income tax 

liability is recognized upon initial recognition of an asset or liability (except in the case of 

business combination) if, at the time of the transaction, it affects neither accounting profit 

nor taxable profit (tax loss). Temporary differences arising from investment in 

subsidiaries are not recognized as income tax asset/liability if the Company is able to 

control the timing at which temporary difference is reversed and that the temporary 

difference is unlikely to be reversed in the foreseeable future. Deferred income taxes are 

calculated using the tax rate (and tax law) applicable on the day deferred income tax 

assets/liabilities are expected to be realized/settled, based on prevailing laws as at the 

balance sheet date. 

4. Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that temporary differences are 

likely to offset future taxable income. Unrecognized and recognized deferred income 

tax assets are re-assessed on each balance sheet date. 

5. The Company will offset current income tax asset against current income tax liability 

and settle on a netted basis or realize both at the same time only if it has the intent and is 

legally entitled to do so. The Company will offset deferred income tax assets against 

deferred income tax liabilities and settle on a netted basis or realize both at the same 

time only if it has the intent and is legally entitled to do so, and that the deferred income 
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tax assets/liabilities are attributable to the same tax authority and the same taxpayer, or 

different taxpayers with a mutual intent to settle on a netted basis. 

(xx) Share capital 

Common share capital is classified as equity. Costs directly associated with the issuance of 

new shares or warrants are presented net of income tax under equity as a contra item to the 

proceeds received. 

(xxi) Dividend distribution 

When allocating dividends to shareholders, the Company recognizes cash dividends as a 

liability on its financial report when the board of directors passes the resolution. It recognizes 

stock dividends pending distribution when the resolution is passed in a shareholder meeting 

and recognizes additional common share capital on the baseline date of new shares. 

(xxii) Revenue recognition 

Sale of product 

1. Sales revenues are recognized when control of the product is transferred to the customer; 

or in other words, when product is delivered to the customer and the Company has no 

outstanding obligation that would otherwise prevent the customer from accepting or 

exercising rights over the product. 

2. Sales revenues are recognized at contract price net of estimated sales tax, sales return, and 

discount. Revenues are recognized to the extent that significant reversal is highly unlikely 

to occur in the future; the likelihood of reversal is re-evaluated and updated on each 

balance sheet date. Sales proceeds are collected according to the terms of individual sales 

contract for machinery and equipment, including 1~2 years for installment sales (1~3 

years in 2020), or 3~4 months for parts and accessories. 

3. Accounts receivable are recognized when products are delivered to the customer because 

this is the point of time when the Company gains unconditional rights to contractual 

proceeds and is entitled to collect consideration from customers simply through the 

passage of time. 

(xxiii) Government subsidies 

Government subsidies are recognized at fair value when the Company has reasonable 

assurance towards fulfilling the government's subsidy criteria and receiving the subsidy. For 

government subsidies aimed to reimburse expenses incurred, the Company will recognize 

government subsidies through current profit and loss in a systematic manner when relevant 

expenses are incurred. 
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V. Critical Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Key Sources of Uncertainty Assumption 

The management had exercised judgment to determine which accounting policies to adopt when 

preparing the parent company only financial report. It made accounting estimates and assumptions 

based on prevailing circumstances and reasonable expectations toward future events as at the balance 

sheet date. The critical accounting estimates and assumptions made can differ from the actual result, 

which the management will continually evaluate and adjust based on historical experience and other 

factors. These estimates and assumptions may result in major adjustments to the book value of assets 

and liabilities in the next financial year. Uncertainties associated with critical accounting judgments, 

estimates, and assumptions are explained below: 

(i)  Critical judgments adopted for accounting policies 

None. 

(ii)  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

Valuation of inventory 

Due to the fact that inventory is presented at the lower of cost or net realizable value, the 

Company is required to exercise judgment and make estimates in order to determine the net 

realizable value of inventory as at the balance sheet date. Due to changes in market demand and 

technology, the Company would assess inventory as at each balance sheet date for any decrease 

in sales value due to normal wear, obsolescence, or absence of market demand, and reduce the 

cost of inventory to net realizable value accordingly. This inventory valuation is done by 

estimating product demand within a specific period of time in the future, which may give rise 

to significant changes. 

The book value of the Company's inventory as at December 31, 2021 totaled $334,194. 

VI. Notes to Major Accounts 

(i)  Cash and cash equivalents 

  December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Cash:       

Petty cash  $ 174  $ 359 

Check deposit   626   628 

Demand deposit   58,519   20,555 

  $ 59,319  $ 21,542 

1. All financial institutions that the Company deals with are of strong credit background. The 

Company also diversifies credit risk by dealing with multiple financial institutions at the 

same time, and therefore is unlikely to suffer from the default of a financial institution. 
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2. The Company participated in the Foundational R&D Program of the Ministry of Economic 

Affairs on December 31, 2020, and was required to present a banker's guarantee to serve as 

a performance bond. Restrictions were placed on $970 of cash and cash equivalents for this 

purpose, and the restricted cash was presented as "Other financial assets - current." As of 

December 31, 2021, the Company had not placed any cash or cash equivalent as collateral. 

(ii)  Notes and accounts receivable 

 

   December 31, 2021    December 31, 2020  

Notes receivable   $ 33,973    $ 5,091  

Installment notes receivable    74,361     84,983  

    108,334     90,074  

Less: Unrealized interest income  (  5,104 )  (  5,807 ) 

Loss provisions  (  40 )  (  2,273 ) 

   $ 103,190    $ 81,994  

 

   December 31, 2021    December 31, 2020  

Accounts receivable   $ 38,097    $ 37,410  

Installment accounts receivable    31,755     35,890  

    69,852     73,300  

Less: Unrealized interest income  (  1,047 )  (  970 ) 

Loss provisions  (  2,113 )  (  1,552 ) 

   $ 66,692    $ 70,778  

1. Notes and accounts receivable (including related parties) aging analysis: 

  December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

  Notes 

receivable 

 Accounts 

receivable 

 Notes 

receivable 

 Accounts 

receivable 

Current  $ 131,966  $ 97,418  $ 94,869  $ 124,761 

Overdue up to 30 

days 

  

-   972   -   8,381 

Overdue 31 - 90 

days 

  

-   4,111   -   3,183 

Overdue 91 - 180 

days 

  

-   522   -   473 

Overdue 181 days 

and above 

  

-   1,567   -   29 

  $ 131,966  $ 104,590  $ 94,869  $ 136,827 

The above aging analysis has been prepared based on the number of days overdue. 

2. Balances of notes and accounts receivable (including related parties) as at December 31, 2021 

and 2020, had arisen entirely from contractual arrangements with customers. Balance of 

contractual proceeds receivable from customers (including related parties) as at January 1, 

2020 was $234,327. 
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3. The Company had not placed accounts receivable as collateral as at December 31, 2021 and 

2020. 

4. In the absence of collaterals and other credit enhancements, maximum credit risk exposure is 

represented by the book value of notes and accounts receivable as at December 31, 2021 and 

2020. 

5. Amounts of the interest income (on installment notes receivable, installment accounts 

receivable, and long-term notes and accounts receivable) recognized through profit or loss 

totaled $12,222 in 2021 and $8,795 in 2020. 

6. For credit risk information on notes and accounts receivable, please refer to Note 12(2) 

Financial instruments. 

(iii)  Inventory 

  December 31, 2021 

  Cost   Allowance for 

Devaluation 

  Book Value 

Raw materials  $ 57,249  ( $ 20,238 )  $ 37,011 

Supplies   28,662  (  5,859 )   22,803 

Work-in-progress   264,611  (  14,404 )   250,207 

Finished goods   33,453  (  9,280 )   24,173 

  $ 383,975  ( $ 49,781 )  $ 334,194 

   

December 31, 2020 

  

Cost 

  Allowance for 

Devaluation 

  

Book Value 

Raw materials  $ 59,929  ( $ 18,003 )  $ 41,926 

Supplies   29,152  (  7,172 )   21,980 

Work-in-progress   262,679  (  16,370 )   246,309 

Finished goods   60,005  (  9,173 )   50,832 

  $ 411,765  ( $ 50,718 )  $ 361,047 

 

Cost of inventory recognized as expenses or losses in the current period: 

   2021    2020  

Cost of inventory sold   $ 540,574    $ 462,091  

Warranty cost    177   (  1,650 ) 

Processing cost    -     224  

Other operating costs    49     350  

Inventory devaluation (reversal) loss 

(Note) 

 

(  937 )    14,762  

Loss on stock-take    -     36  

Income from the sale of scrap and waste  (  859 )  (  524 ) 

   $ 539,004    $ 475,289  
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(Note) In 2021, the Company sold and used the inventories that had been provided for 

devaluation losses in previous years, resulting in a gain from inventory devaluation  

reversal, which was recognized as a deduction of cost of goods sold. 

 

(iv)  Investment accounted for using equity method 

1. Changes in investment accounted for using equity method 

   2021    2020  

Balance on January 1   $ 596,238    $ 592,288  

Share of profit/loss from investment 

accounted for using equity method 

   

86,590 

    

55,120 

 

Earnings distribution from investment 

accounted for using equity method 

 
( 
 

52,020 ) 
 
( 
 

58,954 ) 

Change in other equity items  (  3,047 )    7,784  

Balance on December 31   $ 627,761    $ 596,238  

 

2. Details of investment accounted for using equity method 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Subsidiary:      

Lion City Management Ltd. $ 627,761  $ 596,238 

 

3. For information relating to the Company's subsidiaries, please refer to Note 4(3) Basis of 

consolidation of the 2021 consolidated financial report. 

4. None of the Company's investment accounted for using equity method was pledged as 

collateral as at December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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(v)  Property, plant and equipment 

 
Land   Buildings    Machinery    

Utility 

Equipment    

Transport 

Equipment    

Office 

Equipment    

Other 

Equipment    Total 
 

January 1, 2021                                     

Cost $ 193,599   $ 204,498    $ 104,565    $ 22,306    $ 13,101    $ 2,101    $ 14,035    $554,205  

Accumulated depreciation  -  (  102,437 )  (  86,760 )  (  13,190 )  (  9,589 )  (  736 )  (  13,390 )  ( 226,102 ) 

 $ 193,599   $ 102,061    $ 17,805    $ 9,116    $ 3,512    $ 1,365    $ 645    $328,103  

2021                                     

January 1 $ 193,599   $ 102,061    $ 17,805    $ 9,116    $ 3,512    $ 1,365    $ 645    $328,103  

Addition  -    -     143     -     -     -     152    295  

Reclassification from 

prepayment for equipment 

purchase  -    -     2,350     -     151     -     -    2,501  

Depreciation expense  -  (  6,240 )  (  4,964 )  (  1,074 )  (  1,222 )  (  541 )  (  249 )  ( 14,290 ) 

Disposal - cost  -  (  6,724 )  (  520 )  (  1,373 )  (  1,004 )    -   (  673 )  ( 10,294 ) 

- Accumulated 

depreciation  -    6,724     520     1,373     549     -     673    9,839  

December 31 $ 193,599   $ 95,821    $ 15,334    $ 8,042    $ 1,986    $ 824    $ 548    $316,154  

                                     

December 31, 2021                                     

Cost $ 193,599   $ 197,774    $ 106,538    $ 20,933    $ 12,248    $ 2,101    $ 13,514    $546,707  

Accumulated depreciation  -  (  101,953 )  (  91,204 )  (  12,891 )  (  10,262 )  (  1,277 )  (  12,966 )  ( 230,553 ) 

 $ 193,599   $ 95,821    $ 15,334    $ 8,042    $ 1,986    $ 824    $ 548    $316,154  
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Land   Buildings    Machinery    
Utility 

Equipment    
Transport 
Equipment    

Office 
Equipment    

Other 
Equipment    

Equipment 
Pending 

Inspection 
and 

Construction 
in Progress    Total 

 

January 1, 2020                                            

Cost  $ 193,599   $ 177,221    $ 135,539    $ 14,619    $ 13,741    $ 1,518    $ 15,535    $ 29,827    $ 581,599  

Accumulated depreciation   -  (  96,394 )  (  107,191 )  (  12,349 )  (  8,681 )  (  427 )  (  14,742 )    -   (  239,784 ) 

  $ 193,599   $ 80,827    $ 28,348    $ 2,270    $ 5,060    $ 1,091    $ 793    $ 29,827    $ 341,815  

2020                                            

January 1  $ 193,599   $ 80,827    $ 28,348    $ 2,270    $ 5,060    $ 1,091    $ 793    $ 29,827    $ 341,815  

Addition   -    320     -     -     -     218     -     5,254     5,792  

Reclassification from 

prepayment for equipment 

purchase 

 

 -    -     4,860     -     -     470     255     -     5,585 

 

Reclassification from 

inspection 

 

 -    27,369     -     7,712     -     -     -   (  35,081 )    - 

 

Depreciation expense   -  (  6,448 )  (  8,060 )  (  866 )  (  1,335 )  (  414 )  (  330 )    -   (  17,453 ) 

Disposal - cost   -  (  412 )  (  35,834 )  (  25 )  (  640 )  (  105 )  (  1,755 )    -   (  38,771 ) 

- Accumulated 

depreciation 

 

 -    405     28,491     25     427     105     1,682     -     31,135 

 

December 31  $ 193,599   $ 102,061    $ 17,805    $ 9,116    $ 3,512    $ 1,365    $ 645    $ -    $ 328,103  

                                            

December 31, 2020                                            

Cost  $ 193,599   $ 204,498    $ 104,565    $ 22,306    $ 13,101    $ 2,101    $ 14,035    $ -    $ 554,205  

Accumulated depreciation   -  (  102,437 )  (  86,760 )  (  13,190 )  (  9,589 )  (  736 )  (  13,390 )    -   (  226,102 ) 

  $ 193,599   $ 102,061    $ 17,805    $ 9,116    $ 3,512    $ 1,365    $ 645    $ -    $ 328,103  
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1. All property, plant, and equipment as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 were utilized by 

the Company. 

2. Amount and rate of capitalized interest for property, plant and equipment: 

  2020 

Amount capitalized  $ 28 

Rates of capitalized interest  1.12% 

There was no such transaction in 2021. 

3. The Company had not placed property, plant, and equipment as collateral as at December 

31, 2021 and 2020. 

(vi)  Leases - as a lessee 

1. Land at Dayong Section, Gangshan District, Kaohsiung City, was the asset leased by the 

Company. The tenor of the lease contract was 12 years. Lease contracts were 

individually negotiated and drafted with different terms and conditions with no 

additional restriction. 

2. Book value of right-of-use assets and recognized amounts of depreciation expense are 

presented below: 

  December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

  Book value  Book value 

Land  $ 13,978  $ 15,762 

       

  2021  2020 

  Depreciation expense  Depreciation expense 

Land  $ 1,784  $ 1,784 

3. Additional amounts of right-of-use assets for 2021 and 2020 were $-. 

4. Income and expenses relating to lease agreements are presented below: 

  2021  2020 

Current Income/Expense Accounts Affected       

Interest expense on lease liabilities  $ 166  $ 182 

5. Amounts of cash outflow incurred on leases were both $1,720 in 2021 and 2020. 

6. The Company had not placed right-of-use assets as collateral as of December 31, 2021 

and 2020. 
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(vii)  Intangible asset 

   2021    2020  

January 1           

Original cost   $ 9,851    $ 9,635  

Accumulated amortization  (  8,961 )  (  8,106 ) 

   $ 890    $ 1,529  

           

January 1   $ 890    $ 1,529  

Addition    167     216  

Amortization expenses  (  743 )  (  855 ) 

Reduction in the period- cost  (  7,428 )    -  

- Accumulated amortization    7,428     -  

December 31   $ 314    $ 890  

           

December 31           

Original cost   $ 2,590    $ 9,851  

Accumulated amortization  (  2,276 )  (  8,961 ) 

   $ 314    $ 890  

1. There was no capitalization of interest in 2021 or 2020. 

2. Detailed breakdown on amortization of intangible assets: 

 2021  2020 

Operating cost $ 96  $ 96 

General and administrative expenses  123   194 

Research and development expenses  524   565 

 $ 743  $ 855 

3. The Company had not placed intangible assets as collateral as at December 31, 2021 and 

2020. 

(viii)  Long-term notes and accounts receivable 

   December 31, 2021    December 31, 2020  

Long-term notes receivable   $ 15,094    $ 49,179  

Long-term installment accounts receivable    2,733     8,171  

    17,827     57,350  

Less: unrealized interest income  (  2,605 )  (  6,290 ) 

   $ 15,222    $ 51,060  

1. All of the Company's long-term notes and accounts receivable have been granted 

according to a set of credit standards developed based on counterparties' industry 

characteristics, business size, and profitability. 

2. The Company did not have any long-term notes receivable or long-term installment 

accounts receivable (including related parties) that were overdue as of December 31, 

2021 and 2020. 
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3. Balances of long-term notes receivable and long-term installment accounts receivable 

(including related parties) as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, had arisen entirely from 

contractual arrangements with customers. Balance of long-term notes and accounts 

receivable (including related parties) from customers as at January 1, 2020 was $77,317. 

4. For details on interest income recognized in profit and loss in 2021 and 2020, please 

refer to Note 6(2) - Notes and accounts receivable. 

5. The Company had not placed long-term accounts receivable as collateral as at December 

31, 2021 and 2020. 

6. In the absence of collaterals and other credit enhancements, maximum credit risk 

exposure is represented by the book value of long-term notes receivable and long-term 

installment accounts receivable as at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

7. For credit risk information on long-term notes and accounts receivable, please refer to 

Note 12(2) - Financial instruments. 

(ix)  Short-term borrowings 

Nature of loan  December 31, 2021  

Interest rate 

range  Collateral 

Bank loans        

Unsecured loans  $ 120,000  0.52%〜0.98%  None 

        

Nature of loan 

 

December 31, 2020 

 Interest rate 

range 

 

Collateral 

Bank loans        

Unsecured loans  $ 260,000  0.77%〜1.07%  None 

For details on interest expense recognized in profit and loss in 2021 and 2020, please refer 

to Note 6(21) - Finance costs. 

(x)  Short-term bills payable 

   

December 31, 2020 

  Range of 

issuing interest 

rate 

 

Collateral or security 

Commercial paper 

payable 

  

$ 40,000 

  

1.04% 

 

None 

Less: Unamortized 

discount 

 (  43 )     

   $ 39,957      

There was no such transaction as of December 31, 2021. 

1. The commercial paper payable shown above was guaranteed by Mega Bills Finance Co., 

Ltd., and issued for short-term financing. 



 

- 216 - 

2. For details on interest expense recognized in profit and loss in 2021 and 2020, please 

refer to Note 6(21) - Finance costs. 

(xi)  Other payables 

  December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Salary and bonus payable  $ 15,993  $ 14,004 

Commission payable   12,474   7,751 

Employee benefit reserve   5,645   4,253 

Directors' remuneration payable   2,059   1,394 

Employees' remuneration payable   2,059   1,394 

Others   15,768   14,162 

  $ 53,998  $ 42,958 

(xii)  Provisions - Current 

Warranty reserves   2021    2020  

Balance on January 1   $ 1,865    $ 3,775  

New provisions    1,163     413  

Provisions used  (  17 )  (  260 ) 

Reversal of unused 

provisions 

 

( 

 

986 )  (  2,063 ) 

Balance on December 31   $ 2,025    $ 1,865  

Warranty reserves are related to the sale of machinery; the amount in which is estimated 

based on historical warranty information of the product concerned. 

(xiii)  Pension 

1. The Company has implemented a defined benefit pension plan in accordance with the 

"Labor Standards Act." The plan takes into account years of service of all permanent 

employees accumulated prior to the "Labor Pension Act" implemented on July 1, 2005, as 

well as years of service of employees who continue to opt for the legacy pension scheme 

mentioned under the "Labor Standards Act" after the new "Labor Pension Act" came into 

effect. The Company pays pension benefits based on employees' years of service and their 

6-month average salary prior to retirement for employees who meet the retirement criteria. 

Employees are awarded 2 basis points for every year of service up to (including) 15 years 

and 1 basis point for every year of service above 15 years, subject to a maximum of 45 basis 

points. The Company makes monthly pension contributions equivalent to 15% of 

employees' monthly gross salaries. These contributions are deposited into the dedicated 

account held with the Bank of Taiwan in the name of the Labor Pension Supervisory 

Committee. The Company also evaluates the balance of the labor pension fund account 

before the end of each year. In the event that the account is estimated to be short of balance 

to pay the amount in estimated pension benefits to workers who are expected to meet their 

retirement criteria in the following year, the Company is required to reimburse the shortfall 

in one contribution before March the following year. Below are disclosures relating to the 
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above defined benefit plan: 

(1) Amounts recognized in the balance sheet are as follows: 

   December 31, 2021    December 31, 2020  

Present value of defined benefit 

obligations 

  

$ 60,079 

   

$ 68,926 

 

Fair value of plan assets  (  31,522 )  (  42,059 ) 

Net defined benefit liabilities   $ 28,557    $ 26,867  

 

(2) Changes in net defined benefit liability: 

   Present Value of 

Defined Benefit 

Obligations    

Fair Value of  

Plan Assets   

Net Defined 

Benefit 

Liabilities 

 

2021               

Balance on January 1   $ 68,926   ( $ 42,059 )  $ 26,867  

Current period service 

costs 

   

260     -    260 

 

Interest expense 

(income) 

   

340   (  209 )   131 

 

    69,526   (  42,268 )   27,258  

Remeasurement:               

Return on plan assets    -   (  622 ) (  622 ) 

Effect of changes in 

financial 

assumption 

   

1,654     -    1,654 

 

Adjustment based on 

past experience 

   

1,516     -    1,516 

 

    3,170   (  622 )   2,548  

Contribution to pension 

fund 

   

-   (  1,249 ) (  1,249 ) 

Pension benefits paid  (  12,617 )    12,617    -  

Balance on December 31   $ 60,079   ( $ 31,522 )  $ 28,557  
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   Present Value of 

Defined Benefit 

Obligations 

   

Fair Value of  

Plan Assets 

  Net Defined 

Benefit 

Liabilities 

 

2020               

Balance on January 1   $ 92,902   ( $ 62,517 )  $ 30,385  

Current period service 

costs 

   

345 

    -    

345 

 

Interest expense 

(income) 

   

697 

  

( 

 

476 ) 

  

221 

 

    93,944   (  62,993 )   30,951  

Remeasurement:               

Return on plan assets    -   (  2,013 ) (  2,013 ) 

Effect of changes in 

financial 

assumption 

   

1,668 

    

-  

  

1,668 

 

Adjustment based on 

past experience 

 

( 

 

2,147 ) 

   

- 

 

( 

 

2,147 ) 

  (  479 )  (  2,013 ) (  2,492 ) 

Contribution to pension 

fund 

   

- 

  

( 

 

1,592 ) ( 

 

1,592 ) 

Pension benefits paid  (  24,539 )    24,539    -  

Balance on December 31   $ 68,926   ( $ 42,059 )  $ 26,867  

 

(3) Assets of the Company's defined benefit plan have been placed under mandated 

management of the Bank of Taiwan according to Article 6 of Regulations for Revenues, 

Expenditures, Safeguard and Utilization of the Labor Retirement Fund (concerning 

investments in local/foreign listed securities, privately placed equity securities, and real 

estate-backed securities placed with a local or foreign financial institution), and are being 

allocated for the uses and within the percentages and amounts outlined in the fund's annual 

investment plan. The utilization of the fund is being supervised by the Labor Pension Fund 

Supervisory Committee. Plan assets can only be allocated to investments that offer annual 

yields higher than the 2-year time deposit rate quoted by local banks. Shortfalls may be 

reimbursed by the public treasury subject to the approval of the authority. Since the 

Company is not involved in the fund's operation and management, it is unable to disclose 

the fair value of plan assets according to IAS 19 Section 142. For a fair value breakdown 

of plan assets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, please refer to government-published 

labor pension fund utilization reports for the respective years. 

(4) Actuarial assumptions relating to the pension plan are explained below: 

  2021  2020 

Discount rate  0.50%  0.50% 

Future salary increase  1.75%  1.75% 



 

- 219 - 

Assumptions regarding the future mortality rate for 2021 and 2020 were made 

based on the 6th and 5th Mortality Table for Life Insurance Industry in Taiwan. 

Impact of changes in actuarial assumption on the present value of defined benefit 

obligations is explained below: 

   Discount Rate  Future Salary Increase  

   0.25% 

increase 

  0.25% 

decrease 

 0.25% 

increase 

  0.25% 

decrease 

 

December 31, 2021                 

Impact on the present 

value of defined 

benefit obligations 

 

( $ 1,428 ) 

 

$ 1,482 

 

$ 1,438 

 

( $ 1,392 ) 

December 31, 2020                 

Impact on the present 

value of defined 

benefit obligations 

 

( $ 1,669 ) 

 

$ 1,732 

 

$ 1,680 

 

( $ 1,627 ) 

The above sensitivity analysis assumes changes to one variable at a time while 

keeping all other variables constant. In reality, however, multiple assumptions 

may change at the same time and are related to each other. The sensitivity 

analysis was conducted using the same method as to how net pension liabilities 

are presented in the balance sheet. 

Methodology and assumption for the current period's sensitivity analysis are 

consistent with those of the previous period. 

(5) The Company expects to make contributions totaling $1,151 to the pension plan 

in the next year. 

(6) as of December 31, 2021, the pension plan had an average duration of 9.6 years. 

Analysis of pension payments due: 

 

Next 1 year  $ 1,615 

Next 2-5 years   20,921 

Next 6-10 years   10,947 

Next 10 years and above   26,883 

  $ 60,366 

 

2. Since July 1, 2005, the Company has implemented a set of defined contribution plan 

policies in accordance with the "Labor Pension Act" that applies to employees of 

local nationality. For employees who are subject to the pension scheme introduced 

under the "Labor Pension Act," the Company contributes an amount equal to 6% of 

employees' monthly salary to their individual accounts held with the Bureau of Labor 
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Insurance on a monthly basis. Upon retirement, employees are paid the balance of 

their pension account plus cumulative gains either in monthly installments or in one 

lump sum. Total pension costs recognized according to the above policies amounted 

to $5,501 in 2021 and $6,476 in 2020. 

(xiv)  Ordinary share capital 

1. Reconciliation between opening and closing number of outstanding common shares 

is explained below: (unit: thousand shares) 

  2021  2020 

Opening and closing shares  60,290  60,290 

2. As at December 31, 2021, the Company had authorized capital of $1,000,000 and 

paid-up capital of $602,900 issued at 60,290 thousand shares of NT$10 each. 

Authorized capital can be issued in multiple offerings. Proceeds from issued shares 

have been fully collected. 

(xv)  Capital surplus 

Pursuant to The Company Act, the amount in premiums received on shares issued above 

the face value plus any capital reserves arising from gifts received may be used to 

reimburse previous losses. If the Company has not accumulated losses, this amount may 

be distributed to shareholders in cash or new shares based on shareholders' exiting 

ownership percentage. Furthermore, according to the Securities and Exchange Act, the 

amount in capital reserves capitalized into share capital is capped at 10% of paid-up 

capital per year. The Company may not utilize capital reserves to offset losses when 

there is still a positive balance in the earning reserves. 

(xvi)  Retained earnings 

1. According to The Company Act, the Company is required to make provisions for 

statutory reserves at 10% of after-tax earnings until it accumulates to the same amount 

as paid-up capital. The statutory reserve may not be used for purposes other than 

reimbursing previous losses or distributing proportionally back to existing 

shareholders in the form of cash or new shares. Only the amount in reserve that 

exceeds paid-up capital by 25% may be distributed in the form of cash or new shares. 

2. According to the Company's Articles of Incorporation, annual surpluses concluded by 

the Company will first be subject to taxation and reimbursement of previous losses, 

followed by a 10% provision for statutory reserve and provision or reversal of special 

reserve according to applicable rules. The residual balance can then be added to 

unappropriated earnings accumulated in previous years and distributed as shareholder 

dividends or retained at board of directors' proposal, subject to resolution in a 

shareholder meeting. Shareholders' dividends and profit sharing payouts and be paid 
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in shares and cash. Overall, the sum of dividends allocated can not be less than 10% 

of cumulative available earnings for the current year, and at least 50% of which has 

to be paid in cash. The Company authorizes the board of directors to distribute the 

proposed dividends, bonuses, capital surplus, or statutory reserves wholly or partially 

in cash, provided that such decision is resolved in a board meeting with at least two-

thirds of directors present, supported by more than half of attending directors, and 

reported during a shareholder meeting afterward. These decisions do not require 

shareholder meeting resolution mentioned in the preceding Paragraph. 

3. Special reserve 

(1) When distributing earnings, the Company is bound by laws to make provision for 

special reserves equal to the debit balance of other equity items as at the current 

balance sheet date before proceeding. If the debit balance of other equity items 

is reversed on a later date, the amount reversed can be added to available earnings 

for distribution. 

(2) During the first-time adoption of IFRSs, a special reserve of $116,771 was 

provided in accordance with FSC Letter No. Jin-Guan-Zheng-Fa-1010012865 

dated April 6, 2012. This special reserve can be reversed proportionally when the 

underlying assets are used, disposed of, or reclassified on a later date. 

4. The amount in cash dividends to owners recognized in 2021 and 2020 was $45,218 

(NT$0.75 per share) and $102,493 (NT$1.7 per share), respectively. During the board 

of directors meeting held on March 8, 2022, a resolution was passed on distributing 

cash dividends at NT$1.1 per share or $66,319 total from 2021 earnings. 

(xvii)  Operating revenue 

  2021  2020 

Revenue from contracts with customers  $ 658,184  $ 569,326 

1. Breakdown of income from customers' contracts 

The revenues of the Company are recognized at a certain point in time from the 

provision of goods and services transferred. The revenues can be broken down into 

the following product categories:. 

 2021  2020 

Revenue from sale of machinery  $ 602,957  $ 475,366 

Others  55,227   93,960 

 $ 658,184  $ 569,326 
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2. Contract liabilities 

(1) Contract liabilities associated with revenue from contracts with customers 

amounted to $122,882 and $48,363 as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, 

respectively. 

(2) The Company had contract liabilities of $48,363 and $27,683 as at January 1, 

2021 and 2020, from which it recognized $39,415 and $23,093 of revenues for 

years 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

(xviii)  Interest income 

  2021  2020 

Interest from bank deposits  $ 21  $ 32 

Interest income on installment notes and 

accounts receivable 

  

12,222 

  

8,795 

  $ 12,243  $ 8,827 

(xix) Other income 

  2021  2020 

Government subsidies income  $ 16,592  $ 22,041 

Business management income   13,010   12,834 

Rental income   3,600   1,800 

Other income   2,943   2,969 

  $ 36,145  $ 39,644 

1. The Company was an eligible subject of "Regulations on COVID-19 Business 

Relief" introduced by the Industrial Development Bureau, Ministry of Economic 

Affairs of the Republic of China. It recognized $7,103 and $21,472 of subsidy 

income from government subsidies on salary and working capital in 2021 and 2020, 

respectively. The above government subsidies were granted with conditions, and the 

Ministry of Economic Affairs may revoke, cease, and recover subsidies if the 

applicant exhibits any of the following: 

(1)  Incorrect details in the application document. 

(2)  Failure to cooperate in audits conducted by the by the authority or agent thereof.  

(3)  Repeated collection of salary subsidy or operating capital subsidy. 

(4)  Circumstances that the Ministry of Economic Affairs considers harmful to 

employees' interest. 

(5)  The applicant is an owner of idle land in one of the industrial zones listed in 

Article 46-1 of the Statute for Industrial Innovation. 

(6)  Major violation of environmental protection, labor, or food safety and health 

laws in the last 3 years. 

(7)  Failure to register factory according to the Factory Management Act. 
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(8)  Major violation of other relevant laws. 

(9)  Other issues of non-compliance. 

2. The Company recognized a government subsidy of $9,142 in 2021 for its 

participation in the R&D Consolidation Project of the Ministry of Economic Affairs 

of the Republic of China. 

 

(xx) Other gains or losses 

   2021    2020  

Net loss on foreign currency exchange  ( $ 2,320 )  ( $ 6,535 ) 

Net (loss) gain on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment 

 

( 

 

450 ) 

   

2,429 

 

  ( $ 2,770 )  ( $ 4,106 ) 

(xxi) Finance costs 

  2021   2020  

Interest expenses:         

Bank loans  $ 2,149   $ 3,003  

Lease liabilities   166    182  

Less: Capitalization of qualifying 

assets 

  

-  (  28 ) 

  $ 2,315   $ 3,157  

(xxii) Additional information on expenses 

  2021 

  Presented as 

Operating Cost 

 Presented as 

Operating Expense 

 

Total 

Employee benefit 

expenses 

 
$ 

86,260 

 
$ 75,364 

 
$ 161,624 

Depreciation    9,679   6,395   16,074 

Amortization    96   647   743 

  $ 96,035  $ 82,406  $ 178,441 

  2020 

  Presented as 

Operating Cost 

 Presented as 

Operating Expense 

 

Total 

Employee benefit 

expenses 

 

$ 93,393 

 

$ 77,286 

 

$ 170,679 

Depreciation    13,683   5,554   19,237 

Amortization   96   759   855 

  $ 107,172  $ 83,599  $ 190,771 
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(xxiii) Employee benefit expenses 

  2021 

  Presented as 

Operating Cost 

 Presented as 

Operating Expense 

 

Total 

Salary expenses  $ 72,839  $ 56,098  $ 128,937 

Labor/health insurance 

premium 

  

7,901   5,248   13,149 

Pension expense   3,292   2,600   5,892 

Directors' compensation   -   10,272   10,272 

Other personnel 

expenses 

  

2,228   1,146   3,374 

  $ 86,260  $ 75,364  $ 161,624 

   

  2020 

  Presented as 

Operating Cost  

Presented as 

Operating Expense  Total 

Salary expenses  $ 78,167  $ 59,492  $ 137,659 

Labor/health insurance 

premium 

  

9,087   5,443   14,530 

Pension expense   4,048   2,994   7,042 

Directors' compensation   -   8,418   8,418 

Other personnel 

expenses 

  

2,091   939   3,030 

  $ 93,393  $ 77,286  $ 170,679 

1. The Company employed a total of 193 employees in 2021 and 221 employees in 

2020; the number of directors without a concurrent role as an employee was 7 in 

both years. 

2. The Company reported average employee welfare expenses of NT$814 and 

NT$758, and average employee salary expenses of NT$693 and NT$643 in 2021 

and 2020, respectively. Average employee salary expenses increased by 8% in 

2021. 

3. The Company has set up an Audit Committee. Therefore no remuneration was 

recognized for supervisors in 2021 and 2020. 

4. The Company may compensate directors for the services rendered. Directors' 

compensations are determined according to internal policies and paid at the 

common rate. Managers handle corporate affairs by following the instructions of 

the board of directors; managers' compensations are determined according to 

internal policies and paid at the common rate. Employees of the Company are 

compensated based on individual capacity, contribution to the Company, 

performance, and market value of current position held; employees' salary and 

compensation are positively correlated with organizational performance. 
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Employees' compensation package comprises base salary, bonus, and benefits. 

Base salary is determined in line with the market level for the position held; the 

bonus is paid in relation to the accomplishment of individual and department goals 

and the Company's operational performance; whereas benefits are designed in 

accordance with laws and employees' needs. 

5. Pursuant to the former version of Articles of Incorporation, profits concluded from 

a financial year are subject to employee remuneration of no less than 1% and 

director remuneration of no more than 2%. However, profits must first be taken to 

offset cumulative losses, if any. The Company's Articles of Incorporation were 

last amended following resolutions sought during the shareholder meeting held on 

June 16, 2020. According to the amended Articles of Incorporation, profits 

concluded from a financial year are subject to employee remuneration of 2% and 

director remuneration of no more than 2%, depending on the current year's 

profitability. However, profits must first be taken to offset cumulative losses, if 

any. 

6. The Company had estimated employees’ remuneration at $2,059 and $1,394, and 

directors’ remuneration at $2,059 and $1,394 for 2021 and 2020, respectively. All 

above amounts were presented as salary expenses and determined based on the 

profitability of the respective years in accordance with the percentages stated in 

the Articles of Incorporation. The board meeting resolved to pay the 2020 

employees’ remuneration and directors’ remuneration at NT$2,796 each. The 

difference from the employees’ remuneration and directors’ remuneration of 

NT$2,788 recognized in the financial report of 2020 is $8, mainly due to the 

difference in estimation and calculation. The board meeting on March 8, 2022 

resolved to pay the 2021 employees’ remuneration and directors’ remuneration at 

NT$2,059 each; the employees’ remuneration will be paid in cash. Details of 

employees'/directors' remuneration passed by the Company's board of directors 

can be found on the Market Observation Post System. 
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(xxiv) Income tax 

1. Income tax expenses 

(1) Composition of income tax expense: 

  2021   2020  

Current income tax:         

Income tax on current profit  $ 6,776   $ 14,114  

Additional tax on unappropriated 

earnings 

  

243    38  

(Overestimation) underestimation of 

income tax expenses in previous 

years 

  

81  (  48 ) 

Total current income tax   7,100    14,104  

Deferred income tax:         

Occurrence and reversal of temporary 

difference 

  

7,940  (  3,901 ) 

income tax expense  $ 15,040   $ 10,203  

(2) Income tax on other comprehensive income: 

   2021   2020 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan  ( $ 509 )  $ 498 

Financial statement translation 

differences from foreign operations 

 

( 

 

593 )   1,542 

  ( $ 1,102 )  $ 2,040 

 

2. Relationship between income tax expense and accounting profit 

   2021    2020  

Income tax derived by applying the 

statutory tax rate to pre-tax profit 

  

$ 19,764    $ 13,427  

Effect of statutory adjustments  (  5,048 )  (  3,214 ) 

Additional tax on unappropriated earnings    243     38  

(Overestimation) underestimation of income 

tax expenses in previous years 

  

 81   (  48 ) 

income tax expense   $ 15,040    $ 10,203  
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3. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities arising from temporary differences are 

presented below: 

   2021  

   

January 1  

Recognized 

in Profit or 

Loss   

Recognized in 

Other 

Comprehensive 

Income   December 31 

 

Deferred tax assets                   

Temporary difference:                   

Pension expense   $ 5,374   ( $ 172 )  $ 509   $ 5,711  

Unrealized losses on inventory 

devaluation 

  

 9,619     337    -    9,956  

Excess provision of doubtful 

debt 

  

 129     458    -    587  

Others    2,453   (  862 )   -    1,591  

   $ 17,575   ( $ 239 )  $ 509   $ 17,845  

Deferred tax liabilities                   

Temporary difference:                   

Unrealized gain on investment  ( $ 90,580 )  ( $ 7,701 )  $ 593  ( $ 97,688 ) 

Provision for land increment 

value tax 

 

(  42,277 )    -    -  (  42,277 ) 

  ( $ 132,857 )  ( $ 7,701 )  $ 593  ( $ 139,965 ) 

  ( $ 115,282 )  ( $ 7,940 )  $ 1,102  ( $ 122,120 ) 

 

   2020  

    

January 1  

Recognized 

in Profit or 

Loss   

Recognized in 

Other 

Comprehensive 

Income    

December 

31 

 

Deferred tax assets                     

Temporary difference:                     

Pension expense   $ 6,077   ( $ 205 )  ( $ 498 )   $ 5,374  

Unrealized losses on inventory 

devaluation 

 

  7,191     2,428     -     9,619  

Excess provision of doubtful 

debt 

 

  -     129     -     129  

Others    2,458   (  5 )    -     2,453  

   $ 15,726    $ 2,347   ( $ 498 )   $ 17,575  

Deferred tax liabilities                     

Temporary difference:                     

Unrealized gain on investment  ( $ 90,592 )   $ 1,554   ( $ 1,542 )  ( $ 90,580 ) 

Provision for land increment 

value tax 

 

(  42,277 )    -     -   (  42,277 ) 

  ( $ 132,869 )   $ 1,554   ( $ 1,542 )  ( $ 132,857 ) 

  ( $ 117,143 )   $ 3,901   ( $ 2,040 )  ( $ 115,282 ) 

 

4. The Company's profit-seeking enterprise business income tax returns have been certified 

by the tax authority up to 2019. No administrative remedy has been raised in relation to 

tax matters as of March 8, 2022. 
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(xxv) Earnings per share 

  2021 

  

Amount 

after Tax 

 Weighted 

Average 

Outstanding 

Shares (thousand 

shares) 

 

Earnings 

Per Share 

(NTD) 

Basic earnings per share         

Current net income attributable to 

common shareholders 

 $ 

83,778  60,290  $ 1.39 

Diluted earnings per share         

Current net income attributable to 

common shareholders 

 

$ 83,778      

Dilutive effect of potential ordinary 

shares - employee remuneration 

  

-  105    

Current net income attributable to 

common shareholders plus the effect 

of potential common shares 

 

$ 83,778  60,395  $ 1.39 

 

  2020 

  

Amount after 

Tax 

 Weighted 

Average 

Outstanding 

Shares (thousand 

shares) 

 

Earnings 

Per Share 

(NTD) 

Basic earnings per share         

Current net income attributable to 

common shareholders  $ 56,931  60,290  $ 0.94 

Diluted earnings per share         

Current net income attributable to 

common shareholders  $ 56,931      

Dilutive effect of potential ordinary 

shares - employee remuneration   -  78    

Current net income attributable to 

common shareholders plus the effect 

of potential common shares  $ 56,931  60,368  $ 0.94 

 

  



 

- 229 - 

 

(xxvi) Supplementary cash flow information 

1. Investing activities involving partial cash outlay: 

  2021   2020  

(1) Purchase of property, plant, and 

equipment 

 $ 

295   $ 5,792 

 

Plus: Equipment proceeds 

payable at the beginning of the 

period (presented as "other 

payables") 

  

-    4,718 

 

Less: Capitalized interest   -  (  28 ) 

Cash paid for purchase of 

property, plant, and equipment 

 

$ 295   $ 10,482 

 

 

  2021   2020  

(2) Disposal of property, plant, and 

equipment 

 

$ 5   $ 10,065  

Add: Other installment notes 

receivable - related parties  

  

4,000    -  

Beginning other receivables - 

related parties 

  

1,985    -  

Add: Other installment notes 

receivable- related parties: 

  

-  (  4,000 ) 

Beginning other receivables - 

related parties 

 

 -  (  1,985 ) 

Proceeds collected from disposal 

of property, plant, and 

equipment 

 

$ 5,990   $ 4,080  

 

2. Operating and investing activities without cash flow effects: 

  2021  2020 

(1) Charge-off of unrecoverable 

proceeds 

 

$ 
- 
 

$ 285 

(2) Reclassification from 

prepayments for equipment to 

property, plant, and equipment 

 

$ 2,501 

 

$ 5,585 
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(xxvii)  Change of liabilities relating to financing activities 

   

Short-Term 

Borrowings    

Short-

Term Bills 

Payable    

Lease 

Liabilities    

Total Liabilities 

Relating To 

Financing 

Activities 

 

Balance as at January 

1, 2021 

  

$ 260,000    $ 39,957    $ 16,443    $ 316,400  

Changes in cash flow 

from financing 

activities 

 

( 

 

140,000 )  (  40,000 )  (  1,554 )  (  181,554 ) 

Other changes without 

cash effect 

   

-     43     -     43  

Balance as of 

December 31, 2021 

  

$ 120,000    $ -    $ 14,889    $ 134,889  

 

  

Short-Term 

Borrowings   

Short-

Term Bills 

Payable    

Lease 

Liabilities    

Total Liabilities 

Relating To 

Financing 

Activities 

 

Balance as at January 1, 

2020 

 

$ 170,000   $ 9,997    $ 17,981    $ 197,978  

Changes in cash flow 

from financing 

activities 

  

90,000    30,000   (  1,538 )    118,462  

Other changes without 

cash effect 

  

-  (  40 )    -   (  40 ) 

Balance as at December 

31, 2020 

 
$ 

260,000   $ 39,957    $ 16,443    $ 316,400  
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VII. Related Party Transactions 

(i)  Name and relationship of related parties 

Name of related party  Relationship with the Company 

Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. (Chun Yu)  Parent Company 

Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

(Shanghai Chun Zu) 

 
Subsidiary 

Chun Bang Precision Co., Ltd. (Chun Bang)  Associated company 

PT Moon Lion Industries Indonesia (PT Moon Lion)  Associated company 

Chunyu (Dongguan) Metal Products Co., Ltd. (Chun 

Yu Dongguan) 

 
Associated company 

Shanghai Uchee Hardware Products Co., Ltd. 

(Shanghai Uchee) 

 
Associated company 

OFCO Industrial Corp. (OFCO)  Other related party 

Homkom Precision Industry Corp. (Homkom)  Other related party 

Gloria Material Technology Corp. (Gloria Material)  Other related party 

TSG Transport Corp. (TSG)  Other related party 

(ii)  Significant transactions with related parties 

1. Operating revenues 

  2021  2020 

Sale of merchandise:       

- Associated companies and other 

related parties 

 

$ 99,773 

 

$ 35,898 

- Parent Company   21,624   23,207 

- PT Moon Lion   12,757   77,357 

- Subsidiary   276   475 

  $ 134,430  $ 136,937 

All sales transactions with related parties are conducted on normal trade terms. Sales 

proceeds are collected according to the terms of individual sales contract for machinery 

and equipment, or 1-2 years for installment sales (1-3 years for 2020), or 3-4 months for 

parts and accessories. 

2. Purchases 

  2021  2020 

Purchase of merchandise:       

- Subsidiary  $ 18,632  $ 8,276 

- Associated companies and other 

related parties 

  

13,941 

  

15,412 

- Parent Company   270   754 

  $ 32,843  $ 24,442 

The Company purchases goods from related parties at prices and terms that are 

comparable to general suppliers. Purchases of machinery and equipment are executed 

according to the terms of the respective contracts; payments terms for parts and 

accessories are between 3-4 months. 
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3. Other income 

  2021  2020 

Subsidiary  $ 13,790  $ 12,834 

Associated companies and other related 

parties 

  

3,680 

  

2,917 

  $ 17,470  $ 15,751 

4. Property transaction 

Disposal of property, plant, and equipment: 

    2020 

  Name of equipment  Disposal proceeds  Gain (loss) on disposal 

Chun Bang 

 Machinery and 

equipment 

 

$ 10,065 

 

$ 2,436 

There was no such transaction in 2021. 

5. Related party receivables 

   December 31, 2021    December 31, 2020  

(1) Notes receivable and other notes 

receivable(including installment notes 

receivable) 

          

- OFCO   $ 23,265    $ 595  

- Chun Bang    367     4,200  

    23,632     4,795  

Less: Unrealized interest income  (  605 )    -  

Loss provisions  (  7 )  (  1 ) 

   $ 23,020    $ 4,794  

(2) Accounts receivable (including 

installment accounts receivable) 

          

- Chun Yu Dongguan   $ 18,991    $ 12,549  

- OFCO    10,198     581  

- Parent Company    2,952     2,369  

- Associated companies and other 

related parties 

   

2,597 

    

6,165 

 

- PT Moon Lion    -     41,863  

    34,738     63,527  

Less: Unrealized interest income  (  1,189 )  (  3,669 ) 

Loss provisions  (  11 )  (  24 ) 

   $ 33,538    $ 59,834  

(3) Other receivables           

- Subsidiary   $ 13,032    $ 13,131  

- Chun Bang    400     3,661  

   $ 13,432    $ 16,792  
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  December 31, 2021   December 31, 2020  

(4) Long-term notes and accounts 

receivable(including installment notes 

and accounts receivable) 

        

- PT Moon Lion  $ -   $ 14,100  

- Chun Yu Dongguan   -    3,062  

   -    17,162  

Less: Unrealized interest income   -  (  1,848 ) 

  $ -   $ 15,314  

6. Prepayments 

  December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Subsidiary  $ 6,413  $ 3,488 

7. Contract liabilities - current 

  December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Parent company  $ 4,928  $ 2,969 

OFCO   1,800   - 

Gloria Material   -   6,690 

  $ 6,728  $ 9,659 

8. Notes and accounts payable - related parties 

  December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

(1) Notes payable       

- OFCO  $ 1,575  $ - 

- Chun Bang   -   135 

  $ 1,575  $ 135 

(2) Accounts payable       

- Associated companies and other 

related parties 

 

$ 5,898 

 

$ 5,052 

- Subsidiary   787   760 

- Parent Company   10   109 

$ 6,695  $ 5,921 

(iii)  Compensation of key management staff 

  2021  2020 

Salary and other short-term employee 

benefits 

 

$ 21,812 

 

$ 12,208 

 

VIII. Pledged Assets 

The Company had placed the following assets as collaterals: 

  Book value   

Assets 

 December 31, 

2021 

 December 31, 

2020 

 Purpose of 

security 

Pledged demand deposits (Presented as 

"Other financial assets - current”) 

 

$ -  $ 970 

 Performance 

guarantee 
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IX. Significant Contingent Liabilities and Unrecognized Commitments 

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had $- and $48 of capital spending on property, 

plant, and equipment that were contracted but unpaid. 

X. Losses from Significant Disasters  

None. 

XI. Significant Events after the Balance Sheet Date  

None. 

XII. Others 

(i)  Capital management 

The objectives of the Company's capital management efforts are to ensure continuity of 

business activities and maintain the optimal capital structure that minimizes funding 

costs while maximizing shareholders' returns. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 

the Company may revise the amount in dividends paid to shareholders, refund capital 

back to shareholders, or reduce debts by issuing new shares or disposing of assets. 

(ii)  Financial instruments 

1. Types of financial instruments 

Please refer to Notes 6 and 12(3) - Fair value information for more details on the 

types of financial instruments held by the Company. 

2. Risk management policy 

(1) The Company's day-to-day operations are susceptible to multiple forms of 

financial risks, including market risks (the exchange rate risk, price risk and 

interest rate risk), credit risks, and liquidity risks. The Company adopts a risk 

management policy that emphasizes responses to unpredictable occurrences in 

the financial market and is constantly exploring solutions to mitigate adverse 

impacts on the Company's financial position and performance. 

(2) Risk management is performed by the Company's Finance Department according 

to board-approved policies. The Finance Department is responsible for 

identifying, assessing, and mitigating financial risks, and it achieves this by 

working closely with other departments within the Company. The board of 

directors has implemented written principles on risk management practices and 

outlined policies for specific matters such as exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, 

credit risk, use of derivative/non-derivative instruments, and residual liquid 

capital investment. 
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3. Characteristics and level of significant financial risks 

(1) Market risk 

A. Exchange rate risk 

(A) The Company is a multinational organization and is therefore exposed to 

exchange rate risks of several different currencies. USD accounts for the 

highest exposure. Exchange rate risks arise from future commercial 

transactions, recognized assets and liabilities, and net investments in 

foreign operations. 

(B) The Company has implemented policies to guide the management of 

exchange rate risks associated with functional currencies. The Company 

is required to hedge exchange rate risks through the Finance Department. 

Exchange rate risks arise when future commercial transactions or 

recognized assets/liabilities are denominated in foreign currencies other 

than the functional currency. 

(C) Some of the Company's business activities involve non-functional 

currencies (the Company's functional currency is NT$) and are therefore 

susceptible to exchange rate fluctuations. Information on foreign 

currency-denominated assets and liabilities susceptible to significant 

exchange rate fluctuation is as follows: 

  December 31, 2021 

(Foreign Currency: 

Functional Currency) 

 Foreign 

Ccurrency 

(thousand) 

 

Exchange 

Rate 

 

Book Value 

Financial assets         

Monetary items         

USD:NTD  $ 2,478  27.68  $ 68,591 

EUR:NTD   135  31.32   4,228 

         

Investment accounted 

for using equity method 

        

USD:NTD   22,679  27.68   627,761 

         

Financial liabilities         

Monetary items         

USD:NTD   430  27.68   11,902 
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  December 31, 2020 

(Foreign Currency: 

Functional Currency) 

 Foreign 

Currency 

(thousand) 

 

Exchange 

Rate 

 

Book Value 

Financial assets         

Monetary items         

USD:NTD  $ 4,076  28.48  $ 116,084 

EUR:NTD   55  35.02   1,926 

RMB:NTD   3,169  4.38   13,880 

         

Investment accounted 

for using equity method 

        

USD:NTD   20,935  28.48   596,238 

         

Financial liabilities         

Monetary items         

USD:NTD   163  28.48   4,642 

EUR:NTD   33  35.02   1,156 

 

Exchange rate sensitivity analyses are performed primarily on foreign 

currency monetary items as of the closing date of the financial reporting 

period. If NTD strengthened/weakened against foreign currencies by 1%, 

the Company's 2021 and 2020 net income would have 

decreased/increased by $487 and $1,009, respectively. 

Total net exchange loss (realized and unrealized) recognized by the 

Company from significant monetary items susceptible of exchange rate 

fluctuation in 2021 and 2020 was $2,320 and $6,535, respectively. 

B. Price risk 

The Company does not trade any financial instrument that is susceptible to 

price change, and therefore is not exposed to market risk from price changes. 

C. Cash flow and fair value risks of interest rate 

(A) The Company bears interest rate risk from some of the short-term loans 

borrowed at floating rates. These loans give rise to interest rate risks in 

the form of variable cash flow. The Company’s floating rate borrowings 

in 2021 and 2020 were denominated in NTD. 

(B) Loans of the Company are measured at cost after amortization. Interest 

rates on loans are subject to repricing on a yearly basis according to the 

terms of the respective contract. As a result, the Company is exposed to 

the risk of changes in the market interest rate. 
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(C) With all other factors remaining unchanged, a 1% rise/fall in the 

borrowing interest rate in 2021 and 2020 would reduce/increase the net 

income by $960 and $$2,080, respectively. These changes are mainly 

attributed to increases or decreases in interest expense on loans borrowed 

at floating rates. 

(2) Credit risk 

A. Credit risk refers to the possibility of losses suffered by the Company due to 

its customers or financial instrument counterparties becoming unable to fulfill 

contractual obligations. These risk events mostly involve the counterparties 

being unable to settle the amount collectible or the contractual cash flow 

according to the payment terms agreed. 

B. The Company has developed credit risk management practices from a 

corporate perspective. Only banks and financial institutions that are awarded 

independent credit ratings above a certain level can be accepted as transaction 

counterparties. According to internal credit policy, the Company is required 

to perform credit risk management and analysis on every new customer before 

establishing payment and delivery terms. The Company adopts an internal 

risk management system that assesses credit quality by taking into account 

customers' financial position, previous conducts, and other relevant factors. 

Individual counterparty risk limits are set by the board of directors based on 

internal or external assessments. Uses of credit limit are monitored on a 

regular basis. 

C. The Company has adopted the following assumptions mentioned in IFRS 9 

to provide the basis for identifying any significant increase in the credit risk 

of a financial instrument held on hand after initial recognition: 

A financial asset is considered to have exhibited a significant increase in 

credit risk after initial recognition when contractual payment (according to 

the terms of the underlying contract) becomes past due for more than 30 days. 

D. The Company adopts the assumptions stated in IFRS 9 and treats a contract 

to be in default if payment is overdue for more than 90 days. 

E. The Company classifies notes and accounts receivable from customers 

(including long-term receivables and related parties) by location and credit 

risk characteristics. The Company adopts a simplified approach and uses the 

preparation matrix to estimate expected credit loss. The loss rate for 

estimating allowances on notes and accounts receivable (including long-term 

receivables and related parties) is determined after considering the future 
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prospect, historical experience, and current information. Below is the 

preparation matrix as at December 31, 2021 and 2020: 

December 31, 2021 

 Expected Loss 

Rate 

 

Total Book Value 

 

Loss Provisions 

Current  0.03%  $ 247,211  $ 81 

Overdue up to 90 

days 

 

0.03%-5.90% 

 

 5,083   1 

Overdue 91 days and 

above 

 

100% 

 

 2,089   2,089 

    $ 254,383  $ 2,171 

         

December 31, 2020 

 Expected Loss 

Rate 

 

Total Book Value  Loss Provisions 

Current  0.03%-0.12%  $ 294,142  $ 2,399 

Overdue up to 90 

days 

 

0.03%-47.06% 

 

 11,564   1,132 

Overdue 91 days and 

above 

 

63.45%-100% 

 

 502   319 

    $ 306,208  $ 3,850 

 

F. Below are changes in loss provision on notes and accounts receivable, 

determined using the simplified approach: 

   2021  

   Notes 

Receivable 

   Accounts 

Receivable 

   

Total 

 

Balance on January 1   $ 2,274    $ 1,576    $ 3,850  

Expected credit (reversal) loss  (  2,227 )    548   (  1,679 ) 

Balance on December 31   $ 47    $ 2,124    $ 2,171  

                

   2020  

   Notes 

Receivable 

   Accounts 

Receivable 

   

Total 

 

Balance on January 1   $ 95    $ 420    $ 515  

Expected credit loss    2,179     1,441     3,620  

Charge-off of unrecoverable 

proceeds 

  

 -   (  285 )  (  285 ) 

Balance on December 31   $ 2,274    $ 1,576    $ 3,850  

(3) Liquidity risk 

A. The Company's Finance Department monitors and forecasts cash flow 

requirements to ensure that adequate funding is obtained to finance various 

operations. The Finance Department also maintains an adequate level of 

committed borrowing limits available at all times to prevent the Company 

from violating the terms of the loan. 
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B. The Company classifies non-derivative financial liabilities by maturity date. 

It analyzes them based on their remaining timespan from the balance sheet 

date until contract maturity, as shown in the following chart. Amounts of 

contractual cash flow shown in the table below are not discounted. 

December 31, 2021  

Less than 1 

year  1 to 2 years  2 to 5 years  

5 years and 

above 

Non-derivative 

financial liabilities: 

           

Short-term 

borrowings 

 

$120,392  $ -  $ -  $ - 

Notes payable  486   -   -   - 

Notes payable            

- related parties  1,575          

Accounts payable  128,575   -   -   - 

Other payables  53,998   -   -   - 

Lease liabilities  1,720   1,778   6,193   5,849 

 

December 31, 2020  

Less than 1 

year  1 to 2 years  

2 to 5 

years  

5 years and 

above 

Non-derivative 

financial liabilities: 

           

Short-term 

borrowings 

 

$260,670  $ -  $ -  $ - 

Short-term bills 

payable 

 

40,000   -   -   - 

Notes payable  273   -   -   - 

Notes payable            

- related parties  135          

Accounts payable  90,796   -   -   - 

Other payables  42,958   -   -   - 

Lease liabilities  1,720   1,720   5,907   7,913 

C. The Company does not expect cash flows of non-derivative financial 

liabilities in the maturity analysis to occur at any earlier time, or in amounts 

that differ significantly. 

(iii)  Fair value information 

1. The Company did not hold any financial instrument carried at fair value as at 

December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

2. The Company holds financial instruments that are not carried at fair value (including 

cash and cash equivalents, notes receivable, accounts receivable (including related 

parties), other receivables (including related parties), guarantee deposits paid, long-

term notes and accounts receivable (including related parties), short-term loans, short-

term bills payable, notes payable (including related parties), accounts payable and 
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other payables; for these instruments, the book value closely resembles their fair 

value. 

(iv)  Other matters 

1. The Company is a multinational enterprise. Due to the repeated impact of COVID-19, 

various countries still implement various pandemic prevention measures to varying 

degrees, which has affected the export to a certain extent. The Company maintains 

close contact with customers and manufacturers for the continuation of orders, but 

the actual degree of possible impact still depends on the follow-up development of 

the pandemic in various countries. 

2. Affected by COVID-19 and the government's promotion of a number of pandemic 

prevention measures, the Company, in compliance with the "Guidelines for 

Continuous Operation of Enterprises in Response to the Pandemic of Severe and 

Special Infectious Pneumonia", has adopted countermeasures related to workplace 

health management and continues to manage relevant matters. The Company's plants 

operate normally without significant impact in any aspects. 

XIII. Other Disclosures 

Only information for the year 2021 was disclosed according to the regulations. 

(i)  Information related to significant transactions 

1. Loans to external parties: None. 

2. Endorsements/guarantees to external parties: None. 

3. End-of-period marketable securities holding position (excluding investment in 

subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures): None. 

4. Cumulative purchase or sale of the same marketable securities amounting to NT$300 

million or more than 20% of the paid-up capital: None. 

5. Acquisition of real estate amounting to NT$300 million or more than 20% of paid-up 

capital: None. 

6. Disposal of real estate amounting to NT$300 million or more than 20% of paid up 

capital: None. 

7. Sales and purchases with related parties amounting to NT$100 million or more than 

20% of paid up capital: None. 

8. Related party accounts receivable amounting to NT$100 million or more than 20% of 

paid-up capital: None. 

9. Derivative transactions: None. 
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10. Major business dealings between the parent company and subsidiaries and 

transactions between subsidiaries: Please refer to Table 1. 

(ii)  Information on business investments 

Names, locations and information on investees (excluding Mainland investees): Please 

refer to Table 2. 

(iii)  Information relating to investments in the Mainland 

1. Basic information: Please refer to Table 3. 

2. Significant transactions with Mainland investees, whether directly invested or 

indirectly invested through a third location: Please refer to Table 4. 

XIV. Segment Information 

Not applicable. 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

Intercompany Relationships and Significant Intercompany Transactions 
January 1 to December 31, 2021 

Table 1     Unit: NTD thousand 

       

        

No. 

(Note 2) Company Name Counterparty 

Nature of Relationship  

(Note 3) 

Transaction Summary 

Item Amount Transaction Terms 

Percentage 

of 

Consolidate
d Revenues 

or Total 

Assets 
0 Chun Zu Machinery Industry 

Co., Ltd. 

Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. 

1  Purchase  $     18,632 Payments terms for parts and accessories are 

between 3 and 4 months; purchases of 
machinery and equipment are executed 

according to the terms of the respective 

contracts 

1% 

   1  Income from business management 

service 

       13,010 Pay once a year, remittance before the end of 

May of the following year 

1% 

   1  Other receivables        13,032 - 1% 

   1  Prepayments         6,413 - - 

        
(Note 1) No duplicate disclosure is made on major business dealings between the parent company and subsidiaries and transactions between subsidiaries of the opposite direction. Only transactions 

amounting to NT$1 million and above are disclosed. 

(Note 2) Business dealings between the parent company and subsidiaries are indicated in the serial number column. The numbering rule is explained below: 
       1. Fill out 0 for the parent company. 

       2. Each subsidiary is numbered in sequential order starting from 1. 

(Note 3) Related party transactions are distinguished into one of three categories, as shown below: 
       1. Parent to subsidiary. 

       2. Subsidiary to parent. 

       3. Subsidiary to subsidiary. 
(Note 4) Calculation for business dealings as a percentage of total consolidated revenues or total assets is explained as follows: for balance sheet items, percentage of equity at end of period is calculated 

relative to consolidated total assets or liabilities; for profit and loss items, percentage of end-of-period cumulative amount is calculated relative to consolidated total revenues. 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

Names, Locations and Related Information of Investee Companies (excluding investees in Mainland China) 

January 1 to December 31, 2021 

Table 2        Unit: NTD thousand 

          

            

Investor Investee Location 

Main 

Businesses  

Original Investment Amount Period-End Holding Position 

Current Period Profit 

(Loss) of the Investee 

Investment Gains 
(Losses) Recognized in 

the Current Period Remarks 

End of Current 

Period 

End of Previous 

Year 

Shares 
(thousand 

shares) Ratio Book Value 

Chun Zu Machinery 
Industry Co., Ltd. 

Lion City Management 
Ltd 

British 
Virgin 

Islands 

Professional 
investment 

institution 

 $    55,360   $    55,360        2,000  100.00  $   627,761   $           86,590   $           86,590  Subsidiary 

            

            

            

            

            

            

            
(Note) For foreign currency items shown on this chart, the closing book value were converted into NTD using the exchange rate as at the date of financial statement (USD 1:NTD 27.68); meanwhile, amounts 

including investees' current profit/loss and gain/loss on investment recognized in the current period were converted into NTD using the 2021 average exchange rate (USD 1:NTD 28.01). 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

Information on Investments in Mainland China - Profile and Investment Limits 

January 1 to December 31, 2021 

Table 3          Unit: NTD thousand  

Name of Mainland 

Investee 

Main Businesses 

and Products Paid-in Capital 

Method of 

Investments 

Opening 

Cumulative 

Balance of 

Investment 

Capital 

Invested from 

Taiwan 

Contributed or 

Recovered during 

the Current Period 

Amount Invested 

Closing 

Cumulative 

Balance of 

Investment 

Capital 

Invested 

from Taiwan 

Investee 

Current 

Profit and 

Loss 

% Ownership 

of Direct or 

Indirect 

Investment 

Investment 

Gains/Losses 

Recognized 

in the Current 

Period 

Investment 

Profit 

(Note 3) 

End-of-

Period 

Investment 

Book Value 

Investment 

Gains 

Recovered 

to Date Remarks Outward Inward 

Shanghai Chun Zu 

Machinery Industry 

  Co., Ltd. 

Manufacturing 

and trading of 

machinery 

 $   235,280 

     (Note 1)   

(Note 2)  $    55,360   $   -     $   -     $  55,360   $   86,581  100.00%  $ 86,581   $ 617,670  $  712,760             

  (Note 4)  

- 

 
              

Company Name 

Closing Cumulative Balance 

of Investment Capital 

Transferred from Taiwan into 

Mainland China 

Investment Commission, 

Ministry of Economic Affairs 

Amount of Investment Approved 

Limits Authorized by the 

Investment Commission, 

Ministry of Economic Affairs, 

for Investing in Mainland 

China (Note 5) 

        

Chun Zu Machinery Industry 

Co., Ltd. 
$      55,360 $    179,920 $   615,607 

        

              
Note 1) Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. has paid-up capital of US$8,500 thousand; US$4,000 thousand of which were contributed by Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

through a subsidiary - Lion City Management Ltd., whereas the other US$4,500 thousand was capitalized from earnings; both sources of share capital were pre-approved by the 

Investment Commission. Lion City Management Ltd. undertook a capital reduction in 2008 and returned US$2,000 thousand to the investor in cash; this transaction was acknowledged 

by the Investment Commission. 
(Note 2) Investment into the Mainland was made through an intermediary (Lion City Management Ltd.) established in a third location. 
(Note 3) The amount of investment profit recognized in the current year was evaluated based on audited financial statements. 
(Note 4) It represents US$25,750 thousand of cash dividend that Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. had received from Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. through Lion City 

Management Ltd. 
(Note 5) Calculated at 60% of net worth or consolidated net worth (whichever is higher). 
(Note 6) For foreign currency items shown on this chart, amounts including paid-up capital, investment capital from Taiwan, and closing book value were converted into NTD using the exchange 

rate as at the date of financial statement (USD 1:NTD 27.68); meanwhile, amounts including investees' current profit/loss and gain/loss on investment recognized in the current period 

were converted into NTD using the 2021 average exchange rate (USD 1:NTD 28.01). 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 
 

Information Relating to Investments in the Mainland - Significant Transactions with Mainland Investees, whether Directly Invested or Indirectly Invested through a Third Location  

January 1 to December 31, 2020 
 

Table 4          Unit: NTD thousand  

             

               

Name of Mainland Investee 

Sale (Purchase) Property Transaction 

Accounts Receivable 

(Payable) 

Endorsed Notes, 
Guarantees, or Pledged 

Collaterals Financing  

 

Amount % Amount % Balance % 
Closing 
Balance Purpose 

Highest 
Balance 

Closing 
Balance 

Interest 
Rate Range 

Interest for  
Current Period Others 

 

Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. 

($ 18,632) (1%)  $      -        -   $    -        -   $    -   -   $     -   $      -        -   $       -   $ 13,010  (Note 1) 

       -       -          -        -        -        -        -        -         -          -        -           -     13,032  (Note 2) 

       -       -          -        -        -        -        -        -         -          -        -           -      6,413  (Note 3) 

               

               

               

               

               

(Note 1) Represents income from business management service.            

(Note 2) Represents other receivables.              

(Note 3) Represents prepayments.              
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VI. Any financial distress experienced by the Company or affiliated enterprise and 

impacts on the Company's financial position in the last year up until the 

publication date of the annual report: none 

  



 

 

- 247 - 

 

Seven. Review and Analysis of Financial Position and Business Performance, 

and Risk Management Issues 

 I. Comparative analysis of financial position (consolidated) 

Unit: NTD thousand 

Year 

Item 
2021 2020 

Difference 

Amount % 

Current asset 1,401,368 1,321,183 80,185 6% 

Property, plant and 

equipment 
485,126 514,894 -29,768 -6% 

Intangible asset 4,647 6,518 -1,871 -29% 

Other assets 157,435 128,854 28,581 22% 

Total assets 2,048,576 1,971,449 77,127 4% 

Current liabilities 840,724 804,891 35,833 4% 

Non-current liabilities 181,840 174,613 7,227 4% 

Total liabilities 1,022,564 979,504 43,060 4% 

Share capital 602,900 602,900 0 0% 

Additional paid-in 

capital 
259 259 0 0% 

Retained earnings 479,096 442,575 36,521 8% 

Other equities -56,243 -53,789 -2,454 -5% 

Total equity 1,026,012 991,945 34,067 3% 

Analysis and explanation to significant variations amounting to NT$10 million or 20% or above: 

Other assets: Increased at the end of 2021 compared with the previous year, mainly due to the addition 

of RMB fixed deposits for more than one year by Chun Zu Shanghai. 
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II. Comparative analysis of financial performance 

(I) Significant changes in operating revenues, operating income, and pre-tax income in the 

last 2 years 

Unit: NTD thousand 

 

 

 

Year 

Item 
2021 2020 

Difference 

Amount % 

Net operating revenues 1,460,987 1,221,097 239,890 20% 

Operating cost 1,114,239 961,488 152,751 16% 

Gross profit 346,748 259,609 87,139 34% 

Operating expenses 265,829 214,768 51,061 24% 

Operating profit 80,919 44,841 36,078 80% 

Non-operating income and 

expense 
33,861 

27,437 
6,424 23% 

Profit before tax 114,780 72,278 42,502 59% 

Tax expense (income) 31,002 15,347 15,655 102% 

Net profit 83,778 56,931 26,847 47% 

     

Analysis and explanation to significant variations amounting to NT$10 million or 20% or above: 

1. Net operating revenue: In 2021, the vaccination rate in major countries was gradually 

popularized, the impact of the pandemic slowed down, and the recovery of international 

economic and trade exchanges made the Company's domestic and foreign sales grow. Therefore 

the revenue increased compared with the previous year. 

2. Operating gross profit and operating income: Increased along with the increased revenue. 

3. Operating expenses: Mainly due to the increase of selling expenses in 2021, resulting in the 

increase of relevant freight and estimated commission and bonus; R&D expenses also increased 

due to the Company's participation in the R&D capital consolidation plan. 

4. Non-operating income and expenses: the increase in net non operating income in 2021 was 

mainly due to the increase in the amount of unrealized interest transferred to other interest 

income because of the early recovery of installment receivables. 

5. Net profit before tax: Increased along with the increased revenue. 

6. Income tax expense: Increase along with the increased net profit before tax. 

7. Net income: Increased along with the increased revenue. 
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(II) Sales forecast and basis 

    Based on sales volume in previous years and after considering the overall 

industry environment, market demand, customers' future demand, and production 

capacity, the Company expects to sustain moderate growth of sales volume in 

future years. 

(III) Possible financial impacts and response plans 

    The Company will strive to optimize production procedures, increase 

production capacity, and make effective funding and investment arrangements to 

support business growth. 

 

III. Cash flow review and analysis 

(I) Analysis of cash flow variations for the current year 

Unit: NTD thousand 

Opening 

cash 

balance 

(1) 

Net cash 

flow from 

operating 

activities for 

the year (2) 

Net cash 

flow from 

investing 

activities for 

the year (3) 

Net cash 

flow from 

financing 

activities for 

the year (4) 

Effect of 

exchange 

rate changes 

on cash and 

cash 

equivalents 

(5) 

Expected 

cash 

surplus 

(deficit) 

(1+2+3+4

+5) 

Financing of cash 

deficits 

Invest

ment 

plans 

Financin

g plans 

164,700 476,233 （92,552） （248,602） （2,294） 297,485 - - 

Analysis of cash flow variations for the most recent year 

1. Operating activities: The net cash inflowed because of the continued profit of the period. 

2. Investment activities: Mainly due to the net cash outflow caused by the addition of RMB fixed 

deposit with a term of more than one year. 

3. Financing activities: Mainly net cash outflow from repayment of loans and cash dividends paid. 

 

(II) Improvements for lack of liquidity: The Company has maintained a normal cash cycle 

and experiences no shortage of capital, hence not applicable. 
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(III) Liquidity analysis for the next year: 

Unit: NTD thousands 

Opening 
cash 

balance 
(1) 

Net cash 
flow from 
operating 

activities for 
the year (2) 

Cash outflow for 
the year (3) 

Expected cash 
surplus (deficit) 
(1) + (2) - (3) 

Financing of expected cash 
deficits 

Investment 
plans 

Financing 
plans 

297,485 84,335 （3,280） 378,540 - - 

1. Analysis of cash flow variation for the next year (2022) 

(1) Operating activities: increase of operating revenue will increase the net cash inflow. 

(2) The cash outflow of the year included the net cash outflow from the investment and financing 

activities. 

A. Investment activities: purchases of property, plant and equipment generated net cash outflow. 

B. Financing activities: Repayment of bank loan and payment of cash dividends will generate net cash outflow. 

2. Response measures and liquidity analysis for cash flow deficit: None. 

 

IV. Material capital expenditures in the last year and impacts on the financial 

position and business performance: None. 

 

V. Investment policy in the most recent year, causes of profit or loss incurred, and 

any improvements or investments planned for the next year 

Unit: NTD thousand 

Investee 
Amount 

invested 

Amount of 

profits 

recognized 

during the 

year 

Policy 
Main causes of 

profit or loss 

Improvement 

plans 

Investment 

plans  

for the next 

year 

Lion City 

Management 

Ltd. 

55,360 86,590 

A holding 

company 

that invests 

primarily in 

the 

Mainland. 

Founder of 

Shanghai 

Chun Zu 

Machinery 

Industry 

Co., Ltd. 

Gains were 

recognized on 

business 

investments as 

they turned in 

profits during 

the year. 

- 

Depends on 

operational 

performance 

Shanghai 

Chun Zu 

Machinery 

Industry 

Co., Ltd. 

55,360 86,581 

Primarily 

targets the 

Mainland 

market 

Company is 

performing as 

expected 

- 

Depends on 

operational 

performance 
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VI. Risk management issues in the last year up until the publication date of the 

annual report that were subject to evaluation: 

(I) Impact of interest rate, exchange rate, and inflation on the Company’s earnings, and 

countermeasures: 

1.Interest rate changes: 

 

Item 

2021 2020 

Amount (NTD 

thousands) 

As a percentage 

of net sales 

Amount (NTD 

thousands) 

As a percentage 

of net sales 

Interest 

expenses 

2833 0.194% 4,528 0.371% 

    Interest expenses accounted for only 0.194% and 0.371% of net sales in 2021 

and 2020, respectively, and therefore had an immaterial impact on overall 

profitability. 

Response measures for interest rate changes: 

    The Company manages working capital by undertaking tightened measures 

over accounts receivable collection and maintaining good banking relationships for 

more preferential borrowing rates. The Company also pays constant attention to 

interest rate changes to minimize interest costs incurred throughout its operation. 

 

2. Exchange rate changes: 

 

 

 

 

Response measures for exchange rate changes: 

(1) Adjust foreign currency positions depending on capital requirements and 

exchange rate movements. 

(2) Adjust selling prices to reflect exchange rate changes as the Sales Department 

makes its quotes and maintains reasonable margins. Offer quotations in the 

purchasing currency to reduce exchange rate risks. 

(3) Gather information on exchange rate changes on a daily basis for better 

anticipation of exchange rate movements. 

3. Inflation: 

    The Company adopts the practice of purchasing immediately after receiving 

a sales order; as a result, short-term inflation has an immaterial impact on future 

Item 
2021 

Amount (NTD thousands) 

2020 

Amount (NTD thousands) 

Net gain (loss) on 

exchange 
（2,838） （8,997） 
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profits. 

(II) Policies on high-risk and highly leveraged investments, loans to external parties, 

endorsements/guarantees, and trading of derivatives; describe the main causes of profit 

or loss incurred and future countermeasures: 

The Company did not engage in high-risk and highly leveraged investments, 

loans to external parties, endorsements/guarantees, and trading of derivatives in 

2021; the Company has established the “Operational Procedures for Loaning of 

Funds,” “Operational Procedures for Making of Endorsements/Guarantees,” and 

“Operational Procedures for Acquisition and Disposal of Assets,” as the basis of 

compliance. As of the publication date of the annual report, the Company has not 

engaged in high-risk and highly leveraged investments, loans to external parties, 

endorsements/guarantees, and trading of derivatives. 

(III) Future research and development plans and projected expenses: 

1. Future R&D plans 

      (1) Development of knock-out servo adjustment device for screw/bolt/parts formers. 

      (2) Parts and models sharing plans and updating PDM. 

      (3) Development of multi-station fastener machine with seven dies or more (e.g. 

CBP-167LA). 

      (4) Start the development plan of automatic die adjustment and inspection of 

fastener machine. 

2. Expected R&D expenses 

    The Company's projected R&D expenses will be budgeted in line with 

customers' product development progress to satisfy customers' needs and the 

market. Furthermore, the Company will continue investing in developing new 

machines and improving prototypes and registering patents for new technological 

accomplishments. The Company will also actively participate in popular screw/bolt 

former exhibitions around the world to showcase its accomplishments while 

keeping abreast of market trends, and therefore secure a competitive advantage 

over peers. R&D expenses for 2022 are projected at NT$65,443 thousand. 

(IV) Financial impacts and countermeasures in the event of changes in local and foreign 

regulations: 

    The Company pays constant attention to changes in key policies and laws local 

and abroad and evaluates its impacts on the organization. Changes in key policies 

and laws in recent years did not pose any material impact on the Company's 

operations. 
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(V) Effect on the company's financial operations of developments in science and 

technology (including cyber security risks) as well as industrial change, and measures 

to be taken in respons: 

1. Financial impact and countermeasures in the event of technological or industrial 

change: 

The Company always pays attention to the changes in the development of relevant 

industrial fields caused by technological progress and industrial changes. At the 

same time, we also pay close attention to the market demand of the Company's 

R&D products. In addition, we maintain close cooperation with customers in order 

to meet the product demand of customers and ensure the advantages of the 

Company in the market. In the most recent year and up to the date of publication 

of the prospectus, there were no major technological changes that had a significant 

impact on the Company's financial business. 

2. Impact of infocomm security risk on the Company's financial business and 

countermeasures: 

(1) Potential risks:  

A. Computer hackers and viruses. 

B. Hardware damage and system abnormality. 

(2) Countermeasures: 

A. The Company has established an infocomm security team to hold 

information security reviews and file reports from time to time. 

B. Audit and investigate the internal information security of the Company 

every year. According to the survey results, an annual plan will be prepared 

for the missing parts for improvement and strengthening. 

C. The specific management aspects of information security are divided into 

the following aspects: 

a. Personnel training: Personnel information training and sending 

information security announcements by e-mail from time to time. 

b. Computer security management: Authorized software installation and 

operating system security update. 

c. Network security management: Internet access management and firewall 

(IPS) defense. 

d. System access management: Company system and file server permission 

management. 

e. Asset and equipment management: Company computer asset management.  
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(VI) The impact of corporate image change on corporate crisis management and 

countermeasures: None. 

(VII) Expected benefits, possible risks, and countermeasures in relation to mergers and 

acquisitions: None. 

(VIII) Expected benefits, possible risks and countermeasures of plant expansion: Chun Zu 

and Shanghai Chun Zu of the Group conducted the renovation of plants, seeking to 

improve the future capacity and efficiency. The renovation project has been 

proceeding within the defined target, and the amount of the renovation project does 

not meet the standard of material capital expenditure (NT$300 million or 20% of the 

paid-up capital). 

(IX) Risks and response measures associated with concentrated sales or purchases: None. 

(X) Impact, risks, and countermeasures following a major transfer of shareholding by 

directors, supervisors, or shareholders with more than 10% ownership: None. 

(XI) Impact, risks, and countermeasures associated with any change of management: 

None. 

(XII) Litigation and non-contentious cases: None. 

(XIII) Other significant risks and countermeasures: None. 

VII. Other Material Issues: None. 

 

  



 

 

- 255 - 

 

Eight. Special Disclosure 

I. Information of affiliated companies 

(I) Affiliation Chart    

 

 

 

 

                                            47.81% 

 

 

                                                                          

 

                                         100%                          

 

 

 

 

                                         100% 

 

                                            

 

 

 (II) Profile of affiliated companies 

December 31, 2021 

Unit: NTD thousands 

Company 

Name 

Date of 

Incorporation 
Address Paid-In Capital 

Main Business 

Activities or 

Products 

Lion City 

Management 

Ltd. 
1998.1.5 

P.O. BOX 438 ROAD 

TOWN TORTOLA 

BRITISH VIGRIN 

ISLAND 

55,360 

（USD2,000） 

General 

investments 

Shanghai 

Chun Zu 

Machinery 

Industry Co., 

Ltd. 

1998.5.11 

No. 6639, Jihe Road, 

Baihe Town, Qingpu 

District, Shanghai City 

235,280 

（USD8,500） 

Manufacturing 

and trading of 

screw/bolt 

formers 

(III) Common shareholders in controlling and controlled companies: None. 

 

Chun Yu Works & 

Co., Ltd. 

Chun Zu Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. 

Lion City 
Management Ltd. 

(BVI) 
 

Shanghai Chun Zu 
Machinery Industry 

Co., Ltd. 
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(IV) Businesses activities covered by affiliated enterprises: 

1. The Company and its affiliated companies are collectively involved in: 

  (1) Production of fastener processing machinery and related parts, accessories, tools, 

dies and standard hardware accessories. 

  (2) Sale of self-produced products. 

  (3) General investments. 

2. In an attempt to expand its market presence in the Mainland, the Company used 

Lion City Management Ltd. as an intermediary to invest in Shanghai Chun Zu 

Machinery Industry Co., Ltd., which specializes in the production of fastener 

processing machinery and related parts, accessories, tools and dies to develop the 

China market. 

(V) Directors, supervisors, and President of affiliated companies 

December 31, 2021 

Company name Position 
Name or name of 

representative 

Current shareholding 

Shares 
Shareholding 

percentage 

Lion City 

Management 

Ltd. 

Chairman Chen, Chi Tai USD2,000,000 100% 

Shanghai Chun 

Zu Machinery 

Industry Co., 

Ltd. 

Chairman Chen, Chi Tai 

USD8,500,000 100% 

Directors Wang, Jiong-Fen 

Directors Li, Shih-Ho 

Directors Lee, Chung-Hsien 

Directors Sun, Cheng Yao 

Directors Hu, Chan-Fei 

Supervisor Lin, Huei-Jeng 

Supervisor Sun, Ming-Shen 

President Hu, Chan-Fei 

Note: For Lion City Management Ltd. and Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd., the 

shareholding figures represent the amount of share capital. 
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(VI) Performance of affiliated companies 

December 31, 2021 

Unit: NTD thousands 

Company 

name 

Paid-up 

capital 

Total 

assets 

Total 

liabilities 

Net 

worth 

Operating 

revenue 

Operating 

profit 

After-tax 

profit 

Earnings 

per share 

Lion City 

Management 

Ltd. 

55,360 627,761 - 627,761 86,581 86,581 86,590 - 

Shanghai 

Chun Zu 

Machinery 

Industry 

Co., Ltd. 

235,280 1,045,699 428,029 617,670 821,711 98,206 86,581 - 
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 (VII) Affiliation Report 

 

 

Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

Declaration of Affiliation Report 

 

 

    The Company’s 2021 Affiliation Report (from January 1 to December 31, 2021) has 

been prepared in accordance with “Criteria Governing Preparation of Affiliation Reports, 

Consolidated Business Reports and Consolidated Financial Statements of Affiliated 

Enterprises.” There was no material discrepancy between information disclosed in the 

Affiliation Report and information disclosed in footnotes of financial statements for the 

corresponding period. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Company: Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

 

Chairman: Chen, Chi Tai 

 

March 8, 2022 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

Auditor's review of the Affiliation Report 

Zi-Hui-Zong- 21017741 

 

To stakeholders of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd.: 

The 2021 Affiliation Report of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. dated March 8, 2022 was 

declared by the Company to have been prepared in accordance with "Criteria Governing Preparation 

of Affiliation Reports, Consolidated Business Reports and Consolidated Financial Statements of 

Affiliated Enterprises", with no material discrepancy between information disclosed in the above 

report and notes to financial statements for the corresponding period. 

We have compared the Company's Affiliation Report against footnote disclosures presented in 

the 2021 financial statements based on "Criteria Governing Preparation of Affiliation Reports, 

Consolidated Business Reports and Consolidated Financial Statements of Affiliated Enterprises," and 

found no material contradiction to the above claims. 

 

Pricewate Certified public accountant   

rhouseCoopers Taiwan 

Lin, Tzu Shu 

Liu, Tzu Meng 

 

(Formerly known as) Securities and Futures Commission,          

The Ministry of Finance 

Approval 

Reference No. 

: (82) Tai-Cai-Zheng (VI) No. 44927 

(84) Tai-Cai-Zheng (VI) No. 29174 

   

March 8, 2022 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

(I) Relationships between controlling and controlled entities 

The Company is a subsidiary of Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd.; information of the controlling entity is presented below: 

Unit: shares; % 

Name of controlling 
entity 

Means of control 

Shares held and pledged by the controlling entity Appointment of 
directors, supervisors, or managers 

by the controlling entity 
No. of shares held Shareholding 

percentage 
Shares 

pledged 
Position Name 

Chun Yu Works & Co., 

Ltd. 

 

 

 

A representative of the 

controlling entity was 

elected the Company's 

Chairman, and 

appointment of the 

Company's President has 

to be approved by the 

board of directors of the 

controlling entity 

Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 
28,821,939 shares 

47.81% ─ Chairman 

Directors 

Directors 

Directors 

President 

Chen, Chi Tai 

Wang, Jiong-Fen 

Lin, Huei-Jeng 

Li, Shih-Ho 

Sun, Cheng Yao 

Chun Yu Bio-Tech Corp. 
(Note) 
9,000 shares 

0.01% ─ ─ ─ 

(Note) 100% held by Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. 

 

 

Chairman: Chen, Chi Tai             Manager: Sun, Cheng Yao           Head of accounting: Guo, Ya Chu
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

(II) Transactions between controlled and controlling entities 

1. Trading of inventory: 

Unit: NT$ thousand; % 

Transactions with the controlling entity 
Terms with the 

controlling entity 
Ordinary trade terms 

Difference 

Reason 

 Accounts and 

notes receivable 

(payable) 

Overdue receivables 

Remarks 

Purchase 

(sale) 
Amount 

As a 

percentage 

of total 

purchase 

(sale) 

Gross 

profit 

margin 

Unit (NTD) Credit term Unit (NTD) Credit term Balance 

As a 

percentage 

of total 

accounts 

and notes 

receivable 

(payable) 

Amount Treatment 

Amount 

of loss 

provision 

 

Purchase 

 $    270   － 

 

－ Determined 

through 

bilateral 

negotiation 

3-4 months Deterined 

through 

bilateral 

negotiation 

3-4 months No material 

deviation is 

found 

 

($  10) 

 
－ － － － － 

(Sale) (   21,624) (1.48%) 

 

(4.08%)

～ 

20.35% 

Determined 

through 

bilateral 

negotiation 

3-4 months Determined 

through 

bilateral 

negotiation 

3-4 months No material 

deviation is 

found 

  2,952 0.70% － － － － 

2. Transaction of property: None. 

3. Financing: None. 

4. Lease of asset: None. 

5. Other significant transactions: Contractual liabilities of NT$4,928. 

(III) Endorsement/guarantee between controlled and controlling entities: None. 

 

Chairman: Chen, Chi                            Manager: Sun, Cheng Yao                       Head of accounting: Kuo, Ya Chu 
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(VIII) Consolidated financial statements of affiliated companies: See consolidated 

financial statements of parent and subsidiaries presented on pages 122 to 184.  

 

II. Private placement of securities in the last year up until the publication date of the 

annual report: None. 

III. Holding or disposal of the Company's shares by subsidiaries in the last year, up 

until the publication date of the annual report: None. 

IV. Other supplementary information: None. 

 

Nine. Occurrences Significant to Shareholders' Equity or Securities Price, 

as defined in Subparagraph 2 of Paragraph 3 of Article 36 of the 

Securities and Exchange Act, in the Last Year Up Until the 

Publication Date of Annual Report: None.  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

 

Chairman: Chen, Chi Tai 
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